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PREFATORY NOTE

THE present volume mmtiates the Monograph Senies of the Deccan
College Research Institute, and 1t 1s no comadence that the first volume m
that senies should deal with the Third Battle of Pampat  The history of this ¢
Institute 15 closely connected with that of the Peshwas whose religious benefac
nons were directed by Mountstuart Elphinstone, fter the Battle of Kirhee
tov ards the promotion of Education among the ¢people and in consequence
thss Institute was founded in 1821, (on Saturday, 6th October) as the Poona
Sanskrit College Through the three stages of Poona College (1851) and
Deccan College (1868) and the Deccan College Post Graduate and Rescarch
Institute {1939) the Instiute mamtams the contunmty of these bhencfactions
and the present year 15 sigmficantly the 125th year after the onginal founda
ton when besides this Monograph Senes, two others, namely, the Dis
sertation Sertes and the Handbook Series are maugurated It 15 to be hoped
that this long tradition of enhghtened scholarship towards which both Indians
and Europeans, particularly Englshmen, have so largely conmbuted will be

mamtamed ngorously m the future to heighten the act

The thanks of the Publication Commttee i the present case are
chiefly due to Mr R P Patwarpnay, M A (Oxon), IES, Director of
Public Instruction, Bombay Province, and Mr D R Gapoi,, M A, M Lt
(Cantab ) Director of the Gokhale Institute of Economucs and Pohtics, Poona,
for helpful criticism

S MK
215t March. ros6é
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PREFACE

LeT me explain the scope and purpose of this monograph and my de-
sign in writing it.

« As the subject 15 an old one, gencrally hnown to most students of Indian
lustory, I have thought of curtalling the narrative within minimum limits, leav-
ing the bare anatomical structure behind. To fix the attention of readers on
facts, I have avoided over-burdening this fragment of history with detail
Having no particular taste for the pageantry of history, I have eschewed all
description with hyperboles surcharged with chauvinistic sentiments and thus
left an open field to poets, dramatists and novelists,

Though so designed} the book is written for both the student and
the general reader, As such it has assumed the form of a narrative and an
essay combined. The appeal is fo the reason, and not to the sentiment,
nevertheless.

The work has entailed a reconstruction on the basis of the revaluation
of the old material with the help of new material filling in the gaps, and a
closer study of the positive bachground of geography. The result is a proper
visualisation of the scene leading, in its turn, to a correct interpretation of the
various sources and a restatement of the whole problem.

The battle of Panipat has naturally occupied a prominent place in the
heart of the historically minded Marathas. Their interest in the affair was
heightened by the genius of Vishvanath Kashinath RaJwapr, the founder of
a school of historical research in Maharashtra. It has become a perennial
theme for discussion ever since. RajwabE was not noted for a sound judgment,
however. His writings have provoked more polemical literature than any other
man’s in Marathi, and even Sir Jadunath Sarkar, writing in Enghsh, could
not resist the temptation of having a flng at him

. .This l.:rings me naturally to the point when I should state the purpose
of writing this volume Had a person of Sir Jadunath SarkarR’s competence
and cahbre, with all facilities at his command, dealf fairly with the subject,
there would have been no valid ground for any one to dip pen in ink. He
has devo‘tcd almost two hundred pages to the history treated in the present
volumez in his Fall of the Mughal Empire, Vol. II. But all the shortcomings
for whx‘ch he had been criticised before by Maratha scholars are found re-
peated in this work. He has treated the subject from a wrong angle as a part
of the history of the Mugha} Empire. He has overlooked important relevant
material. His interpretation of the material used is incorrect, not to say in-
adequate. I:Ie be:.lrays insufficient knowledge of the Marathi language and
mexpertness in using tht material in that language. An unsympathetic critic
must, at least, be fully and correctly acquainted with the subject he writes upon,
and thcisc. conditions are unfortunately not found fulfilled by Sir Jadunath’s
very _bnlhant presentation in masterly English  The result is, the reader is
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camed away by the presentation, viewing things in a wrong perspective, un-
conscious«of the errors commutted or the mcorrectness of the conclusions de-
duced Sir Jadunath does mot seem to believe in sticking to one ethical
standard when treating the various parties n a struggle It 15 true that nothing
succeeds lLike success and the Marathas have failed in history  But lustonans,
when passng judgment should not forget the standard of conduct followed
by the vanous parties m history ~ Ahmad Shah Abdalis stnct  dsaphne
should not make us forget the methods of achieving 1t, nor should his victones
efface the Afghan atrocties leading to that end  The Marathas could’ not
establish therr rule on a sound basis, and the foreign Brish succeeded where
the indigenous Marathas faled  But this should not make us blind to the
fact of Clive’s forgery and cheatng or the Bengal famme of 1770, carrying
away more than a third of the Bengal population, a dircet result of that rule

(It 15 curtous to note m this connection that the Cambndge Hustory of India,

Vol V, does not cven mention this famme, a sigmficant omission mdeed?)

The Marathas had the ambition of ruling over Indsa, no doubt, but they were

not prepared to forsake their standard of conduct to gamn this end

Instead of merely cnticsing others’ Works i detal ultimately leading
to nothing, I thought 1t better to wnte out the whole piece myself in my own
manner The difference of opiuon will be found, I hope, justified in the
performance  In the world of Indian scholarship at present, the vogue of
copymng, wmtating and adapting 15 current This results 1 crculating the
error 1n 2 wider area which later on comes to be called a umversally accepted
fact Many scholars throughout the length and breadth of India are now-a
days trying to utihse the Maraths matenal and weaving 1t mto the thread of
ther histornies  An aggresstve occupation of the histonical field 1s gong on be
fore our eyes But the danger underlying these efforts 1s scarcely understood
by the scholarly khrughts errant engaged in these adventures It 15 high time
some ene should put a stop to their activities, for while 1t 15 easy to disserinate
an error, 1t 18 not so easy 1o recall 1t back or 1o stop its Tavages  As an humble
effort 1n the cause of weeding out errors, I place this book before the public

Though this monograph 15 complete 1n atself, 1t 15 not mtended to sup
plant other works 1n the same field This book 15 to be treated as an adjunct
Yo Ine generdl mstones o} the peniod, without hnowing which fhis work may
not be properly understoed or appreciated  As T have wntten my work with
an cye on Sir Jadunath’s volume, 1t has unconsciously assumed the form of
a reply to lus wnting  In fact, where I huve not differed from im 1 have
almost followed him, especially 1n the portion manly dependent on Perstan
chromcles studied from the MSS by him only I believe there can be no
Iigher trbute to a man's ongmal work than that of following him

Most of the ordinary readers will muss the graphue part of ustory they
have up till now read 1n the accounts of Pampat 1 thought of omutiing them
from my nirine because I have no behief i their truth or cven probability
The 1dea of copying such detatls from the chromicles simply becuse no other
light can be <hed on these events or epusodes, T think as faulty By ther repe
tition, 1 duservice 15 done to the cause of history  Nationa! sentiment 1 sure
1o be perturbed by this hine of action, no doubt, but 1t 15 better to take that
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risk than to be an agent in circulating palpable falschoods. Those who have
a liking for such stuff can have recourse to the original chronicles which should
go as literary pieces, but not as history, They can be turned to sociological
uses t00.

The study of this subject T began a decade ago and many causes have
retarded its® progress. I had an intention of first stating the theory of the
Maratha State in an independent monograph and then of writing this volume
for,the correct understanding of which it is absolutely necessary. Now I am
stating the same in bare outline in the Introduction. Then again for various
reasons, mainly but not exclusively personal, the work was written in parts and
then held over. This fact has adverscly affected its merit as a literary product.
Had the work been written out in the first glamour of the subject and in the
Panipat locality, it would definitely have been 2 morc unitary piece of
worh. But the loss on the presentation side has been made up by gain
on the thinking side. The battle could not have been satisfactorily described
by me four years ago, When I could not visualise it properly. After
that, the coming in of new material and evedl the hope of getting access to
valudble material held over my» design. Such rarc material has been made
available to me by the hindness of co-workers in the field of history, especially
through the assiduity of Mr, G. H. Kuare of the Bharat Itihas Samshodhak
Mandal. The thanks of all students of history would naturally go to him, in
addition to those of mine. Other scholars who have helped me in furthering
my project are Dr. G. 5. Guurve of the University School of Socioclogy in

* Bombay; Rao Bahadur K. N. Dixs:ur, the retired Director-General of Archz-
ology, who acted as a host to me in my northern tour; the authorities of the
B. I. S. Mandal, Poona; and many others too numerous to be individually
mentioned. The readers’ thanks shguld also go to Dr. S. M. Katre, Di-
rector of our Institute, for the drive he has shown in pushing the work through
and for its general and artistic get-up, and to the Press for their excellent
workmanship.

215t March, 1946.
T & 8.



LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Acton—Lord Actons Lectures on Modern History (1907)

At —Ainhasika (= historical}

41t Tip —Awtithasika Tipane in Ithasa Sangraha Magazmc

BISM—Bh Itihasa Samshodhaka Mandal

BISMQ-—Quarterly of BISM .

Bhau Bakhar—Bhausahebanchy Bakhar

Bhau k aifiyat—Bhausahebanchi Kaifiyat

BDCRI--Bulletin of the Deccan College Postgraduate and Rescarch Institute

Dirom—Narrative of the Campaign m India by Dirom (1793)

Fall—Fall of the Mughal Empire by Sir J Sarkar, Vol 1I, 1934

Hingne—Hingne Daftar, Vol I, 1945

IHQ—Indian Histencal Quarterly, Calcutta

IS—Iuhasa Samgraha Monthly

FIHQ—Jaurnal of Indsan Histary Quam:rly, Madras ~

hashtraj—An account of the It battle of Pampat Edited by Rawlnson
{1926) - e e o s

Purandgre—Purandar Daftar volumes e T
Raj—V K Rajwade’s volumes
Shinde—Shindeshatlu Itthasachin Sadhane.
Satara—Satara Histoncal Society s volumes of letters
§PD—Selections from the Peshwa Daftar
Shrizastara—Lafe of Shuj ud daulah 1939

Note—Please <ce the ertical analysis of sources at the end of the book
for more information
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INTRODUCTION

Sunyagt founded the Maratha State for dong good to the Marathu
people  But he was also conscious of his role mn Indian lustory as a defender
of the Hindus aganst the onslaught of Islam At the same time he was no
crusader agunst Idam as an ahen faith, he only wished to divest 1t of its
political role i Indin  In the first part of s Iife, he was not sure of lus
Wine of action or final goal He made up his mind finally after his return
from Agra i 1666 The estabhshment of an ndependent Hindu State s a
rilying pomt for all Hindus became his atm thereafter Compromise with
\ushims or service under an Islhmic State he found mcapable of rousmng the
Hindus from therr agelong stupor These would nether defend Hndusm
in the long run, nor allow the Hindus to grow to therr full stature Only a
direct challenge to the Islamic idea of State—that Islam only 1s to hve and
grow wlule others must wither away and die—was the surest way of defending
Hindwsm and the Hindus  Aurangzab wished to umte India under one
sceptre, that of Islam under the Mughals Shivap girded hus lomns to establish
an ndependent Hindu sovereignty m India free from the shackles of the
Mugha! octopus He succeeded in his determination and crowned himself
as the Chhatrapati in 1674 He forged new weapons to gan his ends at the
cost of s enenmes  While his subjects were well protected, he made the
enemy subjects pay for his wars agamnst therr state by the imposition of the
Chauth, to escape which the only remedy was to come under his rule
Aurangzib revived the Jizya in the Mughal dommons after a lapse of a hun
dred years, to propagate Islam and weaken the infidels Shiajt hurled back
the missile with the aim of meeting the new menace by his demand for Chauth
from the enemy lands Aurangzib pulled down the temples and desccrated
the Hindu shrines  Shivap replied by reviving the temples turned nto mosques
by the Muslims in the south While Aurangzib’s manner was aggressive and
bigoted, Shwvay’s was defensive and moderate This distinction should be
borne 1 mind when judgung Shivap and Aurangab, a distinction which marks
the modermty and secularism of the one and the medievalism cum eccles:
asticsm of the other  Not understanding this dilference, Toynbee i his Study
of History (g203) has classed Shivap with Ivan the Ternble, Saladin and
Suleyman the Magmficent as champions of alten (non western) enilizations
Shwvap was not only a champion of old-world Hinduism, but its modermsmg
reformer also  He not only endowed temples or patronized Himndu learning,
he also (and primarily) buwilt new forts on the sea coast for protecting his
newly established navy on the European model, and sent his own ships to
Arabia for direct trade  He would not turn his new state nto a closed, hermt
kingdom after the manner of Japan in the sixteenth century, but left 1t open
to all foreign mfluences m all walks of Iife, after due regulation to guard Ius
independence  Had Shvap’s 1deas and deals been properly understood and
follm\écd by his successors, there would have been no occasion for a Pampat
mn 1761
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Shuvajt was a bold soldier and a clever general, an able engineer who
knew the art of fortifications better than the engmeers themselves, and, above
all, had studied geography with the mmutest detail with the help of specially
prepared charts, as Abbe Carre, the French padre, reports Can any one
doubt Shwaps modernism with this tesimony? Shinap not only revered
Brahmuns, but employed them ui building his state with the whip of a task-
master, too  He made them crown hum as a true twice bom  warnor and
recewved back mto hus own caste men like Netap Palkar, who had been living
m Afghamstan as a full Mushm for ten years His bold stand electnfied the
whole Hindu society from the Indus to the Brahmaputra Sikhs, Rajputs,
Jats, Bundelas, and even the distant Ahoms of Assam rose aganst Aurangab
and made his reign one long line of more or less successful rebellions  In the
south, Shivaji built up a strong state guarded by long lines of impregnable forts
and newly bult ships, which withstood Aurangzib for a quarter of a century,
and ultimately sent him to his grave 1n 1707

.

With all their personal drawbacks and vices, Shivap’s immediate suc-
cessors could tide over the Fundy tide of Mughal invasion because the men
trammed under Shivap knew the basis of hus state  With the passng away of
these men, a new twist was given to the basis of the Maratha State which
ultimately led to Pamipat It came to pass m the following manner  Shwvay’s
grandson Shahu had been captured with s mother by Zulfiqar Khan when he
took Raigad in 1689 He hved 1n Aurangzib’s moving camp for full seventeen
years till 1707, when he was released on the advice of Zulfigar Khan with the
mtention of creating dissentions amongst the Marathas He had been be
friended by Aurangzib and s daughter n his captivity, as a result of which
Shahu imbibed a Iife long sense of personal gratitude towards the Mughal
mmperial house He could never entertain the idea of completely destroying
the Mughal empire  On the other hand, he now and then gave a helping hand
to the Mughals  As the orphan son of Shivap’s eldest son who had suffered
death ternbly at the hands of Aurangaib, and himself a long sufferer 1n cap-
tivity through all sorts of insults privations and slavery, the Marathas natu-
rally felt a sympathy for Shahu when he returned But the army and the
twil officers all divided 1nto two opposing factions, creatng a permanent
schism 1n the Maratha polity, which 15 historcally found perpetuated 1n the
establishment of Kolhapur as a separate state

Shahu triumphed over his aunt Tarabai, because he was the legitimate
heir for whom common people felt 2 sympathy born of his miseries as well as
on account of the shrewish behaviour of his overbeanng aunt, who turned all
her officers nto enmity, one after the other  Shahu returned as a nommnee of
the Mughals, and as such recened the support of all Mushm officers as well
as all those who sided with the Mughals for personal gan  All opportunists
and new candidates, who had notlung to hope from the party of Tarabay,
naturally supported Shahu Ambitious and unscrupulous men found a new
openmng for their talents 1n this fratnadal war  But his supporters overlooked
one important constitutional pomnt i their enthustasm for the good new king
He had returned with the Mughal badge of slavery round his neck The
lands bestowed on lim by the Mughal emperor are styled Zamindan lands
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His so-called hingdom can at most be styled an autonomous feudatory pnn
apality 1n the language of constitutions And what was worse, he had ac-
cepted this status not as a policy to tide over the times, but 1n all sincenty which
he meant to heep His gentleman’s attitude sealed the fate of the Maratha
State

Mdt of the men who had gonc over to Shahu’s side had gone with
selfish motnes of perconal aggrandisement  They hoped to remumin strong and
almost free to do what they liked under 2 weah master such as Shahu was, on
account of his precanous postion between two mull stones  The man who
helped Shthu mest 1n building up his party and stabihsing is rule automat:-
cally became s Pnme Mumster or Peshwa  This was Balap Vishwanath,
comparatively a new man from Konhan and a careenst bent on utibsing all
opportunities to strengthen himself and his master, without regard to the dis-
tant effects of hus steps on the Maratha polity  Shahu did not know Shwvay’s
weals and 1deas, ways and means, because he had spent his boyhood and
youth m the Mughal camp  Balap would not know, because that would not
have furthered lim 1n his msc Shahu wanted a new class of persons to keep
huis poise 1n the face of overbtanng, old officals  Balap, coming from an
outside caste, looked down upon by the entrenched mimsters (Deccan Brah-
mins), wanted a ncedy master who would go out of the groove to do the need-
ful Besides, Balap was endowed with all the personal quahties necessary
for imposing oneself on persons of vanous denorunations and motives  Bemng
an outsider, he could posc as a third (disinterested) party in all tussles and
quarrels, and would be accepted as such by others also  His position, m course
of time, became unassailable

Balay’s opportumsm 1s <cen in lus support to the Sayyid brothers, the
king makers He nvited thewr help for crushing Damap Thorat in his mternal
rebellion aganst Shahu’s rule, while he accompamed them to Dellu in order
to facilitate their intngues agamnst the lawful emperor  In return he recewved
fresh orders under the scals of puppet emperors, bestowing the Maratha king-
dom on Shahu, and the release of Shahu’s mother from captivity at Dell
Thus Shahu’s collapsing rule was propped up with Mughal support! In ad-
dition, Shahu accepted the duty of <erving the Mughal State with filteen thou-
sand troops, which were to be placed at the disposal of the Mughal viceroy m
the Deccan to buttress his admunistration, one fourth revenue (Chauth) of
the south being Ius wages for the same Shahu was thus not only to be a
creature of the Mughals, but was to guarantee the continuation of their rule
n the Deccan'!

This was really cutting the roots of the Maratha State envisaged by
Shivap and reared carefully by his successors Shnap had envisaged the
gradual wathering away of the tree of Islam i India—though not necessanly
through the agency of the Marathas—and planned his Maratha State for ad-
ing the attainment of that end The Marathas were expected to be the spear
head of the charge aganst Islam no doubt, but other Hindus were also ex-
pected to act their part 1n the grand achievement  The end was not a Maratha
cmpure spreading all over Indin but the complete freedom of all Hindus I
other provinces m India gamed their freedom by their own exertions, so far so
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good But the Marathas would not sit idle if there was no stir amongst them
They would do the work themselves 1rrespective of the cost

Aurangab wanted to enrol the vabant Marathas as his loyal servants
like the Rajputs 1 the north  To woid that fate they waged a contmuous
war and went through untold sufferings for two generations And now Shahu
hecame 1 Mughal servant without a struggle! He never struch his own coins but
only those of the Mughal cmperors  His genertls and mrmsters spread all over
India but only as Mughal grandees or governors  Even all the Marathas never
became Ius subjects  and why should they be when they knew Shahu to have
been 1 Mughal subject ke themselves albeit styled Chhatrapat? Al who
felt dissatisfied wath the Maratha kingdom crossed over the border and got them
elves employed under the Mughal viceroy of the Deccan on better terms than
Shahu could hope to offer This support was utilized hv the cunning viceroy
to stop the payment of Chauth 1n the first mstance and later for buttressing
his own independent rule i defiance of Dely  Shahus minsters and gen
erals had to fight for their very existence many a tune when the wiceroy
(Nizam) had grown strong with outside support or the Marathas had become
weak by mternal dissensions This struggle was carried on mtermittently for
full three quarters of a century and though the Marathas triumphed on most
occastons the Nizam s rule cume to be stabilized in the Deccan  But the fun
damental cause of this consummation was the primary nustake commutted by
the Prime Minister of Shahu 1n accepting the Mughal service on behalf of his
guileless master which was later on continued by his successors 1n office  Even
Justice M G Ranade has nusconstrued this pomt 1 s Rise of the Maratha
Power because the matenal before him was scanty  Others have fallen mnto
the same error because they have blindly accepted Ranade as their guide  Be
cause the Peshwas throughout their career tried to act as agents of the Mughal
emperors others more clever plhyed the same game and outwitted the Marathas
by securing the orders of the puppet emperors set up by themselves

The second short sighted step taken by Balap Vishwanath has also been
similarly misconstructed by Ranade and others In the worst days of the
Marathr hingdom duning 16go 1700 when king Rajaram had gone to the
Madras coast and ruled from Gingee (Jinp) the Maratha minsters as a tem
porary policy offered fabulous rewards m land and money to the wavenng
Marathas so that they m)g‘lt not go over to Aurangzib  Many of these grants

under duress were afterwards resumed by Tarabar whose rmimsters would
hwe agan reverted to Shivaps far sighted policy of wwarding no spoils or
jagrs but paymg i cash from the central treasury Shahus return as a
Mughal protege and the outbidding of his elever but short sighted Peshwa put
a premium on disloyalty to Tarabar the de facto ruler and thus weakened the
very basis of Shivaps modemn state  Ramachandrapant Amatya who knew at
fiest hand Shivaps state craft has put down for postenty Shwvap s 1deas and
ideals n hus umque Rajamti  Balapis policy of awarding a share 1n the con
quered lands to munisters and generals created semn independent barons who
ultimately overshadowed the central government after Pampat Balajis pre-
caution—lwuded as a umique inventon—agamst these barons growing strong
and uncontrollable by the central zuthorfty viz not to bestow contiguous lands
xi



on one person but to award the same n various parts of the country, led to
such 1nternecine nvalnes, quarrels, wars, peculation ctc, that the «dministration
became weak and mefficient everywhere, 1s was found to his cost by Sadashwv
rao Bhau m his Pampat campaign  Histonans know the part played by con
senatne tradition in the growth of England  Shnvap had laid down the foun
dation of @ modern state and its healthy tradition was still in an embryomc
state It was a new thing understood by but few, and was almost stiffed dur
ing the calumitous days of Mughal mvasion  Still 1t was known to men like
Reamachandrapant Amatya chnging to the de facto rulership  But the new
Peshwa of Shahu knew little of that tradition and cared less His adoption
of the hne of least resistance 1n the interest of his master began a new chapter
in Maratha history, but 1t also submerged Shivap’s independent, modern and
progressive state

Balay’s two sons Baprao and Climajp were exceptionally clever and
valinntThey continued the line laxd down by their father and grew strong,
almost operbeanng, for their weak, stay 2t home, master  Ostensibly the first
munisters of state, they overshadowed Shahu m Indian poltics They chalked
out their own policy (in defiance of Shahu’s wishes on some occasions), led
their own expeditions, defeated and set nside other rimsters, 1n short, began an
almost 1ndependent central government at Poona 1n opposition to Shahu’s pup
pet court at Satara  Unfortunately they were short Ined and could not com
plete their work n their ife tme  But when they died 1n 1740, they had
created an mdependent military force under their umtary command, one lakh
of Maratha horsemen ready to be led anywhere in India, a force which made
history during the next generation under their sons and successors 1n office

The third Peshwa Balaji Bajirao ahas Nanasaheb, his brother Raghu
nathrio alias Raghoba Dada, and therr cousin, Chimyr’s son Sadashivrao
Bhau, were the three men who made Indian history what 1t was dunng 1740
1761 Therr hands were tied to a certam extent till Shahu’s death 1n 1749
But the next dozen years found a free field for ther talents as well as pro
pensities Nanasaheb was more cunmng than valiant and he did everything
to concentrate power in his hands  He overshadowed and put down his rvals
w, the Mazatha, Stase v the balp of bis father’s wdeperdent tetmers, Sarde
and Holkar, who 1n course of time went out of the hands of their master The
old hing’s retamners were either completely echipsgd or found independent
spheres for their valour far away from Poona Raghoba led expeditions to
Gujarat, Rajputana, Delht and the Panjab  Bemng more vahant than cunning,
he mismanaged the Maratha affairs in northern India  Sadashivrao Bhau had
to manceuvre for power with his cousin, the Peshwa, for a full dozen years,
before he found s way  Thenceforth he managed the civil side 1n the state
and had his say m military matters also, especially n the finance side of ex-
peditions By 1758, he had come to occupy the foremost place 1n the counsels
of the Maratha empire—such as 1t was #

Ranoj: Shinde who was the nght hand man of the Peshwa Bajyirao m
all his deahings, was followed by cqually valiant and loyal, though somewhat
headstrong and independent minded sons Malharrao Holkar the left hand
man was though cqually brave and 1n addition cunning, quite a different type
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of man The reader will know more of lim m the course of the narrative
further on

The nwalry and difference of opimon on questions of policy between
Shindes and Holkar shaped the Maratha history n north India mn the way 1t
did  Nanasaheb tried to heep his supremncy by balmncng these two pillars
of the State This had a disastrous effect on Maratha politics  The Peshwa
should have directed one of them n a different direction  Their machinations
n the same field benefited the enemies of the Marathas  The local officers of
the Peshwa, Iike the Hingne brothers and Antap Manaheshwar n Delhy,
Govindpant Bundele and Naro Shankar in central Indsa, had to take orders
from these two noblemen m matters avil or military  They also took sides 1n
therr rvalnes and, 1 general, n northern Indian politics, as lesser grandees m
the same field Antap Mantheshwar, the chief of the guards hept for the per
sonal protection of the Emperor, acted agamst the selfish interests of the
Hingnes, the Maratha ambassadors at the Delhu Court  They were suspended
by the Peshwa for some time and Antap Manakesiwar called back to the
Deccan  All these men had rented mahals from the state as a side-business,
a thing which should have been forbidden by the Peshwa  The state suffered
by therr personal mterest m the state lands Gangadhar Chandrachud the
Diwan of Holkar, and Ramaji Anant Dabholhar the Diwan of the Shindes,
also had their individual share i these bickerings, nivalnes, back door machina
tions agamnst each other The Peshwa’s officers in Poona hke Sakharam Bapu,
Mahadoba Purandare, Baba F~dnis, and others, were acting hand 1n glove with
one of the parties 1n their appeals to the central authorty Unless this back
ground 1s kept n mund, the trend of Maratha poliics will not be understood
The gencalogy of the Peshwa and Shinde families given elsewhere should also
be remembered by the reader for a proper understanding of the narratne

Another factor which mnfluenced mndinidual actigns in all fields was
the under current of caste consciousness The Peshwa and his relatives em
ployed 1n higher posts were Konkan Chitpavan Brahmuns, in general rnalry
with the local Deshasth Brahmms of the Deccan plateau  All aivil mmsters
of Shivap and his ymmediate successors belonged to the latter class, now ousted
from their position by the new comers from the sea coast They naturally
felt the loss of ther importance 1 the state  The Karhada and Saraswat
Brahmuns, both 1 2 mnonty, tred to find independent scope for thewr abil
1ties under different noblemen, besides the Peshwa The Marathas, who com
posed the bulk of the army and belonged to the puppet king's caste, bore a
silent resentment against the clertcal usurpers of their supreme authonty in the
state, and this had had 1ts effect on politics, too  Not all men perhaps not
even the majonity, were affected by this wvirus, but 1its imperceptible effect
seems undeniable  The rule of the Brahmin Peshwas had carned the cloch
of social reform in Maharashtra backwards, when compared with the seven
teenth century Malharrao Holkars advice to Jantkop and Dattaj Shinde
on this count, as presented m the Pampat Chrontcle (Bhau Bakhar i Marathi)
may or may not be true, or 1t may be even taken as mvented by the wnter to
suit his construction, but the existence of such socal undercurrent cannot be
doubted Its existence does not seem to have affected the Pampat campaign
n any wital spot, however
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The third battle of Panipat was fought between the Marathas led by
Sadashivrap Bhau and the foreign Afghans with their Indian alles led by
Ahmad Shah Abdali  Bhau had been called by the Mughal Emperor Alam
m@r II before his murder He was actmng as Regent of the Mughal empire
at the dead emperor’s behest The Marathas were fighting with Abdal, the
forexgn interferer it Indian politics, and not Abdal the champion of Islam
This pont has not been emphasised by the histonans uptil now, because they
have musconstrued 1t Bhau (and the Peshwa alse) had mwited Shuja ud
daulah of Oudh, the Nizam brothers in the Deccan, kamal ud din Khan
Babi from Gujarat and even the Indian Ruhelas and Afghans, to jon therr
forces with lum  His marn support i the campaign was Ibrahim Khan Gardt
with his tramned infantry corps  The Peshwa’s half brother Samsher Bahadur
was 2 Mushm, who died of wounds recewved at Pampat Many departments
of the Maratha army, especially the artillery, were manned almost exclusively
by the Mushms  On the other hand, no Hindu potentate from northern India
fought as an ally of the Marathas They were all 1 therr minds, siding with
Abdal, and had taken part in caling him to India to punsh the Marathas
It 15 unhistoncal, therefore to call the battle of Pampat a Hindu Mushm
fight, though Najib had screwed’down Abdali on the rehgious count, for selfish
ends Venly rehigion 1s the Jast resort of scoundrels!

Temperamentally, the Marathas are mncapable of bigotry, fanaticism,
extremes They take to a thing s 1 duty for the time being and Ieave 1t when
found unnecessary ‘They had taken up arms for the defence of therr gods
and homes mn the seventeenth century They wielded arms n the eighteenth
for keeping India free from foreign rule  But in the nineteenth they had so
far forsaken their mbtary hfe that they were classed by Lord Roberts with
the Bengalees and Madrasees as one of the non martial races of India In
1930, the Bombay Presidency supplied only seven thousand men out of a lakh
and fifty eight thousand of Indian soldiers, and all the seven thousand were
not Marathas This transformation shows that the Marathas were not war
like or bred to the profession of arms in the same sense as the Afghans or the
Turks They were peasant civihans turned into soldiers for a cause

* * *

*Having depicted the historienl bachground o far, 1t 1s but meet that
1 should pass on to the previous wntings 1n the field I am about to enter

Tt 15 instructnve to study the gradual change of opimion on the Pampat
affur  Dunng the mmneteenth century Kashiray and Duff practically held the
field  When Raywnde wrote his thundenng detailed introduction 1n 1898 on
the basis of new letters sn Marathy, he practically carned the public with him
as if caught in 1 flood  Nobody stopped to inquire whether his analysis was
correct, nor did 1y onc pomt out the obvious defects 1in hus editing of the
letters  Ten years later, 1 level headed professor of history (H G Lmmaye),
wnting 1 speainl essny on the European modelled Indian armies and therr rela
tions with the Indian States i the ewghteenth century, changed the trend of
opmion by half  While stll charging Govindpant Bundele and  Malharrao
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Holkar for their major share n the defeat, he also pomted out Bhau's
personal defects and shortcomngs as 1 commander in chief  Rao Bahadur
Sardesas, writmg m 1922, summanses the vanous optnions without offering
any new suggestion of s own  An 1nalysis of his writing will bning forth the
self contradictory statements due to his defective method of copying all and
synthesiung none Mr DV Apte tackling the problem after lum, Jirst pointed
out the obvious factual defects in Rajwade’s arguments The confusion of
directions 1 Kashiry s account of Pampat, Rajwade's msapprehension
taking Baghpat s situtted on the nght bank of the Jamuna, vitating
his whole strategical argument and sumilar other flaws were ably discussed by
mm  But even Apte falled to analyse the whole matenal and point out Raj-
wade’s mampulation of the same  Prof § N Sen’s chapter on Pampat in his
Mulitary System of the Marathas (1928), 15 the best short account m English,
which omits nothing of the essentials  With the publication of the Peshwa
Daftar, however, during 1930 33 a new chapter opened 1n the Panipat cniti-
csm  As soon as the second volume styled Pamipat Frakarana was published n
1930 S V Athalye an old collaborator with Rajwade and a deep student of
Maratha Instory, published 1 review of the syme i the Kesant weekly (4th
Apnl 1931)  He pointed out the incorrect dating of the documents published,
and focussed the light of the letters on the events leading to the Pampat cam

paign He absolved Holkar and Antayn Manahkeshwar from the blame and
made Bhau and the Peshwa mamly responsible for the disaster  Another
young enthusiastic recruit for Maratha history, the late Mr R V' Nadkarni, be

gan a series of articles on the Pampat affair in Vitdhagnanae Vistara and first
pomnted out on the strength of the new matenal certain obvious defects
Sardesars Pamipat Prakarana His onginal contnbution to the discussion con

sists of the constitutional aspect of the Maratha activities 1n the north mn gen

eral and with the Dellu Court i particular  The charge against Govindpant
he thought now as more than proved, with an emphasis  But he was unac

quainted with the whole Maratha system and not an expert mn research mat

ters  He has taken Agra as situated on the northern bank of the Jamuna and
confused Saranjam with Kamavis! Govindpant was a Kamavisdar or Mam-
latdar of vanous revenue taluks, but he had never recewved any specific
Saranjam or Jagir conferred for mamntamning an army as a mulitary captan

Not understanding the difference between the two, Nadkamr’s downright con

demnation of Govindpant, s based on a false premise  Besides, he wrote only

on the basis of SPD 2 and before the publication of Nos 21 and 27, supplying
further mformation about the Pampat campaign  Sic Jadunath Sarkar, com

pletely re wnting the whole episode 1 1934, has stll mussed certam docu-
ments then avaable to lum, wnd n general has taken a very unsympathetic
view of the Maratha affairs  His factual errors, mcorrect critiism and non-
comprehension of the whole affair n proper perspective have been pointed out
and cnticsed 1n detail by us  Incidentally, the performance of this renowned

historsan. proves our contention that ustory must be wntten by one of the
nattonals

Mr K V Purandare, editor of the documents collected from the Sardar-
Purandare family which was throughout the whole period on very intimate
terms with the Peshwa family, has also, m tis editonal preface to the first
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volume, offered cnucism on the Pamipat affair His maun contrbution, based
on the documents published by him, 1s to_point out the promtse of the Peshwa
to go to Bhaus help by the month of Magha or February 1761 If Bhau was
biding s time ull the armval of the Peshwn, the cause of his waiting 15 made
clear therebv  He alco ponts out the fact that Nanasaheb had no susprcion
of Holkars gaving of s shin by running away from the battlefield  The
Peshwa attrched, after Pampat, not only the districts held as Jagir by Mal
harrao, but also those held by Shinde and Pawar who had fallen n battle,
proving that the attachment was not on account of disobedience at Pampat
but for some other reason, possibly financial But as Purandare wrote his n
troduction m 1g2g before the publication of the Peshwa Daftar, his cnticism
has to be modified in the hght of those papers
* * *

I should say something now about the nature of the work to be done
and the difficulty of domg 1t 1 the proper manner For this, T cannot begm
better than by quoting frofn the letters of the Duke of Wellingtan about the
battle of Waterloo for companson

“The people of England fhay be entitled to a detailed and accurate ac
count of the battle of Waterloo, and I have no objection to their having 1,
but I do object to thewr being musinformed and musled I am really dis
gusted with and ashamed of all that T have seen wntten of the battle of Water-
loo  And there 1s not one which contamns a true representation or even an
dea of the transaction and this 1s because the wnters have referred to stories
piched up from peasants, pnvate soldiers, individual officers, ctc instead of to
the officinl sources and reports It 1s very difficult for me to judge of the
particular position of each body of troops under my command at any particu
lar hour Surely the details of the battle might be left to the ongnal official

reports  Historans and commentators were not necessary There 1s one
cvent noted 1n the world—the battle of Waterloo—and you will not find any
two people agree as to the exact hour when 1t commenced I am accus

tomed to read so many confhicting descriptions of the battle that I would soon
begn to balane T was net thare wyslf”

Wnting to Sir Walter Scott who wished to wnte authontatively on
the battle of Waterloo, only two months after the event, the Duke, expressing
humself m the same tone, further said, * The object which you propose to your-
self 15 very difficult of attanment, and, if really attaned, 1s not a httle n
vidious  The history of a battle 15 not unlihe the history of 2 ball  Some mdt
viduals may recollect all the httle events of which the great result s the bat
tle won or lost but no individual can recollect the order i which, or the ex
act moment at which, they occurred, which makes all the difference as to their
value or importance  Then the faults or the misbehaviour of some gave oc-
casion for the distinction of others and perhaps were the cause of material
losses, and you cannot wnite a truc history of a battle without including the
faults and misbehtviour of part, t least, of thosc engaged Beleve me that
cvery man you sec 1 1 military umform 1s not a hero, and that many n
stances of mdnidual herorsm must be passed over unrelated, 1t 15 better for
the general interests to leave those parts of the story untold than to tell the
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1 Balaji Vishwanath = Radhabai
l (1713-1720)
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(assassinated) (killed 1760 (killed at (wounded and
at Buradi) Panipat) made lame
v for life)

« 3 Janakoji (1755-61)
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whole truth I regret much that T hve not been ble to prevul upon vou to
rehnguish your plin - You muw depend upon 1t you will never make 1t a
atsfactors work 1 will get you the hst of the French anmy, generals, ctc
Just to show you how httle rehance e be pliced even on what are supposed
the best accounts of 1 battle I menuon that there are some arcumstances men
toned m General « account which did not occur 1% he rehtes them  He
was ot on the field dunng the whole battle parucularly not dunflg the latter
partof it The battle began T beheve at ceven It s impossible to <2y when
cach important occurrence took plice, nor m what order These are a0
wwers to dll your quenies but remember 1 recommend you 10 lewve the battle
of Waterloo asat s

With the words of these quotttions nnging 1 his ears how dare an
Indin wniter take up the well worn theme of the 1attle of Pampat and hope
to succeed m the Attempt®  Waterdoo was fought betsseetr two mest wbsanced
nations represented by <nch extriordinan men 1< Napoleon and the Duke of
Welington  Frenything aibout 1t was going on n the mast emalized and up to
dite manner  There was no dearth of officsnl despatehies reports, explina
tions plns memenrs affiemations and contrydicuons And <tll we hae the
comments of the chief actor m the field on the victonous «de as quoted above
How much moare unsitsfactory the stite of Turs muse be when detling wath
Pampit— battle fought between two parties one of which was backward
and the other barbirous' One party could not wnte n offiesl report of the
battle because 1t smpls cowed ta exist the other would nat white about 1t be
cause 3t thought 1t superfluous  As for prisate wntings survavors from the
defeated and anmibulited party could wnte only apologencally wnd sometimes
with a gulty conscience the members of the victonous party wrote with ex
aggeration and bombast, sometmes without amy regred for truth knewing
that nothing succeeds hike success  The result 1s that the histonan has to de
pend on hier gathered paral reports mdiidun! memorrs  nd  chronicles
wntten with a purpese, none having 1 complete vision of the whole ffar
Even then the matenal asvailable 1s very «canty, leaving many lcunx in the
connected story  QOne has to do without maps plans offictal orders, chuts from
the generals i therr hand wnting before the end of the battle as well as later
confirmations or demls  Such 1< the basis for Pamipat

But an lustoric event on which hung the fate of a nition the desuny
of a continent and the flture wend of world ~ffairs for centurnies cannot, and
ought not to go unrclated  And 1t will be granted that the <tory can best be
related by one of the nationals preferably by one belonging to the losing side
For thus only can the whole truth 1bout the event come out or find expression
With this 1dea I have ventured to tikhe up the theme and wnte the follow-
mng pages
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CHAPTER 1
THE MARATHAS IN THE PANJAB AND BEYOND

TuE Iastoric document printed at the very beginming of Rajwade’s
first volume of ongmal letters marks a turmng pomnt i Maratha history Un
fortunatelv the document s only a copy m Perso Marath: of the onginal con
tract between the Emperor of Delhi and the Peshwa represented by Malharrao
Holkar and Jayapa Shinde The date of the document can now be fixed with
certainty  Itis May 1752 Ahmad Shah Abdal, the new hing of Afghanistan

Jand the successor to Nadir Shah’s eastern dommions, then loomed large on
the Indian honzon He had been beaten off n lus first attempt of 1748 But
he was not a man to be discouraged by one fmlure He again mvaded the
Panjab 1n 1749 and secured 2 promuse of tnbute from 1its governor Not re
cewing the tribute, he imvaded for the third time 1n 1752 and laid siege to
Lahore But Mir Mannu,? the Mughal Subahdar of the province, was a
clever man, not devoid of valour , He did not shrink from having a trial of
strength with Abdali  Lahore fell, however, at the end of March and Mir
Mannu consented to act in future as Abdahs agent Ahmad Shah, the
Mughal Emperor, allowed lns governor to pay 50 lakhs of rupees® to Abdali,
being the surplus revenue of the province after defraying all expenditure  The
Emperor’s consent had keen given through the mediation of hs favounte,
Khoja Jawed, who acted as a sort of unoffictal nval to the Wazr 1 all huis
dealings The Emperor had been obliged to accede to the spohation of his
domunions as he could not help Mir Mannu i time  Khoja Jawed had
alienated the Mughal grandees so effectually during the last four years, that
none was ready to tahe upon himself the duty of defending the Empire agamst
the Afghans Wazrr Safdar Jang had just then completely overpowered the
Ruhelas with the help of Shinde and Holkar The Wazir had returned to
Oudh and the Marathas were on the pomnt of gong to the Deccan, when the
Emperor’s peremptory call obliged the Wazir to go to Delln with the Marathas
so as to bring pressure on Abdali Before he could come, however, the timd
Khoja and the ternfied Emperor had acceded to transfer the revenues of the
north western subahs to Abdah, who tooh 1t to be a permanent arrangement
When the Marathas with therr victorious army camoe to Delhy, the Khoj
»thought of counteracting the wrong step that he had taken under pressure
He, 1n conjunction with the Wazir, prevailed upon the Emperor to enter into
a contract with the Marathas by which they would take upon themselves the
duty of defending the Empire agamst its wnternal and external foes It 1s not
correct to say that the Wazr was the <ole ongmator of this arrangement as
wrongly read by most historians (eg Fall 1, p 306) The flaw in the i
terpretation has arisen on account of not munutely studymg the document
The Peshwa had consented to remain loyal to and was to take orders from

1Shinde 32034
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the Emperor and the Khoja mn preference to the Wazir It 1s important to
note this fact because on the bass of 1t the Peshwa’s ambassador at the Delln
Court and the military guard under Antap Manaheshwar had to take the side
of the Emperor and fight for im agawnst the Wazir 1 1753, when Safdar
Jang rebelled agamnst hus master, though by that time Khoja Jawed had been
assassinated  The Marathas were to recewve the Chauth of the north western
provinces already usurped by the Afghans  These included the Mughal Subahs
of Sind, Multan, and Lahore, as well as the districts of Hissar, Sambal, Morada

bad and Budaun then under the control of the Ruhelas and other refractory
nobles The claim to one fourth of the revenues of these lands could be made
good only by conquest, of which there was only a remote possibiity  To induce,
the Marathas to accept this hazardous adventure, something more tangible was
necessary Therefore the other two refractory Subahs of Ajmer and Agra m
the possession of the Rajput and Jat chuefs were given to the Peshwa  Previous
to this, the Emperor had tned to make good his*%laim to these lands by send-
mg Mir Bakbsh: Salabat Khan in 1749, but he had to return disappointed
after spending more than two years 1n those, regions without collecting any sub-
stantinl amount of tnbutes  After runing this great nobleman, Khoja Jawed
had bestowed the Subahs on Ghazt ud din Khan, the eldest son of the Great
Nizam ul mulk and Intizam ud daulah, the eldest son of the late Wazir
Qamar ud din khan  These two noblemen, though heads of the Turam party
after their fathers’ deaths, were miltanly of no consequence When 1t was
found m the crisss of Abdal’s mvasion that none of them was useful to the
State, the Khoa had to make a compromise with the rival Wazir and bestow
the Subahs on the Peshwa, while entening mto a contract with lum, as related
above

The transfer of the Subahs was facilitated because the dispossessed
Ghazi ud din had another move m his mind, to make good us claim to the
Viceroyalty of the Deccan as the eldest son of the Great Nizam  The Wazr
Safdar Jang wanted to get his son, the boy Shuja ud daulah nomunated to
the post, but the Peshwa had to set up a nwval to Salabat Jang, a son of the
Nizam, for which purpose Shuja was not useful, as the grandees of the Dec-
can, especiaily ¥ne Wiaratha Sardars of the Nizam, would not sile with a per-
son who bore no relationship with hun  The Khoja had 1n fact created a coun-
terpoise to the Iram Shia party of the Wazir by buying the Maratha support
to the Turam Ghazi ud din and the Emperor  The Muslum party had gamed
a great point 1n bestowing the Subahs of Ajymer and Agra on the Hindu Mara-
thas as agamst the overbearing and refractory Rajputs Thus they had set
the Hindus agamst cach other and made a common, solid, Hindu front against
the Mushms impossible  The far reaching effects of this fundamental move
were seen in the next decade (31952 61)  The refractory Rajputs came closer
to the Muslim party and fought with the Marathas wmcessantly  Pampat was
an outcome of 1t

The Peshwa's desire to get complete control of the Decean by setting up
a weah pro-Maratha <on of the Nizam as Viceroy, was foled by the usual
Mushim tactics of assassmating the person nd calling foreign help as that



THE MARATHAS IS THE TANJAD AND BFVOND 1

of the Trench  Bussy dominated the Decean poliies dunng this decade, and
all the cfforts of the Peshua were directed towands cheekmung hs mosves and
machiinons  He had to take the falce step of jomng with the English as a
result of 1. Thus Indinn politics cime to be domted by the moves and
terests of the foragners nstead of by the sons of the <01l whether Hindu or
Mushm  The Afghans, the Fnglish and the French deaded the fate and <haped
the future of India dunng thus crueal epoch

The Wanr Safdar Jang candesuncly got Rhopt Jawed murdered in
August 1752, with n view to brng the Tmperor comp'~tely under b« thumb
But huis aim of generning the who'e Pmpire with the Maratha aid was not to
e fulfilled  Ghaz ud din Firuz Jang the Viceros«le< mnate of the Deccan,
wis alco murdered by tus etep-mathier in Aurangabad i October 1752, lead-
ing to a collapse of the Peshwa's amangement as noted atove  Sahbat Jwne
had to be acknonledged as the de facto Viceror, and the Irench influence Le.
came fully establuhed at the Mizam’s Court Another urexpected outcome of
this untow 1rd happening ws the emergence of 1 new charcter 01 the polinical
stage of Dellt  Ths was Ghaz #ldin the vouncer, a ton to the murdered
man By playing upon the good feching of Safdar Janr, th« bov of fifteen
got lumeelf appomnted 28 the Mir Daklsh of the Fmpire Soan after, he Le
came the leader of the corsprracy acur«t lus benefactor, and n ths he <
cured the help of the Marthas i the name of the Fmperor on the tass of
the agreement mentoned abore By makling war an the Wazr and i allies
the Jats, under the walls of Dc'hy, he succceded i dnving anay Safdar Jang to
hs governorship of Oudh and Allahabad by the end of 1953 Bat n dong
thes he also created a future mval to lurve™, the walv Nagh Rhan Ruhela
With the help of the Ruhelr contingent under Napb and Matharrio Holkare
with his master, the Pechwa's brother, Raghoby (Ragunathro), Ghaz ud-din
went through another rovolution at Nellu i June 1551  He depared the
Emperor Ahmad Shah, after firt getting bin <elf nominated as the Wanr in
place of lus cousin Intzam ud daulih!  Alumgr 11 was crowned the new
Fmperor

Safdar Jang's downfall had een hastened because the Imm Shia party
of which he was the liead was proclumed as pro-Hindu by the Turam Sunm
party of Mughal grandees  The popular opimon i Dsltu held the Tmpire s
#vell mgh handed over to the \amathae A plwsable colour 1« given to this
opimon by certoin umvenfied clauses of the ngreement of 1752, noted n the
beginning  Beades the provinces actually mentioned n that agreement, 1t 1
mentioned 1n contemporry prvate letters that the Chauth of all the twenty-
two provinces' of the Mughal Fmpire hiad 1lso been grnted to the Marathas,
together with the admimstration of the holy cities of Benares, Bindwnn and
Mathura  Antap Manakeshwar 1s found confimming ths information 2 year

< later 1 hus despatch? 10 the Peshua  But these mmportant clauses are not
found 1 the document published by Raywade  DPerhaps 1t was 2 per<onal un-
derstanding with the Wazir and an admuinistratine concession or favour  What
—_—
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ever the case, it worked agmnst the interests of Safdar Jang as well 2s his al-
11es, the Marathas

Havng once supported the Emperor agunst their former ally, the
Waar, the Marathas should have consistently supported him gh:rcaflf:r In-
stead they jomned the upstart and unscrupulous new Wazr 1n deposing the
Emperor and placing a new man on the thronc  This method of changing
ther policy nd allies to swit the mterests of the intnguers at the Delhi Court
ultimately cost the Marathas very dearly  They successnely alienated  the
Rajputs, the Jats, the Oudh Wazir, as well as the Ruhchs, leaving not cven one
constant and stwnch supporter of their cause  Ths looseness further mereased
on account of the conflicting <elf interests of the vanous Maratha commander$
and statesmen Al this has to be borne 1n mund when we come to judge the
Maratha vicssitudes 1n north India, and sts final culmunation 1n the disaster
of Pampat .

After the fourth imvasion of Ahmad Shah Abdal, which came like an
avalanche on the Delhi monarchy in 1757, the Lmpire was as good as broken
The Marathas came on the scene when the whole region from Agra northward
had been looted to the st pie by Abdal  Even Ghaz ud din, thewr own
nominee, had become disgusted with the Maratha behaviour  So he accepted
the arrangement of Abdali, who appointed Napb as hus mulitary ugent in the
Delhi affars Tollowing the advice of Abdal, he had started with two young
Delh: princes to establish the Mughal rule in the lost domimons of Oudh and
Allahabad  Just when he was alout to attach Shuja ud daulah who had suc-
ceeded Safdar Jang, the Marathas entered the ficld, disperced the Wazir’s army,
and agam established ther own supremacy at Dellu by ousting Napb It
seems that after this new revolution, they entered mnto a new treaty with Ghan-
ud din  In place of the nght to Chauth (one fourth), they fined thar <hare
at half of all the revenues that they might gather from the erstwhile Mughal
domintons  Of course, there was no possbility of their getting anything with.
out the application of force, which meant war on all fronts of Delln  With
a view to prevent Abdah from ever entering India, they now thought of
establishing the Mughal ru'e 1n the lost region of the five mers and beyond

Ahmad Shah Abdali, while returning to his own country with tmmense
loot 1n May 1757, left fus son, the boy Taimur Shah, at Lahore as his Viceroy,
with Jahan Khan, his best general, as hus guardian  Besides the Afghan party
of Abdal, there were two other clmmants to the land of the five rvers  One
was the Mughal party headed by Mughlam Begum, the ambitious, self-willed
and profigate widow of Mir Mannu, the other was the democratic party of
the persecuted Sibhs  Mughlam Begum had at first tned to rule with the help
of her favountes, but n 1756 Ghazi ud din brought her under his control
He marned her daughter, Umda Begum, and made Adina Beg Khan, who had
already made humself powerful by rasng a vast army to nclude !hc’Slkhs his ©
deputy  Later on, when Ghazi ud dim found out his mother 1n law’s real char
acter, he got her lidnapped by one of his assistants and brought her back to
Delht  He thereby also secured for humself her vast fortune The Wazr’s
deputy ruled at Lahore for six months but was scon ousted by Abdal’s nominee.
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At the end of the year 1756, Ahmad Shah himself followed, as mentioned
above, and returned after leaving Taimur to rule the Panjab, It seems that
Jahan Khan was only a blunt soldier and not a diplomat such as onc needed
to be in the disturbed conditions of the Panjab of those times. Adina Beg
Khan, who had been baulked in his ambition to be the chicf administrator by
the Afghan intrusion, now came out of his hiding in the hills, With the help
of his Sikh allies, he carried on a guerrilla war-fare and made Abdali’s rule a
precatious one in that arca.  Another complication arose on account of
Mughlani Begum who had joined Abdali against her son-in-law, Ghazi-ud-din,
with a view to rule the Panjab hersell.  She had acted as Abdali’s spy and
wgent in digging out the buried wealth of the Delhi nobles. Ahmad Shah was
immenscly pleased with her and carried her back to Lahore with him on his
return.  He had promised the Jalandar Doab containing the best land in the
Panjab with Jammu and Kgshmir to the north of it as her jagir. This ar-
rangement could not succeed for military reasons, Ahmad Shah revoked it
and thus Mughlani Begum became a pauper, because she was too proud to
receive a small pension instead. Her jagir was in the occupation of Adina Beg,
and probably she began to intrigue with him against the Afghan deputy. The
matters came to the point of Jahan Khan Eeating the Begum with his own
hand and confining her.  The military power of Adina Beg was strong cnough
to baflle the Afghan ruler, and therefore. Jahan Khan thought it best to leave
Adina Beg in his post of the revenue collector for a payment of thirty-twe
lakhs. While Adina Beg wisely remained within his bounds, the Sikhs, perhaps
with his connivance, scourged throughout the province expelling Afghan col-
lectors. The Marathas who were at this time driving out Abdali’s outposts in
the Jamuna valley naturally supported this movement against Abdali and
opened correspondence with Adina Beg. When the Marathas had completed
their work in the Doab, ncws came that the Sikhs had defeated two Afghan
generals, followed by a complete massacre and loot.  Abdali’s rule in his own
country was also challenged by some local parties and the Shah of Iran.
Finally, Adina Beg, who had the ambition to become the sole administrator in
the Panjab, called in the help of the Marathas. They had already chalked out
a policy of blocking Abdali at the Indus for fulfilling their responsibility of
defending the Empire against both internal and external foes. At the be-
ginning of 1758 they serious’y devoted their attentior? to the problem and
“pl d the ign in consulation with the Wazir Ghazi-ud-din.

A clear idea of the cxtent of the Mughal Empire is necessary for us to
understand " this campaign. What has been called the Panjab in the British
regime was not a Mughal province. The area between the water-sheds of the
Satlaj and the Jamuna had been bifurcated by the Mughals. The southern
and the eastern parts of that arca were included in the metropolitan province
of Delhi. The northern part of the land of the five rivers proper from At-
tock to Sarhind was included in the Subah of Lahore. The south-western
Panjab, with districts beyond the Indus adjoining to it, formed the Multan
province. The modern Sind was called Thattha province, and Kashmir was
also a separate province. Beyond the Indus, Kabul and Kandahar-foffed
two separate provinees, out of which Kandahar was lost by Aurangzib in 1652,
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and Kabul was anneved by Nadir Shah m 1738 But all alo_ng, the idea of
these two provinces formmng part of the Mughal’s Indian Empl.rc contmnued to
exist All these provinces had separate Governors and Dywans in the best days
of the Mughal Empire  As gradual decay set in, sometimes tpore than one
province was placed under the charge of one person, and occasionally the
whole area came to be controlled by a single strong hand  During the anar-
chical times wh ch followed Nadir Shah’s invasion, Sind with portions of Mul-
tan as well as Kabul and Kandahar completely passed out of Indian hands
Only the Panjab proper continued to be a debatable land for some time

We have briefly noted the condition after Mir Mannu’s death in 1753 «
The Marathas cast the last die in the tragic drama with the slogan of the
complete wntegrity of the Indian Emp re as built up by the Mughals with their
ancient boundaries  Unfortunately the Indian political world was not sufficiently
ntellectually or morally advanced to grasp this fundamental idea and fight for it
The Marathas had nisen higher m transcending the bounds of race, language,
religion and sect  They took therr stand on the basis of India for the Indians
to be governed and defended by themselves without foreign aid or interference.S

Malharrao Holkar accompamed Raghoba m this famous campawgn,
while Sakharam Bapu was the Diwan and chief diplomatic adviser. The
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Translation of Raghoba's letter, dated 4th May, 1758, from Lahore, recerved on 18th
June, 1753, by the Peshwa {Lele archuives)

“  We have already brought Lahore, Multan, Rashmir and other subahs on this
side of Attock under our rule for the moct purt ¢nd pleces which have not come under
cur rule we shall soon bring under us Ahmad Khan Abdal’s son Tammur Sultan and
Jahan Khen have been pursned by our troops, and their tioops completely looted Both
of them have now reached Peshawar with a few brehen troops  Ahmad Khan had invaded
Isprhan with his troops  Dut Jsber Shah (?), the Pad<hah of Tran, came ont to meet lim
and looted some troops of Abdali So Ahmad has returned to handahar with some 1214
thousand troops Iram troops have ccre at their rear pursung them  Jabarast Khan,
Mukarab hhan and other sardars and zamindars of those regions, who had joined Abdalx
under compulsion, are now rebeling aganet Ius rule  They have written supplicatory
Yetters 1o we and are ready to emiol nnder us so ws to chastise Abdah  Thus, all have
nisen agamst Ahmad Ihan ‘who has lost control aver the regions Even 1f Ahdalt goes to
Herat, he cannot hold on  In <hort, Abdali cannot get any more support from that side,
and so lns power must wane On that side, the Pad<hah of Iran hus driven ham into @
corner  On this side, we should do the some so as to establish our rule beyond Attack
Your Honour had sent Ab&ul Rabmm Khan Ahmad Khan's nepliew and the (legal) hesr
to the donumion of the Abdalis whe had gone to Poona 1o seeh your support, to us We e
Tave deeided to ectablicli Tam at some emall place on this side of Attock to serse as hie
buse, anl to appoint hum to the subah of habul and Peshawar beyond 1 am sending himt
with Abdul Samad Rhan whom we have captured at Barlind with s Abdalr troops, to
gether with additional Tram ond Mughal troops to support lam T hope that they il
Tezin the work of b unging those regtons under control and with the fdivine) support of
your Highness' ausprcious va'our, defeat Almad Rlan once for all, so as to bemn
our rule there  RMyself and Malharha have recenned letters in s own handwriting irsm
tie Pad haht of Iram, wnviting us 1o handabar soon so as to completely averpower Almad
and fiv the boundary between Tran and Handastan) ot Attock. (the Todus)  Hep e
-iT“p‘u:ﬂ‘xlngl;‘\l:dul mll!um, sent by }\'mL:rlHor:lour, on the subah of Kahul
i sth troops and necessaries abul and Rondahar—these tuo
session of Tndua Jrom the fumes of Ahbar to thoss of Alamger Whe omts® (Fo® I3
we hand these over to the yuler of Vilayas (Iran)? Therefore we are gimy (i seon
:“:e'f-b‘(i:“l l{lulnun ha;e Ile (the Padshak of Iran} also rrust not be caning :er)l'o‘:f\u‘cll: lo’:

e {rocky, , ) e wil
rended] to sstablih our. role pta Teandabas (o o e of perey S5 hte) S e e
warded replies to the letters from Iran  Emoys from the fulors of Lot (Sagy, ooty
and Koshiue have arrived here (to settle the povernment of those regions). o " T2 U2
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TIE MARATUAS I THE PANJAB AND BEYOND 7

Maratha army first approached Sarlund which was governed by Abdus Samad
Khan, a vahant general of Abdali He was at this ume on a pumitive expedt
von agaimnst Alwingh Jat, the founder of the Patala State  Heanng that the
Marathas were advaneng, he <cttled accounts with Alasingh, quickly returned
to Sarhind and made preparitions for defending it The Maratha troops were
not more than fifty thousand m number, though rumour had swelled 1t to two
lakhs  In the first week of March 1758, they began the sicge of Sarhind which
does not seem to hnve continued long  Abdus Samad Khan tned to escape
but was captured along with Jang Baz Khan and other Afghans  The Mara-
thas and the Sikhs thoroughly looted Sarhind and afterwards destroyed 1t
*Heanng of the fall of Sarlund, Jahan Khan, who had advanced from Lahore
to help Abdus Samad, returned preaipitately  The Maratha forces 2dvanced
further, Adin1 Beg Khan leading them on the way  Seang them rapudly
advancing with confidence, Jahan Khan and his ward, the boy Tumur, lost
heart, as they had not more than twenty five thousand troops with them to de-
fend themselves  The valant captun Manap Paygude led the vanguird of
the Marathas with ten thousand koree along with one thousand Mughals un
der Khwajah Muza  On the 20th Apnl, 1758, the Marthas entered Lahore
Prince Taimur and Jahan Khan had afready evacuated it on the day previous
and carnied all therr property beyond the Ravi The Marathas, after taking
charge of the fort, quickly crossed the nver and pursued the Afghans upto the
niver Chinab  Only the Durrm troops of Tammur escaped hurniedly with
Jahan Khan at ther head  All s other troops, Turkish, Afghan and Indan,
were over powered by the Marathas, who took vast spoils in their camp  The
Marathas would have pursued Jahan Khan sull further, but fortunately for
hum the nver was deep and unfordable and all the boats necessary for crossing
the niver had been taken to the other «ide by Tammur Sultan?

Raghoba stayed 1n Lahore only for 1+ month and then prepared to re-
turn to the Deccan at the express orders of the Peshwa leaving the admuustra-
tion of the whole province m the hands of Adina Beg who agreed to pay
seventy five lakhs 2 year to the Marathas  An equal revenue was to go to the
Wazir at Delhs as his half share i the bargan  The Maratha corps engaged
n this famous campaign were those of Manap Paygude Gangadhar Bajrao
Retharekar, Gopalrao Ganesh Bane, Ryap Sakhdey, Remaho Anap and

« Bapup Trimbak, besides the Holkars contingent Han Raghunath Bhide, a
fast friend and supporter of Raghoba, had also accompanied them  Why
Raghoba was not allowed to continue m the Pamab 1s difficult to say  In hs
only available letter (Note 6) he wrtes that he was returming because the
Peshwa had recalled him

As a matter of fact the five years from 1757 to 1761 were the most
cntical years in Indian hustory The Marathas who aspired to take mto their
hands the political control of the wholc contment, had to keep their attention
on the problems ansing 1n all corners of India  The Peshwa had recalled his
brother from Lahore probably because he thought the Deccan politics were
more mmportant, and wished to end the French mfluence at the court of the
e ————
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Nuzam by fomenting an imnternal revolution there, through the agency of the
mumster Shah Nawaz Khan  The Peshwa was n the very thick of the con-
spiracy just at this juncture, but Bussy proved more than a match for the
Peshwa 1n this move He took the fort of Daulatabad from the hands of Shah
Nawaz Khan's retamer, m Apnl 1758 Nizam Al, the  younger brother of the
Nizam Salabat Jang, was slowly and cautiously feehng hs way and coming
forward under lis brother’s cover He caused the murders of Haidar Jang
the chief natwve assistant of Bussy, Shah Nawaz Khan and his son, thus ending
the French as well as the Maratha influence at the Nizam’s Court at one
stroke  Anticipating these developments, the Peshwa seems to have called back
hs brother to be at his elbow 1n any cnisis likely to anse from there

But as things then stood, this meant the weakening of the Marath:
strength n the Panjab just when 1t was most needed Raghoba and Malharrac
had acted wisely in choosing a proper time for pshung forward upto Lahore,
just when Abdalt’s troops there had been reduced to a small force But once
having pushed so far, 3t was necessary to buid there an impregnable line across
Abdal’s path  Instead, they chose the wrong path—which has often been
repeated by the Marathas in therr lustory—of returning home They had al-
ready made aver the g of the cong d parts to Adina Beg and
left only a small force to ard lum 1 any eventuahities Therr whole plan mis-
carried as later developments showed R-ghoba and Malbarrao returned at the
end of May 1758 They were conscrous that the Maratha troops left behund
were madequate  While returning, they ordered certain other Maratha bri-
gades to proceed to the Panjab to canton there Malharrao despatched Tukoj
Holkar and Khandop Kadam, Raghoba ordered Vitthal Shivdev to repair
there  Janakojt Shinde, after huis meeting with Raghoba i Rajputana on his
way back, sent the old and expenenced Sabaj Shinde to take over the whole
charge of the Maratha affairs m the Panjab as a deputy govermnor  Of these,
Vitthal Shivdev® seems to have continued there only up to October, together
with his colleague Satvop Jadhav  Sabap reached Lahore some time after

But 1n the mterval Adina Beg died on the 16th September, 1758 ? He was
the only expenenced and influential man i the Panjab not altogether 1ll dis-
posed towards the Marathas  After hus death began again the vicious scramble
for power in that reglon Khwajah Mirza tned to assume the governorship at
Lahore and renew s broken carcer  With the help of Tubkop and Khandop ¢
he beat back an invasion of some Afghans and Gakhhars 1n concert This was
before Sabay’s arrwval and his tahing over the charge of the Panjah  Tukoy
and Khandoy pushed on beyond the Jehelum'® and the Indus in pursuit of the
Afghns and thus carned the Maratha standards beyond Attock This was
sometime i October 1758, before the severe winter 1 those regions began
Sabap followed them alter a short interval and 1ined thoee v 20 0
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THE MARATIIAS IN THE PANJAB AND BEYOND 9

Thus forward march of the Marathas was probably to place Abdul
Rahlim Khan, a nephew of Ahmad Shah Abdal and a claimant, on the Afghan
throne This Khan, though his name 15 not mentioned anywhere else, had
proceeded to Poona to seek the Peshwa’s help m re instating lum 1n Afghamstan
The Marathas scem to have taken hum with them to Peshawar and tned to
establish hum there  They continued 1n Peshawar during the whole of that
winter and returned to Lahore i March 1759, due probably to the Afghan
pressure  The mternal pobitics of the province detenorated stil further in the
mtennal  The Maratha generals, left 1n the vanous parts of the province to
help the local collectors and mamtain peace, began to take sides amongst the

* nval factions for power n that province  Siding with Khwajah Mirza’s
enermues they ousted him from Lahore, whence he fled with lus Sihh alhes to
the hulls of Jammu Bapuyp Trimbak who had been placed at Multan to help
the local governor, seems tq have been entangled between the local parties of
the Afghans and the Mughals m that remon Khwajah Mirza tned to take
shelter 1n the Jammu state, but Ranpt Dev, who was ruling there, asked him
to clear out by threatening um With dire consequences :f he persisted i his
attempt to continue there 2 He scems to have become a champion of Hinduism
at the mstance of the Maraths, and openly declared hus intention of brooking
no mmpediment from the Muslims 1n his province The Mrza, therefore, re
turned to Sialkot and made a common cause with his erstwhile enemues, the
wild Galkhars In the meantime Abdus Samad Khan, who had been cap-
tured at Sarhind by Raghoba and afterwards sent back to Kabul to help Abdul
Ralim Khan i his attempt to establish humself 1n those regions, agamn re
turned to India in the wake of the returmng Maratha troops He tried to
create trouble for the Marathas by joming the opposite parties  He made com
mon cause with Khwajah Mirza, and tried to make the Maratha hold impos-
sible 1n the regions beyond the Ravi  Next he suddenly swooped down on
Multan, held the aty at ransom, and established s deputy there 1n opposition
to Muhammad Al Khan, who was goverming there with the help of Bapup
Trnmbak  Under the leadership of Muhammad Al Khan, the people of Mul-
tan rose against the barbarous Afghan rule, drove that deputy out of the aty,
and looted his army This happened 1n March 1759

Abdali had by this time freed himself from his western engagements

= with the Shah of Iran and the affairs of Khorasan which had occupied him
for two years He sent Jahan Rhan to re establish his rule in the Peshawar
region  His pressure and the failure of Abdul Ralum Khan’s cause obliged
the Marathas to recross the Indus and come back to therr base at Lahore
After his return Sabap jomned his forces with others and thus renforced, was
able to beat back an mvasion of Jahan Khan at the end of August 1759 The
Afghan genernl lost hs son 1 the attempt and many of his troops were killed
or wounded He himself was also wounded and had to retreat across the Indus
The summer of 175g was the decisive time for the Marathas to make good
their hold on the Panjab if they wished to keep 1t But Dattaj and Janakojp
Shinde who had gone up to the banke of the Satly in Apnl that year re

ibhd.
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Nizam by fomenting an internal revolution there, through the agency of the
mumnster Shah Nawaz Khan  The Peshwa was in the very thick of the con-
spiracy just at this juncture, but Bussy proved more than a match for the
Peshwa 1n this move  He took the fort of Daulatabad from the hands of Shah
Nawaz Khan's retamer, tn Apnl 1758 Nizam Aly, the’ younger brother of the
Nizam Salabat Jang, was slowly and cautiously feeling his way and commg
forward under s brothers cover He caused the murders of Hadar Jang
the chief native assistant of Bussy, Shah Nawaz Khan and his son, thus ending
the French as well as the Maratha mfluence at the Nizam’s Court at one
<troke  Anticipating these developments, the Peshwa seems to have called back
h.s brother to be at hus elbow 1n any crisis likely to anse from there

But as things then stood, this meant the weakening of the Maratha
strength in the Panjab just when it was most needed Raghoba and Malharrao
had acted wisely in choosing a proper ume for pushing forward upto Lahore,
just when Abdalis troops there had been reduced to a small force But once
having pushed so far, 1t was necessary to build there an impregnable line across
Abdalis path  Instead, they chose the wrong path—which has often been
repeated by the Marathas in their history—of returning home They had al-
ready made over the management of the conquered parts to Adina Beg and
left only a small force to aid hum 1n any eventualites Thewr whole plan mis-
carried as later developments showed  Raghoba and Malharrao returned at the
end of May 1758 They were conscrous that the Maratha troops left behind
were madequate  While returnung, they ordered certam other Maratha bri
gades to proceed to the Panjab to canton there Malharrao despatched Tukof’
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of The 1l Aad and unadaptne Marathas ~ Af average Maratha soldier of those
days wished to return home after eight month’s service and very few were willing
to continue 1n foreign lands for more than two camping seasons  Their prepa™
ration, their gquipment, their physical stamina, not to say home sickness, would
not possibly make their sojourn tolerable beyond that period  These were very
real and basic difficulties and unless the Marathas became successful colomizers in
distant lands thewr hope of ruling India was bound to fail  The Mushms spread
therr rule over the whole continent by this method of establishing self sufficient
colonies, however small, 1n the provinces they entered, one by one  And sull
they took centunies to spread over the whole continent They were, morcover,
proselytising and intermarrying with the vanous local people, thus always
strengthemng and mcreasing ther outposts  The Marathas, on the other hand
had not shown any of these charactenstic virtues nor were they endowed with
progressive 1deas, methods, sor instruments —in short a higher avilization like
that of the Brish  How could they, under these circumstances make them
elves good as successful conquerors in foreign climes?

To hold this new stretch of five hundred miles from Ambala fo Peshawar
would have required a permanent garnson of one lakh of soldiers judiciously
distnbuted at the vanous key points  This stretch 15 atsell  geographicallj
divisible into two almost equal parts, one from Ambala to the Chinab and the
other from the Chinab to Peshawar Up to the Chinab the land 15 a vast,
sandy, level plain  One can scarcely see any hill on the honzon unless one
goes north  Beyond the Chinab, hills begin on 2 small scale, and beyond the
Jehelum, the regton 1s mountainous, rocky and comparatively barren, the pro
portion of cultivable land becoming less and less  In the time of Akbar, the
whole of this western tract was included in the three Mughal Subahs of Lahore,
Multan (to include Sind), and Kabul which included both Kashmur and
kandahar in those days  Afterwards, Sind or Thattha Kashmur and Kandahar
became separate governorships, due probably to therr distance from the centre
and the exigencies of military defence Anybody wanting to rule over these
terntories would have required good cavalry with horses mnured to hot and cold
climates, camel corps carrying guns to run through the and deserts, as well
as good mountaineers to pass through dangerous and sometimes snow clad
regions  When Raghoba 1s found senously discussing the sovereign nghts of
the Mughal government or the correct policy for their agents, the Marathas,
n these regions, 1t 15 doubtful whether he had visualised all these prospects or
calculated their cost The Marathas also employed camels m carrying express
despatches kettle drums as well as baggage, but they had never taken the
trouble to create an efficient, fighting camel corps, much less organise a mobile
artllery of swivel guns carried on these ammals, like Abdali  In fact, Abdal’s
chief and most successful innovation seems to be thuis mobile artillery which
was always handy when compared to guns carnied on carts drawn by bul
locks  In the camel corps, both the gunner as well as the driver were seated on
the same ammal, there was absolutely no impediment to its movement Bul
lock drawn artllery, on the other hand needed a pioneer force of sappers and
muners to prepare a tolerably good road to carry these heavy guns, requiring
i many cases as many as fifty bullocks to draw each gun The chief adviser
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wmed to Dellu after appointing Sadik Beg, a deputy of Adina Beg, as the
chuef revenue collector m the regions around Sarhind  There was an dea of
appomtmg Naro Shanhar' m place of Sabap Shinde, but 1t never matenalized
After camping at Bahlulpur and Machhiwada on the south bankkof the Satla)
for a month or so, the Shindes returned with Naro Shankar Their return this
tme was also due bhe the return of Raghoba the previous year, to the
Peshwa s advice cum orders  The Peshwa was overburdened with debts  He
was wrting letter after letter to Dattaj Shinde to take up some new venture
which would fill the Peshwas treasury and add a new province to the Maratha
domimons  Lahore Allahnbad Benares, Patna and lastly Bengal were to be
taken over one after the other This meant dealing with Napb Khan, Shuja-
ud daulah Ghazi ud din the Pnnce Ah Gauhar and last but not least, the
Enghsh  Sttung at ease m hus cosy aitadel 1n Poona and rumunating over the
thoughts of conquest over the whole of India was all nght as a chamber pas
tme but the Peshwa never seems to have realized the actual difficulties 1n that
path That a man of Ahmad Shal’s type would take the ousung of his son
from the Panjab lying down was obviouslyQimpossible, still, the Peshwa n
sisted on the Shuindes returning to Delln mstead of proceeding to Attock and
holding that ine agamnst all attacks

The Marathas remamed in the Panjab only for a bref period, from
Apnil 1758 to October 1759 They were, constitutionally, acting as agents of
the Mughal Emperor and were normally trymng to make use of the local ma
chinery of government 1n carrying on the admimstration and collecting the
revenues They had to disrmss the Afghan nominees, no doubt, but mn therr
place they generally apponted the Mughals  Whether the Marathas had
acted wisely 1 taking upon themselves such a hazardous adventure as trying
to conquer the Panjab and hold 1t out agamnst such an excepyional man as
Abdalt must be judged by the result, which s history A thoughtful histonan
will always consider that 1t was a wrong step for the Peshwas to cross the
Narmada without first taking possession of the south up to Rameshvaram
After having crossed that nver, they should have at least stopped at the Chambal
and first secured the overwhelmingly Hindu provinces of Allahabad and QOudh
which were just adjoming to the north, mstead of touching the hornet’s nest
at Dellt. The Peshwa tlought of first grasping the rems of the central govern
ment at Delln and thus gettng legal control aver the whole empire  That 1t
was a wrong step, impossible of fulfilment on account of the selfish unpatrnotic
and pusillammous attitude of the ruling Mushims 1s proved at the’ bar of his
tory and no amount of casuistry can take away the blame from the Marathas
for the fundamental mistake of choosing the wrong path

From the mulitary pomnt of view, 1t was no wise
lengthen thewr lne of communication by five hundred ::E;O;tﬂ;fxcl\:;zxasglo
ready the distance of one thousand mules from Poona to Ambala was long
enough fc:r them to defend successfully To step beyond Sarhund was almost a
mad man’s behaviour The chmate of the regions, with 1ts extremes of heat
and cold, was not very propitious and was well mgh beyond the endurance
13SPD 2100
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of The i-1ad and Ghadaptive Mardthas”™ An average Maratha soldier of those
days wished to return home after €ight month's service and very few were willing
to continue in fomgn lands for more than two camping seasons. Their prepa”
ration, their gquipment, their physical stamina, not to say home-sickness, \\ou]d
not possibly male their sojourn tolerable beyond that period. These were vcry
real and basic difficulties and unless the Marathas became successful colonizers ir*
distant lands their hope of ruling India was bound to fail. The Muslims spread.
their rule over the whole continent b) this method of establishing sel[-suﬂicxcm
colonies, however small, in the provinces they entered, onc by one. And still
they took Eenturies to sprcad over the whole continent. They were, morcover,
proselytising and intermarrying with the various local people, thus always
strengthening and increasing their outposts. The Marathas, on the other hand,
had not shown any of these characteristic virtues nor were they endowed with
progressive ideas, methods, sor instruments,—in <hort a higher civilization like
that of the British. How could (hc), under these circumstances, make them-
selves good as successful conquerors in foreign climes?

To hold this new stretch of five hundred miles from Ambala to Peshawar
would have required a permanent garrison of one lakh of soldiers judiciously
distributed at the various hey-points. This stretch is itsell geographically
divisible into two almost equal parts; one from Ambala to the Chinab and the
other from the Chinab to Peshawar. Up to the Chinab the land is a vast,
“sandy, level plain. One can scarcely see any hill on the horizon unless one
goes north. Beyond the Chinab, hills begin on a small scale, and beyond the
Jehelum, the region is mountainous, rocky and comparatively barren, the pro-
portion of cultivable land becoming less and less. In the time of Akbar, the
whole of this western tract was included in the three Mughal Subahs of Lahore,
Multan (to include Sind), and Kabul which included both Kashmir and
Kandahar in these days. Afterwards, Sind, or Thattha, Kashmir and Kandahar
became separate governorships, due probably to their distance from the centre
and the exigencies of military defence. Anybody wanting to rule over these
territories would have required good cavalry with horses inured to hot and cold
climates, camel corps carrying guns to run through the arid deserts, as well
as good mountaineers to pass through dangerous and sometimes snow-clad
regions. When Raghoba is found seriously discussing the sovereign rights of

, the Mughal government or the correct policy for their agents, the Marathas,
in these regions, it is doubtful whether he had visualised all these prospects or
caleulated their cost, The Marathas also employed camels in earrying express
despatches, hettle-drums as well as baggage; but they had never taken the
trauble to create an efficient, fighting camel-corps, much less organise a mobile
artillery of swivel-guns carried on these animals, ke Abdali. In fact, Abdalt’s
chicf and most successful innovation seems to be this mobile artillery which
was always handy when compared to guns carried on carts drawn by bul-
locks  In the camel-corps, both the gunner as well as the driver were seated on
the same animal; there was absolutely no xmpedu'nent to its movement. Bul-
loch-drawn artillery, on the other hand, necded a pioneer force of sappers and
miners to prepare a tolerably good road to carry these heavy guns, requiring
in many cases as m:my as fifty bullocks to draw each gun. The chiel adviser
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of Raghunathrao mn this far famed Panjab campaign was Sakharam Bapu
He seems to have developed a faculty for easily disposing of the twenty two
subahs of the Mughal Empire by his parlour calculation 14 Ragh hrao
also had developed a similar faculty from s early boyhood ¥ Thus there
seems to have been some bram wave set i motion at the court of Poona
whereby all such problems of high impenal policy were quichly seftled at one
aiting on the basis of theoretical or oral information supphied by Munshs!
When Raghunathrao went on his first expedition to Gujarat 1n 1753% (when
he was only mmneteen), he had already discussed from his base 1n Kathiawad
the possibility of proceeding to Sind and Multan via Bhujnagar, 1e Cutch u
Had he followed that :dea and put 1t into an actual plan, he would have then
and there realized the necessity of orgamzing an efficient camel corps, for hus
route would have taken him through the great Indian desert, between Marwad
and Sind  As 1t was, the project never matenalized, and Raghunathrao re
turned to pursue hus way to Kumbher of Surajmal Jat to break lus head there
There seems to be something fundamentally wrong m the plans of conquest
hatched in the hen coop of Shanwarwada (¢he Peshwa’s palace m Poona),
for the Peshwa 15 found constantly ordenng his generals to procesd on new
conquests and then as suddenly recallng them or transfernng them to dif
ferent fields! Otherwise we cannot account for the muserable failure of that
decade of incessant activity preceding Pampat

Raghunathrao had left belund not more than ten thousand troops m
the Panjab when returming  Afterwards, when Tukop Holkar and Sabap
Shinde amved, the total number was perhaps twenty thousand Thss force,
with its shortcomings, was quite mnadequate to keep back Abdali and govern
the Panjab agamnst a number of rebellious adventurers with local support
Raghunathraos 1dea of setting up a rmval claimant in the Kabul area and get
ting the necessary work of stopping Abdah done through him, was good on
paper, but a nval who would be able to make even a semblance of a stand
aganst the overpowenng personality of Ahmad Shah Abdall was difficult to
find The only feastble plan mn the circumstances then existing was to stop
at the nver Jehelum and try to defend the hne of Multan, Lahore and Jammu
by making 2 common cause with the Rajputs and Sihhs in those regions  This
meant a departure from the policy of governing the Mughal provinces through
the old decrepit machinery of derelict officers, cvil and mulitary  Men Iike
Ranpt Dev of Jammu and Alasingh Jat of Patala would have been ready
10 jomn such a front with an ideological basis different from the 1deology of the
Mughal Empire  But there was no personality of Shivay’s type amongst the
then existng Marathis  That was the real difficulty of the Maratha Empire
if 1t was gomng to be bullt Ahmad Shah Abdaly, 1t should not be forgotten,
was a Shivaji amongst his-compatriots  He had put the name of Afghamstan
on the map Before his advent the Afghans were divided into vanous wnde-
pendent, warning and backward tribes, ready to accept service under any con-
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queror and work as us slaves Ahmad Shah not only freed s own tnbe from
the clutches of a Persian ruler, but he freed the other Afghan clans also  Then
he welded them into a nation Instead of secking fortune as individual ad-
venturers m India and Persia, as they had done from the tmes of Mahmud
of Ghazm, the Afghans now thought of uniting amongst themselves and set-
ting out on conquenng expeditions as a well kmt nation To meet such a
personality and such a new nahon was no easy tash The Marathas should
have produced such a personality, or failing that, a combination of individuals
who could match 1t  Unfortunately this could not happen, and the result
1s recorded m the pages of history

In October 1759, Jahan Khan returned with a bigger army He
formed, m fact, the advance guard of Abdaly’s army 1 its new campaign
The Maratha army mn the Panjab, at this time, was not more than fifteen thou-
sand strong  Of this, five® thousand under Bapup Trimbak were mm Multan,
five thousand under Tukop garnsoned Lahore, while Sabaj had another five
thousand moving from place to place The only region of the Panjab which
was comparatively well settled and yielding any direct revenue, as distinguished
from tributes and ransoms, was the Sarlund—Jalandar area This had been
placed under Sadik Beg—wrongly copied as Sandip Beg in Marathi chromcles
He had consented of his own accord to pay five lakhs more than ongmally set-
tled with Adina Beg His Diwan Lakshmu Narayan had been won over to
the Maratha ssde  The mutual relations between Tuhop Holkar and Sabay
Shinde 1n the Panjab were none too good Sabaj treated Tukop as a lower
official and kept the whole purse and power i is own hands® Tulop at
this ime was a jumor officer and only a servant of Malharrao Holkar and not, as
1s wrongly thought, one of his near relations, though he ultimately succeeded to
the Holkar’s jagir  Malharrao wrote to Tuhop to send Holkar’s share 1n the
revenues of the Panjab to Indore  Tuhop replied that Sabay Patel had taken all
the money and had allowed lum only the daily wages for hus troops When
Tukop remonstrated, Sabay showed him a letter from Janalop Shinde order-
g Tukop to draw only wages while the rest of the account would be settled
by Janakop and Malharrao, the amongst tk Ives As Tukop had
1o intention of impeding the government machinery and fighting a avil war,
he followed Janakop’s mstructions According to Tukop, without the help
of Malharrao the Shindes would never succeed in the Panjab  Moreover,
Sabaj would never take Tuhoj mnto confidence and settle the Maratha pohicy
tn consultation with um  Otherwise, complains Tukojs, 1t was possible to estab-
lish peace in the Panjab, had Sabap followed his advice In his incomplete
letters' (and enly two such letters have unfortunately come nto the hands of
histonans) he clearly says that the Marathas had collected revenues from Sar-
hind, the (Jalandar) Doab, Lahore, Multan and Attock

From thus description 1t 1s clear that the Marathas had spread up to
the Indus and beyond, and not stopped at the Chunab as emphatcally stated
_—

18 Chandrachuda Daftar 149, T14 (To be read together )
Vibid 149, 114
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by Sir Jadunath? and copied on his authonty by Dr Han Ram Gupta and
others  That they had gone to Peshawar 1s also clear from the contemporary
Perstan Akhbars which clearly say that Tuhop had rcached Peshawar in
October 1758, and that Salubjt (Sabajp) Patel had started from Peshawar and
reached Lahore in March 1759 It 15 no *“ignorant boast” of the Marathas,
therefore, “that the Maratha standards were carned up to the Indus at Attoch,”
as mn fact they had not only reached that crossing but had, 1gnonng the so-
called bar for the Hindus not tb cross it, actually reached Peshawar and hved
there for about six months 2 This was the zemith of Maratha expansion, and
1t 18 not a sin, we thmh, if the Marathas feel some natural pnde in that event

Raghunathrao had hept Adma Beg as the chief admmstrator 1 Lahore
and the Jalandar area because 1t was through s mvitatton and support that
the Marathas had entered the Panjab  He 15 reported to have promused to
pay the Marathas m cash for their help at the rate of one lakh of rupees for
every day of marching and half a lakh for every day of halt,?” but 1t 1s doubtful
whether the Marathas did recene even a portion of such payment It 1s known,
on the whole, that Raghunathrao’s campaign Of Lahore had been anything but
profitable to the Peshwa's government  Raghunathrao had presented a defiat
account of eighty lakhs to the Poona court and Sadashivrao Bhau had an oc
casion to repnmand lum 1n that connection  Nor does 1t seem that Admna Beg
ever paid the seventy-five lahhs a year as promused to the Marathas  No doubt,
he died within four months of the event and during the mterval he had to wage
incessant war against the Sihhs for whom he had no particular love, though he
had made use of them 1n his rebellion against the Afghan rule  In fact, though
an able admnistrator, he had no scruples agamst changing sides and he may
be called a time server or an opportunsst 1n pohities  After his death, hs widow
and a boy-child succeeded to his office with Sadih Beg, who was already a
fouydar of Sarhund, as her deputy Ths seems to have weakened the admm
sstration and become detrimental to the Maratha cause In short, the Peshwa’s
dea of making use of the machinery of the Mughal government with all its en-
cumbrances proved fatal to the Maratha cause in the Panjab as 1t had proved
1n other parts of India as well

After tus return from the Panjab in May 1759, Dattap Shinde thought
of going to Bengal through the termtory of Shuja-ud daulih in order to eact
Chauth from the new Nawab Mir Jafar set up by the Englsh and pay off the
Peshwa’s debts. The Peshwa's letters to the Shindes i this connection do not
show him mn the best hght  He had no scruples in choesing any side provided
moncy could be had out of it The Marathas seemed to be auctiorung the Wazir-
ship of Delh to the highest bidder® Matharrao was directly responsible for
the 1754 revolution in Dellu with 2 new Emperor and a new Wazr  But later
he was convinced that the Waar was anything but a straightforvard man  So
he turned away from Ghazi ud din and naturally inclined towards Napb Khan
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When, after waiting for two months, Dattaji realized the impasse in
which he had been placed by Najib, he thought of punishing him. By this
time, however, Najib had formed his impregnable lines behind natural impedi-
ments on the bank of the Ganges at Sukartal and from that secure position
defied the might of the Shindes. From this place of refuge he built a causeway
for himself across the Ganges and thus hept open his line of communication
with the Ruhela regions beyond. From these he secured supplies and also
military help. He engaged Dattaji in this manner for four months, till the
latter was obliged to raise the siege in order to meet Abdali coming down from
the Panjab in December, 1759.

» 7 Sobaji was governing the Panjab with some ten thousand troops, a foree
quite inadequate to hold the line against the Afghan tornado. Abdali had
sent his general Jahan Khan in advance with fifteen thousand troops from
Peshawar and himself followgd by way of Shikarpur in Sind along the right
bank of the Indus, ~They had first to deal with the Sikh rcbels. The Sikhs
defeated Jahan Khan’s vanguard and hilled two thousand of his troops. Seeing
that he could not possibly hold his own, Sabaji precipitately fell back from
Batala and returned by way of Ambala and Kunjpura to Dattaji’s camp at
Sukartal on the Ganges. This was in the beginning of November 1759. Only
the corps of Bapuji Trimbak which had been stationed at Multan had no time
to run away and hence was caught in the Doab. It had come up to Firozpur
on the Satlaj, where it was overtaken by a party of the Afghans who cut it to
pieces, Only five hundred out of a total of six thousand returned on foot,
unclad and underfed, all their property including horses having been plun-
dered by the Afghans. They came a month and a half later and met Dat-
taji near Thaneshwar where he had proceeded to meet Abdali, by breaking
up his camp at Subartal, in the last week of December 1759. The Bhau
Bakhar vividly describes the horror felt by Dattaji Shinde and his troops when
they saw their comrades returning in such a wretched condition. The en-
thusiasm for fighting with Abdali faded away and ali thought it as an evil
omen of forthcoming disaster. This was the beginning of the end of the
Panjab episode in Maratha history. That episode had occupied only a brief
period of one and a half years and carried the Maratha standards up to Pesha-
war, but the cost of this glory was out of all proportion to the gains, and ended
with the great setback of Panipat a year later. ’
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gnven a prejudicial colour by the author of the Bhau Bakhar, so as to make it
appear as a clandestine agreement between Govindpant and Napb to support
the latter When the Shindes entered the Doab, Najib Khan was brought to
the Maratha camp to discuss terms with Dattap  The author of the Bakhar
says of this mterview that Janihoy, Naro Shankar, Antap Marfakeshwar and
other Sardars wanted to arrest Napb Khan ths tme, but Dattay, through
the advice of Govindpant, at once forbade them from entertaming such a
treacherous thought This was in conformity with the whole Maratha trad:-
o as exemplified 1 hustory and 1n accord with their general fechng  Had
the Marathas ever taken to what they themselves called “Moglar hava” or
“Moglar maslat,” meanmg thereby the politics of treacherous arrests and mur-
ders, therr whole tustory would have perhaps been wntten otherwse, though
1t 15 2 moot pomnt 1 histary whether they would not have been more successful
~barnng the moral stigma—mn therr undertakings thereby
[

Naptb, however, got a new lease of Iife by his double dealings m this
affair  Had he flatly refused to help the Marathas n building a bndge over
the Ganges, they would have possibly found“out some other means of ganing
ther ends  Dattay had the mtention of proceeding to Berigal post haste be-
fore the monsoon had set i and the nivers flooded He had planned to canton
n Patna® and thence to bring pressure on Bengal durng the monsoon His
plan was completely forled by the delaymg and promusing tactics of Napb
When a month passed and the monsoon actually set m, he pleaded his m
ability to do the needful, and promused to build the bndge after the ramns Side
by side he was hatching a conspiracy of driving away the Marathas from the
north It seems that Emperor Alamgir II was himself a party to this con-
spiracy, being fed up with the tyranmical Wazir  Maliha Zamam, the Dowager
Empress, was whole heartedly behund the 1dea or, perhaps, she herself was the
ongmator of 1t, as depicted n all the Marathi chromicles Napb Khan 15
depicted as following her orders and wishes Madhosingh of ~Japtr and
Byesingh of Marwad were also whole heastedly supporting Nayb m hus mvi-
tation to Abdah to come back to India and dnve the Marathas south of the
Narmada once for all Napb was so clever i heeping the whole project secret
that even Govindpant Bundele,” who was o near netghbour of hus and always
on the alert for news of any and, was unaware of this internal correspondence
carned on for two years between these parues, and even sending of special en-
voys to the court of Abdal; at Kandahar The Marathas came to hnow of this
sceret only when Abdah actually entered the Panjab and began to dnve away
the Maratha outposts 1 that province, m October 1759 This bespeaks of
great looseness in the management of Maratha affars  That they should have
no information of projects for oustng them and should not have properly ap-
pratsed the characters of the various persons engaged 1n actuvites aganst ther
rule, shows that ther tntelligence department had pone of that cfficency that
1t had i the tunes of Shivap and Rajaram 1 the previous century  This weaks
ness was fatal to the Maratha Empire. v
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When, after waiting for two months, Dattap realized the mmpasse
which he had been placed by Napb, he thought of pumshing um By this
tume, however, Napib had formed lis impregnable lnes belund natural unped:
ments on the bank of the Ganges at Subartal and from that secure position
defied the nuglht of the Shindes  From thus place of refuge he built a causeway
for humself across the Ganges and thus kept open his line of communication
with the Ruhela regions beyond From these he secured supples and also
military help He engaged Dattap 1n this manner for four months, till the
latter was obliged to raise the sicge in order to meet Abdalt conung down from
the Panjab in December, 1759

> Sabay was governing the Panjab with some ten thousand troops, a force
quite mnadequate to hold the line agamst the Afghan tornado  Abdah had
sent his general Jahan Khan in advance with fifteen thousand troops from
Peshawar and himself followgd by way of Shikarpur m Sind along the nght
bank of the Indus «They had first to deal with the Sikh rebels The Sikhs
defeated Jahan Khan’s vanguard and killed two thousand of his troops  Seeing
that he could not possibly hold his own, Sabap preapitately fell back from
Batala and returned by way of Ambala and Kunjpura to Dattaj’s camp at
Sukartal on the Ganges This was n the beginmng of November 1759 Only
the corps of Bapuji Trimbak which had been stationed at Multan had no ume
to run away and hence was caught in the Doab It had come up to Firozpur
on the Satla), where it was overtaken by a party of the Afghans who cut 1t to
pieces.  Only five hundred out of a total of six thousand returned on foot,
unclad and underfed, all therr property including horses having been plun
dered by the Afghans They came a month and a half later and met Dat
tayt near Thaneshwar where he had proceeded to meet Abdali, by breaking
up his camp at Sukartal, mn the last week of December 1759 The Bhau
Bakhar vividly describes the horror felt by Dattaj Shinde and his troops when
they saw therr comrades returnng mn such a wretched conditon The en
thusiasm for fighting with Abdali faded away and all thought 1t as an evil
omen of forthcoming disaster This was the beginming of the end of the
Panjab cpisode n Maratha fustory That episode had occupied only a bref
penod of one and a half years and carned the Maratha standards up to Pesha-
war, but the cost of this glory was out of all proportion to the gans, and ended
wnh the great setbach of Pampat a year later



CHAPTER 11

SUKARTAL, BURADI AND AFTER

Discnr rocecdi, to Bahilulpur o the Satla) to asranpefor the porem
ment of the Panpib e Eebraary 1750, Dattap had already furfeited the confi-
dence of the Wazr Ghaz ud din by s po® ¢, of m tatng thin=s on ha own as
th anty witho it iy, any attention to the Wazrs titere tand nucepubilitio
fhe Wazr o apluned that oven fter giarg ol the bmpre wu ot atle
10 heep ats prastige Al who had taken part 13 the baancs had let terall
with nothm , left to fall back upont * Ths was 2 tree wdictmert As g
W 1.r had found the Maratha power to be a b olea reed 1 wres of niced,
hie had perforce to open ne,ot wons with others ard try to have o etung i
hs own power Abdil, when he rawmed n 1757, had tnal o e ablha
sort of Luhwce of power 2t the Dellu court  Ne had 1 ored the depoed
Emperor to lus place and therefo ¢ the Waar was no mote free 1o do ana)
with bun or to over nde hum when Le hlpd?  Nagb Khay had lLeea ap-
pouted Ahir Bakshr th a {laang e militan power m ha hands . 3 check

vihe Wazr Ahmad Sab bad 2ty e the widenof daae ng Inuzam
ud-dlth {on sehomn be had at fint bestowed the Waarlup) and ro on~g
Ghra ud din to fus office VWhen the Marathas returncd, they had to o anay
with Napb a8 the ore real repreentatsve of Abdalis cate i India Butle
was not arrested and put nto preet 3y he vught to have been, if the
Marithas wihied to rule over Dells On the co atrany, he w.s allowed to Leep
the datncts under hun, and to act w8 a co'lector for the Marathas! Ths
meant that Napb had il left 1o hun both the means and the frecdom o
create muschue!  When Dattap retumed, be found a stalemate in the Delhe
politics duc to thus pasition  Winle the Wazir had al) the Jegal power of the
Lmpure, of ppantng and dainwang, of grinung and reuming, centred 12
hum there was no sancuon behind his decrees w8 the multary power rested with
Napb  Datap by his ligh handedness alienated the Waar, but did not, by
Any means, win over s maal for power, Napb  Dattap dicovered thas fact
when it was 100 late.  As stated 1n the previous chapter, he confidently tried to
make Napb jon hum i dus cause through the med of Govind Bun.
dele  But Napb completely foiled lus project by procrasunaton. ) Dattap,
angered by this decewt and nsult, at once besseged Napb with an overwheloung

force  But even this overwhelnung forec was ineffecuve before the cunning and
the abilty of Nayb e e &

There are certain natural impediments which 1t 15 impassible to overe
come even with greater force  Napbs camp at Sukartal had the Ganges on
threc stdes and on the fourth sude the ground was so uneven that to approach
Napl's camp with artallery or oven with cavalry was well mgh unposuble, cspe-
cally duning the rams. The plans in the Gangeuc Doab become so muddy
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during the rains that a horse running at full si)ecd would bury itself chest-
deep in a few steps. The riverside land becomes boggy and too treacherous
to be enfered. Thick undergrowth of rushes and thorny bushes mahes pene-
tration by infantry also very difficult. While these were the difficulties which
the Maratha army had to face, Najib’s line of communications in the rear
always remained open even during the rains, as due to a bend in the river,
the force of the current there becomes the least troublesome. The trans-
Gangetic region was peopled and controlled by his own kith and kin, the
Ruhelas. There was never any difficulty in fetching grain and fodder, am-
munition and other war necessaries. Added to these were, of course, the in-
sdomitable spirit, the sing]l of purpose and personal bravery of his troops
who’were the best infantry trained on the European model in those days

Dattaji was camping some two miles from Sukartal near the.village
Miranpur, which was the céhtre of the famous Sayyads. These Sayyads be-
longed to the Shia sect and hence hated the Sunni Rubelas, Dattaji had
built 2 temporary mud fort for hig camp. Thence the Maratha troops would
sally out and try to come into dirpct contact with the Ruhelas. But this had
been made difficult for the Maratha cavalry, and it seems the Maratha foot-
men in the 18th century had none of the virtues of pluck and resourcefulness
which were the most enviable and noticeable features of Shivaji's Mavlas.
During a siege which lasted for more than four months, there were scarcely
any actions as such. The Bhau Bakhar gives a vivid description of the condi-
tions during these months, The exchange of artillery fire between the two
armies was indecisive, because the shots from the Maratha side could not hit
Najib’s camp under any circumstances. At a lower angle the shot would fall
into the surrounding ravines and at a higher angle the shot would go whistling
across Najib's camp "and fall into the Ganges. On the other hand, fire from
Najib’s camp was very cffective and would daily kil a few who tried to
approach., Dattaji had this time some forty thousand troops with him in-
cluding the contingents of Govindpant, Antaji Manaheshwar’s son Bahiropant
and the local levies of the Sayyads. Najb had possibly not more than ten
thousand troops, though it is quite impossible to be sure of the figures of those
days. But though the troops actually staying in Najib’s camp were com-
paratively few, beyond the Ganges the whole clan of the Ruhelas, some fifty
sthousand strong, was helping him in all possible ways. While the Maratha
troops suffered from scarcity, Najib always had access to all the things he
wanted. Besides, the climate of those muddy and boggy low lands was found
unsuitable to the health of the Maratha troops and the animals of the south-
emn breed. Whenever Dattaji tried to assault, he was repulsed at heavy cost.
Two such offensive actions seem to have taken place during these months with
more than a thousand casualties, Jivaji Shinde and his son Hanmantrao were
killed in one of these actions.

As the sicge was dragging on, Najib Khan’s diplomacy was winning
greater successes for him. Ahmad Shah had already started from Kandahar
and was thinling of entering-the Panjab from the southern side via Bhakkar
and Multan. But he could not cross the Indus at any point and*had to come

-
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rotth to Attock along the right bank of the river via Mithankot, Dera Ghazi
Khan and Dera Ismail Khan, His general, Jahan Khan, entered the Panjab
in October 1759 by way of Peshawar. Madhosingh of Jaipur, who was a party
to the anti-Maratha conspiracy, made a firm stand against the troops of Malhar-
20 Holhar who had been ordered by the Peshwa to go to Dattaji’'s help.
Shuja-ud-daulah had been sounded by Napb, though their earlier relations
were none of the best. Naijib impressed on Shuja the gravity of the situa-
tion in which Shuja would find himself if the Marathas were ever able to cross
the Ganges and enter Oudh, Fecling the impending danger, Shuja consented to
help Napb in every way to hold the line of the Ganges.

When October came in, Dattaji devised a new strategy of squeezing
out Najib. Getting the help of one Jeta Gujar who pointed out a ford higher
up the Ganges, Govindpant Bundele with ten thousand troops crossed the
mvert at the back of Najib and attacked Jalalathad, the Ruhela fort, around
which a town had also grown. There were no troops worth the name there, but
at the call of Zabeta Khan, Najib's son, the Afghan clansmen all over Rohil
Ahand came to help hun, They held the fort while the Maratha troops plun-
dered and burnt their property and houses in the southern plain. Govindpant
next turned due south to the bridge-head on the eastern bank of the Ganges,
opposite Sukartal. The Marathas succeeded in cutting off the bridge-head and
thus threatened Najib’s line of communication by the bridge of boats. Hafiz
Rahmat, the grand old man amongst the Ruhelas, advised Najib'to come to
terms with the Marathas, but Najib would not leave Sukartal under any cir-
cumstances and bided his time. His Ruhela troops were alarmed and began
to waver, but Najib clenched his teeth and pulled on as best as he could, till
he was relieved by the vanguard of the Qudh army sent by Shuja under
Umiraogir Gosawi. The rumours of Abdaly's quick and near approach through
the Panjab were also circulated by Najib to frighten the Marathas, As a mat-
ter of fact, Abdali was still far away. But the Maratha troops under Govind-
pant lost heart and precipitately returned without crossing swords with the
Gosawi troops. The rumour of Abdal’s coming to the Panjab and Janakoji's
chit to return hastened Govindpant’s sudden flight> Thus the advantage
which might have been gained by the Maratha side was lost by this sudden
development. Thoughothe troops returned in a hurry and as a result some
were actually Lilled or drowned, Sir Jadunath’s estimate that half of their.
number were drowned is very wide of the mark. This can be seen from Govind.
pant’s letter to Sadashivrao Bhau® Najib Khan was almost on the point of
running away from Sukartal as most of his troops had Ieft to defend their
homes, but in all these affairs destiny ultimately is found going against the
Marathas,  Because Umraogir entered the scene just in time and rumours
were cirtulated by Napb that Shuja was himsclf following with thirty-thou-
sand troops, Janakoji thought it necessary to send a note to Govindpant to re-
turn at once.  Similarly the early rumours of Abdali’s march had their effect on
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Dattay’s removing his camp from Sukartal Sabap actually reached Dat-
tay’s camp on soth November, 1759, but the news of lis comung back was
crculated a month earher so as to loosen Dattaj’s gnip over Subartal  Abdah
was still near Lahore and his troops had not penetrated up to Thaneshwar til
the last week®of December, but Ghazi ud din, who was chicken hearted, was
fnghtened when he caught certain news carners carrying Jetters to and from
the Emperor Alamgir at Delh  Theremn the Emperor was found wnting mn
vitattons to Shuja ud daulah on the one hand and Ahmad Shah Abdal on the
other, and they were assunng him of therr immunent arnval - Seeing the danger,
the Wazir, who was quich 1n decision and had no qualms of conscience, got
»the Emperor and Intizam ud daulah (hs mval for Wazirship) murdered on
November 29, 1759, through Balabash Khan, his captam, and unceremoniously
flung their corpses on the mver bank  Neat, the Wazir's assistants produced a
prince from the house of Tammur and crowned him as Emperor under the
utle of Shah Jahan III Ths pnince was a grandson of Kam Bakhsh,” the
youngest son of Aurangab, and was dragging his hfe out it the impenal prison
Thus the Waar thought that he had taken precautions aganst Abdal’s making
use of the old Emperor and lus possible Wazr  As a matter of fact, this
event sent a thnll of horror through the Mushms of Hindusthan and the Waar,
who was already hated as a tool of the Marathas, lost what lttle respect was
sull felt for um  As the Marathas did not secm to have protested agamst this
act, they were naturally held morally responsible for this butchery It taok
away the sympathy for the Marathas and had a worse effect on Sadashivrac
Bhau’s campaign the following year

Dattap bemng thoroughly disappointed at the siege and at the negotia-
tions for tnbute and help from Shuja ud daulah, ulumately rased the siege
on 15th December and divided his army into two parts He placed the camp,
the bazar and therr mmates, together with Ius family, under the charge of
Rupram Kothan and ashed lum to go back to Dellu wath lus Jat troops He
tumself with lus select troops proceeded to meet Abdali beyond the Jamuna so
as to stop hum from entening the Doab and jomung Napb  He had perhaps
twcnﬂty five thousand chosen horsemen under im  He proceeded to Karnal by
crossing the Jamuna south of Kunjpura at the Andhera Ghat on 18th Decem
ber, 1759, and sent scouts to find out Abdal’s movements He learnt that

» Abdal s son, Taimur Shah, wath forty thousand troops and all lus Sardars had
armved north of Ambala and were camping at Laldu, Banora and Chhat® on
Saturday, the 15th of December, and that Ahmad Shah was humself following
The first slarmush between the vanguards of the two armues took place on 20th
December  Dattay humself proceeded north with lus chosen twenty five thou
sand troops wathout any camp equipment, carrymng only as much luggage as
a soldier could carry on his horse He had ordered Janakop Shinde and the
Wazr Ghazi ud din to remamn at Karnal some fifteen mules behuind his ad-
vance line, with thewr parks of artillery, i order to check any surpnse party of
the Durram: troops proceeding south to attack the mamn camp and the bazar,
—_—
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from proceeding further south towards Delhi with Govindpant Bundele. Hear-
ing that Danaji was advancing with his unencumbered troops to cut him off
belore reaching the Jamuna, Abdali changed his intention of crossing the river
by the easier crosing, south of Kunjpura, so as to proceed straight through
Shamh and Muzaffarnagar to Sukartal. Instead, he kept. close‘to the moun-
tain side and arrived at Jagadhri on the 23rd.  He himself with his select troops
and a park of mobile artillery stopped to engage the advancing Dattaji, and
ordered his camp with its heavy baggage to begin crossing at once. Dattaji
advanced vigorously, but to his dismay found that he had been anticipated by
the Durrani and thus was unable to cut off and loot his camp equipage. On
the other hand, he had to face the sharp fire of Shutarnals which killed his,
troops en masse. ‘Thus no effect could be produced on Abdalr’s army, while
the loss on the Maratha side was considerable, amounting to some four thou-
sand Milled and wounded. There was no corresponding gain in obstructing
Abdalt’s advance. On the night of that battle of 24th December, Abdali de-
camped with his whole camp crossing the river by the Budhia Ghat on his way
to Sabaranpur. Next morning, when Dattgji saw the number of killed and
wounded, he must have felt deeply for his error of judgment in Leeping his
artillery behind. ‘This was the first occasion on which the Marathas discovered
the weakness of their traditional mode of warfare, which was found inade-
quate in dealing with the new mode based on artillery and mushetry.

Dattaji now retreated to Delhi, arriving there about the 5th January,
t760. Thence he detached his camp and sent it back under the protection of
Ruparam Kothari to the Jat territory. He himself was preparing to go to
Meerut and attack Abdali and the Ruhelas combined. The Peshwa had long
ago ordered Malharrao Holkar to leave Rajputana and proceed to Sukartal
10 help the Shindes. But his lifedong habits of procrastination and perhaps
his unwillingness to join his forces with those of the Shindes, especially in the
work of completely crushing Najib against his will, delayed his march from
'I}a!\\ada which he was besieging then. As a matter of fact, Balwada was an
xtx‘xvsxgniﬁcalx}lx: for‘;}xlx-nd:r a capt:;in gf Jaipur. But it held out this time for some

o months, is seems to be due to Madhosingh’s polic engaging the
Maratha generals separately tll the arrival of Ahmid Sﬁah ngaliflgazin I%Iajlb
Khan and Madhasingh of Jaipur were the two most important conspirators in
the conspiracy of driving the Marathas south of the Narbada with the help
of Abdali, it was but natural that Madhosingh should, in furtherance of their *
cause, lf’y to’pin down Malharrao to Rajputana so as to frustrate his plans of
proceeding to help Dattaji. Anyway, Malharrao’s conduct on this occasion
had \h.c effect of putting the whole brumt of meeting Abdali on the Shindes.
Dat.tajn was trying now to postpone a trial of strength with the combined Dur-
rani and Ruhela troops ull the amival of Malharrao, Malharrao in extenua-
tion of his delaying conduct is fould putting the plea that the Shindes? had
cancelled their first call for help from Sulartal, when they found they had
cnough troops with them after the arival of the Pan

x jab tr o
and Tukoji. But after the first battle near the Budllxi;x G}?:t}js ;;‘Eaﬁai?:

®1hid, 2117
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an express call for help to Malharrao who started at once on the first of Janu-
ary, 1760 Had there been a man of Bajirao’s type, he would have possibly
covered the distance from Jaipur to Delhi just it ume to jon Dattajr  But
Ahmad Shah probably knowmng the speed of Malharrao’s advance, deaded
to forestall um

Ahmad Shah left Sukartal within a week and advanced by way of
Meerut to Lum on the Jamuna This place 1s about seven miles to the north-
east of Dellu and opposite to 1t 1s the ferry of Jagatpur  Abdali was trying to
find the least defended part on the opposite bank of the Jamuna so as to cross
the mver without giving any chance to the enemy to attack his force while
crossing It was impossible for lum to cross near Delhi, because the fire from
the Dellu fort could have been cffectively used aganst hum by the Wazr
The ghats just to the north of Dellu were guarded by Dattap’s scouts  Dat-
tajt lumself was camping 1 the viamty of Majnu's hillock, two mules to the
north of Delht  He had so distnbuted his army as to meet any surpnsc cross-
mg by the Durram troops at any pomt But the nver was fordable at many
pomts, and 1t was difficult to keep watch 1n a low land with the dense fog of
January cqvering it As Dattap could have no mntimation of Abdaly’s intentions,
he had to depend on mere guess worh  Three days passed 1n mancuvnng for
a crossing, and Abdali ulumately chose to cross opposite the village of Burad,
where the terrain was most uneven and difficult  Thus place 15 some seven miles
to the north of Delhn  Dattap had guarded the crossings to the south of this
place well In order to mislead the Marathas, Abdah sent small parties to
each of the crosungs and with the mamn army he went to Badarpur and tried
to cross thence  He crossed over to Buradi because that was probably the least
guarded part. The niver there had separated into two strcams with a sandy
low sland between It was overgrown with thich rushes which attain m these
parts a height of ten feet  If soldiers lte 1n ambush interspersed in these rushes,
1t would be impossible to sce or locate them within a few yards Tl one
actually arrives on the edge of the nver, one cannot see 1t from any point 1 the
viamty Nor can the crossing at th.s pomt be scen from anv southern pomt
on the bank, because the land there bulges out a httle and shuts the view to the
north  Though the Marathy chromcle ndulges in vivid description, 1t 1 not
known whether Dattap had actually placed a force at this part culr pont
«Perhaps he had not, and he seems to have been informed of the crossing when
half the army of Abdah had already crassed This was on the mornimng of roth
January, 1760

Early that morning, Dattap recewved news, one after the other, of his
guards at various ponts on the niver being simultaneously attached by the cross-
g parties of Durrani and Ruhela soldiers and being very roughly handled by
them This was Abdalr’s ruse to send Dattan on the wrong scent  But Dat-
tap would not move unguardedly and would not call in the help from his
whole camp which was spread over a vast plan, each part being separated
from the other by a considerable distance  In fact he had no mmnd to engage
the enemy ull the arnval of Malharrao Holkar for whom he was waiting and
perhaps wanted to fall back on the city in case of need His only intention
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was 1o keep the enemy at a distance from the city till Holkar’s arrival so as
not to be besieged within the city walls. But this was the very reason why the
Durrani made haste and crossed over simultancously at various points. It
scems that none of the parties placed by Dattaji with a few thousand troops
cach could stand against the enemy’s advance with fire from the light cannon
placed on the clephants, who swam across in front. Practically the whole of
the Shinde contingent was composed of horsemen used to sword and lance,
unlike the Ruhelas who were footmen armed with mushets and rifles. The
result was that in fights from a distance the Marathas were always at a dis-
advantage. When almost all the Maratha parties had been completely routed
with heavy loss of life, Dattaji received news from Janrao Wable, a veterane
captain of horse, that half the army of the enemy had crossed the river. Dat-
taji sent Bayaji Shinde to help Janrao in holding the ghat at Buradi, which is
some three miles away from the village of that name. Receiving the news
that Bayaji was worsted with his three thousand horse, and he himself killed
by a bullet-shot, Dattaji ordered his whole contingent to follow him to the river-
bank. He tried to go to the Buradi Ghat not from the west side but from the
south-west along the village of Jagatpur. He crossed first an ordinary nulleh
and then the lahe-like inner stream. When he entered the part overgrown with
rushes, his cavalry could not keep any line or move in any close formation.
The Ruhela infantry, which was lying in ambush in the rushes, opened fire
from here, there and everywhere, and made it impossible for Dattaji to proceed.
Janakoji whoe was accompanying Dattaji though forbidden, received a bullet~
wound on the right upper arm. The news of this incident had the effect of still
more demoralising the Maratha troops, and each tried to turn back to escape
what seemed certain death, Dattaji was advised by those near him to order 2
retreat. But before anything could be done, he himself fell down with a bullet-
wound in his ribs. The Afghans then rushed out and completed the rout of the
Maratha army with a heavy massacre. ‘The story of the wounded Dattaji being
taunted and hicked by Mian Qutb Shah and his cutting off Dattaji’s head after
some talk, scems more dramatic than true and an invention of the author of the
chronicle. We have no belief in it.

There was no regular battle at Buradi Ghat and the two armies were
never drawn together ig battle array, nor is the number of casualties known.
Yashvantr.xo. Jagdale, Bayaji Shinde and Maloji Shinde were the noted pessons
who lost their lives in this action. Govindpant Bundele docs not scem to have
taken any part in guarding the ghats as written in the chronicle, though he
was not far away from the field of batde. Perhaps he was in the camp of
Janahoji a few miles away from Delhi. On the Afghan side, Shuja-ud-daulah
does not scem to have been present in Abdali’s camp nor ;’my of his troops
lihe }hc Gu_sam corps. Therefore, the story given in the Bkau Bakhar of
Shuja begging for the head of Dattaji and Umraogir Gosawi buying it for two
lak!\s and afterwards attending to his full funeral rites must be treated as pure
fiction written to console the Shinde family and recommend Ragho Ram Page
and Rajaram Chobdar to their attention. The action was fought mainly bgc-
tween the Ruhelas of Najib and Qutb Shah, and Dattaj though the Dur-
ranis {ollowed soon after to turn it into a rout and pursue 'llu: Shinde contin-
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gent to a long distanice. Purushottam Mahadev Hingne!® who was present in
the battle and received a bullet-wound on his thigh, writes that the action was
a short and swift one, turning into a rout 6n account of the general’s ac-
cidental death in the very first round and the leader receiving a bullet-wound
himself. No battle could be fought because the place was unsuitable on ac-
count of the thick rushes, and because, there was no intention either of offer-
ing one till the arrival of Malharrao Holkar. In fact, the main part of the
Maratha army was at 2 distance from the river-bank and not ready for a
fight. The division under Dattaji was not sufficient to meet the combined
forces of Abdali and Najib with any Hope of success. That is why Dattaji had
asked Govindpant Bundele with his small brigade to continue with him all
along and invited help from Surajmal Jat, who was the only ally left to the
Marathas in Northem India.’ The Wazir’s contingent was not more than five
thousand strong this time, ,and was not very helpful or wholeheartedly with
the Marathas. Lo

The Durranis pursued Japakoji for twenty-five miles and then re-
turned. Malharrao who had started on the 1st of January was still at a dis-
tance of some one hundred and fifty miles from Delhi! Janakoji followed
in the direction of Rewadi towards which place his camp had been despatched
with Ruparam Kothari and Ramaji Anant Dabholkar, the Shinde’s Diwan,
It was impossible for Janakoji to ride a horse with his aching wound which
had become worse by the first day’s headlong flight. As the whole baggage had
been looted by the pursuers or left behind as heavy, there was no palanquin
with carriers in the whole army. * A char-pai (cot) was taken as a substitute
and Janakoji was carried on it By the soldiers themselves acting as carriers,
leaving their horses in the charge of others. After covering thirty miles in this
manner, with great trouble Janakoji reached his camp with the remnants of
his broken army after midnight that day. Bhagirathibai, who scems to be a
second wife of Dattaji, was in advanced pregnancy and went with the retreat-
ing camp. As soon as Janakoji*arrived in the camp, his wife Kashibai and
Bhagirathibai came out of their. tent to see what had happened. Coming to
know of Dattaji’s death and the defeat of his army, the whole camp wag
plunged into grief, and there was a great upraar and wailing. From the
dramatic description of the Bakhar, Bhagirathibai who was not more than
sixteen in age (having been matried to Dattaji in March 1758) seems to have
been 2 woman of exceptional self-composure and precociously wise. Instead
of indulging in useless crying, she reprimanded others for not taking courage
and acting-as was necessary under the circumstances. She ordered a halt till
the morning and stopped the march of the army so as to dress Janakoji’s
wounds and afford him rest after a run of twenty hours; but the camp which
was terrified by what they had heard and afraid of being caught by the
pursuing Durrani troops, started at once in the small hours of the morning in
the direction of Rewadi. Disobeying her orders, the whole civil camp started,
a.r.ld as a consequence it became difficult for the leaders to continue the halt
withoyt the help of camp-followers. The officers in the Shinde contingent

101bid. 2.114.
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found 1t an extremely difficult problem to carry the heavy baggage, mcwding
stores of cloth, grain and fodder. They sought counsel with the two women
who svere now i place of their masters, and after a short consultation, took
with them the most necessary and light equipment only, setting fire to the
rest for fear of its falling into the hands of the enemy. They placed Janakoji
i the lady’s palanquin and began to search for horses for the use of the tvo
women. Meanwhile, under the stress of panic, the camp-followers had caught
all the available horses and run away with them. With difficulty two ponies
were secured and the women started on them. Rupram Kothari, who was
accompanying the party, suggested, in order to mislead the Durrani pursuers
and to put them on the wrong scent, that the two women and Janakoji should
separate themselves from the disorderly camp and go secretly to Kumbher.
But Kashibai, for fear of falling into the Jat’s hands should they turn traitors
in this calamity, disapproved the plan and they continued with the broken
camp and the army as best as they could. After four days of continuous trou-
ble, the fore-runners of the army came into touch with the advance party of
the Holkar’s contingent and stopped there. ¢On the 1s5th January, 1760,
Malharrao came and joined the. party to the north of Kot Putali, Then only
the panic subsided and men found time to think of what had happened and
to plan the future in accordance with it.

It seems from Janakoji's letter!! to the Peshwa that the plight of the
Shinde army was exaggerated by the Bakhar writer. The Shinde division
though defeated, was not as helpless as the author of the chronicle would paint
it to be. The action at the Buradi Ghat was fought on the zoth of January,
and not on the gth, as the day was Thursday.? Malharrao and his Diwan
Gangadharpant Chandrachud were men of quite a different type from Janakoji
Shinde and his Diwan Ramaji Anant Dabholkar. Cautiousness and far-sighted-
ness were the chicf virtues of Malharrao, and these fully coincided with the
traditional habits and temper of the Marathas. Malharrao’s whole policy was
based on opportunism and not on any fixed principles. He would take no
rish which would fand him into a disaster. If the Marathas got something with-
put much effort and linle risk, that was sufficient and good. If they could
not get the desired fruit and had to return without it, it was no dishonour to
them, 50 thought Malhaerao. And it was the guiding philosophy of his bfe.
Thc. Shinde family, on the other hand, was of a different temper. They were
straightforward and would not mince matters in their dealings with friend
or foc. They were more loyal servants trying to obey the Peshwa’s commands
as best as they could, and would shirk no risk in gaining their ends. The result
is exemplified in the carcers of the members of that illustrious family, which
was mainly responsible for the Maratha activities in the north for lhrc’: quar-
!.cm.o! a century. Malharrao, on the contrary, would, in the greatest diffi-
culties, ffrst think of the safety of his life and property and then of everything
clse. With _such a frame of mind, he was honest to himself but not necessarily
to others with different principles, tempers and standards of conduct. This

111bid, 21.182
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somewhat rough man with blunt manners looked out of place and bizarre mn
a mixed company of polished men with suave manners. At the same time
there was always a substratum of truth in his mode of thinking, and others had
to fall in line with it in times of difficulty, The present was such a time and
Janakoji'had %o keep his family-dash in the background and follow Malharrao.

Malharrao sent back the families with the baggage and the bazar to
their homes through the frendly territory of the Raja of Keravli to Gwalior
under the guardianship of Govindpant Bundele. He started from Kot Putali
on the 23rd February. Bhagirathibai gave birth to a posthumous son!? of Dat-
taji that night, but he seems to have died soon after. Malharrao and Janakoji
then started back towards Delhi with a view.to check Abdali’s progress and
counteract his plans. The Marathas do not seem to have lost courage after
the recent untoward happenings. They were still confident of being able to
checkmate Abdali and the Ruhelas. Malharrao knew “that Najib Khan and
Madhosingh were the chief wirepullers in inviting Ahmad Shah” and, contrary
to the common belief, was ready row to reshuffle his former policy of befriend-
ing Najib and the Wazir, whom he himself had put on the pedestal. He had
thoroughly understood that “Ghazi-ud-din was not acting in consonance with
the dignity of his high office and was fickle to a degree. Even though weak
himself, he would still indulge in vile machinations and back-door politics. He
would do what he liked and on meeting others, humble himself to such an ex-
tent as to take away all wrath against his conduct and thus try to wipe out
the evil effects of his behaviour.” The Peshwa, Nanasaheb, on the other hand,—
and in this case acting on the information and the prejudices of Raghunathrao®
~—wished to stick up for a person up to the last, after once having taken his
side, and would not change his position unless 4n open and sufficient cause
obliged him to do so. He had instructed Dattaji to act accordingly, but Ghaz-
ud-din would neither grant what the Marathas wanted nor issue imperial
sanads bestowing Allahabad and Benares on the Marathas.'s though Shuja-
ud-daulah, his ri¢al, would have been the loser. “You can conquer and take
possession of the places you want as you are strong. - Why do you want sanads
for the same?” he would argue with the Marathas.” Simultaneously he would
write to Shuja-ud-daulah asking him never to grant or hand over these holy
cities to the Marathas, but to prepare himself to defend them to the last. . To
which Shuja' would reply that he would do the ncedful, Thus the two rivals
for the chancellorship of the Empire were simultaneously acting hand in glove
with the Marathas and also trying to defend the*Muslim "dominions at all
costs and by every subterfuge. Najib had alrcady deceived; fooled and ruined
Dalta]x, and the Wazxr was now following in his wake. But after his late as-

i it was impossible for the Marathas to back him any more and they
had to re-orient their policy.
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The Peshwa had, in his dire need of money, permitted'® Dattaji to ap-
point Shuja to the office of the Wazr if he would grant .lhc M:Eratha claims
and pay down tash. Surajmal Jat was on good terms with Shuja as he was
his friend’s son arid their interests also would not clash. On the pne hand the
Peshwa wanted these two allies to check-mate the Wazir in case he was not
amenable to Maratha interests, On the other hand, he fearéd their combina-
tion as likely to prove too strong for the Maratha power and, therefore, he
was willing to support Ghazi-ud-din at all costs, as there was no fear of his
becoming powerful enough to defy the Marathas. Dattaji had, therefore,
chosen the path of placating Najib while keeping the question of the Chancel-
lorship pehding. Now that that alternative had disappeared, Malharrao had
definitely decided to do away Wwith the double-dealing and ambitious” Wazir
and invest!? Shuja with that office. Both Shuja and the Jat feared the Afghan
union, as they were likely to be the next victims of that combination. Besides,
Surajmal had the ambition of profiting and aggrandizing himself at the cost
of the Ruhelas by spreading his power beyond the Jamuna and even the Ganges.
Already the Jats had spread in the Doab antl colonised certain parts of it. It
was but natural, therefore, that they should rally round Surajmal as the “Lord
of Braj” Just as Surajmal had made his power unassailable by building,
strengthening and storing his forts of Deeg, Kymbher and Bharatpur, similarly
he took the fortalice of Sabitgad, near Kol, re-named it Ramgad, and
began to turn it into a second Kumbher. From this base he was trying to
dominate the upper Doab and Rohilkhand beyond the Ganges. Malharrao
had now established friendship? with the Jat Raja, forgetting the siege of
Kumbher and his son’s death. Asit was in the interest of Surajmal to combat
the Afghan power, he made common cause with the Marathas and helped them
in this guerilla warfare. H

H
From Kot Putali, Malharrao and Janahojl began their new plan of
making sudden raids on the enemy’s undefended depots and roving round the
flanks so as to sieze every opportunity of spoliation. Ahmad Shah was now
camping south of Delhi and thence despatching letters to the varions chiefs
asking them to pay him tribute and join their forces with His in his efforts to
drive the Marathas®® from northern India. But they knew his ways as well
as his power and, therefore, chose to sit on the fence playing the game of
procrastination, by neither acceding to nor yefusing his’ demands, but merely
p_leac:ling their inability to do anything. Ahmad Shah had to visit their ter-
ritories p lly in order to sq any money out of them. First he moved
south and besieged Deeg near Mathura, He droye Away the small parties
of the Marathas hovering round him. He was not able to make any im-
};\;r:ls;on on Deeg and l;ad to move in pursuit of the threatening Marathas.
arrao, accompanied by Janakoji and Naro
at Narnol,2 whithp:r Abda.{i :Inovt:d‘l next. Shankar, was reported to be
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Leaving Decg, Ahmad Shah proceeded south-west into the Jaipur ter-
ritory plundering wherever he went. He ransomed the small local Rajas of
Kadhake apd Khobari (Kurkc and Khohari?). He was thinking of proceed-
ing against the non-committing Madhosmgh to Jaipur. On the road he
slaughtered the inhabitants of the resisting town of Mahwah® (twenty miles
cast of Bandikui), but spared the residents of Baswa® (ten miles north of
Bandikui), as they offered ransom for their town. This was in the third week
of February. There he received the news that the Marathas were looting the
districts to the west of Delhi and had taken Rs. 10,000 as tribute from Kanaud.?
Ahmad Shah, therefore, swerved north through Alwar. terrifories,?® leaving
the direction of Jaipur. But before he could arrive near Delhi, Matharrao
had formed another plan, depending upon Abdali’s intended move against
Jaipur which, had it been put into executidn, would have engaged the Afghans
there for at least a month or two. As Najib Khan and most of the other
Rubhelas were accompanying Abdali on his march, Malharrap and his shrewd
Diwan Gangoba Chandrachud thought of attackmg the Ruhela lands in the
Doab and beyond, in the absence of their proprietors. The Maratha army
crossed the Jamuna to the south of Delhi on 20th February, 1760, and de-
scended upon the rich town of Sikandrabad. There they halted and com-
pletely looted the town on the Holi Day i.e. 1st March, 1760, They should
have moved from the place the next day and proceeded farther, but there
they heard that Najib Khan's treasure of ten lakhs was coming into the Doab
on its way to the Abdali camp. It had come up to the bank of the Ganges
opposite to the town of Anup Shahar. Getting this clue, they sent pickets to
see where the Ganges could be crossed. In the meanwhile, Ahmad Shah hear-
1ng this move of Holkar, suddenly changed his direction and ran to the south
Pf Delhi. Thence he detached Jahan Khan and Na]lb Khan with 33,000
troops uncncumbered with any artillery or camp cquipage. Surajmal Jat who
in this guerilla war was helping the Marathas, came to know of this sudden
move of Abdali and sent information of the same to Gangoba Chandrachud
to e;}ram him in time. The Maratha army had, therefore, already divided
itself, '

IS

The Shinde contingent under Janakoji as well as old Malharrao Holkar
had fallen back towards Mathura and Agra. Rupram, the Jat envoy, accom-
panied them, But the rest of Holkar's  troops who never had any acquaintance
with the Durrani ways and no experience of battling against them, laughed
at the idea of running away on mere news of the enemy, and taunted the
Shinde’s troops as being faint-hearted. Janakoji, therefore, separated from
Holkar and started towards Mathura. Malharrao himself personally followed
him and ordered Gangoba Tatya to check the Durrani advance. But his
corps was surprised, caught unprepared and massacred with heavy slaughter
—_—
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by Jahan Khan. Gangoba, who was personally alert, was able to run away
and save himself; but Anandrao Ram Yadav, Shetyaji Kharade and his son
were killed in the running fight,® and the brohen remnant of the frightened
army crossed the Jamuna back into the Jat territory, wherever it could. The
experiment of checkmating the Durrani forces by guerilla tactics thus ended
m failure.

The Maratha forces, therefore, retreated to the borders of the Jaipur
territory and encamped in the vicinity of Bayana. The Maratha tactics, how-
ever, had saved not only the Jats but also the Rajput princes. Abdali had to
turn back from Jaipur because the Marathas had swept towards Delhi, and |
now his army had to be stationed in the Doab to ward off the Maratha raids
against the Ruhelas. The Marathas now reached a complete understanding
with Surajmal Jat and renewed their former agreements with him. Surajmal
promised to follow the Maratha policy in all resptets. His own territories in
the Doab were now directly threatened and he concentrated his strength on
the defence of Ramgad (the modern Aligaph), which, however, surrendered
to Abdal’s overwhelming forces within a month. As all the Ruhelas were
not on good terms and in full accord with Najib, the Marathas now tried to
divide them by entering into a separate arrangement with Hafiz Rahmat, the
grand old man amongst the trans-Gangetic Ruhelas. He agreed to join his
forces with the Marathas, send back Abdali after detaching him from Najib and
not to help Najib in his fight against the Marathas. The Marathas agreed, on
the other hand, not to invade the other Ruhelas but to content themselves with
the cis-Gangetic territories, Abdali would have now left for Afghanistan, had
not Najib induced him to remain in India for protecting him against the chafing
wrath of the Marathas. His stay in India gave a new turn‘to the Maratha
politics in the north. .
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CHAPTER 1II

SADAéHIVRAO'S APPOINTMENT FOR NORTHERN INDIA

Wien the tidings of Dattaji’s death reached the Peshwa's camp at
Ahmadnagar in the south, none in the Deccan was prepared for such a bolt
from the blue. Al had full confidence in the military talents of Dattaji Shinde.
They expected him at least to stem the tide of the Durrani invasion if not to
defeat Abdali and drive him back. Besides, the Peshwa had ordered Malharrao
Holkar to proceed to Dattaji’s help and he was expected to be on the route

* towards the Panjab. This was in the middle of November 1759, after Sabaji’s
return to Sukartal. At that time, it was expected that the Nizam in the Dec-
can would be cowed down by ordinary manceuvring of troops and be prepared
to part with the north-western portion of his dominions. It seems that the
Nizam had consented to grant Ahmadnagar and Parenda forts together with
the revenue of the surrounding territories amounting to ten lakhs, to the
Peshwa!  But afterwards, due td the advice of his brothers, he tried to
equivocate about the grant of Ahmadnagar which was not only a strong fort
in the military sense, but was a place of prestige for the Muslims, being the
old seat of the Nizamshahi Kingdom. The Peshwa was not in a mood at
that time to tolerate any delaying tactics. His position at the hour was thought
to be almost that of a dictator in India. Since the Maratha standards were
carried beyond the Attock? in the previous year, the Peshwa’s fame had spread
not only throughout the length and breadth of India, but had travelled beyond
the boundaries to Iran and Turan? In the south his generals Balvantrao
Mehendale, Gopalrao Patwardhan, Malhar Naik Raste and Visaji Krishna
Biniwale had established the Maratha suzerainty south of the river Krishna.t
In the north his brother Raghunnathrao and his gencrals Dattaji and Mal-
harrao had created such awe that none in those parts was willing to cross
swords with the Marathas, Even the chiefs not conquered by the Marathas
were ready to send ambassadors and try to negotiate terms for their existence
and continuance’  Shuja-ud-danlah had paid tribute® and the English in Bengal,
though they had slyly usurped the power by a silent revolution without pro-
claiming themselves the masters, were still in need of the Peshwa’s goodwill and
forbearance towards them, and actually sent emissaries to the Poona Court to

* ward off Raghunathyao’s proposed advance into Bengal.’ The Peshwa had,
it seems, actually assured Clive of his support, and Clive made political use of
that assurance in imposing himself upon the Nawab Siraj-ud-daulah®  Simi.
larly, the English advance through Orissa to Masulipatam and the accupation
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of the French jagirs by Colonel Forde was made possible by Maratha for-
bearance and the Peshwa's pressure on the Nizam Salabat Jang, the grantor
of these jagirs. Naturally the Peshwa was thinking himself as suzerain in all
these parts of India occupied by the English, for both the Deccan and' Bengal
as well as Arcot were paying chauth to the Marathas and the English had
still not remonstrated against or interfered with this right.

Bussy who had been recalled from the court of Hyderabad by Lally'v,
had left for Pondicherry in July 1758. The result was that the fruit of his
occupation of Daulatabad and of the assassination of Shah Nawaz Khan_ who
was a protege of the Peshwa had peen snatched away by others after his de-
parture. Thus ended the French influence at the Nizam’s Court. The Peshwa
had succeeded in detaching Ibrahim Khan Gardi, pupil of Bussy, from the
Nizam's service and engaging him himself.® Thus strengthened, the Peshwa
sent his cousin Sadashivrao Bhau, with forty thousand troops to occupy Ahmad-
nagar as promised by the Nizam. He was saved the trouble of besieging that
strong fort as Kavi Jang, its keeper, agreed to deliver it to the Marathas in con-
sideration for a jagir with an annual revenite of Rs. fifty thousand.!® Visaji
Krishna took possession of it on gth November, 1759. Thence Sadashivrao
Bhau proceeded towards Beed and Dharur and commenced hostilities with
the Nizam by fomenting and strengthening internal quarrels amongst the
Nizam brothers. Basalat Jang separated himself from the Nizam and marched
towards the south. The Maratha sardars of the Nizam, Nimbalkars and Khan.
dagle, were sitting sulkily at home and not joining their forces with those of
Nizam Ali, who had taken the lcad after the departure of the French.
Sadashivrao hoped for a quick decision in the campaign and after its suc-

cessful termi tended to send Ragh hrao into the north to help
Dattaji.

But Nizam Al would not part with the territories demanded by the
Peshwa without a trial of strength. Skirmishes began from the 2oth January,
1760, and gradually the Maratha armies surrounded the Nizam and bis
brother. The Nizam wanted to reach the fort of Dharur and make a stand
there, but the Marathas would not allow him to escape from Udgir and con-
tinuously followed close at his hecls. By forming a hollow square, the Nizam
marched out in the French fashion from Udgir 4nd slowly moved towvards
Ausa, skirmishing all alorig the way. When the fort of Dharur remained some
fxftccx.l miles ahead, the Marathas held up his march by completely surround-
ing him on all sides and attacking him in the rear. In the battle of 3rd Febru-
ary, 1760, the Nizam was pletely defeated and h d in, and there-
fore sued for peace. By the terms of the peace, the Nizam ceded to the
M:.xral:haa practically the half of his remaining dominions. Nizam Ali, the
chief instigator, was to go back to his jagir in Berar and the Nizam Salabat
Jang was to remain in Hyderabad, His Maratha sardars!! were to leave the
Nizam’s service. The forcign relations of the Nizam were to be guided by the

—_—_—
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Maratha policy, especially his dealings with the French? Bijapur, Ahmad-
nagar, Burhanpur and Daulatabad, all four former capitals of the Muslim
dominions, were surrendered together with the important forts of Asher and
Mulher.®  Sadashivrao Bhau had become the hero of the day. He writes
that but for the new danger in the north, the whole of the south would have
come under the rule of the Peshwa.

Unfortunately he rechoned without his host. Already the English had
stolen a march politically, and now militanly also they loomed large on the
horizon. Bussy had already been made a prisoner by them, and Haider Ali had
so firmly set foot in Mysore as never to be ousted. While the Peshwa had just
then taken possession of Underi and Kansa from the Sidi," Janjira and Surat
never became Maratha possessions. Even the Nizam brothers, though de-
feated with heavy loss and deprived of half their dominions, were only biding
their time. They had given their consent to the treaty because they had to,
but there was no intention in their mind of fulfilling the terms in the real
spirit.!® By the treaty they had merely played for time to reshuffle their mat-
ters, gain over their disaffected Mavatha sardars to their side, scek help from
the Pathans of Karnool, the Bedars of Surapur and also Murarrao Ghorpade.
Their whole army had not been completely crushed and, in fact, they had sought
peace at once to Leep it intact. Al these points had been placed before Bhau
and he should have thought of them seriously. DBut the Peshwa thought more
of recovering the prestige lost in north India as a result of the fall of Shinde
Consequently he ordered preparations to be made for despatching a strong force
to the north to drive out Abdali.

Throughout the Udgir campaign, the Peshwa who had stopped at
Ahmadnagar, and directed the movements from that place, now proceeded to-
wards Paithan on his way to Patdur, southeast of Jalna, where he had sum-
moned the Bhosle brothers from Nagpur to scttle their quarrels. Sadashivrao
Bhau himself proceeded north to that place, after crossing the Godavari, to
meet him and thrash out the future policy through cornsultations with all.
They met there in the first week of March 1760, and first celebrated their vic-
tory by playing the Rangapanchami festival with zest. Then began the dis-
cussions. All the three cousins were there, and it was the declared intention
of the Peshwa and also of Bhau to send Raghunathrao to the north as
?xiginnlly arranged. R

It should be remembered that up to that time the final route of Mal-
harrao Holkar by Abdali at Sikandrabad, which took place in the first week
of March, had not been reported to the Peshwa, as news travelled very slowly
in those days. If the news had reached the Peshwa's camp at Padtur in time,
that would bave perhaps given a different turn to the whole affair. It scems
that the discussions assumed the form of family bickerings in the Peshuwa's
family. Personal opinions, long cherished prejudices, partiality and sclfish-
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ness had played their role 1 what should have been purely polucal discus-
sons. The Peshwa had always shown his predilecuon towards his brother
Raghunathrao, and had somechow formed 3 good opunion about lus ability
Sadashivrao Bhau, for all his ability and wisdom, was stll a cousin and there-
fore not on a par with Raghunathrao  He could have no legal share in the
Peshwa’s domnions and cstates, and was only the first senant of the state.
Gopikabas, the wife of the Peshwa, was supposed to be the clucf nstigator
against the superor clams of Sadashivrao to lugh office duc to his ability
When Raghunathrao was ordered'® ta take the command of the north, he put
m a plea that he would not 1ccept the responsibility”? unless provided with
ample funds Sadashivrao Bhau who was a stnet accountant and auditor gen,
eral held Raghunathrao responsible for the debts of the Panjab campagn and
he strongly resented the charge  Raghumathrio had taken the past lesson to
heart and, therefore, wished to absolve humself {rom the results of the forth
comng campaign 4

After much recnmunatve discussion, the Peshwa ordered Bhaw him
self to shoulder the responsibaiity and lead” the campaign®®  The Peshwa was
rather unwalling to spare such a consummate, able and all round administrator
as Bhau for a long ime, but there was no help for 1t, as Bhau had been stung
to the quick by a challenge from his cousin to prove his own valour and abiity
to add ample funds to the central treasury by going on the campagn h
But Gopihaba feared the conscquence of Bhau's going to the north, accom-
panied by his wife and with a big army  His prestige had already nsen very
Iigh by the Udgmr campaign  If he became equally successful in the north and
were to establish a separate kingdom for himself, who was there to check um?
It was necessary, therefore, to heep some constitutional check on s conduct and
with this view Vishwasrao, the cldest son of the Peshwa, was placed at the
head of the forces, with Bhau acung as his deputy From the correspondence
m the whole Pampat campaign, st 1s clear that Bhau was not frec to scttle
anything on lus own responsibiity  Every time he referred the matter to and
sought the previous sanction of the Peshwa. This was a false pogwion m the
then arcumstances for a supreme authonty ke Bhau It appears to have had
a dilatory and derogatory cffect on Bhau's conduct of affawrs, making 1t 1m-
possible for hum to free Jumself from the entanglement at Pamypat later on, when
need for a quick, decisive step arose  This point should constantly be borne 1
mund when reading the forthcoming account of Pampat, ¢

\’yhxlcjthc susprcions and the prejudices of the Peshwa and his personal
arcle the Maratha poliey 1 the Panypat campaign, Bhau's
]:;xsona.l‘ prcdlllccuons also shaped 1t to a great extent  If Raghunathrao was

ways dep on fus for shaping Ius policy, Bhau had a tendency
towards the other extreme of acting on his own respensibility after abruptly
cutung short the discussion on any subject and dictating the final thing lum
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eelf. The result was that he seemed, which he was actually not, proud or
even haughty. This was a virtue as far as administrative efficiency—which
depends upon quick and final decision—was concerned, but it cannot be sai
to be helpful when policy is to be shaped amongst equals. Over-riding opinion
is always possible for a higher authority, but it is not always conducive to th
best results, as ultimately the working out of the decisions devolves upon th
subordinates. A commander-in-chief can scarcely act against the combine
opinion and will of his generals.

Bhau selected his own assistants and corps from amongst the as
semblage gathered in the Nizam’s dominions. To begin with, his army wa
got more than twenty-five thousand strong, besides the infantry under Ibrahin
Khan, which was nine thousand. Though Raghunathrao did not join, som
of the corps subordinate to him were included in the army which accompanier
Bhau to the north. The Maratha army was made up of the feudal division
under the main sardars. Thede sardars employed subordinate corps under indi
vidual captains, The sardar was responsible for the conduct, training, equip
ment and payment of the corps eraployed by him. Certain revenue district
were assigned to him as jagirs for the expenditure thercof. Not all the notes
captains in the Maratha army were sardars. Certain corps were directly em-
ployed by the Peshwa who paid them from the central treasury. There was
no one fixed scale of payment, certain sardars being paid more favourably than

‘others. The bigger sardars, like Shinde and Holkar, were treated more as
partners in the state than as mere subordinates. They had specified per-
centages of the total revenues in certain regions permanently assigned to them
as their inalienable share, It should be particularly noted that throughout the
Panipat campaign, the payment of the whole army did not devolve on Sa-
dashivrao Bhau, The divisions of Shinde and Holkar and also of a few other
sardars were expected to be paid by the sardars themselves. Bhau was re-
spensible for the payment of the Peshwa’s own troops, called “Huzarat,” and
directly paid corps like those under Ibrahim Khan Gardi. The inconvenience
felt by the non-receipt of revenues called in by Sadashivrao Bhau from men
like Gavindpant Bundele meinly offected, the Peshwals own divisons and not
the divisions under Shinde and Holkar, The normal Maratha practice was for
the moving army to subsist on its own earnings in the regions through which
it passed. When the army was warring in a foreign territory, it would automati-
«&ally subsist on tributes, ransoms and spoils, but when passing through its own
dominions or the dominions of its allies, it had to buy everything it needed.
In the Panipat campaign this was the condition in the main. Khandesh,
Malwa, the Jat country, the Delhi region, were all non-belligerent terntories.
Besides, due to the continuance of almost constant war in the territories sur-
rounding Delhi for almost a decade, the regions had become depopulated, non-
agricultural and insecure. Unless there was good cash in one’s pochket and
one could heep the line of communication safe for caravans bringing supplies,
it was impossible to go on for any length of time. There was no government

- Commissariat department giving free rations or selling things at fixed prices
in those days. The bazar which accompanied a moving army was chartesed,
guaranteed and given the necessary protection by the army commander ng
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doubt, but the merchants werc not responsible for the continuous supply as
such, nor were the prices fixed This was a constant sourcc of difficulty for a
moving army  There was no assurance of supply nor certainty about the cost,
which led not only to slachness and even obstruction 1n the war cffort, but to
the bankruptcy of the soldicrs and the authoritics as well

Sadashivrao Bhau’s progress was very slow if he had the intention of
jomung Shinde and Holkar before the ramns  These generals had been prac-
tically driven out of the Delhi arca, and were then camping at a safe distance
from the Durram forces behind the Jat prncipality, using Surymal as a mid
dleman 1 ther diplomatic negotiations ' Ahmad Shah Abdah had sent
emussarics to both Madhosingh of Jawpur and Surajmal Jat, ordering them tg
umte ther forces with his and send momes to md hun i lis work of dnving
out the Marathas,? but both pleaded thar mability to do anything 1n the mat-
ter and tricd the game of procrastination and equivocation  Surajmal was the
more cunming of the two He would always &l hunself a mer¢ zamndar,
or even a tenant, and not a prince  He replied that he would pay the ac-
knowledged Emperor the revenucs duc to jum  If Ahmad Shah would him-
self assume that position and remain permanently i India, he would pay him
a, the legal sovereign Tl then he could not possibly do what he had been
ashed, espec ally as his terntones had been ravaged by the movements of both
the Maratha and the Durrimi armies?  As the Indian summer advanced,
Abdah encamped in the viamty of Ramgad m the mid Doab, cxhausted by thet
three months’ imncessant runmng after the elusive Marathas of the Shinde-
Holkar contingents Each party now cxpected the other to renew the fight
first, and would not start 1t themselves This stalemate could have Leen broken
only by the junction of the forces under Sadashuvrao Bhau and the exhausted
generals 1n the north

Bhau started {rom Patdur on the 14th of Mareh, 1760, but had only
crossed the Narmada after a month, covering a distance of not more than two
hundred pules  The delay was due to the preparation and jouung m of the
various corps with equipment for a long and distant campagn  Sadashuvrao
Bhau's Panipat campaign was, mn fact, on the model of the Mughal Emperors
and not like that of Shivap or Bajrao I The Maratha army had large tents,
screens for women’s nParunsnu, and the various departments to look after
the convenience of the‘leaders and the army  The chiels rode on superb Arab
or Central Asian chargers and wore gorgeous dresses of gold brocades Theuw*
weapons and other equipment were also of the best type, and the brgades
under Ibralum Kban Gardi, tramned after the French model, were the envy of
Indian potentates of those times The presence of these fantry corps with
their cannon, regulated the whole movement of the army, and the daly
marches would cover but a few miles The heavy sxcgc-gu;]s which accom-
panied the army, together with the hght field artlery, slowed the rate of
progress, as the long rows of bulls necessary to draw d;cm would move but
slowly over the rugged country and narrow passcs m the Satpura and Vindhya
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Tessened his expenditure. There was rumour of his personal return to Alfghan-
istan™ after appointing Shuja as the Wazir, Najib as Mir Bakshi and pro-
claiming the fugitive Prince Ali Gauhar as Emperor, thus doing away with
the puppet Shah Jahan III, brought on the throne by the regicide Ghazi-ud-
din. The Panjab would, of course, be surrendered to Abdali, who would be of
help to the Delhi Emperor in times of  difficulty. The Dowager Empress,
Malika Zamani, had been specially deputed to induce Shuja by a personal in-
terview, but she does not scem to have succeeded in her efforts. Shuja’s mother
was still alive and influenced the affairs of Oudh with prescicnce and wisdom.
She knew that there was nothing common between the Sunni Afghans and
the Irani Shias to which group her family belonged. The old officers of Safdar
Jang’s time knew the difficulties of the Delhi politics and feared to antagon’se
the Marathas, who surrounded the Oudh territory. Shuja was thinking of
giving the slip to Abdali without dircctly saying “no” by proceeding towards
B.har to back up the Emperor Shah Alam II. But Najib Khan was support-
ing Abdali and directing all his affairs. He himsclf procceded towards Oudh
with Jahan Khan, the Durrani general.  With a suavity cqualled by his cun-
ning, he impressed the Oudh Court by discussing threadbare the pros and
cons of Oudh policy, and finally prevailed upon Shuja to put in his lot on
the side of Abdali. Najib Khan personally stood surety against any possible
harm to Shuja in the Afghan camp. The unsteadiness of Maratha policy in
its dealings with Safdar Jang had now bome fruit. The Peshwa and his
sardars had forsaken Safdar Jang in his nced, and gone over to the side of
his opponent, Ghazi-ud-din. The late Wazir had been left to die of a broken
heart after his discomfiture before Delhi and his son Shuja had always to be
on his guard lest the attention of the Marathas be directed against his dominions,

which contained the chief holy places of the Hindus, namely, Benares, Al-
lahabad and Ayodhya. P ' " =

. In his dealings with Shuja, Sadashivrao had put his chief confidence in
Govindpant Bundele as he was 2 near neighbour, having known the ins and
outs of the Oudh Court for a long time. This man had kept himself out-
wardly on good terms with Shuja and was credited with a sweet tongue, use-
ful‘ in prevailing upon an acquaintance. Sadashivrao Bhau had begun® to
write to Govindpant drom the Nizam’s dominions long before the result of
Udgir. When it was finally decided to send him to the north, he ate
once wrote to Govindpant to bring over Shuja to the Maratha side in the im-
pending struggle against Abdali®® * From his first letter of the 15th of March,
1.760, up to the last disaster of Panipat, ten months later, Bhau is found put-
ting too much faith in the goodness of Shuja. After coming to know his final
decision to join Abdali in the first weck of July, Bhau should have left the
matter at that point and should have completely stopped his correspondence
thh.Shu]a. 'I’_he only result of Bhaw’s imparturities seems to have been to
convince Abdali and Najib of the Maratha weakness, This conviction strength-
ened their resolution of fighting to the last. The Maratha diplomacy during
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Balaj Baprao's rule 15 always inexplicable, and it was much more so dunng
the Pantpat campaign

Looking to the political condition then ewsung in India, and the
strength of the Marathas, 1t was a first rate mustake to have left the south
Indian tangle to take its own shape, and proceed to north India after Udgr,
especially after knowing the complete defeat of the Shinde Holkar forces
There were at least four fronts on which the Maratha attention was necessary
then The Abdak front in the north, the Hader Al front in the south, the
Nizam front in the Deccan and the English front—for such 1t was though the
,Peshwa was completely unaware of it—along the whole Indian coast The
Maratha power seemed to be at 1ts zemth at the end of 1758,% but the funda-
mental weakness of their unplanned spreading became apparant soon By the
end of 1759 they were completely driven out of the Panjab and suffered a
major defeat owing to the death of Dattap soon after In the south, Haider
Al: who was strengthenmg humself silently, had slyly set asde the all conquer-
g Marathas, establishing lumself, finally 1 September 1759 by defeating
Nanjra)*’ and impnisomng him with the puppet Mysore ruler The Englsh
had established thewr power in Bengal equally firmly, and had, taking advan-
tage of the Maratha support, occupied the best distncts 1 the Nizam's domumon
on the eastern sea board by drnvaing out the French What Sadashivrao Bhau
could conquer from the Nizam after Ius far famed victory of Udgr, the Bnt-
ish had taken away from the Nizam by merely marching a few thousand
troops, under Colonel Forde,® from Bengal to the Northern Sarkars'! The
result of Bhau’s gong to the north at this juncture after the French defeat
at Wandiwash in January 1760, was exemplified not only mn the far reverberat
ing defeat of Pamipat on 14th January, 1761, but, ssmultaneously or quickly fol-
lowing on 1ts heels, in the occupation of Pondicherry by the Englsh on 16th
January, 1761, and the defeat of the Emperor Shah Alam by Colonel Car-
nack 1 Bihar on 15th January, 1761, that 15, a day after the Panipat dusaster
By these events, Lttle noticed or thought of then, the future of India was
decided, more than by the defeat at Parupat Sadashivrac Bhau was fighting
for the preservation of the Mughal Empire for the descendant of Taimur who
actually became a prisoner and a tool m the hands of the Enghsh! Bhau
thought that but for Abdal the whole south would knve come into the pos-

» session of the Marathas!®® But by the defeat of the French i the south and
the occupation of the Northern Sarkars, the English became powerful enough
n the south to defy all others The Peshwa had planned the capture of Janjira
from the Sidh this year (1760), but by the covert action! of the Enghsh 1t
never came to pass! Even the lands conquered from the Nizam at the be
gnning of 1760 had to be returned when he threatened Poona after Pampat.
How can a hustonan account for these results but on the one supposttion that
—_——
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the Peshwa had muscaleulated the forees and had attempted a wrong solution
of the problems?

From Swronj, Bhau proceeded towards Gwalior via Arun,? Malan,®
Pohart and Kaledhar,¥ arnving there on the goth of May, 1760 He took
stock of the Maratha forces and tried to strengthen them 1n cvery possible way
But his efforts were wasted on men whom he wished to propiate  The fault
was not Sadashivrao’s but of the tmes By the nuddle of the 18th century,
the dissolution of the Mughal Cmp re was practically complete and what an
English histonan has called “The Great Anarchy” began  This anarchy which
lasted almost for a century, ended finally after the great mutny of 1857 The,
various fragments of the Mughal Empire, great and small, powerful and weak,
had entered 1nto a general scramble for power and pelf, and none was think-
1ng 1n terms of prineiples, nor was anyone m a mood to think of Indian umty
Only the Peshwa was thinking 1n terms of the whole of India ruled from one
centre and following a common policy But Sadashivrao Bhaw’s appeal fell
on deaf ears and hence produced no result  All the previous sins of commssion
and omusson by the three Peshwas raised their heads as ghosts from  ther
graves Eserybody who had once becn helped by the Marathas forgot all
moral obligation to show grattude or at least sympathy, while all who had any
sense of having been badly treated sit on the fence n expectancy of the Mara-
thas receiving a good drubbing at the hands of the Durram king  The con-
sciousness of having all the surrounding people agownst the Marathas must have
had a demorahsing mfluence on the Maratha army Great battles arc never
won by despondent soldiers!

The Maraths Chronucles of Sadashivrao Bhau report that Bhau had
sought the opiion of Malharrao Holkar and Janakop Shinde, and they had
advised Bhau not to come personally, but to send armies for their help on the
strength of which they would defeat Abdal:  Their opinion was based on the
idea that the presuge of a nation 1s lowered when the chief himself 1s obliged
to enter the arena of the battle, because 1t 1s thought as a sort of comment on
the (n)capacity of hus subordmnates and if by chance or through 1l luck the
chief 15 defeated, 1t becomes difficult for the army to hold out afterwards On
the other hand, the authors of the chromecles report the discussions 1n the privy
councl of Sadashwvrao®Bhau  Therein Bhau's supporters, hike Balvantrao
Mehendale, saw more than was obvious i the advice of Holhar and Shinde ¢
“Because these sardars and mamlatdars in the north had up ull then lLived
perfect freedom without feeling the pressure of the chief’s control, and feared
that therr msdeeds would be revealed in the presence of a strict man hke
Sadashivrao Bhau, they are advising Bhau not to advance any farther,” they
thought When Bhau proceeded in spite of these remonstrances, the veteran
Malharrao Holkar was reported to have let loose hus tongue m wild rage at his
advice bemng brushed aside with scant respect, and abused the advisers of Bhau
He wrote agamn that Bhau should at least stop at Gwabior and not cross the
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Chambal, at which Bhaw’s councillors laughed agamn and smd, “Shinde and
Holkar, Antap Manakeshvar, Govindpant Bundele, Vitthal Shivdeo and Naro
Shankar who had acted as officers with full powers 1n these parts, are now
il at ease at our coming and can never feel happy at the event”  We reproduce
these lines not because we believe in their truth but because they show an un-
dercurrent of thought diametrically opposite to that of Bhau’s policy —There
was a good substratum of truth m Holkar's advice To proceed agamst
Abdali with heavy camp equipage and the encumbrances of women and chil
dren with a paraphernalia of private servants on a lavish scale, was certamly
amistake Dellu could never have been a secure base for the Marathas mn the

s circumstances then existmg  In all previous campaigns of the Marathas m
the Dellu region, they had suffered from want of food and fodder, not to say
money ‘The circumstances had grown even worse now, as Bhau expenenced
to hus cost later on  There was no vahd reason to believe that the circumstances
would have been different in the present campaign  But Bhau felt confident
of overcoming any difficulty and crossed the Chambal to Dholpur,*® which m
those times was not a Jat capital *but a place of pilgrimage

The Maratha army crossed the Chambal on 8th June, and encamped
near the Muchakunda tirth®® near Dholpur The whole army went through
the ceremony of a holy bath and sojourned for a few days there  An echipse
of the sun on the 13th of Junc!’ added to the ment of the pilgnmage in this
holy place The delay caused by the performance of the ntes of pilgnimage
frustrated Bhau’s ongmnal plan of crossing over the Jamuna before the rams
near Agra mto Govindpant Bundeles districts and attaching Abdal from that
base Agra was only some twenty five mules d.stant from the Maratha camp
between the Chambal and the Gambhura, ahas Banaganga, niver But Bhau
was unable to cross that small nver and reach Agra for about a month more
The monsoon had set i somewhat early that year, and the small river was 1n
spate  On his left hand was the Parvaty, in front the Gambhira and at the
back the Chambal The region 1s extremely uneven At every hundred yards
there 1s a ravine, a contmuous up and down The land s sandy and the nivers
and streams, though shallow, spread over for miles across the banks It 15 dif-
ficult to set foot m the bed of the river and there 1s not enough water for boats
to cross  In fact, no boats are avatlable on those streams, for after a few days

. the water 1s completely drmned away and only level sands, yellow and white
1 colour, are left to act as witnesses for the temporary floods The whole camp
must have suffered termbly because camping i those regions looked almost
mpossible

Though Sadashuivrac Bhau could not cross the mugmficant nver
Gambhira, he was able to meet Shinde and Holkar and discuss with them the
future problems and line of action, as both of them were encampmg on the
same side of the Gambhira m the vieity of Keravli The first to see Bhau
w1s Gangoba Chandrachud, Holkar’s Diwan, on 15th June* Gangoba be
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longed to that generation of the Marathas which grew up with Bajirao’s con
quests m Malwa He was the confidential man of Malharrao and had perfect
faith® 1n the wisdom of his master

Malharrao Holhar secms to have purposcly sent Gangoba to mect Bhau
first and sound ham 10 respect of fus future pohcy and temper  Malharrao hum-
self met Bhau along with Janakop Shinde, a week Jater, on the 22nd of June®
No difference of opimion 1s reported at this mecung which scems to have ended
amicably, thus belying the purposive colourful wrtmig of the Marathi chrom«
cles At the end of the month, Surajmal Jat and the Wazr Ghazi-ud-din saw
Sadashivrao Bhau and d d the future hne of action The plan at the
begmning of July was stil to cross over the Jamuna wnto the Doab by build-
ng a bndge of boats  But even this plan failed because of the nang waters of
the Jumuna In fact Bhau’s slow march from the Dcecan added four addi-
tional months of the monsoon to the Pampat cimpaign, and lowered the
vitality and morale of the Maratha army thereby From the tone of a letter
written at this juncture, there docs not scem to be any difference of opuon
between Bhau and his sardars or Surajmal Jat®* The total strength of the
Maratha armmy 1s given as seventy to eighty thousand while Abdali-Ruhela
strength 15 reported as sixty thousand  The balance was to be decided by the
jomng m of Shuja ud daulah to either side  Shuja’s army 15 reported as
twenty thousand, with a very strong park of artillery Besides, lus ammy was
one on permanent footing and thereforc best tramed, best equipped and al
together more efficient than that of the others It was regularly well paid and
therefore contented Naro Shankar and Ramap Anant Dabholkar,® Jana-
boy’s Diwan, had been despatched as specal ambassadors to Shuja as a last
resort to mduce hum to come over to the Maratha side by offering hum any
terms he would choose to ask ¥ But he finally decided agamnst the Marathas
and proceeded to meet Abdali at Ramgad Bhu at once changed fus plan
of crossing mto the Doab and arnved at Gau Ghat to the north east of Sikandara
where the great Akbar hies buned  This place 15 some ten mules to the north
west of Agra on the bank of the Jamuna There the Maratha army halted
and bathed 1 the holy waters on the new moon day of Ashadha, which fell
on sath July, 1760 Thence Bhau proceeded to Mathura where he encamped
on the 15th of July*® “Thence he sent advanced troops to lay siege to Delh,
then commanded by Yahub Al Khan, a cousin of the Durram Wazr Shah ¢
Wah Khan¥ He had only a small force, not more than two thousand strong
The rest of the camp with women 1n 1t went on performung the pilgrum’s rites at
Mathura and Brindavan Nana Fadnis, who was accompanymng Bhau with
lus wife and mother, ndulged 1n the holy pignmage to ks heart’s content,
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and rapturously describes 1t n lus “Autobiography ™ Bhaw's wife Parvat-
bai, Mehendale’s wife Lakshmibai, and some other women of high status had
accompanied the army mainly with a view to perform the pilgrnmages mn the
great safety of big camps fully provided with every necessity of fe  The time
of Maratha encampment at Mathura comnaded with the Hindu mtercalary
month of Shravana, deemed the most holy especrally near the scene of Knshna’s
childhood

As discussed previously, Surajmal Jat and Ghaz-ud-din were of the

same opmmon as that of Malharrao Holkar m not proceeding to Dellu with the
»whole camp, but to keep the base of operations behind and to carry on the
campaign agawst Abdah with unencumbered troops. But Bhau had deaided,
probably with the full concurrence of the Peshwa, to follow the new mode of
warfare based on infantry tactics He prepared to take Delht and mahe 3t a
base Surajmal was not agamst the 1dea of occupymng Dellt but he wanted
1t to be handed over to him as a keeper, and wished Ghazi ud din to be made
a Wazar After the assassinationsof Alamgir II, hus son, the fumitive prince
Al Gauhar had crowned himself as Emperor in Bihar He had naturally dis-
mssed Ghaz ud din from the chancellorshup and offered 1t to Shuja, for he
could not allow lus father’s murderer to continue 1n the high office  Ghazi ud-
din had tried to strengthen his hands by the expedient of taling a young
prnce out of the smpenal pnson and crowmng lum Emperor with the utle
of Shah Jahan Samt and getting himself appointed as us Wazir  But lus plan
was miscarried by Dattap’s defeat and death in the preceding year, and he was
now a fugiive at Suraymal’s Court Bhau had to act cautiously and take
nto account the general voice of the populace m the Mughal dominons  The
Peshwa had not directly protested against Ghaz ud din’s acts of foul murder
and to that extent tned not to antagomse him as he had been a creation of
the Marathas  But it was necessary to guard agamnst Napb’s propaganda and,
therefore, Bhau could not approve of Surajmal’s proposal to acknowledge
Ghaziud din as Wazir  Bhau also wanted to keep the office open 1 order
to tempt Shuja to the Maratha side, if he could by any means be won over
Bhau, therefore, psked the Jat Raja and Ghaz ud din to accompany hum to
Dellt and help hum 1n conquenng and setthng 1t He sent Janahojp Shinde,
Balvantrao Mchendale and Malhirrao Holkar with elght thousand troops mn
s advance on 21st July, 1960 This party reached Delh: on the 25th and at
once took possession of the aity without firng a shot. In the first surpnse on-
slaught some fifty Marathas even succeeded n cntening the wner atadel by
scaling the walls, but mnstead of at once proceeding to the gates and tryng to
open them so as 1o make the whole army enter 1n, they foolishly engaged in
loot and thercfore gave time to Yakub Al Khan, Abdal’s kecper, to bnng
hus forces to the scene and drve them out  Balvantrao’s pnde and impetuous-
ness are ilustrated 1 this event. He scems to have at once despatched a
couner to Bhau who was following, with the mamn Maratha camp, to inform
tum of tus victory, and Bhau rewarded the camel nder for bnngng i the good
aews At the end of the day, however, Balvantrao had to retreat to hus camp
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outside the aity and place guns around the citadel, Bhau himself had ad-
vanced by this time from Mathura and was encamping at the famous serai at
Chhatah Now he advanced in haste via Hodal and Palwal afid reached
Delhi on 315t July By this time the small party of Afghans under Yakub Ali
Khan had been battered in the citadel and now with the coming of Ibrahim
Khan’s park of artillery, they found it impossible to continue the struggle and
sued for peace. They were allowed to march out and go back to Abdali with
their arms and baggage Their number was only eight hundred.® The Mara-
thas occupied the Red Fort on the 1st of August and celebrated their first vie-
tory amidst jubilations Bhau himself scems to have sojourned there for a
few days to arrange for the administration of the palace, city and the fort’
£}l he moved to Shalimar Gardens to the north-west of Delhi. He appointed
Naro Shanhar as the guardian of the palace and the city with six thousand
troops made up of cavalry and infantry. Baloji Palhande was made the
keeper of the fort.

Sadashivrao Bhau’s camp at Delhi after the first fortnight was near
the Shalimar Gardens watered by the famous Ali Mardan Khan canal. The
place is sull very charming, filled with the fragrance of the blossoms of the
lucat trees during September and October. The water pavilions of the lux-
unous Mughal Emperors are stll to be seen there with their mural paintings
of birds and flowers, though in a dilapidated condition. Already three con-
querors, namely, Nadir Shah, Ahmad Shah and Raghunathrao, had lived in
them during two decades Now Bhau had occasion to halt there.

Though from the military point of view the possession of Dethi was
no great gain, it restored the prestige of the Maratha name. Ahmad Shah was,
at this time, camping at Anupshahar on the Ganges but he was unable to send
any succour to his nominee, Yakub Ali Khan® Shuja-ud-daulah was ac-
tually encamping just on the opposite side of the Jamuna®! but he was also
l{elplrss to do anything in the matter. Perhaps they knew that it was impos-
sible to face Ibrahim Khan's artillery and therefore remaained silent. In the
poplflar mind, however, the Maratha prestige, lost and lowered by the previous
year's events, was completely restored. Shuja, wha had willingly joined Abdali,
began to waver in his gesolution.® He began to exert himself in the peace-
move. The Indian allies of Ahmad Shah Abdali in this campaign had jomed
their forces with his as a lesser evil only. The trans-Gangetic Ruhelas under
th; lcm}efs‘h‘xp of the s;gadous Hafiz Rahmat had no love lost for Najib Khan,
whose fait and unscrupulous dealings they would not approve. The
lame A}}mz\d. Khan Bangash was always shaky irr his rtsoludonpie\‘:r b;li.ng
sure which side to choose. His situation was always precarious ‘as his district
of Farukkhabad was situated amidst the more powerful states of Qudh, the
Ruhelas, qle Marathas and the Jats. Though weak, Ahmad Khan wns, not
unselfish cither. He would side with the Marathas with a view to gain somc
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portion of Shuja’s dominions or the land of the Ruhclas. When not threatened
by Shuja and when the Maratha armics were not in his neighbourhood, he
would not shirk from invading and occupying the Maratha dastricts in the
lower Doab.® Hc would never offend any party by his words and always
tried to heep himsclf on speaking terms with all. Ahmad Khan had come to
Abdal’s camp but secing that there was no work there for threc months of
the rains he and also the Ruhclas, except Napb, left for their homes with
Abdal’s permission®  From their homes they kept on writing to Bhau that
they had joined Abdali under duress. Bhau scems to have misjudged their
motives as they were always heeping up a correspondence with Bhau and

, promising to join him under certain conditions, It is difficult to say whether
they actually feared the conscquences of joining Abdali as against the Mara-
thas or were mercly fooling him this time so as to save their dominions from
the armics of Govindpant Bundele and Gopalrao Ganesh Barve.  But Bhau was
trying his best to take advairage of the cnforced delay and hoping to separate
some of his allies from Abdali. Many Afghan sardars wrote to Bhau that they

" would detach themselves from Abdali as seon as they found an opportunity
to do so. But Abdali kept a strict watch over them and never once allowed
them to move away from his camp. Bhau cven tried to detach some of the
Afghan tribes who were accompanying Abdal with the hope of loot but were
not directly cmployed by um, and were actually starving. Ahmad Shah’s
Durrani troops were at this time living on loot.  Napb was supplying Abdali
with 200 maunds of grain and 15,000 rupees cash every day for his aid, But
this was sufficient for his personal slaves only.  Bhau had ordered Govindpant to
engage them if they came over to his side and to send them to Bhau’s camp
if necessary.®® He had asked Govindpant to remain where he was and try to
move in such a way as to mahe Shuja and the Ruliclas leave Abdal's camp
for defending their threatened territories.®  But the terror of Abdali’s forces
was such that it made any move on Govindpant’s part well-nigh impossible,
The Maratha officials in the Doab scem to have been completely demoralised
by the expencence of the past four years, and no one was ready to tahe any
risk in the matter. This is clear from Sadashivrao Bhau's order to Govind-
pant in the middle of August to forbid any Maratha employed under him to
send back his cffects to the Deecan, as Bhau had come to hnow of such a
move.” It mcant that the Marathas living in thoscregions were not very

, sanguine about the outcome of the war and feared the worst. This explains
the cause of the non-compliance of Sadashivrao Bhau's orders by Govindpant
and Gopalrao Barve. They were unable to do anything vigorously or enthu-
siastically because the overwhelming majority of the Maratha employees had
completely lost heart.

Notwithstanding such sombre atmosphere Sadashivrao Bhau was going
on with his plans of meeting Abdali after the rains. Though the hope of solv-
ing the political problem of the governance of India without resort to arms was
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\ery remote, stll peace parleys continued throughout. Napb Khan’s proposal
forwarded through Shuja was to hand over the regions beyond Sarhund to
Abdah and hand over the Delly affawrs mto lus hands  Shuja wanted the
Chancellorshup as well as the command over the army of the Mughal Em
pirc® But Napb would never allow the military command to pass out of s
hands Bhaw’s 1dea was to fix the boundary at Attock, leaving Peshawar and
Kabul to Abdali, while the impernal defence would be left as 1t was, meaning
through the agency of the Marathas But Bhau was not obstinate on any
pomnt. He hnew that no one could have everything lus own way In diplo
macy “give and take” 15 necessary and mewitable, and therefore he still hoped
to find a iz media out of the impasse

The condition 1n the muddle of September was as follows  There was
no money left n the government treasury nor was any forthcomng from the
revenue collectors hke Govindpant Bundele Bhtu hnew the economic con
dition of the region surrounding Delht very well and undetstood the difficulties
of recovering government dues i the then gonditions of northern India  Be
sides the military trouble due to war with Abdali, nature also had some say
i the affur  Hail storms and certam pests had that year destroyed the crops
i many parts and there was a consequent deficit mn revenue collection ©® The
dismussal of old collectors lihe Naro Shankar and his brother and recently of
Mahadayp Govind Kakirde® appomted 1n his place, had adversely affected the
Maratha revenues i Bundelkhand Bhau alse suspected the sincenty of the
collectors who, he thought, were withholding payments with a wview to tahe
advantage of the difficulties of the government * They would pay after the
event instead of before 1t, as they were not surc of the result of the war and
hoped to profit thereby As the army was starving and not even a week’s
payment out of the month could be made to them, Bhau had recourse to the
politically disastrous action of taking out the silver ceiling of the Diwan 1 khas,
and nunting 1t mto moncy He was able to secure only mne lakhs by ths
process and thereby feed his army for one month only It scems this action
was tom tomed as insulting to the Mughal throne by the Mushm partisans of
Napb, and it flamed the Mushm population mn the surrounding regions
aganst the Marathas  As a matter of fact, the Wazir Ghaz ud din had already
taken out a part of thatevery celing previously when he was n need of money,
and Bhau was not the first vandal to touch it as made out by partisan lus-
tonans  But nonc seemed to have noticed the Waar’s act while all flared
up agamnst Bhau’s behaviour  When the famous peacock throne of Shah Jahan
was tahen away by Nadir Shah or when the whole palace and 1ts inmatcs
were completely stnpped of their effects by Abdali, none scemed to have thought

these as an wmsult to the Mughal throne then, posably hecause the spolators
were devout Mushms
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Bhav’s difficulties were increased by the Peshwa’s ignorance of northern
Indian affairs. It was customary for the Maratha army to subsist on the land
they marched through; but, after cxpenencc, the people of the regions through
which they marched had become wiser than before, and left nothing on the
spot to be carried away by the Marathas. Bhau had himself taken Raghunath-
rao to task for not being able to defray the expenditure of his campaign, and
now he could not possibly ask for funds from the Deccan. The stress of cir-
cumstances, however, obliged even the proud Bhau to beg for funds, The
Peshwa first ordered the revenue collectors in the north to pay half the revenues
to Bhau. This order only facilitated equivocation by the delaying collectors

, They would write to the Peshwa that Bhau had taken the whole revenue from

them and write to Bhau that they had sent the whole money to the Deccan.
Bhau, therefore, over-riding the Peshwa's orders, asked the collectors to send
the whole amount tq him only. Still no money was forthcoming from anybody
Bhau had received two lakhs’from Govindpant and eighty thousand from Babu-
rao Koner of Jhanst. This was all he was able to receive at Delhi. While
Bhau was besieged at Panipat, Govindpant brought four Jakhs and twenty
thousand to Delhi at the beginning of December, only a quarter of which
reached Bhau’s camp in safety. Besides Govindpant, some other collectors
hke Gopal Keshav of Bhander (SPD, 29-12) also seem to have forwarded
their collections to Delhi after Bhau's move to Kunjpura. The capture of
Dethi had placed an additional burden on Bhau’s depleted treasury because he
had now to provide for the palace-expenditure which came to more than a
lakh per month.

There is some ground for suspicion that Bhau’s plans were being ob-
structed by certain forces in Poona, antagonistic to him. Gopikabai, the wife
of the Peshwa, always feared, it seems, the complete usurpation of power by
Bhau as he was already the sole administrator. The Peshwa was every day
growing weaker and weaker both physically and morally. This fact also en-
hanced the lady’s fears, She, as well as the Peshwa’s advisers in Poona, espe-
cially the wily Sakharam Bapu, who it should be noted, was with the Peshwa in
the Deccan and had not accompanied Vishwasrao to the north, as wrongly
stated by Sir Jadunath,”® secem to have been responsible for advising the
Peshwa to withhold any more help to Bhau for fear of his increasing power.
, Sakharam Bapu was perhaps the cleverest brain in the Poona Court of thase
‘times. He was from very carly days a sort of rival to Bhau in diplomatic
matters. The Peshwa seems to have used Bapu as a tool to heep a balance
of power at the Poona Court. Bhau's ways were open and straightforward.
Bapu’s conduct was exactly the reverse. The two could not go together with
these contrary dxsposmons Sakharam Bapu had, therefore, always sided with
the party opposnc to Bhau. He accompanied Raghunathrao in his north
Indian campaigns as his chief adviser and administrator. Though Raghunath-
rao as the master cannot be absolved from the blame, the chief responsibility
for the financial of his ¢ should be properly placed

PAE

on Sakharam Bapu's shoulders. Being conscious of lis share in the guilt,
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Bapu naturally must have come to loggerheads with Bhau when the final ac-
counts of the campaigns came to be settled

Peculation was quite rampant n those days n official circles and the
Maratha state was no exception to the rule  Profiteering at the cost of govern
ment was thought to be no sm and was a normal part of a wise man’s hving
While some of the generals and diplomats and admmstrators waxed fat, the
state languished for want of money The Peshwa’s government perhaps suf
fered more than the other governments through this mischief, because the ruder
Maratha genera's were more grabhing and the selfish and bramny Brahmin ac
countants and collectors were clever at figures  To spite Bhau now, Bapu must
have taken full advantage of hus difficuluies 1 tutoring the Peshwa aganst hm ¢
Bhau’s advisers and assstants in this campaign were also nvals of Bapu at the
Poona Court Trnmbak Sadashiv alias Nana Purandare and Balvantrao
Mehendale were not well disposed towards him, Nana Purandare was on al-
most imumical terms with Bapu? In short Sakbaram Bapu belonged to the
party of cnitics of Sadashivrao’s policy One 15, therefore, led to believe m
the truth of that one line commentary copted and reproduced mn Khare L7?
which also expluns to some extent the atutude of the Peshwa towards the
Delht campaign of Sadashivrao Bhau as reported by Naro Gangadhar from
the Peshwa’s camp i the Deccan ™

Sadashivrao Bhau, writing from Delhi in the middle of September 1760
to hs wtimate friend, Dhondo Malhar Purandare, states that there 15 no dif
ference of opumon between hum and the two sardars Shinde and Holkar It
means that the dramatic cpisode of Surajmal described n detail 1n the Bakhar
1s 2l inaginary and an after thought Honest difference of opiuon about the
pelicy to be followed aganst Abdal might te there, but the cause of hus ab-
ruptly leaving Delhi without taking leave of Bhau must be Ius disappomtment
Bhau would not place the ity 1n the charge of the Jat, but appomnted Naro
Shankar as the guardian of the aity and the palace, mstead  Surajmal was,
no doubt, very shrewd and cautious His advice to heep the mamn camp with
its heavy encumbrances back in the Gwalior region was sound  But he was
personally very selfish and always tried to sccure his ends under the cloak of
humblencss.  This time he wished to follow the same path and set humself
up as a regent in Delhy with the help of the Marathas  His past behaviour
towards the Marathas was neither very honest nor consistent  After Raghu-
nathrac's campaign agamnst i i 1754, he occupied the lands w the Doab *
surrounding Kol Ramgad during thewr absence from the north in 17557 In
1756 he would not nisk hus troops agamst Abdah by jommg Antap Manakesh-
war, though he took full advantage of Antap’s cover to guard his domumons
and save hus forts  When Raghunathrao agam returned to the north, he sull
Lept lumself studiously aloof and saved hus un  Mcanwlile he had reaped
the hanest out of Maratha weakness duc to Jayapa’s assassmation  He sud-
denly descended upon the strong impenal hull fort of Alwar which guarded
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the route from Delhi to Jaipur, and occupied it without much trouble. When
Dattaji returned in x758 with a strong force he again assumed humbleness and
tricd to make a common cause with him in the spoliation of thq Mughal em-
pire. He had kept on good terms with the Shinde familysince the time he
was saved by Jayapa Shinde against Malharrao's fury at Kumhher, and thus
shielded himself against Malharrao’s exactions. But he respected neither friend
nor foe when it waS a question of aggrandizing himself at the cost of others.
For the present he had made common cause with Shinde and Holkar, fully
knowing that they Would not be troublesome to him after their late defeats
at the hands of Abdali. On the other hand they were useful to him in meet-
ing the calls of Sadashivrao Bhau on his resources. Now finding hirself un-
able to fulfil his life’s ambition of governing Delhi, he silently walked away
from Bhau's camp with a show of anger at Bhau’s policy. Bhau certamly felt
the loss of his help at this crucial'time and tried to tecall him. Mahipatrao
Chitnis, Gangoba Chandrachud and Ramaji Anant were sent after him to
bring him back. 7 This proves that Bhau had no intention of insulting him
as is made to appear in the Bhau Bakhar. Nor was he remist in trying to win
him over with assurances. But it looks as if the Jat Raja was thoroughly
selfish and left the Maratha camp, ostensibly on account of,a difference in out-
look on matters of policy, but really to save himself from Bhau’s demands
and impoytunities due to the starving condition of his men and animals
Throughout the Panipat campaign, Bhau was never once suspicious of the Jat's
attitude towards the Marathas, but always hoped for good behaviour from him
Though he had openly consented not to lu:lp79 Bhau in his diplomatic talks
with Napb and Shuja as Abdalr’s emissaries, with a view to excuse himself
from paying tributeto the Afghan monarch, Surajmal did not do anything
antagonistic to the. Maratha interests, but on the other hand considerably
helped them by allowing provisions and money to pass through his territory
unmolested.*” There seems to have been talk of Surajmal’s son, Jawahirmal,
coming to Bhau’s help with the Jat forces at the beginning of October. When
Prince Javan Bakht was proclauncd on 1oth October and the seals of his father
wane Wnought nfie wer, e Tah Radp hevuma, Snalky Tl o ke Womsh
side”®  All these facts rcfule the criticism of Bhau's behaviour in his
dealings with Surajmal Jat. His humane behaviour and the monetary help
he afforded to the Maratha fugitives after Panipat completely belies the story
5o dramatically related in the chronicle.

As related above, the peace parleys were draggmg on all along, but
without sincerity on ‘either side. Ahmad Shah had changed his camp of
thatched huts at Anupshahar on the Ganges at the beginning of August® This
was first a countermove to Bhau’s occupation of Delhi, and was also due to the
unhealthiness of the placc Thousands of his horses and camels succumbed
to the heavy monsoon, in the low-lying Gangetic valley.®? His first thought was
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10 move north to the strong fort of Sukartal and remaimn there At the begin
sng of October, he was reported to have left hus camp at Sambharam Sera1 1nd
moved to Ahmad Gany™ But soon after he came to Shahadra, opposite to
Delhs on the bank of the Jamuna, and encamped there with Shuja and Nayb
A distant cannonade was also semetimes indulged m by both the armies from
the two banks of the rver It could not be very effective from a distance of
more than 2 mile with the artillery of those times  Besides, none of the parties
was willing to waste 1ts ammunition for merely ternfying without muditary
cffect Internal trouble was also brewing amongst Abdalis allies  Shuja and
Nayb were strange bed fellows whom only desuny had brought together
Napb had promised that no demands for money would be made on Shuja if
he joned Abdalis camp This hope was belied, for the hungry and grabbing
\fghans tried to make encroachments on him, knowing full well that he was
reh Ths led to a quarrel between Shuja and the Durrams  Shuja felt
himself deceved by the false promise of Napb #ad was almest 1 a repentant
mool® The Abdali troops, on the other hand, were reluctant to continue
their stay i India amidst misery and desttution, with httle hope of earning
anything i the future

Bhau had sent one Bhavamshankar as a Valil o Shuja across the
Jamuna and Shuja also sent his Valil to Bhau m return® It seems from
Kashurays account that he also accompamed Raja Dewidatta, Shuja’s envoy
But there 15 no corroboration of the same mn Marath: correspondence, a fact
which mahes one suspicious about the truth of his narrauve  As Bhau was
not satisfied with Raja Devidatta, he sent lum back with Bhavanshankar
This Bhavanishankar 1s scarcely mentioned anywhere 1n the Marathi nar-
rauve as a person of importance  Kashiray says he was a natve of Auranga
bad 1nd belonged to Ius caste  As the Brahmuns of Aurangabad had taken to
Persian studies, they were m great demand at the courts of varions north
Ind an potentates who had any dealings with the Marathas  Knowing both
Persian and Marath, they were able to correspond and nterpret between the
\arath1 and other courts, and settled 1 vasious capitals  The Hingne famly
w1s also engaged by the Peshwa for the same qualifications Bhavamshanhar
first came i contact with the Peshwa in his dealings with Shah Nawaz Khan
1t the Nizam's court, and scems to have spread has mfluence over Bhau also®
As Nira Tadns in bis - Autoblography  adversely comments on Bhavam
shanhars nfluence over Bhau nd cxpresses lumselfl i dsapproving tesms
bout his conduct it may be taken as a general opinion of the Maratha camp
tbout the man  Bhau over rode the opmuons of ntmates like Balvantrao
Mchendale and Nana Purandare and completely put lus fmith wm Bhavam
shaplar s advice, which was o the man cause of Bhaus decision ta follow
Tbralum Khan Gardis French tutored mode of wirfare, Perhaps, cven m the
ucces. ful Udgir campargn, ® Bhau had followed Dhasanshanhar s advice and
the thundenng success m 1t had established Bhavanushankar Bhau's con
fidence  Whatever the fact, lus conduct of peace parleys at thus juncture did
not prove succe-sful as Nayb-ud daulah threw every obstacle 1n the way Mal
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harrao and Surajmal were also heeping correspondence with Shuja and seek
mg his advice as to the future line of actton  Shuja advised the Marathas to
follow only the traditional mode of guenlla warfare, and to Surajmal he ad
vised to return to lus own country To Bhau, Shuja profesed frnendship,
while decliming to leave Abdalt’s camp, and promused to help the Maratha cause
by giving lus best advice  From Kashiray's account 1t scems Bhau had receded
back a great deal on his ongnal terms one by one  As a last resort, he was
ready to surrender the Panjab upto Sarhind, but wanted Abdah no more to 1n
terfere in the Delhs affairs  But, as mentioned above, nothing came out of this
boring of the mountamn, not even a mouse  Both sides scem to have put their
final faith m a decision by arms ~ From the begning, Bhau was ready to al-
low Abdali to return to hus own country 1f he so desired  But 1f he really had a
mmnd to gan that end, 1t would have been better had he never crossed the
Chambal In that case Abdalt would possibly have left India through sheer
wearmess  But with Bhau'’s big army advanced to Delhi, it was mmpossible
for Abdah to retreat without offerng a battle From that pomnt of view 1t
would have been better for Sadashivrao Bhau to have turned his attention to
Shuja’s dommmons and to have proceeded to Benares mstead of Delm But
unfortunately for the Marathas throughout their career, they had chosen the
cochpit of Dethi as their fighting arena and ultimately lost thewr all m 1t

Meanwhile the condition of the Maratha army detenorated day by day
The bullocks of the artillery department died by hundreds and there were not
enough left with strength to drag the guns® Bhau had also ordered® hoth
Govindpant and Gopalrac Barve to cross over the Ganges and threaten Shuja’s
and the Ruhela’s terntortes  But Govindpant was unable to move, firstly, on
account of the rams, and secondly, because the zamindars 1n the Doab and
Bundelkhand had become defiant and treacherous, and there was no safety
for the Maratha posts in those regions  Bhau had taken possession of all the
mamn ghats between Agra and Kunjpura and blocked the crossings for the
enemy He had hept small patrols to guard the ferry ghats and collected all the
boats at Selungad near Dellu  Though Bhau had now placed his man faith
m the artillery of Ibralum Khan,® sull he could not recruit any Marathas for
service n that department He had to call the men from the enemy’s ter
ntones to do such work® Bhau scems to have called some European gun-
ners from the eastern parts also  Many Portuguese, Freilch, Enghsh and other
Europcan adventurers and renegades were at this time spread over India,
ready to offer their services for good money The war between the French
and the English had detached a ber of French from Chand,
and other places m Bengal These were probably the persons Bhau was hop—
g to engage But nonc of these projects materniahzed and only a ceitmc
number of Pathan followers of Ahmad Shah came over to the Maratha side
only to create confusion and disaster i the last fight.
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CHAPTER IV
KUNJPURA

'To unpERSTAND Sadashivrao Bhaw's campaign north of Delhy, 1t s
necessary to acquamt oneself with the terrain on both sides of the nver Jamuna
The whole of thus area 15 one vast, continuous, sandy plan formed by the silt
of the nver It 18 a gradually sloping plaip from the north to the south, and
just near the rver banks very shghtly slopmg towards the iver  This plam is
between seven and eight hundred fect above the sea level on an average, with
practically no hills worth the name The rocky arm of the Aravallh Rangg,
startng from Mount Abu north of Gujarat, extends just up to the north of
Delhu city, and ends m the famous Ridge of Mutmy fame This 15 the last
rocky spot 1 the whole area North of 1t one can sce scarcely a stone any-
where  The very few elevated spots to be found®n this even terram look more
like mounds than hlls, being made up of sandy rubble, and one sometuncs
suspects these of being the handiworh rather, of man than of nature Where such
elevated spots occur, they are surc to be occupied by towns if sufficently large,
or otherwise by a temple, a mosque, a Sadhubava or a Pir  Sonepat and Pam
pat, reputed to be dating from the Mahabharata War, along with Indrapat or
the oldest Delhy, arc situated on and alongside small hullocks, less than a hun
dred feet above the surrcunding level plam  Both were walled towns with
small atadels on the hill tops

The main features to be noted for the history of the eighteenth century
in this region were that the region was bounded by the river Jamuna on the
east, and by the impenal Ali Mardan Khan Canal (Shah nahar) on the west.
The impenal road with the Kos munars or pillars at an mterval of two and a
half English miles passed through the Doab formed by these natural and man-
made aqueducts The road ran parallel to the east of the canal at a distance
of about five mules on an average, but 1t passed by the towns of Sonepat, Pam-
pat and Kamal The canal ended i the Dellu palace, after supplymng the
famous Shalimar gardens to the north west of the city with ample water It
had been built to meet the needs of the mmpenal family n the mam, but was
probably utilized by qthers also to the extent possible after fulfiling the re
quirements of the palace.

<

The area along the canal and beyond was thickly wooded while that
by the side of the nver was boggy and marshy, overgrown with rushes and
other water plants for mules together  There are fords at a distance of about
five mules on the nver at present, but these were probably fewer 1n former days,
when tmgation canals had not dramed the niver dry There were fernes and
bridges of boats, however, at convement and necessary places  The mver res
mamned unfordable dunng the ramy scason and sometime after At some
places where the nver had divided stself into several channels with sandy banks
and istands between, fording was ¢aster and these places became the high roads
of movement and commerce like those near Kunjpura and Budiua Where the
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niver-bank was steep and the water deep, crossing was very difficult, if not
impossible.

Sadashivrao Bhau, after the first fortnight of August in Delhi, moved!
his camp from Kalkddevi to the south of the city on the bank of the Jamuna
to the west of the city near Seetaram’s serai beyond the canal, and this camp
seems to have extended upto the Shalimar gardens to the north-west, thus
covering an area of more than three miles in length from north to south. Here
he lived for almost seven weeks, till he began his northward march to Kunj-
pura in the first weck of October. The Maratha army suffered great priva-
tjons? in this camp. The food supply of Delhi was derived from the eastern
Doab side in normal times. But this region was in the possession of Najib
Khan and Abdali, Besides, the Jamuna was in flood making commercial in-
tercourse difficult, if not impossible. Added to the food and fodder scarcity,
there was the scarcity of money. No money was forthcoming from any
source; neither from the revenue collectors of the Maratha lands in north
India, nor from tribute, nor cven from loans. Even men of position had to
Leep fmm starvation by selling their ]ewellery and other personal belongmgs
The result was a great deterioration in the physical stamina of men and ani-
mals, It must have also told on the morale of the army, though in this case
the cool courage and optimism of the commander-in-chief counteracted, to a
great extent, the evil effects of the same.®

Placed in this quandary, Bhau had recourse to such things as taking
out the silver ceiling of the Diwan-i-khas to coin money wherewith to pay a
bare subsistence allowance to the troops as stated before.> But this was only
a stop-gap. The nine lakhs of rupees derived from this vandalic source were
just sufficient to feed the army for one month. During a period of three months,
only two weekly payments to the soldiers had been made possible, so precarious
was the situation> Nor was it possible, while the rains continued, to get out of
this plight.

The future plans of Abdali were as yet inscrutable. The early setting in
of the rains that year with the continuous high fload level of the Jamuna for
four menths had miscarried the earlier plans hatched by Sadashivrao Bhau to
meet Abdali in a pitched battle. The waiting-time factor had gone against
the Maratha anticipations. Shuja-ud-daulab’s pusillanimous efforis to be on
good terms with both the parties had at last resulted in his completely falling
under the influence of the wily Najib. Even after going over to the side of
Abdali, Shuja still continued his efforts for peace during the rainy season, but
to no purpose, Nana Phadnis accuses him of chicanery, though the historian
of Oudh vouchsafes his good i ions.5 All the same, Bhau would not rely
on such a broken reed and decided to open the campaign against Abdali by
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Shahdaula and cleared the regions upto Attock 1In the Jalandar Doab, the
Sikhs firmly established themselves, driving out the Afghan posts  Alaungh,
the founder of the Patiala State, promsed to jomx Bhau with his troops  Thus,
at the begmning of October 1760, Abdal’s hold over the Panjab had been
completely lost, but for a post here and there  Abdus Samad Khan found his
posttion i Sarhund untenable and was reported to be coming down to Kunj-
pura on the Jamuna on his way to jomn Abdai m the Doab  (Persian
Alhbar MS )

From the news avatlable in the Persian Akhbar dated 15-10 1760, 1t
seems as 1f Abdal also had become weary of waiting and was ready to solve
‘the pohtical tangle by negotiations Up til then, Shah Abdullah Darvesh
Pirzada had come as the envoy of Abdali But now 1t was thought necessary
that these roundabout ways should cease and the plempotentiaries of the two
sides, 1f not the chuefs themsalves, should meet face to face to have a personal
talk before taking the final plunge It was suggested that the rendezvous
should be near the Buradi Ghat, strongly guarded by Damap Gaikawad, the
chuefs should meet m midstream, cach m his own boat, standing 1 juxtapost-
tion  But this meeting never tock place, however; as Bhau had to hurry up to
Kunjpura so as to cut off Abdus Samad Khan

The plan of marching to Kunjpura was maturing n the mind of Bhau
for more than a month,? but the ramy season had delayed the project The
Deccan bullacks, connected with the arullery deparfment, had suffered most
from the rmns  Many of them died, probably on account of the northern
Indian chimate being unsmtable to them  Bhau had sent an express letter to
Govind Ballal for sending 500 bullocks, as early as 17th August, and had also
called for 400 Pathans or northern Indian men capable of enrolment in the
artillery on 27th August? He took over all the ghats on the Jamuna and
made arrangements for guarding the same This had made Abdah power-
less to do anything in the matter Nothing remamned for him but to wait tll
the subsidence of the nver

.
‘When Bhau started for Kunjpura n the first weeh of October, he had
caleulated that the water of the Jamuna would not subside for at least one
month " But lis calculation seems to have been based on mcorrect mforma-
»tion Two important persons of Bhaw’s office, wniting three wecks before he
wrote, calculate one month or even a fortmight as the period necessary for the
niver level to go down '?  According to them, the water should have subsided
by the muddle of Octoker, almost the ime when Bhau wrote and started for
Kunjpura  If we take the calculation of the two officers to be mere guess
worh and very rough, we cannot say the same thing of the wntten opmion
of Balvantrao Mehendale, supposed to be the most mtimate friend and ad-
viser of Bhau during the Pamipat campaign  Wnting on 14th Octobur he
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first taking the offensive humself His difficulties at Delln obliged hum to take
thus decision which was urged on hum by all and sundry i the Maratha camp

Before he could contmue huis march, Bhau thought 1t wise to make a
political move to counteract the anti Maratha propaganda of Napb and men
of us 11k He had already estranged Wazir Ghaz ud din and his supporter
Surajmal Jat by hus non commuttal atttude towards their aspirations and de
signs Al his approaches to Shuja had proved funle It became necessary for
him now to give a demonstrable proof of his ultimate intentions  So, setting
aside the boy Cmperor, Shah Jahan III (elevated to that digmity by Ghazt ud
din after the murder of Alamgir II 1n the previous year), Bhau proclaimed the
wandenng Prince Ali Gauhar as Emperor with the utle of Shah Alam II i
his unavoidable absence his son Prince Javan Bakht, residing at Dells, was
mnstalled as Vali Ahad or Crown Prince and Vicar of the absentee Emperor on
10th October 17607 Mints struck new coms 1n ¢he new Emperor’s name, and
hus seals were also prepared and brought into use The ceremonies and proces-
sions connected with these acts were seen through by Nana Purandare and
Satvojt Jadhavrao, who had been specially deputed by Bhau for the purpose
while encamped at Lalera, three mules to the south of Gannaur® while on his
way to Kunjpura The office of the Wazir 1s said to have been conferred on
Shuja tn absent a, but there 15 no mention of this fact w Marathy corre-
spondence and hence scems improbable

The details of thus occurrence m Delln throw a flood of light on Maratha
manners 1 polities  The puppet Emperor, Shah Jahan, was politely asked
to vacate hus seat as his days were over This was perhaps the first tune
Mughal history when an emperor had been set aside without violence to his
person  The Prince Javan Balht was escorted to the Juma Maspd by Bapup
Hingne, the Maratha envoy, who sat with the prince on the elephant, whie
Satvop stood behind with peacock feathers, a sign of royal msignia, 1 his
hand  The ex Empress Zinat Mnhal, the grand mother of the prince, was
avilly ashed to pay 25 lakhs from her privy purse for the expenses, but she
pad only 5 lakhs The Marathas never set their hands on the persons of the
royal houschold to get money, hhe the Afghans of Abdali or the Persians of
Nadir Shah  The grateful ex Empress took 1t upon herself to form Abdah
of these proceedings ard tred her best to bring about a settlement between him
and the Marathns, by forwarding the Maratha draft treaty to hum with her
recommendations and consent  The good result of ths action was seen m the
satisfiction of Suraymal who was now convinced of the Maratha mtentions and
hencefornard helped the Marathas, though he could not jomn them with his
army  The Afghan rule in the Panjab was challenged by the rebellous Sikhs
who wholeheartedly came over 10 the \faratha side They proclamed Bhau
Sahib as the coming ruler w th a beat of drums, and devoutly prayed for his
tctory mn Lahore They besceched therr Guru Satub to pumish Abdalr for s
msdeeds  Rhwajph Mirza Khan, the son in law of Adina Beg, with the
Maratha troops under hasshnap Pawar statoned at Jammu, mm:icd Gujrat
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Shahdaula and cleared the regions upto Attock In the Jalandar Doab, the
Sikhs firmly established themselves, driving out the Afghan posts  Alasingh,
the founder of the Patala State, promused to jom Bhau with hus troops  Thus,
at the begmmng of October 1760, Abdalt’s hold over the Panjab had been
completely lost, but for a post here and there Abdus Samad Khan found his
position n Sarhnd untenable and was reported to be coming down to Kunj-
pura on the Jamuna on his way to jon Abdali m the Doab  (Persan
Akhbar MS )

From the news available n the Persian Akhbar dated 1510 1760 1t
seems as 1f Abdah also had become weary of waiting and was ready to solve
the pohtical tangle by negotations Up tll then, Shah Abdullah Darvesh
Pirzada had come as the envoy of Abdal  But now 1t was thought necessary
that these roundabout ways should cease and the plempotentianes of the two
sides, 1f not the chuefs themsalves, should mect face to face to have a personal
talk before taking the final plunge It was suggested that the rendezvous
should be near the Burad:t Ghat, strongly guarded by Damap Gaikawad, the
chuefs should meet in mudstream, each m his own boat, standing 1n juxtapost
tion  But this meeting never took place, however, as Bhau had to hurry up to
Kunypura so as to cut off Abdus Samad Khan

The plan of marching to Kunjpura was matunng in the mind of Bhau
for more than a month,? but the ramny season had delayed the project The
Deccan bullacks, connected with the artillery department, had suffered most
from the rams Many of them died, probably on account of the northern
Indian chmate being unsmitable to them Bhau had sent an express letter to
Govind Ballal for sending 500 bullochs, as early as 17th August, and had also
called for 400 Pathans or northern Indian men capable of enrolment mn the
artillery on 27th August® He took over all the ghats on the Jamuna and
made arrangements for guarding the same  This had made Abdah power
less to do anything 1n the matter Nothung remauned for him but to wait till
the shadence of Wt Tver

'
When Bhau started for Kunjpura mn the first weeh of October, he had
calculated that the water of the Jamuna would not subsde for at lewst one
month "' But his calculation scems to have been based on ncorrect informa
vtion  Two umportant persons of Bhau’s office, wnting three wechs before he
wrote, caleulate one month or even a fortmght as the penod necessary for the
mer level to go down ! According to them, the water should have subsided
by the middle of October, almost the time when Bhau wrote and started for
Kunjpura  If we take the calculation of the two officers to be mere guess
worh and very rough, we cannot say the same thing of the wntten opinion
of Balvantrao Mchendale, supposed to be the most mumate friend and ad-
viser of Bhau dunng the Pampat campaign  Wnuing on 14th October he
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says, “Four to cight' days are necessary for the river water to go down."!
And Abdali actually crossed the siver at Gauripur on 24th October.* It is
impossible to account for this wide discrepancy in the infornation and calcula-
tion of the two most important personages in the Peshwa’s army, the com-
mander-in-chief and his first general. It is difficult to imagine that these two
persons, living in the same camp or even as neighbours, should not have ex-
changed ideas and discussed the probabilities amongst themselves. But un-
fortunately for the Marathas, some such untoward thing seems to have hap-
pened. Bhau, basing his calculation on the idea that the river water would
not go down before the second week of November, planned his campaign ac-
cordingly. His plan was to take Kunjpura, then procced to Kurukshetra tos
perform the pilgrimage, seek allies amongst the Sikhs and the Jats of those
regions'® and then return in time to meet Abdali after refreshing his starved
troops, horses, and other animals with the ample grain and fodder supplies
of those fertile regions. This plan succeeded as faF as the capture of Kunjpura
was concerned, but failed in its second part: to obstruct Abdali while crossing
the Jamuna. .

The immediate cause which made Bhau hurry up to Kunjpura within
a week was the news received from the Panjab as mentioned already. Abdus
Samad Khan whom Abdali had kept back in the Panjab as the Faujdar of
Sarhind, had come to Kunjpura with an army of ten thousand and more for
carrying supplies to Abdali in the Doab. He was waiting there for the river
to subside. It was necessary to defeat him before he could cross the Jamuna
and strengthen Abdali’s forces, Starting from his camp at Shalimar Bag, seven
miles to the nor}H of Delhi on 7th October, Bhau reached Lalera, three miles
south of Gannaur on 8th October in the evening. He was at Panipat on the
14th and reached his destination on the evening of the 16th. Abdali who
had full information of Bhau’s movements, sent an army to aid his men at
Kunjpura along the eastern bank of the Jamuna. But it had to stop opposite
Kunjpura for want of transport. Viewing this additional peril, the Maratha
army decided to stor the fort forthwith. Rban seat for Thrabim, Khan Gardi-
who was lagging behind by one march. He came hurrying up on the night of
the 16th and d the bombard of the fort soon after his arrival,
on the morning of the é7th

The fort of Kunjpura lies seventy-eight miles to the north of Delhi, ,
and is situated some two miles distant from the west bank of the Jamuna, It
guarded one of the most frequented roads through the Doab to the Panjab.
The river Jamuna to the south-east of Kunjpura, being divided into several
channcls, was casily fordable by men and animals. The important town of
Kamal on the main imperial road lay only six miles to the west of it. The
riverside of the fort was marshy and hence easily defensible. Nejabat Khan
Ruhela was in possession of the fort and he had a few thousand footmen of
his tribe with him to defend the fort. Abdus Samad Khan, Mian Qutb Shah
and Momin Khan, the Ghilzai Sardar who had come from Sarhind, had with

13 A, Tap, L4
1443, 1.260,
BSPD 21197



KUNJPURA . 57

them some seven thousand horse.' They were encamped outside the fort and
tried to defend it to the utmost. But the musketry fire of the Gardis soon
broke their resistance by fast withering away their ranks, and they tried to

~save themselves by entering the fort. Nejabat Khdn was at first apprehensive
of opening the fort gates to get them in, but had to'yield to their entreaties and
open the same. Taking advantage of this opportunity, the Marathas also fol-
lowed behind them and forced themselves into the fort along with the Durranis
The Durrani horse and Ruhela footmen fought for some time but were ulti-
mately overpowered by the Maratha arms and defeated with heavy slaughter.
Four thousand Ghilzais were put to the sword? and the rest, taking grass in
stheir mouths and uttering the words, “We are your cows,”’® were allowed to
go, after laying down their arms. The majority of the Ruhela footmen had
been wounded together with Nejabat Khan, who died soon afterwards of his
wounds. Momin Khan died in the battle from a bullet-shot. Abdus Samad
Khan and Mian Qutb Shah were captured alive, beheaded after heaping in-
sults on them and their heads paraded through the Maratha camp. Mian
Qutb Shah was derided, cursed and insulted most, especially by Shinde’s men,
as he was responsible for the decapitation of Dattaji Shinde on the battlefield
of Buradi, the previous year. Their bodies were exposed to be eaten up by
vultures and jackals, no funeral rites being allowed them. The conversa-
tion between Qutb Shah and Bhau given in the Bhau Bakhar seems imaginary,
" as contemporary letters from Shinde’s camp do not say a word hinting at such
a thing, It has been fabricated to suit the dramatic tone of the whole of the
Bhau Bakhar.

Bhau got some seven lakhs of rupees in cash, five thousand horses,
camels and elephants, arms and the rest, as spoils. But the most opportune
gain was of 10,000 khandis of wheat collected at this depot for the Abdali
troops. Starvation in the Maratha army ended for the time being, as the
troops were paid in hind instead of cash.® Horses and other animals also got
fodder and grain. More important than this material gain was the revival
of optimism in the Maratha army after a four months’ peried of doldrums,
leading to a deterioration of morale. The prowess of the Gardi fire had been put
to the test and proved up to the hilt.

Bhau spent a week at Kunjpura destroying tht fortifications and ar-
*ranging matters in the new light. He seems to have felt no apprehension of
any impending dangér as he ordered a march to Kurukshetra of at least a
part of the army. While on his way to Kunjpura, Bhau’s idea was to finish the
work there in four days and then to cross the Jamuna by some upper ghat
hke that at Budhia, into Saharanpur. He had already seized practically all
the boats on the Jamuna on which he could lay hands, and kept them to-
gether near the Selimgad fort on the bank of the Jamuna at Delhi with a
view to making use of them in case of necessity. He had also Lept pickets
with small parties of soldiers to guard the main ghats over the Jamuna from
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Agra to Kunjpura, a distance of nearly two hundred nules Thus he had
unwittingly lengthened his lne of commumication and taken a certan risk
1n proceeding to Kunjpura Had he, after quickly finshing the job, crossed
over the Jamuma nto Saharanpur as intended, or, faihng that, at once re

wurned to Delhy, he would have been saved  But here his muscaleulation about
the fall in the level of the Jamuna waters proved wrong as we have already

noted  The second factor which delayed the Maratha army wis that after
a long penod of comparative starvation they had found themselves n a land
of plenty, which the army was naturally reluctant to leave and return to bar

ren Dellt  The tiurd and the human factor which made Bhau delay hus march
wis the encumbrance of a horde of women folk family members and priestse
who had accompanied the army for performing distant and dangerous pi

gnmages under its protection Kurukshetra 1s less than thirty mules from
Kunjpura and 1t was but natural that afl the devout people 1n the army should
wish 1o visit that holy place of the Mahabharata War where Lord Shn Knshna
preached lus philosophy of life to the hero Arjuna  But this natural desire re

«ulted 1 an unforescen calumity and thus proved a ventable Kuruhshetra to
the Marathas

The Maratha army, after spending or rather wasting a week at kunj
pura, moved toward the holy place for one day, but before they could reach
ther destination at the first hait for the mght Bhau recaved the disquieting
news of Abdals beginming to cross the niver, on 25th October? He 1t once
made up his mind and turned back toward Delln with a view to mtercepting
Abdaly before he crossed the river  But such a fully equipped army made up of
three lakhs of people can move butslowly All became disappointed and sullen as
they mussed by a hawbreadth the pilgnmage to Kurukshetra They were still
more scared by the news of Abdahs crossing the river and blocking thar re
turn  On the fist day of thar return march they halted pear the ancient
brndge at kamal™ for the might, the bridge over the famous canal of I'ruz
Shah Tughalhq and Ah Mardan khan which flowed from the eastern to uts
western side  Because the editor of Bhaw's Kaifiyal was unaware of the
geography of these regions, he could not with confidence read the description
n Modt scrpt and the place of halt on the bndge  Tlough Bhau made a
long march of filteen gules for the day, the camp could not move as fast, <@
on the nest day he could cover only eight miles and on the third day cime
near Pampat  Here he hewd the news that Abdahs army had complﬂtl)’.
crossed the mver, bag and baggage, and was halung at Soncpat

Bha cautiously sent a party aof five thousand men under Bap Han
Deshpande of Supa to weet and chech the advance guard of Abdal and tike
a view of hs camp and movement there They were n the vicimty of Soncpat,
resting unguardedly after 1 long march  Half of the party was compo ed of
S'undes men who had already hnown and expenenced the scourge of 1he
Durram army  Thar leader asked Bagt Han to Le on has guard lest he should
find lumself surprsed  But Bap Han's mexperienced and unbeaten troops

R 1260
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took the warning lightly and slept soundly on the plains, allowing their horses
to roam in the green fields for grazing, and the unexpected attack came as
forewarned.  Shah Pasand Khan, one of Abdali’s best captains of cavalry,
suddenly pounced upon the slecping party. Shinde’s men had hept a picket
on a tall tree watching for the danger.  As soon” as clouds of dust were scen at
a distance the pichet came down and cried aloud of the danger.  Shinde’s men
who were on guard at once took to their horses and ran away.®* Baji Hari’s
party found it impassible to get hold of their horws in the grazing field and it
was some time before they could get them. In the meanwhile, men of Shah
Pasand Khan came, scized as many horses of the Marathas as they could and

o cut down the horsemen.  Very few were fortunate enough to escape and carrry
back the news to Bhau. This event cheched the further march southwards,
and Bhau had to fall back on Panipat and begin encampment there,

We shall now turn 0 study Abdali’s movements  He and his [ndian

+ allies were encamping on the oppositc bank of the Jamuna near Delhi.  Shuja-
ud-daulah was the first to move to that place in the beginning of August and
encamp to the south of the arca near the grain mart of Patpatganj. The
Ruhelas and Abdalis followcd sometime later, probably at the end of the month.
They encamped to Shuja’s north, near Shahdhada. When Bhau came to
Delhi at the beginning of August, he had encamped to the south of Delhi necar
the Kalkadevi Temple, just oppesite to Shuja on the other bank. In Septem-
ber, Bhau moved his camp to the Shalimar gardens, seven miles to the north-
west of Delhi amidst pleasant surroundings, and his army encamped to his
south, to the west and north of the city. From these encampments the rval
armics were cying cach other inquisitively. They occasionally discharged their
heavy long-range guns and threw some heavy cannon-balls inté each other’s
camps just to create confusion and fear. But the river flowed roaringly be-
tween. None dare cross the river in the face of the other, though diplomats
were individually going and coming and carrying on peace-talhs. s Abdah
had the fertile Doab at his back, and as the home lands of the Ruhelas were
on the other side of the Ganges, his anny was comparatively well supplied with
the necessaries of life. To lighten the burden, he had allowed many of the
Ruhela soldiers to return to their homes, asking them to heep themselves ready
to return at the first call. The Maratha ammy, on thg other hand, was living
, from hand to mouth. The wholc of the surrounding arca had been eaten up
by the constant movements of the rival armies in the ficlds during the last
seven years. The districts to the west of Delhi had been assigned as jagirs to
the Baluch sardars of the Emperor. They were recalcitrant generally, and just
then at loggerheads with the Marathas. Tukoji Holkar and Khandoji Kadam?®
had been sent against them at the beginning of October. For getting the food
stuffs from a distance the Marathas had to pay fancy prices to the Banjaras.
Nana Phadnis, Bapuji Ballal Phadhe,”” Balvantrao Mehendale and others,
writing from Delhi during September and October, describe the woeful state
of the Maratha army: “The horses have forgotten to chew the grain; the

22 Bhau Rakhar 0.126.
22 Porsian MS
25 5PD 2130-1.
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gram 13 seling at seven or eight seers a rupee High class people like us had
to sell our gold and silver trinkets and lve from the proceeds The climate of
Dellu has been found unswitable to the Deccan: oxen of the artillery depart
ment, and they are dymg n hundreds” To escape from this dilemma, the
Maratha army had moved to Kunjpura to feed themselves and their horses, with
the consequence noted above

When Bhau moved toward the north, Abdah also sent a party to ac
cost lum from the other side of the nver, that party could not do anything
to save therr brethren on the other side and had to see with open eyes the fall
of Kunjpura They retuned to Abdali who was chafing at the result  He
at once wsued orders to us army and s allies to be ready for the march  From
Shahdhada he moved to Lum, thence he came to Baghpat, twenty mules north
of Delhy, 1 search of a ford for crosung  But he searched i van He cluded
tus Indian allies for not hnowng the fords, but they pleaded their mabihity to
find any  After two days’ vamn search, Ahmad Shah who was a devout Mus
lim fasted 1 hus agony and besceched God to pomnt out a ford and tried all
the superstitious and religious methods of search  After geting an mnspiration
from that source he made his horsemen plunge mto an unusual and less fre
quented part of the nver and tried to cross  He succeeded 1 the trial, though
a number of horsemen were carried away by the current before the exact
line of crossing could be fixed by dnving wooden stakes i the niver on the
two sides of the shallow passage and thus clearly mng the way The place
where he actually crossed 1s not given m histories, though all say that 1t was
near Baghpat A pontoon bndge used to be constructed at Baghpat in the
fair season m those days as at present, but 1n the ramny scason the place was
not sustable for crogsing as the river has a somewhat sharp fall here and con-
sequently the stream turns mto a torrent Where the nver diades atself into
several streams and spreads over a wider area, it becomes easily fordable Such
a place Ahmad Shah seems to have found five miles to the noith of old Bagh-
pat near the village of Gauripur  This place 1s mentioned n the Bhau's ballad
we hare copved dovir frawe the bavd of Sive B Bacsase Almad Sk arossad
at this place, he could come straight to Sonepat through Kheora and could
elude the Maratha pickets placed at well known crossings such as Baghpat

Ahmad Shah colld dare attempt this because he was expenenced n
crossing the nivers and knew all the mtncacies d with such
The Marathas seem to have never taken to such danng Big nvers seem to
have blocked their way throughout their military career They could never cross
the Ganges without the help of local albes A Napb ud daulah could always
laugh at Dattay and keep hun waiting at the ford = Ahmad Shah, because he
could take such a nsk with confidence, was able to entrap t};e Maratha
army under Sadashivrao Bhau Bhau, on the other hand, could never perform
such a feat, and hence had perforce to entrench humself at Panipat

Ahmad Shah must have begun Iis crosing on the 24th October, as
Bhau had recewved the news the next day at Iis first halt on the way to Kuru

BBDCRI 43 stanza 33
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kshetra.  Abdali took three days to eross the river with all his army, cannon,
elephants and other camp equipage. The place where he crossed was a litde
out of the way where there was no proper ghat for landing. The army had
to cross the various streams and shallows aver a distance of half a mile.  Some-
times the horses would swim, at others they would wade through sands in knee-
decp water.  On the other side was the silt deposited by monoon floods.
Horses and men found themsehves bogged in the soft mud. It was difficult, al-
mast impossible, to take a step without sinking sull deeper. This difficulty they
overcame by cutting down the various water plants and rushes growing on the
river-bank, and spreading them decp over the passage all along the route

+ When these had sunk into the mud, a thatchy road was naturally built over
it by the trampling of thousands of horses and men. Had there been a daring and
resourceful guard of a few thousand troops with a few guns of precision, a
crassing would never have been possible.  After safely reaching the other
bank, Ahmad Shah at once sent a small party to drive away all the Maratha
pickets on the western bank, and scize any boats they could find bound fast
at the ghats. They scem to have succeeded in collecting some, which were
used in ferrying the baggage on the second day. Ahmad Shah himself crossed
after hall the army was on the other side. There were a few casualtics, no
doubt, in the tumult and hurry of crossing. But at last the whole army was
safe on the other bank and began their march to Sonepat, which they reached
oa the 27th October.

Next day they moved to Gannaur where Ahmad Shah halted for three?!
days. Baji Han’s attempt to scout must have happened during this interval.
The number of casualtics in this attempt is not correctly reported anywhere,
though Kashiraj gives the figure at two thousand, and the place where they
crossed swords as near the serai of Samalkha. Bhau fell back as a result of it
and encamped at Panipat. Ahmad Shah advanced to Samalkha on gist
Qctober, and to Pasina the next day. A distance of some three miles was left
between the advanced posts of the two armies. The two armies came face to
face at last after four months of eying cach other an the opposite banks of the
swollen Jamuna. It was seven months since Bhau had started to meet Abdali,
and’fiere he was at [ast.

But for a final degision by arms, two and a half months had still ta

. pas. From the first of November 1760 to 14th January, 1761 the two sides
in the struggle for power put their faith in strategy and manccuvring, lving in
entrenched camps.

R4z, 1261
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grain 15 selling at seven or eight scers a rupee High class people hke us had
10 sell our gold and silver tnnkets and live from the proceeds The chmate of
Delhn has been found unsuitable to the Deccans oxen of the arullery depart
ment, and they are dymng m hundreds” To escape from this dilemma, the
Maratha army had moved to Kunjpura to feed themselves and their horses, with
the consequence noted above

When Bhau moved toward the north, Abdali also sent a party to ac
cost lum from the other side of the nver, that party could not do anything
to save thewr brethren on the other side and had to see with open eyes the fall
of Rumpura They returned to Abdali who was chafing at the result He
at once wssued orders to his army and his athies to be ready for the march  From
Shahdhada he moved to Luni, thence he came to Baghpat, twenty mules north
of Delly 1 search of a ford for crossing  But he scarched 1 van He cluded
hus Indian allies for not knowing the fords, but they pleaded their inability to
find any After two days’ vain search, Ahmad Shah who was a devout Mus
bm fasted n his agony and beseeched God to pomnt out a ford and tned all
the superstitious and rehgious methods of search  After getting an inspiration
from that source he made Ius horsemen plunge wnto an unusual and less fre
quented part of the nver and tried to cross  He succeeded n the tral, though
a number of horsemen were carned away by the current before the exact
line of crossing could be fised by dnving wooden stakes m the nver on the
two sides of the shallow passage and thus clearly hmng the way The place
where he actually crossed 15 not mven in Iustonies, though all say that it was
near Baghpat A pontoon bndge used to be constructed at Baghpat m the
fawr season 1 those days as at present, but in the ramy season the place was
not suttable for crossing as the nver has a somewhat sharp fall here and con
sequently the stream turns nto a torrent  Where the niver divides itself into
several streams and spreads over a wider area, 1t becomes easily fordable  Such
a place Ahmad Shah seems to have found five mules to the notth of old Bagh
pat near the village of Gauripur This place 15 mentioned 1n the Bhau’s ballad
we have copied down from the bard of Siwa® Because Ahmad Shah crossed
at this place, he could come straight to Sonepat through Kheora and could
clude the Maratha pickets placed at well known crosungs such as Baghpat

Ahmad Shah colld dare attempt this because he was expenenced m
crossmg the nvers and knew all the mtnicacies connected with such crossings
The Marathas scem to have never taken to such danng  Big nvers seem to
have blocked their way throughout their military career They could never cross
the Ganges without the help of local alles A Najb ud daulah could always
faugh at Dattajt and keep him waiting at the ford = Ahmad Shah, because he
could take such a msk with confidence, was able to entrap t}’m Maratha
army under Sadashivrao Bhau Bhau, on the other hand, could never perform
such a feat, and hence had perforce to entrench himself ;’n Panipat

Ahmad Shah must have begun his crossin,
on the h Octs
Bhau had recewved the news the next day at his ﬁrsgt halt D:l 12114: wgctgbl?l,":s' &
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CHAPTCR V
PANIPAT

To jupce from the letters which were sent out m the first fortmght!
from the Maratha camp at Pampat and even for a month after, the Maratha
army and 1ts commander® seem to be quite confident of victory This scems
strange when we remember the hardships which the Maratha army had to
bear smee it started for the north, seven months earher Not that they had no
proper understanding of the strength of Abdali's army, but the spectacular vie
tory at Kunjpura and freedom from want of gran and fodder which followed
seem to have worked out a change m the despondent mood on the Maratha
side  They had seen with thar cyes the strength and use of Ibralim khan’s
splendid corps wiich, as Kashira says, *mn the twinkle of an eye smashed the
defences of Kunjpura fort and entered 1t 1n no yime” Intimate fnends of
Bhau like Nana Purandare and Knshna Joshi Sangmeshvarkar, are not only
confident but over jubilant with expectancy of (what they judged as) Abdal’s
sure defeat It 15 true that full stomachs are prone to create enthusiasm and
confidence, still 1t 1s strange to think that these intimates of Bhau who should
have hnown better, were writing i the vemn they have done  Even Bhau 1
found writing in the same tone for a month more Only duning the last fort-
mght the cnisis seems to have developed though even then Janakop Shunde®
—writing no doubt to the revenue collectar—does not betray any sign of hope
lessness when gving out the news at Pampat  This 15 1 sharp contrast with
the wntng of Kashira) and the whole tone of 1t The Marathi chromicles,
though they do not enumerate the events i a similar tone, are found cntiazing
Bhau for lus attttude duning the entire struggle It 15 difficult to beheve that
all the writers on the Maratha side werc 1gnorant, not to understand the real
situation and the strategy of such a consumate general as Abdali, and sull that
15 the impression created while reading Kashiryy and even hustorians hike Sir
Jadunath  Now we hnow by complete analysis of the whole materal that,
because the chromclers wrote after the event, and because they wanted to shift
and fix the responsibility of the disaster on those who had not survived 1t they
have assumed a shdng atutude so as dramatically to break on the rock of
final disaster  But we Yunh this methodology wrong n lustory, and for that
reason have not accepted chronicles as history where psychology plays a part

In the first fortmight, before Abdal could build up s hne of com
mumcation to bnng 1 the supphes from the Doab and beyond, s army was
defimtely 1 a weak position, and comparatncly the Maratha army was m a
better posiion Why Bhau did not try to decide the conflict by a bold attach
at that favourable juncture, we cannot say He seems to have put his fath
m quite a different strategy—that of uring out Abdalt and his allies and mak-
mg them fall on s well fortified, almost impregnable lnes  In thus strategy

1
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CHAPTER V
PANIPAT

To junck from the letters which were sent out m the first fortmght!
from the Maratha camp at Pampat and even for a month after, the Maratha
army and s commander? seem to be quite confident of victory  This seems
strange when we remember the hardships which the Maratha ammy had to
bear sice 1t started for the north, seven months earher  Not that they had no
proper understanding of the strength of Abdaly’s army, but the spectacular vic-
tory at Kunjpura and freedom from want of gram and fodder wich followed
scem to have worked out a change i the despondent mood on the Maratha
sde They had seen with their eyes the strength and use of Ibrahum Khan's
splendid corps which, as Kashira) says, ‘1n the twimhle of an eye smashed the
defences of Kunjpura fort and entered 1t in no tme” Intmate frends cf
Bhau, like Nana Purandare and Krshna Josht Sangmeshvarkar, are not only
confident but over-jubilant with expectancy of (what they judged as) Abdal’
sure defeat It 1s true that full stomachs are prone to create enthusiasm ang
confidence, still 1t 15 strange to think that these intimates of Bhau who should
have hnown better, were wnting tm the vemn they have done Even Bhau x
found writing n the same tone for a month more- Only during the last fort:
might the crsis seems to have developed though even then Janakop Shind¢
—~wnitmg no doubt to the revenue collector—does not betray any sign of hope:
lessness when gving out the news at Pamipat  Thus 15 1n sharp contrast with
the wnting of Kashira) and the whole tone of 1t The Marathi chromcles,
though they do not enumerate the events m a similar tone, are found cntictzing
Bhau for his attitude dunng the entire struggle It 15 difficult to believe tha!
all the wrters on the Maratha side were ignorant, not to understand the real
situation and the strategy of such a consumate general as Abdali, and sull that
13 the impression created while reading Kashura) and even lustorans hke Su
Jadunath  Now we know by complete analysis of the whole matenal that,
because the chromelers wrote after the event, and because they wanted to shuft
and fix the responsibility of the disaster on those who had not survived 1t, they
have assumed a shding attitude so as dramaucally to break on the rock of
final disaster  But we Wunk thus methodology wrong in lustory, and for that
reason have not accepted chromcles as history where psychology plays a part

In the first fortmght, before Abdah could buld up his hine of com-
munication to bring 1 the supphes from the Doab and beyond, hus army was
defimtely n a weak posiion, and comparatively the Maratha army was m a
better posinion  Why Bhau did not try to decide the confiict by a bold attack
at that favourable juncture, we cannot say He seems to have put hus faith
n quite a different strategy—that of tirng out Abdal and hus allies and mah-
mg them fall on s well-fortified, almost impregnable lines In thus strategy
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Bhau was depending upon the activities of Govindpant Bundele and Naro
Shanhar. Had they succeeded in cutting off Abdali’s supplies and making him
move from -his camp, Abdali would have had only two alternatives before him,
cither to run away to h’s home without offering a battle, or attacking the Mara-
thas in their strong positions, We do not think that it would have been dif-
ficalt for him and his allies to disperse to their homes, as suggested by Krishna
Joshi in his letter,® though ostensibly his road to Afghanistan was blocked by
the Maratha camp at the very onset. But Govindpant was scarcely a fit man
to carry out the orders of Bhau, because primanly he was not a soldier but a
cwvilian. The military circumstances in the regions surrounding his area have
also to be taken into account. Not only were the Rajput zamindars, with their
strong fortalices, disaffected towards the rule of the Marathas internally, but
externally also the Ruhela chiefs and Shuja’s nominee, Veni Bahadur, were
vigilant and bent on taking advantage of the difficulties of the Marathas
Shuja had taken only a smail part of his army to the battlefield, leaving the
main portion under Veni Bahadur® to defend his dominions w1 his absence.
Shuja himself had only willynilly gone to Abdali under strong pressure for
avoiding the invasion of his own territorics by Abdali and his Ruhela allies,
and never took any important part in the whole campaign or in the final bat-
tle. Dy his behaviour he was insuring his safety between two powerful rivals.
When Bhau blames Govindpant for not devastating Shuja’s dominions so as to
exert’a pressure on him to return to his dominions for defence, he seems to be
unaware of the fact that there was sufficient army on the spot to defend it
Govindpant’s leaving his dominions meant exposing them to an invasion by
Veni Bahadur, as was found to his cost by Gopalrao Govind Barvef in his
attempt.” But sometimes it is necessary to take the risk of completely exposing
one’s dominions in order to gain a necessary mulitary advantage. Only a man
Iike Frederick the Great of Prussa or a Madhavrao Peshwa could dare it and
reap the harvest. It was too much to expect such an action from Govindpant,
and when he tried to perform it for cscaping the charge of disobedience, he
had to pay for the attempt with his life and complete defeat.

This exposition shonld convinee the reader that Bhau’s strategy was
based on precarious means, and he was misguided in depending on a man of
Govindpant’s calibre. There were other means of gaining his end, but Bhau
never seems to have tried these. In the last resort, Why Bhau should have

*waited up to the breaking point of the 14th of January, completely passes our
understanding, Bhau knew of Govindpant’s death on 23rd December, and
we can find no excuse for Bhau to defer the attack for three weehs, thus weak-
ening still further the Maratha side during this long interval by starvation,
exposure and disease.  The only suggestion that might explain Bhau’s delay is
the idea of his waiting for the coming of Nanasaheb from the Deccan so as to
catch Abdali between two grind-stones. This suggestion finds no conclusive
evidence in documents. The Peshwa scems to have been informid by his som,
e
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“shwaruo, zud some orer tmen about the gravity of the Maratha situation
at Panipat, end I e Pekwa had correctly judged the situation, he should
czstaindy ke gone Immediatels to succour his cousin,, From the correspondence
it seems thet the Pehwa kad not recehved any communication from Bhau for
miore than a mozth, which means that Abdali was successfully intereepting all
cowics.  On the other hand, when the Peshwa'’s suspicions about the real
state of the amzy In the north had reached their climax and silent dread had
tzlen their place, he is found writing to Bhau in an almost repentent tone for
oot Eaving done his duty, or, as previowsly promised, succoured Bhau.  From
this Jexter, the Peshwa scems to have promised to send a contingent from the
Deecen 52 s to reach Panipat in February 17618 If Bhau was hoping ta
2oy on dll this promied contingent reached its destination, by bang ablé
samehow to get sapplics, then a different tumn would have been given to lb'c
whals pomarion of the campaign.  Apart from the truth of such a promise, it
ks fmpessible from the military point of viewdthat the promised help c_ould
Eave reacked Bhau in time. If Bhau had been able to get supplies ad infinitum,
there was mo particelar point why he should be wanting support from the
south. If supplies were not forthcoming, the comin.g ol: the support would n'ot
hase helped the matters in any way, at least not in time. Only such an il
lustrious captain of cavalry as Bajimo could possibly have reached Panipat in
time 1o be of any hdp. But there was no such man :Af:fxlnb!c at Poor}:, at
least not of such great calibre, to lead this express expedition.  All these cone
iderations, which historians can discuss at leisure now, ‘shou'ld have been bet
o cr.xd tood by Bhau. He should have made up his mind, at least after
ter un crsl, death, to offer batle—whatover the ruull-—lhcn‘ and there,
Sj}:‘jf ?ni:im: dll’ the Last day, as ke actually did. :!.'h'xs waiting seems 10
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Vishwasrao, and some other men about the gravity of the Maratha situation
at Pampat, and if the Peshwa had correctly judged the situation, he should
certanly have gone immeduately to succour his cousin,, From the correspondence
1t scems that the Peshwa had not recened any communication from Bhau for
more than a month, which means that Abdali was successfully 1ntercepting all
couners  On the other hand, when the Peshwa’s suspicions about the real
state of the army m the north had reached their cimax and stlent dread had
taken their place, he 1s found wnting to Bhau 1n an almost repentent tone for
not having done his duty, or, as previously promused, succoured Bhau  From
this letter, the Peshwa seems to have promused to send a contingent from the
Decean 5o as to reach Pampat m February 17618 If Bhau was hoping to
carry on tll this promused conungent reached its destination, by bemg ablé
somehow to get supplhics, then a different turn would have been grven to the
whole narration of the campaign  Apart from the truth of such a promuse, 1t
looks impossible from the military pomt of viewthat the promused help could
have reached Bhau in time  If Bhau had been able to get supplics ad wnfimtum,
there was no particular pomnt why he should be wanting support from the
south  If supplies were not forthcomng, the coming of the support would not
have helped the matters in any way, at least not m tme Only such an 1!
lustrious captain of cavalry as Bajirao could possibly have reached Pampat m
time to be of any help But there was no such man available at Poona, at
least not of such great calibre, to lead this express expedition  All these con
siderations, which historans can discuss at leisure now, should have been bet-
ter understood by Bhau He Should have made up his mind, at least after
Govindpant s death, to offer battle—whatever the result—then and there,
without waiting tdl the Jast day, as he actually did This waiting seems to
have considerably changed the prospect of gving the shp to the enemy, for-
tunc favounng, and marching past Abdali to Delly, after loung only a part
of the army instead of the whole  For, on the 30th of December, 1760, Abdalt
changed tus camp for the last ume, and leaving hus niver side position, took
post directly across the impenal road to Dellu so as completely to block the
Maratha movement to the south

We shall now proceed to descnibe the strategical positron m the area
surroundng Pampat  This city 1s situated on the slopes of a small hillock,
less than a hundred féet n height above the surrounding plam. In ancient
tines, the river Jamuna ss reputed to have passed along the eastern edge of the®
hull, but now 1t 1s some exght mules away tothe cast The nver changests course
now and then, and we cannot be very sure what 1ts actual course was m 1760
From our observations, 1t seems to have been a mile to the west of its present
course 1n some places  The rver does not flow in one stream always, but now
and then divides mto a number of channels when 1t comes mto a comparatvely
plamn country Nowhere 1s the edge along the bank more than thurty feet ugh
In most places 1t 1s less than twenty, and the average 15 somewhere near ten.
There are large arcas along the banks on both sides where there 18 scarcely any
edge visible, the flood-water spreading {ar and wide mto the mtenor where it

3 Purandare lJ?S.’Bfuim Kasfisaz p. 20.
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creates a2 marsh and a bog  To the south-east of Pampat such a condition
prevails near the village of Goyenla At such places, ferrying by boats 1s neither
passible nor necessary duning the fair season, and people ford the river through
hnce-deep to chest deep water  Where the edges are sharp and the mver basin
narrow—though nowhere would it te less than half a mule n breadth—the
waters generally collect 1 one deep stream wh ch has then to be crossed by
boat. This situation must ever be borne wmn nund when visualising Abdalt’s
movements and changing camps  ‘The Maratha army had chosen for its camp
the site to the north west and south west of Pampat The imperial road passed
directly through the town of Pampat, and the Maratha army had completely
tahen possestion of 1t on the northern ssde Though there 1s no mention of the
canal in any ongmal letter on Pampat, we beheve that the famous Al Mardan
Khan Canal was sull® flowmg along or at a short distance to the west of the
Maratha camp, thus at once supplyng a part of the camp with water, and
also acting as a fosse to the Maratha camp on that side  The Maratha camp
scems to have spread over a long distance to the north of Pampat, ff we are
to beheve in the traditional description supplied by the ballad singer o Siwa
It provides the wnformation that the 700 elephans of Bhau were hept at
Gharonda, which is ten mules to the north of Pampat, Incidentally, it means
that there was a sufficient water supply for these clephants m the vicimty, sug

gesting that the place must be along a tank or canal ® We have come to this
conclusion from the fact that there was no complant about the dearth of
water, though there was a dearth of everything else  Abdah first came di

rectly opposite to Pampat with a v ew to meeting the Marathas and deciding
the contest at one strohe  But the Marathas, entrenchung themsclves strongly

falled Abdahs plan of taking a quich deasion by direct attack  From their
sccure base they were able to defy him 1n his camp and cven to asumre an of

fensne  Bhau marched out of his moat 2 httle under the cover of his strongly
placed guns, built temporary stands for lus movable guns and from them
opencd fire on Abdalis camp ' The shots rcacluing Abdali s tents and hihng
his men and ammals, obliged hum to vacate it and pitch agan at a distance
of some five miles to the south cast along the river bank near the willages of
Behrampur, Bapaul, Mirzapur and Goyenfa?” In maling this retrograde
movement, Abdali scems to hasve cared for the supply of water which was per

haps completely stopped by the Marathas using up the canal water higher up
above Pamipat, as well as for the casy communication with the Dob by merely

fording the nver, so as to nced no boats to fetch hus supplics  The Marathay
had hit upon a well protected site, no doubt, with the canal marshes on the
west side, the Panspat hill on the cast side and a deep broad, dry moat on the
front and facing side  But once entrenched, they had no space to move one
way or the other, while Abdali remained free to change his camp 2., 1t stuted

Iim At first hus Line had spread a'ong the Dahad, Stwa, Rusalu vdlages, but

n a few days he receded and settled down along the Dimana village  Ths first
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camp he changed between the 2Gth and the soth of November as a result of
Bhau’s cannonading as stated above, when he retreated to the riverside, the
centre of the battlefield between the two armies lying along the village of
Chhajpur. The reputed wooden war-pillar’® erccted by the Marathas and
found described 1n the Bakhar was somewhere on the plain of Chhajpur, and
here the fight on the 7th of December took place, resulting in the death of
Balvantrao Mchendale. For a month Abdali rcmained in the second camp
till he moved to Pasina on goth December, and his line spread acress the im-
penal road to Dimana. The main site of the final battle was between Risalu
and Numbdi  This last move on the part of Abdali obliged Bhau to change
lus final plan of battle to suit the new disposition by Abdali.

°

Dunng the first month, or almest for five weeks, the Maratha army was
on the aggressive.  Every day they came out with their ficld guns, supported by
some sardar’s contingent, to the front and tried 10 cut off anyone from the
Afghan side who had come out of his camp for skirmishing, or was loitering
on the plam. The Pendharis on the Maratha side wandered round Abdali’s
camp and carried away horses, camels and even elephants which had been Iet
loose for grazing outside. Still nobody from Abdali’s side would come out and
try to protect their animals and men  The discipline in Abdali’s camp was of
the strictest type and he had issucd orders to his army not to stir out of the
camp and offer battle themselves. This seems to be due to the superiority of
the long-range fire on the Maratha side. The big guns placed advantageously
on the mud ramparts surrounding the Maratha camp were able to mow down
anyone coming within their range for some two miles. The Marathas cap-
tured more than a thousand horses, four hundred camels and four clephants
during the first three weeks."* The guns on the Afghan side were also not less
effective though somewhat shorter in range, and their shots also could reach
and kill men in the Maratha trenches. Krishna Joshi met his death from one
such shot while he was sitting in his Litchen behind the trenches,’ But Abdali
had probably taken the decision of not attaching in order to cconomise his
powder and shot, which he thought could be used more effectively in an open
battle. On the 22nd November there was a lunar echpse and the Maratha
camp was rather inactive on account of this. No one had possibly come out
of the camp that day as usual. Abdali’s Wazir Shah Wali Khan had come
out to watch the Marhthas that day. Seeing no danger nearby, he ventured
to go very near the Maratha lines in the course of his patrol. As he was wait+
ing near a well, the Maratha troops on the opposite side saw him and came
out suddenly to take advantage of his unprotected state. A desperate battle
cnsued and the Wazir had great difficulty in holding his ground. But the
Afghans in the rear were also watchful and ran to his rescue. Shinde's men
drow.f: them all back to therr lines and inflicted considerable loss on them The
Wazir lost four hundred of his troops and double that number were wounded.!®
The loss on the Maratha side was forty dead and one hundred and fifty
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wounded.!” The Marathas were able to capture more than a hundred horses
and but for the nightfall the result would have been still more decisive, as men
from that part of the Abdali camp which was attacked by the Marathas had
begun to run away from their posts. There was again a similar skirmish after
a few days, with no decisive result.  The tone of the rank and file in the
Maratha army, as well as of the commander-in-chief himself, is found to be all
optimistic for cver a month, and there is no ground for taking Kashiraj as a
correct reporter for this period. Not only are Kashiraj's forebodings incor-
rect, but the tone also of his narrative is vitiated by his personal predilections.

As Abdali had to retreat from his first position to the riverside, it 1
ploved thereby that the Marathas were in the ascendant till then. Kashira)
describes with awe all the actions of Abdali. He praises his arrangement to
guard his camp and to watch the other side day and night. As no such vivid
description is forthcoming froq the Maratha side, a wrong impression is
created in the mind of the reader, and he thinks that there was no such system
followed by the Marathas. This is absolutely wrong.  Just as parties of thou-
sands were appointed to guard the camp on the Afghan side, smilarh  the
Marathas were also mounting guard and patrolling around thelr camp at
night. Kashiraj says that the Afghan monarch was in the habit of going
round not only his own camp and that of his allics, but he alsa took a round
about the entire Maratha camp from a distance, and every day returned by
noon after having ridden fifty Aos in pemon with a small escort.  This seems
a gross cvaggeration of Kashiraj, We do not think that the Maratha watch-
men and patrols were so s'ack as not to see even once the Afghan monarch go-
ing round their camp during a period of more than two months, and one can
guess that it was impossible for the daily rounds of Ahmad Shah to go un-
seen, at whatever distance he might be encircling the Maratha camp, We
also think that it was geographically not possible.  The canal on the west side
of the Maratha camp was a great impediment to such a movement, and on
the cast side also the land was not very favourable for such an excursion. The
river on the north-east side coming very near and the bogs and the zils, which
exist to this day, do not make such a supposition look feamble. Only during
the last fortnight, when the Maratha army had become quite despondent and
taken to heart the lesson of cold massacre, the Afghan monarch might have
indulged in h’s rounds, though at great rish even then to Himself. Kashiraj was
perhaps remembering this last period when he wrote nincteen years after, and
made it applicable to the whole period of two and a half months,

A fortnight after the Wazir's discomfiture, a major engagement took
place between the two armies. As we have noted above, Abdali had moved
to the riverside by then. As the Afghan camp had now gone far beyond
the range of Maratha fire and in a somewhat difficult terrain, and as the
Afghans would not come out of their own accord to offer a battle, it became
a teasing problem for the Marathas to pass the days in futile inactivity, Tte
Marathas, therefore, hit upon a plan to call them out. At some distance from
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the Maratha camp, and to the south et of ¢, they began to clear the jungle
s0 as to make casy approach possble!® They cut down the thick bushes of
short palasa (dhak) trees and prepared a somewhat level battle field and
planted a pillar there  The site of this new battle ficld seems to have been,
from the description 1n the ballad,'® at Chhajpur, beyond which a big nullah
separated 1t from the Afghan camp They began to drag out thewr movable
cannon to this place and, standing belind them, to challenge the other side
to come out and dare battle  Cut to the quick by these challenges, the Ruhelas
one day came out and began an engagement by finng from a distance The
Marathas advanced a httle but by this time 1t was about sunset ~ Seeng that the
Marathas would tahe some time to reach kack to ther camp, Napb's
brother came out to delver a flank attack as the Maratha army turned
1ts face 1 the direction of thewr camp At this unexpected attack the Marathas
had to leave thewr guns and run pell mell, which agamn drew the Ruhelas far-
ther on, close on their heels They almost reathed the edge of the Maratha
camp when soldiers from the camp came out, finding their comrades m danger
The Ruhela cavalry fled away, taking advantage of the pitch darhness of that
new moon might, but their infantry was closed 1 from all sides  They fought
with thewr usual bravery and created havoc in the Maratha camp by thewr
marksmanship  They were well migh defeated, with great slaughter of fifteen
hundred Ruhelas, and pursued upto a distance But 1n the mudst of this vic-
tory, Balvantrao Mehendale received a bullet shot and came down from hs
horse  Seeing that he was a sardar of some consequence, the Afghans tned to
cut off his head so as to carry 1t as a trophy bach to ther camp, but some
Maratha horsemen, noticing 1t, turned back to snatch it away just when 1t
was bemng cut  Khanderao Natk Nimbalkar was responsible for dragging back
the corpse of Balvantrao Mehendale by the feet in the thuck of that fight, though
humselil wounded Both parties then returned to thewr camps Though the
Marathas were victorious, the death of Balvantrao had taken away the zest out
of 1t from them There was a great wailing m the Maratha camp on that night
of the 7th December, 1760 Balvantrao’s wife, Lakshumibai, was one of the
few women who had accompanied their husbands to that famous battlefield
Her son, Krishnarao, alias Appa Balvant of later fame, a boy of fourtcen or
s0, was also with them i the camp, stll she at once took the decision of of-
fering herself as a Sau on her husband’s funeral pyre No dissuasion by Bhau
humself or by the mother of Nana Fadns, who was Balvantrao’s sister, was able
to change her decision  She courageously made over her son to Bhaw's care

and faced immolation, making that ncident the most dramatic 1 the whele
Panipat campaign

The seventh of December s taken as a turming pomt m the Pampat
campaign  No doubt 1t depnived Bhau of a most mtimate lieutenant. The
bassed Maratha Bakhars and, following them, some Persian chromcles, have
shown Balvantrao as the villun of the picce  The Kaifiyat merely depu’:ts the
diffierence of opimon between Bhau's advisers from the south, and the north
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over a month®® That most of the letters sent were ntercepted by Abdah 15
clear from Nana Fadms’ letter?® to Ramchandrapant Natu at Dell, which
shows that this work of stoppmg the Maratha correspondence had begun from
the third week of November, though occasionally a messenger was lucky enough
to elude Abdaly’s patrols This should also have something to do with the
Maratha distress, as the possibility of the outsiders knowing the real condition
of the Maratha camp was lessened  But there 1» no mention of any distress
mn the Maratha camp m the above mentioned letter of 12th December, from
which 1t would not be wrong to conclude that Abdak had not upto that pomt
succeeded 1n completely cutting off the Maratha supply from the north  On
that side the Stkhs and the Jats were quite well disposed towards the Marathas
Alasingh Jat, the founder of the Patiala State, kving at that tme at Manuk,
seems to have been actually helping?’ the Marathas as he was grateful for
being relieved from the exactions of the Afghan soldiers of fortune lLike the
chief of Kunjpura and the infamous Mian Qutb Shah The Sikhs were di
rectly mnterested m the result of the contest and even after the disaster were the
chief beneficianies of 1t Sir Jadunath’s harpmg on the disaffected Jat villagers
seems a figment of the bran  There 1s no ground for such a supposition, though
the Marathas suffered before, during and after the war by the vindictiveness
of the Mushm population, who were equally numerous mn those regions and
mcomparably more powerful than the submerged Jats and Gujars Bhau s
still 2 hero m ther ballad®® and fire side stortes, for whom they have the Liveli
est admuration

Withm a fortmght of Balvantrao’s death, Govindpant Bundele also met
the same fate  Throughout the Pampat campaign, nay, even before starting
for 1t, Bhau had demanded money of Govindpant™ The latter sent two lakhs
m the first instance and now at the begmning of December he came to Dellu
with four lakhs and twenty thousand This was all he could possibly bring,
though 1t was not even a fourth of what Bhau demanded from the begtnming.

Handing over the treasure to Naro Shankar, Govindpant sallied forth
with Ius contingent and crossed over mto the Doab He began to cut off
Abdali’s supplies coming from the trans Ganges distnicts and passing through
the Meerut distnct to Abdal Bhau had mumated to Govindpant that there
were none now to oppose hum i the Doab as the Ruhelas had been tied up
to the camp of Abdali  So, lessurely and unguardedly, he continued h.s marchy
chastising the refractory local zamindars on the way  He seemed to have been
collecting gramn akso for carrying 1t to Bhaw’s camp across an upper ghat on
the Jamuna, to Pamipat

But news of Gowvindpant’s depredations soon reached Abdalr’s camp
The Ruhelas became apprehensive of the safety of their homes The regu-
lanty of the food convoy reaching Abdalis camp through these regions had
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been taken away. Abdali, therefore, despatched a select force of some five
thousand horsemen under impetuous Atai Khan, the Durrani Wazir’s nephew,
who had recently come from Afghanistan. A few thousand Ruhelas also joined
him to show him the way and properly guide him in their home lands. Cross-
ing the Jamuna at Baghpat and covering some fifty miles in a day and night,
they suddenly alighted upon Govindpant as he was somewhere between Ghazi-
ud-din-nagar (now Ghaziabad) and Meerut. It scems that one Jeta Gujar,
a robber-chieftain in that area, had promised a ransom to Govindpant, and
Govindpant was stopping to recover it. Jeta communicated the news to Abdali
and he sent this force. It is also said that the Ruhelas had assumed different
colours, seeing which Govindpant thought the army from a distance was that of
Naro Shanhar®® While Govindpant was preparing to take a bath and to dine
in the afternoon after a day’s hard work, he was overtaken by Atai Khan's
cavalry. He suddenly snatched a horse and began to run with his army. In
the hurry of flight twice he chme down from his horse, as he was not properly
seated on a saddle, but reseated again by others. But when he fell for the third
time, none returned to save him, even his son who was accompanying the army
having fled away to a distance. Govindpant’s head was cut off and his whole
camp looted. The Maratha loss was some four hundred.! The rest of the
Maratha army with Govindpant’s son Balaji after first having fled to the south,
afterwards returned to Delhi. Atai Khan returned with the loot which con-
tained a good quantity of grain, and Najib presented Govindpant’s head to
Ahmad Shah., He sent it to Bhau, announcing his trumph in the undertaking.
The news had already reached Bhau by 23rd December,® though the head
reached Bhauw's hands two or three days later, from which it appears that the
attack on Govindpant must have tahen place on 20th December or so, and not
on the 17th as asumed by Sir Jadunath.® Govindpant had atoned for all his
past sins of commission and omission with his life, and, therefore, the gravamen
of accusations against him is taken away. He might be called slovenly and
not up to the mark in military matters; but none can say that he was disloyal.

After Govindpant’s death, when the plan of cutting off Abdali’s sup-
plies and directing these to the Maratha camp had failed, the real ditficulties
of the Maratha camp began. The Maratha camp was shost of not only food
and fodder, but also of coined money necessary to make cash payments for any

, supplies brought to the camp from the Panjab. Bhau found it difficult to fetch
money from Delhi where it had been deposited by Govindpant. The first batch
of soldiers from Payagude’s troops under the leadership of Krishnarao Ballal,
carrying with them one lakh, ten thousand, started on 22nd December and seems
to have reached the Maratha camp in safety.®* But the second batch under
Parashar Dadaji carrying one and a half lakhs with them, which started on
and January, 1761, was cut off by Abdah, as Abdali had shifted his camp
for the last time on 3oth December, and was now lying astride the imperial road
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from Delln to Pamipat® The news of this shiftmg had not reached Delby,
and so the Maratha troops were passing along the road 1n the dead of mght
as usual There were with him three hundred soldiers cach carrying five hun
dred rupecs In the severe cold of January, with their bodies benumbed by
mght exposure, they unsuspectingly entered the Afghan camp five mules to the
south of Pampat, thinking 1t to be the Maratha camp They alighted from
their horses and tried to warm themselves by the burning fire sides  Some took
out therr pipe> and began to smoke As they had entered from the back of the
Afghan camp without fear, none at first seems to have recognised or obstructed
them, the Afghans taking them prokably as a tatch of their allies  But when the
Marathas began to converse, the Afghans got the clue and rased a hue ard®
cry  Only one escaped from the tussle and returned back to Deltu®® The rest
were deprved of their cash and homses and put to the sword according to
Kashira),¥” whle the Bhau Bakhar and the Ka fijat say that they reached the
Maratha camp safely after the mushap 3

As more than five lakhs of people were living 1 that small area from
Panipat to Samalkha for more than two months (in the two camps together),
all the wood and fodder 1n the vicimty had disappeared and the whole area
had become one vast barren plan  Some ten villages had left their sites and
gone to live elsewhere  The catizens of Parupat had to remain confined n the
small walled area, with no space left for movement Thew farms and gar-
dens had disappeared from the scene Naturally they had become hostile to
the Marathas and bemg Mushms for the most part, seem to have acted
treacherously from behind in giving news to Abdah and carrying on nefanous
activitics 1n collusion with the Afghans of Kunjpura and the surrounding area
The cvil behaviour of the Marathas with such reople has cost the Marathas
very dearly mn hstory

In therr two and a half months’ beleaguerment at Pampat, the Mara-
thas must have spent practically every pre they posses ed for buying the vie-
tuals at ten fo'd prices  The system adopted for fetchmng gramn from a distance
was to send an cscort of some thousands to accompany the caravan from
Karnal to Pampat, and while returming to see them back with thewr pacl-
bullocks to Karnal again  But after a time this source also dried up, either
becwse there was no gfan to sell, or more prohably because the Afghans had
recovered therr posts hhe Kunjpura and Karnal in the north  Abdak was fur *
nished, some time i the second week of December, with fresh troops from
Afghamistan to the extent of cight thousand Ata Khan was ther leader
Before joimung Abdali, he scems to have followed not the direct route to Pam
pat, but the safer route across the Jamuna by the Budhia or the Andhera
Ghat north and south of Kunjpura  Before entering the Doab, he could not
but have driven out the small Magatha out posts at Karnal and Kunjpura with
the help of h.s splendid troops  Dilir Khan, the only son of Nejabat Khan, left
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free, now recoscred Kunjpura with Atar Khan’s help and made 1t impossible
for the caravans to move on that side Added to ths, fire started, either pur-
posely or by random cannon shot, and destroyed the big haystacks heaped 1n
the Maratha camp3® This musfortune turned the situation from bad to worse
and finally 1nto utter helplessness As a result of this mshap, twenty thousand
followers 1sued from the Maratha camp onc mght to gather firewood and
fodder 1n the neighbounng woods, but they were overtahen, surrounded and
massacred piece-meal by a body of five thousand horse under Shah Pasand
Khan who was patroling that area Alter ths slaughter, terror struck the
Maratha camp and nobody seems to have ventured out

In the ternble cold of December and January, the Marathas, with

therr scanty clothing meant only for the cold in the Deccan, suffered terribly
1n addition to the want of sufficient quantiues of good food and firewood  As
f this was not cnough, 1t ramed heavly that winter, generating biting winds
in therr wake ® Thousands of bullochs, horses, mules and even men died of
this calamaty The unburied animals and corpses on the ntervemng battle
fild putnfied the awr ¥ The crowded camp where within 2 small area men
had to perform all thewr physical duties made 1t ternbly dirty and full of
nostous aur  Nanma Fadms vividly describes these conditions wn hs auto-
biography \
Such was the condition of the Maratha camp and the state of the men
and amimals who were to offer battle to the strong, stalwart, cfficient and un-
perturbed Afghans who were well supplied with necessiues and fully wured
to these climes and circumstances

As we have sud above, we arc completely n the dark as to Bhau’s aum
m not salling out for battle three weeks earher when he recewved the news of
Govindpant’s death  Such a step would have appreciably reduced the suf
ferings which the Maratha camp had to endurc mn the last penod  The men
and ammals would have been found 1 better condition for a march or a
fight, before ther reduction by starvation and rusery for three wechs more
Even thewr morale would have been found better and stll Bhau would not take
such a step A casual remark m the Bakhar (p 136) also supports the view
that “had the Marathas started the next day after theesheavy massacre of the
JRuhelas 1 the intervemng datly fights, the Afghans had no strength then to
overpower the Marathas” “But,” so remarks the chromcler, “the fate had
ordained otherwise and so the Marathas remamed mactive, Carrying on the
wating game!  We do not hnow whether this was a case of fortune first
taking away the wit and then stnking hard afterwards

Our wonder mcreases still more when we find the chronicles reporting
the discussion 1 the Maratha camp previous to the battle Whie Bhau,
Judgng that the army could not pull on even for a day more, wanted to offer
battle the next day, Malharrao and Janakop were proposing to postpone the
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cvent by four days#* If thew argument has any sense 1n 1t, we must think the
state of the Maratha camp not as bad as 1t 1s depicted, otherwise how could
they have wated for four days more? Ther confidence 15 cuniously found sup
ported by a rare letter of Janakop, wntten only ten days prior to the battle,
and reaching 1ts destmation without bemng ntercepted by Abdali’s patrols 3
He does not betray any sign of fear or hopelessness He assures hus revenue
callector not to ke troubled at the local pm pricks of the Rajput princes, as
after the chuef enemy (Abdah) 1s defeated, others will fall i the lne with
out effort

As we have said elsewhere, the tone of the men who escaped from the
battle field was different from thewr own earher wnting They charged Bhau
with bemng obstinate, not bstenng to milder and saner counsels, and casting
Ius last die thoughtlessly and 1n a haphazard manner We take these to be
afterthoughts only  Had there been not even a thirty per cent chance of
bettering their position—and not the hope of defeating Abdal decisively—how
the Maratha chieftams could have consented to march out with a hollow
square formation, we are not able to comprehend Let 1t not be forgotten
also that notwithstanding the starvation of the Maratha camp, the Marathas
were able to charge so effectively n the forenoon part of the battle that they
seemed to carry everything before them On this central pomt, all the
authoritics on the battle are unammous  This clearly proves that but for some
sertous disobedience of orders 1ssued after the final decs on before the start,
or for the sudden demoralisation due to Vishwasrao bemng shot down, there
would not have been that debacle and that stampede which actually took
place ¢ven to the dismay of such on lookers as Kashiray and other reporters of
the battle  We have thought 1t necessary 1o put down all these facts before the
description of the actual battle, because up till now 1t has been treated by hs
tor ans an a faulty, not to say malignant, manner

According to the chromcles, the rank and file of the Maratha army,
perturbed at the prospeet and desperate on account of starvauon, proceeded
to the tent of Bhau and besought hum not to allow them to die of starvation and
disease but to lead them to the battle, whatever be the destiny awaiting them
We have said already that Bhau should have anticipated such a clamour and
forestalled 1t witn som¢ continuous preparation spread over a number of days
All the men, high and low, combatants and non combatants, in the Maratha ¢
camp, should have been completely made aware and tutored of ther re
<pons bility and actual part i the battle which was to ensue  Clear mstruc
tons about the methods of self-protection 1n the event of a sudden disaster—
we do not think nevitable and certain—ought to have been circulated  Nana
Tadms says in us autobiography that Bhau had antucipated all possibilities m
the conduct of war and provided for them as best he could, and we do not
think that Bhau could hasve failed to take these obvious precautions, consum
mate master of affairs as he was  The divergence in the mihtary counsels of the
Maratha cluefs was the basic eause for the opposite manner of actng on the
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field of baitle. But that was no fault of Bhau, but a national misfortune. Al
the various units and classes in the vast Maratha camp spread over miles were
not cqually affected by the dearth of grain or money, and that seems to be
the reason why some still wanted, and thought it possible, to wait, while others
less fortunate had reached the sinking point. Ultimately the clamour of the
starved decided the day of the battle and not the convenience or forethought
of the commander! This was a calamity, but perhaps there was no help for
it. In any case, had the battle been fought a fortnight earlier, it would have
been better in all respects, for the Marathas.

The actual plan decided and adopted by Bhau in consultation with
*Ibrahim Khan Gardi and others was, however, made possible by Abdali’s
change of camp-site and could not have been devised prior to goth December,
1760. A battle before that date would have Leen only a frontal attack or a
march with a hollow-square formation liable to be disturbed on the flanks
which is the weakest point in such a formation. The direction would have been
from north to south and not north-west to south-cast. The plan envisaged by
Kashiraj and put down in a memory drawing of the field of batile, is cor-
rect as far as it goes. Only the direction of the Maratha front he was un-
able to make out. Kashiraj mistooh the longer side of the rectangle on the
right-hand side for a front, because guns had been judiciously placed on that
side also, and these were pointed towards the Abdali front. The strategy was
to march past the right-hand corner of Abdali’s camp to the rver side with
the whole formation, so as to take the river at the back in the evening and
then to meet the Afghan army from the right-hand side, which would then
become the battle-front. The advantage in this move would have been that
the camp-followers would have remained always safe at the back and would
have found it possible to run away to the south towards Delhi or to the east
across the Jamuna into the Doab in case of a defeat. Had the plan succeeded,
the major batile would have come not on the day of the start but on the days
following. This would have given double advantage to the Marathas. They
would have found the much needed rest, as also time to refresh and recoup
at night, and waquld have been attaching the Afghans on their flank, thus ex-
posing their camp to loot. But the hollow square formation with a long
rectangular side made up of mutually antagonistic generals was at best a

, Precarious device, as was proved to their cost the next day.

Tuxr Trans-Ganccs Raws oF THE Maratnias DuriNG THE
Pantpar CampaioN

At the beginning of July 1760, Shuja-ud-daulah finally made up his
mind and went over to Abdalt’s side. From that date Sadashivrao Bhau began
writing his letters to Govindpant Bundele, Gopalrao Ganesh Barve, Ganesh
Sambhaji Khandekar and Gopalrao Bapuji, to foment rebellions in Shuja’s
dominions beyond the Ganges, and raid them. Many of the big zamindars un-
der Shuja were small chieftains themselves with armies made up of their per-
sonal retainers. Balawant Singh of Benares was the biggest and the most
refractory amongst them, though there were others lihe Balabhadrasingh of
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Tilo and Hindupat of Pratapgarh In fact, the tines and the surroundings
were such that no potentate could be taken as fully established and free from
mnternal rebellions  Shuja had placed Vem Bahadur with full powers m
charge of lus dommions dunng his aksence 1 Abdal’s camp Tl he major
portson of Shuya’s troops he kept behind him for guarding his dommnions, fully
knowng the msks to which lus domimons would be exposed once he antag-
omsed the Marathas In fact, his direct help to Abdal was his fine park of
artillery and the moral prestige of his name only  Sadashivrao Bhau appears
from his letters to be unaware of this important fact  Shuja’s troops are found
estimated at 20,000 at the beginmng of July, but how many of these he took
with him to Abdal’s camp 1s doubtful, as none seem to give very rehables
figures But if we tahe Kashirays figures as correct, Shuja had at Pampat
2,000 cavalry, 2,000 mfantry and 20 guns with hum, thus leaving 16,000 to
guard hus dominions  All these troops were well disaplined and well equipped

They were engaged on a permanent footing andvery well paid with the re
sult that they had no cause to grumble and go agamnst their master Th.s was
possible because Shuja possessed the most fertile lands in India and he could
collect lus revenues without any lutch The only possible loop hole 1n Shuja’s
domintons was the danger from his big zamindars who were always ready to rebel
and would have liked to become independent  When Bhau 1s found ordenng
Govindpant to wvade the Ruhela lands beyond the Ganges and Gopalrao
Barve to attack Shuja’s dominions, he seems to be talking of something wiich
he could not understand  Abdah had sent many of the Ruhelas back to ther
homes during the rains to lessen the pressure on his scanty supplies of gramn
and posibly with a view to protect therr provinee, thus making 1t 1mpossible
for Govindpant to move in the matter Govindpant occupied Ahmad Khan
Bangash’s lands 1 Farubkhabad adjoining lus, because these were on Jus sde
of the Ganges But beyond the niver he could not go S mularly, Gopalrao

found 1t impossible to move 1n the face of Vem Bahadur guarding the Ganges
m full force The combined troops of the Marathas under all their captams 11
this region, are found estmated at only ten to twelve thousand troops Many

of these were possibly infantry corps only, and not very well disaphned They

were fit for collecting revenucs from refractory zammdars hiding 1n ther
fortalices, but not fit to face regular troops under Vem Bahadur The ramny
season passed m mere nfanccuvring without any actual mvasion  In the mid-
dle of November, Govindpant turned towards Delln on account of Bhau’s ex-
press orders, with his contingent of some 5,000 troops, and only Gopalrao Barve
was left belund 1 the lower Doab, facing Shujas domimons ~ Sadashivraoc had
ordered Ganesh Sambhay Khandekar to join his forces with those of Barve,

but he does not seem to have crossed the Jamuna from the south at all Be

sides, Shuja’s wise mother and Vem Bahadur had by this time quelled the rebel

lions of the zamundars and brought them over to their side by lavish expen

diture on them  Goplrao had written to Bhau i hus letter of 22nd November,

1760 that he was presently erossing over mto Oudh, actually he was unable to

cross before goth December, 1760, as a part of his army had been sent to

Govindpant’s help under Bajirao Barve, Ramchandra Knishna and Ghanashyam

Pandurang, which he was expecting back  But Bhau could not spare these
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troops, and so Barve engaged new troops  Ganesh Sambhajp hept on writing
that he would come after setthng matters in Bundelhhand  Finally, Bane
crossed with hs new troops and matchlochmen, about 10,000 strong  After
crossing, he hept 5,000 wnfantry for guarding the ghats on the Ganges at hus
back, and with 5,000 matchlochkmen and 1,500 sowars he began his campaign
A thousand horsemen joined lum from the lower Doab With these he at
tached Bhojpur (sintcen mules to the north west of Dalmau higher up the
Ganges) which was defended by the Ruhelas by forming a square m the
European way But the impetuous attach of the Maratha cavalry brohe ther
formation and they ran back into ther fortalice In this action, the Marathas
Jhilled some fifty matchlockmen, ten horsemen and captured the enemy’s flags,
themselves losing three horses and one trooper with seven wounded Next day,
the Ruhelas were pursued mnto the ntghbounng thichet where they had taken
shelter near the village of Dhuremau, five miles to the north east of Bhojpur,
by the fortalice When attached, they agan ran away after a lttle skumish
m which the Marathas captured five horses, losing two of therr own  Gopal-
rao next procecded to the important fort of Dalmau, which was bwlt on the
bank of the nver on a promment hillock  The Marathas first attached the
town adjoining the fort when Hap Beg, the Commandant of the fort, salhed
forth two mules with two thousand infantry and one thousand cavalry, con-
sisting of Ruhelas  The attaching Marathas pressed them back mto the fort
after losing ten horsemen hilled and twenty five wounded Two hundred enemy
Ruhelas were cut off and therr fifty horses were hilled  The Marathas cap-
tured seventy five horses with the iron drum  The whole town was looted and
the Marathas began their march forward, because, had they lud stege to the
fort, they would have had to sit there for a long tme  The r next camp was
at the village of Gaura, on the road to Ra1 Bareli on the 8th of January, 1761
In ths campaign, Ba'abhadrasingh accompamed Barve, and later on Krishna-
nand Pant, Faujdar of Karra, joined them near Mamhpur n the Pratapgarh
dstrict  Many local Rajput landlords jomned them wath thewr retainers so as
to take part i the loot, if possible They carnied fire and sword throughout
the region tll they reached Nawabgany, ten mules north west of Allahabad, to
which they set fire after looting 1t Next they proceeded to Fulpura to the
north cast of Allahabad, and there repeated their performance Thus, after
they had carrted ther depredations for more than a hundred mules along the
, northern bank of the Ganges, retribution descended upon them from belind
Ven: Bahadur had sent a strong army at their heels, comung mto contact with
which the rabble, collected in the Maratha camp, broke at once and zamndars,
like Balbhadrasmgh, who had jomed for loot, fled back The Maratha army
under Gopalrac was dispersed and they ran back i small parties by different
roads Gopalrao personally crossed back with some scven horsemen nto the
Mirzapur district near the famous temp'e of Vindhyavasim, and then, taking
a westerly route along the southern bank of the Jamuna, returned to lis seat
at Korah-Jahanabad m the Doab  All h.s troken troops also returned with-
out much mishap These events took place between roth to zoth January,
1761, Ths campaign did not start at the begmmng of December as taken
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by Sir Jadunath,* but at the end on goth December,® and ended withm three
weehs  Bhau had expected this td 1nto Shuja’s ternitory to have the effect
of diverting hus forces from Panipat, but 1t could not have had that cffect be-
cause the campaign began very late, and ended simultaneously with the battle
of Pamipat  In joiung Abdal, Shuja had msured aganst any possible attach
by Abdali and his alhes, the Ruhelas, but had not neglected the defence of
huis domunion ether Bhau’s information on these pomts scems to be de-
fective  Miscalculation of enemy forces and over-confidence 1 h.s own troops
led Bhau astray 1n the whole Panupat campaign  From the dates of the let-
ters giving the news of the campaign, 1t cannot be said that the rout of Barve’s
army took place after the news of the Pampat disaster had reached hm, or
was an outcome of 1t It seems, however, that Barve could not rally s dis
persed troops to another effort because, by that time, the news had defintely
reached hum

* * (9 *
I Panrear Locarrry

The Pampat locahty did not prove favourable to the Marathas on ac-
count of 1ts bemng nearer to the home-land of the Ruhelas Pamipat itself was
—and 1s—pracucally a Mushm town and the areas to 1its east had a larger
proportion of Mushim population when compared to the southern tracts of the
United Provinces The road from Pamipat to Karana, Shamlt and Muzaf-
farnagar across the Jamuna farther on, leads to Sukartal, the stronghold of
Napb Khan on the Ganges, and crossing the Ganges to the actual home-land of
the Ruhelas, i a straight line  In fact 1t Jooks as if any place south of Dellu
would have been a better locality for the Marathas and worse for the Ruhelas
Their food supply was assured with the least inconvemence to them  Suraj-
mal Jat's advice was correct on this point, because he hnew the local human
environment.  Bhau’s ongmnal plan of crossing over mnto the Doab n the
vicity of Agra was correct, but, on account of procrastination, 1t was spotled,
and the campaign was unnecessarily lengthened by the four months of the
ramy season This had a disastrous effect from the finanaal, physical and
wanth posh of v Shega wodd vl et gune tver 1o Aot had Brea
placed himsclf between Abdali and Shuja’s dommmons The muscarriage of
that project was the firsk set-bach 1n the Pampat campaign

Shakir Khan Ansan’s descniption! of the sad condition of Pampat under
Maratha occupation must be true as far as it goes That the Marathas must
have felled all the trees m the vicimty urespecuse of any consideration for the
fruit-trees in the gardens, appears true when we take mto account the neces-
sities of the Maratha camp, military as well as personal  Many houses 1 the
aty were mevitably demolished by cannon-balls and thar restdents had to
stuft to other places  The wonder 15 not that such things occurred, but that the
Marathas had left the inhabitants comparatively free without mposing  any
conditions on them. Most of the inhab.tants were allowed to remamn where
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they were and carry on their lives as best as they could under the circumstances
We believe that the presence of such a hostile clement at their back must have
helped the Afghan side much m vanous ways  Spymng and sending news dis
closing the Maratha position was easy for this population Bes des these, the
two sons of Nejabat Khan Ruhela of Kunjpura were captives i the Maratha
camp What happened to them 1s nowhere recorded, and there 15 ne ground
for thinking that they were beheaded Perhaps, in the turmoil just after the
defeat, they mught have freed themselves and joned the populace 1n destroying
the Maratha camp followers mn revenge  That the Marathas had not destroyed
any edifice wantonly 1s clear from the undamaged condition of the splendid
tombs of the Sunt Bu Al Qalandar and Jbralum Lodt with the ancient
mosques adjomung  This 15 a clear proof of the mildness of Maratha rule even
under the stress of war Thewr civil manners and woffenswve attitude have
cost the Marathas not a lttle in history

That Bhau, in lns Pampat campaign, created a tremendous impression
m the Pampat locality 1s clear from many legends about Bhau, Parvatiba,
Janakoy Shinde and Vishwasrao The Bhau ballad current m the surround-
mng area, and sull sung by tmerant Jogis, Mushm and Hmndu, 15 a bving proof
of the impress on created, and this was natural The camping of lakhs of men
m the locality for about three months was a thing that had never before oc-
curred even m those war lihe imes  The carher battles in the Pamspat Karnal-
Thanesar locality had been bloody and decisive from the pohtical pomnt of
view, no doubt, but they were never fought to the last in the proper sense of
the word, nor was there such a massacre of camp followers after the event
The result 1s seen 1n the creation of legends The Jogi, who copied the Bhau
ballad for us (published i the Bullefin of the Deccan College Research Insti
tute, 4 3 of 1943), does not record Bhau’s death, following 1n this respect the
Maratha chronicles, and says that he went to the village of Bhaopur, some
twelve mules to the south west of Pampat  There he hved for a long time with
a Falar, evidently incogmito, huding hus identity Thence he went to Karana
acro.s the Jamuna after <ome years, hus further Ife being not known to the
men 1n the Pampat locality That Bhau did not die on the battle field and
Ived long afterwards became the traditional belief throughout India, gving
rise to mposters who gave themselves out as the real Bhau, and created poli-
cal problems adver<ely affectng the Maratha istory Ve think that the bal-
slad singer s account of Bhau hiving 1 Bhaopur 1s a transparent attempt to con-
nect the lready exisung village of Bhaopur (founded and named after some
Bhiaosingh, a name common 1n the locality) with the name of Bhau, the Mara-
tha general Such a legend 1s recorded about another place m the Afuzafar-
ragar Gazet'eer on page 9 (1920, Reprint) of the U P Senes  “The Jamuna
m the extreme north of the distnict appears to occupy much the same place as
formerly, and on the south also, 1t washes the high mound on which swood a
Yaratha fort still connected uith the name of Sadasheo Bhao It may fur-
ther be safely conjectured that the channel of the mver has not changed much
at this point s.nce Pamipat  Between these two extreme pomnts, howeser, the bed
of the mver 13 tortuous and uncertan®  We have seen the mound ourselves
near the vﬂ*agc of Tsapur on which now stands not a fort but a bawragy’s ashramn
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and a temple of his houschold gods, but there was no trace of the fort at
least 1n 193;,—nor was the fact of its previous existence known to the m
habitants there  The Gagelteer wiiter, we tahe 1t, must have copied the infor
mation from some local report, or the description given by some previous
traveller 1n the locality As the mound n question 1 a prominent object 1n
that low lying river basin, 1t could have been very cffectvely used mulitanly
by placing long range guns on 1t and guarding or attaching the passage of the
Jamuna near that pomnt As Ahmad Shah Abdah had moved his camp along
the mver front Just opposite to this mound on the other side of 1t during the
second stage of the Parypat beleagurement, the mulitary use of such a prom
nent height 1s not an wapossibiity  But the 1dea of the Marathas mahing use
of 1t dunng the Pampat beleagurement presupposes that the Maratha line ol
communication 1nto the Doab was mtact during the earher part of the Pampat
stege, or alternately, the Maratha contingents detached by Bhau for cutting
off Abdalts line of supply through the Doab, had approached up to this pomt,
though there 15 very hittle Iihelihood of such a thing happening  As the data on
which the Gazetteer writer Lased Ius statement are not Lefore us, 1t 1s not pos
s ble for us now to decide the pomnt

11  Was tae ImperiaL CavAL To THE WEST OF Panrat [rLowne
Durive THE PanieaT Campaion?

Mot of the historans, depending upon the information supplied by
such sources as Gazefteers whose information 1s not historically sifted, have
taken the Impenal Canal as having stopped flowing cighty years before 1820,
when 1t was again repaired by the Brtish - Imp Gaz Vol XIV, p 234 (1908),
under the heading “Jumna Canal (Western),” supphes the mformation that
there were ancient bridges over the canal at Karnal and Safidon and that the
Dellu branch ceased to flow sometime dunng 1753 to 1760 Ths nforma
tion the Gazetteer has copied from the Persian chronicles, giving an account of
the avil war between the Cmperor Ahmad Shah and his Wazr Safdar Jang
The canal formed the property of the Wazir and with a view to stopping hs
income from that source, the canal was brohen up by lus enemies  But what
has been overlooked by the Gazelieer has been now brought to light by the
deep researches of Dr T G P Spear of St Stephen’s College, Dellu Writ-
g n the Journal of Indian History (Vol XIX, Pt IIL, No 57, p 326, Dec
1940), he says that the canal was broken up m 1754 1n the civil war no doubt,*
but was repaired by Ahmad Shah  But thereafter sometume, somchow, it was
neglected  Taking mnto consideration the position of Bhau’s camp, the major
portion of which was situated to the north west of Pamipat, and the descnp
tion found mn the local Bhau ballad,' which supplies the mformation that
Bhau’s 700 clephants were stationed at the village of Gharaunda, ten mules to
the north of Pamipat, we assume that the canal was definutely flowing during
this penod  For clephants require 2 copious water supply which would be
available only 1n a place hke the bank of a nver or a flowmng canal That 1t
was flowing can also be guessed from the fact of the mention of the sojourn of
—
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the varnous con&uerors i the Shahmar Garden (which depended upon the
canal water) to the north-west of Delhi  Raghunathrag Peshwa lived there
n 1754, Abmad Shah Abdali i 1756-7,° and Sadashivrap Bhau in September,
1760* They would not have preferred the place unless a copious supply of
water was available 1n the vicimity fora big army  We think thes to be sufficient
proof for taking the canal as flowing dunng this campaign When Ahmad
Shah succeeded i terrorizing the Maratha troops mto huddling themselves m
the cramped camp at Pampat during the last fortmught before the great bat-
tle, the Marathas seem to have lost their access to the canal water to the west
of their camp, for Kashiraj says that Ahmad Shah was able to make a arcuit
round the Maratha camp from a distance, which we thmk to be correct for
tHe last fortmght only On account of this, the Maratha army seems to have
suffered ternbly for want of water, m addition to want of food This fact 15
found mentioned only 1n the ballad published by us in the Deccan College Bul
letin Vol IV, p 184 If they access to the canal water was not cut off, we
think the canal to have been cut higher up in the vicuuty of Karnal or Kunj
pura at the head of the canal The ground for such supposition rests on the
fact of the reconquest® of Kunjpura by the Afghans during the Pampat s ege
For the first month and a half, the Marathas werc receving their food supply
from the ity of Karnal on account of their friendship with Alasingh Jat,
the founder of the Patinla State, but a new army from Afghanstan under Ata
Khan came along that route to the help of Ahmad Shah early in December
Dilir Khan Ruhela made common cause with these new Afghan troops and
took bach Kumjpura from s small Maratha garrson, thus closing the
Maratha supply from that ssde  Talung into consideration the Afghan tactics
1t 1s not unhhely that he nught have cut the canal at the head after thuis event
so as to cut the water supply of the Maratha camp at Ahmad Shah’s behest

Lest 1t be forgotten, 1t should be noted that the old Impenal €anal was
flowing m those days along a different channel than the present New Delh
branch of the western Jamuna canal It began lower down on the mver
Jamuna to the north of Kunjpura It flowed to the cast of Karnal and not
to the west as at present Then 1t did not take a logp to the west before com-
ing to Pamipat as at present, but flowed parallel to the west of the Imperial
Road at a distance of three or four mules Dr SpeAR 1n his article referred to
above, page 327, supplics the following mformation  “The canal on its old
alignment ran along a depression 1n the apparently flat Jdmunz plain  In some
places the bed of the canal was above the level of the land at a great steepage,
and  waterlogging  was the result The distance between Pampat and
Karnal suffered most from this fact” (P 328 ) ‘Then the ahgoment was
altered to correspond with the hie of the land, and it now sweeps 1n a great
cunve from Karnal to Pampat”

Thns discussion should convince the reader that the old canal—Shah
Nahar—uwas flowing along to the west of Pampat at a distance of some three
to four miles duning the Pampat campagn
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o
II1 Eotruats oF THE CONFRONTING ARMIES AT PANIPAT

The cluef trustworthy authonty on the numbers of fighung soldiers
engaged 1n the Pampat campaign 1s Bhausatebachi ha fiyat It never gres
inflated figures W hen Sadashivrao Bhau ¢ame to Swonj mn Malwa an - halted
there for a week n April 1760, the estimated strength of the Maratha cavalry
1s gven as 27,000, besides Torahim Khan's tramed mfantry which 1s stated to
be 10000 Ths figure of the chron cle 1s testified as correct by figures in some
contemporary letters  Khare 114 goes 25000 cavalry, starting with Bl
from Patdur “The Maratha army under the Peshwa belonged mamly to the
Hujrat disision 1¢ Peshwa’s personal cavalry  Ahare 121 gves a shghtly duf
ferent csumate It gaves the figure of the Tchnga Gardis of Ibrahim bhdn
at 8000 and the cavalry at some 33 oo total Thas figure was made up of
the personal squadrons of Vishwasrao, the Peshwa's son, and the nommal Com
mander n Chief of the whole army, the troops of Bhau humself and more than
half the troops generally <erving under Raghunathrao, who would not lcad
the campaign h msc!f and remamed mn the Deccan  The Maratha chuefs of
note serving as officers mn these regiments were Samsher Bahadar (the Mushm
half brother of the Peshwa), Vitthal Shivdco Vinchurhar, Manap Payvgude,
Antap Manaheshwar, Damap Gukawad, Khanderao Raste, Subhanrao \ane,
Mahaday Nah Nimbalhar, Bahantrao Mehendale and Nana Purandare
This letter wntten by Gopalrao Patwardhan, a noted general, csttmates the
numbers on Abdal’s side at 50,000 ¢walry and 50,000 nfantry inc'uding the
Ruhelas  When the Maratha army had not as yet scparated from the mamn
body collected 1n the Nizam’s Donunion, the total strength was estumated at
75000 Out of ths, 10,000 were sent to harnatak under Visap Krshna Bim-
wale, and 25,000 remamed with Raghunathrao to chech the Nizam  The rest,
1t seee s, were appomted to accompany Bhau to the north  But out of ths
number some troops probably remamed with the Peshwa as his personal guard,
and some others lagged Lehind or would not go as crdered, thus making the
figure wh ch went with Bhau near atout 35,000 When ths army ercssed the
Chambal at the beginmng of Junc and jo ned forces with Shinde and Holkar
with the remnants of theirr bro\en armucs, the total number 15 estimated at
70,000 to 80,000, including the contingents of Surajmal Jat and the Wazr
Ghaziud din' The same letter wrnitten on 1st July, 1760, cstimates Abdal’s
s de at 60,000 troops, ‘hesides the contingent of Shuja ud dautah which s esh
mated at 20,000 When cstimaung the figures engaged 1n the final battle of
14th January, 1761, we have first 10 deduct the Maratha casualues i the
capturc of Delht at the Leginming of August 1760 and the sach of hunjpura
wn the midd'e of October 1360 The VMaratha loss before Delln was only a
few hundreds, and Lefore hunjpura also not much, though the numbcr of
wounded was considerable®  In <hort, we need not take the total los cs m these
two acuions at more than 1,000 In the three considerable battles fought dunng
the two months of Leleagurement at Panspat, the loss of the Maratha ade was
sirularly veny =mall, not going teyoad 1,000 dead’
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(r) Thus, to catculate the figures left for the final action, we shall
have to deduct first the Jat-Wazir contingents which left the Marathas at the
beginning of September, numbenng possibly not more than 5,000 (2) The
troops left in charge of Delln under Naro Shankar estimated at about 7,000 1n
all* (3) The total loss at Delhi, Kunjpura and the three slarmushes at Pam-
pat—3,000, leaving 55,000 out of the combined total estimated at 70,000 near
Agra at the beginning of July Out of this also some thousands will have to
ke deducted for those who died as a result of wounds rece.ved i the five
actions, as also some disabled on accgunt of serious wounds and starvation
Thus we shall not be far off the mark if we say that the Maratha fighting troops
af Pampat were 50,000 only A wnter from Pampat, writing before the three
shirmushes, estimates the Maratha number at 60,000, while he reports Abdal’s
troops at 40,000 only Perhaps he omuts the infantry on Abdali’s side, because
the word “Fauj” mn Marathn s generaldy used for cavalry only Abdah s
sad to have recened additions to his troops dunng the Pampat beleagurement
cstmated at 8,000 Kashiray’s figures given at the begmmng before crossing
over the Jamuna to Pampat, are 40,000 horse arid 40 000 foot, mcluding the
troops of Abdah and his allles  For Bhau he gives the figures as 55,000 horse,
15,000 foot (including g,000 Gardis under Ibrahim Khan), besides 15,000
Pendhar horsemen  As agamst this the wrregulars on Abdaly’s side are estimated
by hashira) at four tunes the number of the Durram horsemen on the muster
roll of the Shah  Even if we take the actual Afghan cavalry at 33,000 only,
this esumate would give one lakh and twenty thonsand as the figure of ir
regulars, which we think very much overesimated It is true that there pos
s bly would ke more soldiers from amongst the camp followers on Abdalr’s side
than there would be on the Maratha side, on account of the very character of
the two peoples and therr usual mode of hfe An average Afghan camp fol
lower would be 2 good horse rder even when he had no horse of us own
Simlarly, he would be more adept 1n using arms than possibly an average
camp-follower in the Maratha army  But 1t 15 incorrect to think that none of
the camp followers and non combatants following the Maratha army would
have horses of therr own, we rather thund that maay of them fhad the Decv
can pomes with them serving as baggage carners for thar masters  Unfor-
tunately for the Marathas, most of these pomes seem to have pershed of
starvation dunng the beleagurement of Panipat, due to pant of fodder, while
the wregular horses on Abdal’s side were still serviceable  Satvoyt Jadhav, wnt-
ing after the battle of Pampat,® defimtely says that many a cavalryman had
lost hus mount before Pampat, and even the rest had become unserviceably
weah  If we deduct 20 per cent on this account, then Sir Jadunath’s estimate®
of 40,000 horsemen actually present m the field seems to be a tolerably cor-
rect figure, though armved atn a different manner  Kashiray’s estimates of the
two arnues given 1n round figures seem to be based on heresay reports, and not
on offial figures as he would make us beliecve by hus mode of wnnng  His
only strong pomt 1s that he clearly disunguishéd between tramed government

4RAs 6406
31hud. 1406,
§Fall 2287



84 PANIPAT: 2761

paid soldiers and camp-followers or irregulars. The figures given by Shamlu
and others are inflated because they include all the camp-followers also. An
average of four camp-followers for cach professional soldicr \sou!d 'makc a fair
estunate” of perons gathered in the two camps, and on that basis it looks as if
cach camp had two and a half lakhs of people in it. The Maratha camp
had many pilgrims also in its entourage. Some sardars had brought their fam-
ilics for this very purpase with them, so as to facilitate their travel in comfort
and safety. Many pricsts had gathered in the camp {rom Benares and Prayag
with the hope of getting good fees and alms by plying their trade.  Many can-
didate clerhs had joined with the hope of getting some temporary worh or civil
appointment in the newly conquered territorics. This was almost a normal and
permanent camp-following class in the Maratha ammics cver since the days
of Shivaji, as L attested by Martin, the French Governor of Pondicherry. In-
cidentally it shows the nature of the Maratha camp. The chartered bazar
accompanying the army supplied all the needs af the people in it People felt
“so little danger in following their camp that life in camp is spent as happily
there as in towns.” (MALET's Memoranda Relative to the Maratha Army ab
Kharda, Maratha-Nizam Relations, No. 202, p. 272.) Major Dirodt writes
that the Maratha army on march “resembles more the emigration of a nation
guarded by its troops than the march of an army only to subdue an enemy.”
The women camp-followers in the Maratha army were a necessary element for
doing certain dutics which men thought it derogatory to perform in these days.
Cooking their food and cleaning the vessels could be done by males, but grind-
ing the com was thought to be an cxclusive duty of the female sex, for per-
forming which a number of them accompanied the army. It is difficult to
estimate the number of females in the Maratha army, but we think there were
some 20,000 all told. Mast of these were slaves of their masters, who served
in various capacities and also as concubines. Very few married women had
accompanied their husbands in this long-drawn-out campaign. Because Bhau,
Balvantrao Mehendale, Nana Fadnis and possibly a few others had taken their
wives with them, a wrong impression is formed about the total number of
such women accompanying the army. AMiral~i-Ahmadi states that 12,000
women in good position ameng whom 7aa travelled in palkis, were tahen prisone
ers. We think this statement a gross exaggeration. There could not be more
than roo women carrjed in litters, nor could the 12,000 women Lelong to the
married class, A fe-v other sardars had also taken their women-folk with them,
no doubt, for pilgrimage along the route, but their number was not more than
a few hundred at the most!® The rest of the women belonged to the slave-
concubine class. Nuruddin Hasan’s mention of “handsome Brahman women”
being sold after the defeat can only be treated as a figment of the brain, and
as to the “rose-imbed slave girls” mentioned by Sir Jadunath,!* their number
could be infinitestmally small, if such were to be found there at all. 1Jad the
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Peshwa’s army been going on after Shivaji’s pattern, there would have been
no impediment like this in the camp at all. But Shivaji led few campaigns
lasting more than a few months at a stretch or far away from the homes. The
Peshwa’s army was modelled after the Mughal pattern with all its draw-
backs, which proved fatal here as they had proved fatal to Aurangzib in his
campaigns against the Marathas.

IV. ImeerrecT SENSE oF TiMe anp DmecTioN

Indians of pre-Panipat days had no maps before them to judge properly
of the directions of places, ctc, and so we have to take their descriptions of
events cautiously, Bhau writes “Abdalx has come to the soutkh by crossing the
Jamuna at Baghpat” Nana Purandare takes Kunjpura as situated on the
south bank of the Jamuna. “Panipat lies 40 kosa from Delhi towards the west.”
With these examples from cogtemporary documents before us, we have to acs
cept Kashirajis directions with correct visualisation. Sir Jadunath has bungled
in his attempt to connect Kashiray’s translation with the Browne’s map of the
battle. This is also due to his non-visualisation of the path of the sun during
the days of its highest southern declination. A man from the Maratha camp
talking of Abdali’s position or Kashiraj writing from the Abdali’s camp about
the Marathas was sure to confuse correct direction during December-January.
Kashiraj has naturally taken the Maratha army as facing eastwards and so de-
sonbed the Afghans facing westwards on the day of the battle. Another thing
incorrectly calculated by Sir Jadunath is the hours of the day. The sun rose
at Panipat (latitude 2g° 23’ 30” North, longitude 76° 58’ 30” East) on
14-1-1961 at 7 At. and set at about 5.20 ».M. (local time). The day thus
consisted of about 10 hours and 20 minutes and the battle has to be described
accordingly. The day was, in lunar calendar, 8th of the bright half of the
month, The moon would set about mid-night on such a day and not at
9.15 P31 as taken by Sir Jadunath. (Vide Fall 2, pp. 360, 346, ctc.)

’



CHAPTLR V!
THE BATTLE

FNaLLY, as decided at mght, the Maratha army rose 1n the carly hours
of Wednesday, the 14th January, 1761, and prepared itself to march out of
the beleaguered camp at Pampat After gomng through the moming round
of physical duties, Sadashivrao Bhau and Vishwasrao bathed, worshipped the
gods, had a hurried breakfast and then dressed themselves i full armour for
the ensumng battle The whole camp was agog throughout the previous mght
They had collected all their little belongings and tied them m bundles to e
carned away by secunng them to thewr backs or on the bullocks and other
pack anmmals which had survived Some carts and other heavy goods, found
etther difficult to arrange properlv or as absolutely unnecessary on the march,
were left behind 1n the camp m order to facilitite the march With the first
call of the trumpets, the who'e camp started and arranged iself n marclung
order as best 1t could! To the front were placed the heavy cannon, behind
it the mfantry of Ibrahim Khan followed in triangular formation so as to make
the artillery mn front, the spear head of the march To their rear were placed
Damap Gatkawad, Yashwantrao Pawar, Vitthal Shivdeo, Antajt Manaheshwar,
Samsher Bahadar and other small umits Then followed Bhau and Vishwas-
rao with their personal troops  After them came non combatants and bag-
gage On the nght flank of the rear were appomted the Shinde and Holkar
contingents  The lighter artillery was placed mainly on the right of the march-
mg square, though a few were placed on the left and at the back also, to
scare away any surprisc attack on those sides  The hollow square thus formed
marched out step by step and stood three nules 1n front of Abdali  Their post
tion at mine o’cloch (local time) was Ibralum Khan’s infantry mn the village
of Nimbd to the south west of Pampat, Bhausaheb with the centre one mile be
hind him to the north of Ugrakhed:, Malharrao Holkar at the rear directly one
mule to the south of Pampat The non combatants and camp followers were
standing between Pampat and Ugrakheds, their left hand side reaching the out
shirts of Rajakhedi to the north  The distance between Malharrao Holkar’s
rearmost contingent and Abdalis left under Shah Pasand khan was more than
three miles, his continfent probably standing i the field to the east of Siwa

.
The Afghan army when arranged stcod roughly 1n a crescent shaped
curved hne from Siwa to Chhajpur Khurd  Barkhurdar Khan’s Risala was
standing there with the nullak at therr back  Dunde Khan and Hafiz Rahamat
Khan were standing between Chhajpur Knlan and Ujah  Ahm d Shah was
sonewhere Letween Risalu and Dhadaula, while Wazir Shah Wal: Khan's
cavalry stood rcady between Risalu and Ujah  Ahmad Shal’s baggage and
camp were between Dhadaula and Nurpur  Napb ud daulah and Shuja ud

1Tle front onginatly v as eprcal fro u Rabulitagh to the nosthenst of Pamipat, to
Chanlam Bagh 1) the w ot of 5t wlere Nrabun Khane corps were campng This was
;l,w Teal of the Marathe vaorcls o arder  fle dircetiun it took was to the south-cast of
anspat,
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*  daulah were on the plain between Risalu and Siwa. We do not think that the
Afghan army was standing in a continuous line along the whole front between
Chhajpur and Siwa. There were gaps between the various contingents which
were ordered to the front, though none so wide as to allow a Maratha corps
salely to thrust itself between. Najib-ud-daulah had to cover full three miles
before he could come into contact with the Shinde division to the west of
Ugrakhedi. The army was spread on a front some seven miles in length from
Chhajpur Khurd to the west of Siwa The nght-hand side of the Maratha
square was not more than three miles in length, and spread from Nimbdi to
Chandm Bagh (to the east of Panipat) in almost a straight Line.

The battle began with a cannonade as usual.  Within an hour Ibrahim
Khan's corps touched the Abdali front at the point where the trans-Ganges
Ruhe'as were massed in front of the village of Chhajpur Kalan. On the
+right-hand side of these Ruhelas Barkhurdar Khan and Amir Beg were stand-
ing ready to cover the Maratha flank on that side. Ibrahim Khan ordered two
corps to stand in front of them so as to stop their advance with a view to cut
off the gunners in front of the corps of Ibrahim Khan, The rest of his in-
fantry engaged with the Ruhelas. His quick firing mushets soon began to have
their effect on the opposite side. The infantry advanced step by step fighting
for each inch of ground, but the heavy siege-guns secm not to have kept up the
march and soon lagged behind. This was probably due to the difficulty of
ragging them on an uncven ground, and a'so to the advance of the Ruhela
cavalry to cut off the gunners as is usual in this kind of bittle. For three hours
the combat went on, and the Ruhelas were pressed back with heavy slaughter.
Only a few hundred match-lockmen remained with their chiefs Hafiz Rahmat
and Dunde Khan, This was the result of the tattle at twelve o'clock. DBut
befcre this the Maratha cavalry, detailed for supporting Ibrahim Khan and
standing half a mile at h’s bach, had acted injudiciously, not understanding the
kind of battle they were engaged in. In their impetuosity they seem to have
acted on thelr own initiative and broken the marching order absolutely neces-
sary when the army is to advance in a square formation. They advanced
rapidly at a trotting pace and soon overmarched the infantry corps of
Ikrahim Khan. But they met with the sharp fire of the Ruhe'a infantry and had
to run bach with broken spirits. Vitthal Shivdeo and Yashwantrao Pawar then
»galloped back and stood behind the heavy guns fined in the ground and pos-
sibly chained together so as to obstruct the advance of the enemy cavalry to
cut off the gunners.  Damaji Gaihawad also met with a similar chech from the
Durrani cava'ry to his left, and he, too, returned bach and stood behind as
at the beginning. This disobedience of orders was the ch'ef causc of the Pani.
pat disaster.” Before starting, Bhau had clearly placed his plan before his of-
ficers and ashed them to march straight without breaking the order by swerving
to the right or left. The aim of the march was to gain ground and reach the
river Jamuna before evening and not to offer battle.  If the enemy would step
aside and allow the Marathas to press forward with their whole mass, then
the Marathas were not to cngage with them at afl. Only if and when the

_—
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self and soon came into contact with Bhau's right wing. As the fire from the
camel-swivels supported by Persian infantry at its back was both quicker and
sharper, they seem to have soon overpowered the Maratha light artillery on
that side and silenced it. As there were no infantry battalions to support it,
Bhau had himself to swerve to the right to its rescue, and thus the Peshwa’s
Huzarat came into contact with Shah Wali Khan's troops. The ground where
they met was to the south of Ugrakhedi and to the north of Risalu. The troops
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enemy would not allow them passage 1n thewr march, the cavalry wes to charge
and press forward, beatng the enemy back so as to break their order  As at
the very beginmng this breach of order occurred, 1t had a disastrous moral ef-
fect on the frontal troops The first cause of the break in the ordered march
was due to the heaviness of the Maratha guns which, on account of ther long
range, fired their shots m a faulty manner so as to fall at the back of the
enemy Thus therr ammuniton was wisted without gamng the desired ef-
fect of brealung the enemy line of battle and creating a gap mn 1t for the troops
to advance Ibralim Khan had then to cease fire and order his mfantry to
march with bayonets 1n thetr hands to break the enemy hine and make a breach

The Telinga wfantry under Ibralum Khan was formed of well tramed corps
with expenence of such battles Their resolute advance made the Ruhelas
fall back, leaving few soldiers with the cluefs as stated above DBut i ths ef-
fort Ibralum Khan Jost half lus troops m kdled or wounded, and then the
preponderating number of Ruhelas began to tell  The Ruhelas were i the
proportion of three to one of Ibralum Khan’s musheteers Their match locks
fired heavier bullets and were even more effective on account of their steady
am due to ther long barrels  Their range also exceeded that of the com-
paratively light muskets of French make used m Ibralum Khan's infantry  If,
at ths psychological moment of apparent stale mate, the Maratha cavalry had
advanced agam, galloping to support him, there would have been no further
slaughter amongst them, and the battle would have been carmed on i the
wntended order  But, as sud above, the cavalry ordered for his support hads
foolishly advanced first, and then comung bach stationed themselves behind
the chamned heavy guns, with their strength exhausted and spmts broken

Damayp Gakawad who was to the left of the Maratha thrust—thus adjoining
Barkhurdar Khan's out flanking cavalry—behaved better than Vatthal Shivdeo
and Yashwantrao Pawar  He supported the two corps left by Tbralum Khan
to mect the enemy on that side  As there was no wfantry facing them, they
repulsed the Ghilzais on that side as often as they advanced with their scathing
fire  But Damap was lumself wounded in the action and he also returned to
stand 1n the company of Vitthal Shivdeo and Yashwantrao Pawar

Unul now we have said notlung about the Maratha centre under Bhau
He was standing to the right of the (muddle) centre of the Maratha march
Behind hum to the left were standing the non combatants and camp followers ,
The attack on Bhau's side scems to have been begun not by Bhau umself but by
the Durrim Waazr who advanced farther than the main ling, finng his camel
swivels manned by Persian bombardiers? The Maratha hght artillery placed
on the nght of their march and facing the Durram Line obliquely was gradually
receding back from the Durram hine  Its fire would mot reach the Durram
linc at all, cxcept at the front under Ibrahun Khan At nine o’clock the dise
ance between Bhau’s nght hand side and the Durram Wazir's front was a
mile or so  According to the Maratha plan, Bhau would not swerve to his
nght unless 1t was attacked by the ecnemy  The Wazir on whom naturally the
man responsibility fell and who was stationed at the centre, advanced him

3Munoy p. 215 (note)
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self and soon came mnto contact with Bhau’s nght wing  As the fire from the
camel swivels supported by Perstan mfantry at its bach was both quicker and
sharper, they scem to have soon overpowered the Maratha hght artillery on
that side and silenced it.  As there were no nfantry battalions to support 1t,
Bhau had humself to swerve to the nght to its rescue, and thus the Peshwa’s
Huzarat came into contact with Shah Wah Khans troops  The ground where
they met was to the south of Ugrakhed: and to the north of Risalu  The troops
surrounding Bhau belonged to the select group and were possibly 1n the best
of condiion Working under the eye of the commander m chief humself, and
themselves possessing a high sense of duty with patmotc fervour for the name
bf the Marathas, they came sweeping down and would not stop even n the
face of the sharp fire from the swivel guns  Now a cavalry battle fought with
lance and sword on the Maratha side and musketry and archery on the other side
began 1n good earnest It 15 certamn that the Afghan cavalry under Ahmad Shah
had more musheteers, match lockmen and archers amongst them than were to Le
found 1n the Maratha army* Each Maratha of note had possibly a hand
gun by his side but he had nether love for 1t nor expertness at tsuse  He pre
ferred lance and spear at a short distance to the clumsy bow and arrow or heavy,
long matchlock of those days  * The fighting was so wiolent that earth and shy
could not be seen and the eyc of heaven kecame dazzled at beholding this
spetacle  (Kashira) ) The Afghan army was composed of 12 000 horse
men and 8,000 foot soldiers, besides 1,000 camel guns  * The Marathas drank
them up hhe the water of a river”  Ata1 Khan, the son of the Wazr's paternal
uncle, (who had carried the rard aganst Govindpant Bundele and slaughtered
Iim) was slain g ooo Durrams were put to the sword and the rest fled back
at the fury of the Maratha charge Only 200 troops stood surrounding the
Grand Wazir with fifty camel guns 1n his front He was clad m full armour
from head to foot, still dismounting from his horse he sat down on the ground,
saying to his followers, “Comrades! Valayat is far off, whither are you gomg®’
He ashed Kaslura) (who lumself reports this) to take a message to Shuja ud
daulah that he was dyng and that Shuja should come to huis md  Shuja did
nothing of the hind, however, excusing himself with the plea that it was not
proper to break the line of battle at that stage and thus allow the Marathas
a’possible chance to pyerce past the Afghan line through the gap As a mat
ter of fact, though Shuja stood ready with all his troops and guns throughout
* the day, none moved from the Maratha side aganst um  This clearly shows
that the obhique Maratha line never came by stself into direct contact wath the
\fghan hne at the left throughout the main fight, a distance of more than a
nule still intervcnung between the two armies.

But though Shuja would not come to the Durram: Wazir's aid, Ahmad
Shah was not unaware of his pight By this ume 1t was twelve noon, and 1t
scemed for a moment at the centre that the Marathas were tnumphing
Ahmad Shah who was some three mules to the back, received tntclligence of

4Even 1n 1795 matehlock seemed to he daly gaming ground of the long spear ac
cord nx to Matrr In 1760 1t must have been comparatively rarc. (Poona Residency Cor
respondence 32 0}
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the dispersion of hus troops from the night flank to the centre  As a precau-
tionary measure he asked hs zenana to mount on horses and camels so as to
be ready to run away n case of emergency At the same tune he taok the
stern measure of beating back his run away troops who had now crowded
themselves 1n the Afghan camp He called in hs nasagchs (mbtary
provosts) and ordered 500 of them to go to hus camp and striung with their
axes all the camp followers great and small, drve them back to the battle
field canng for nothing else By this method he brought within an hour 8,000
armed men, mostly foot <oldiers to fill i the gap created at the back of the
trans Ganges Ruhelas The remamming ,3,500 military provosts were sent to
the battle field with orders to Mll every man who ran away from the battle
and refuse to return to the charge This order they executed so effectualis
that after hlling a few they compelled the rest to stand in battle array agam
behind the Grand Wazi’s lime  Ahmad Shah sent some 4,000 fresh troops
to remforce the Wazir from hus retinue  Thus, witlun an hour, by one o’cloch,
10,000 horsemen stood ready belund the Wazr to charge agam, while on the
right hand side of the Afghan hne 8,000 soldiers supported the Par Ruhelas
n their efforts to stop the march of Ibralum Khan's successful Gard: troops

Let us now tahe stoch of the mulitary poation at noon At the very
beginning the Maratha cavalry under Vitthal Shivdeo and Yashwantrao Pawar
had acted impetuously and gone bevond thtir orders, attaching the Ruhe'as
before Ibralum Khan had created a gap m ther ranks by the fire of his
artillery and the attack of his mushetry The result was they had to run back
exhausted and s and beh.nd the chamned heavy artillery to escape an attack
from the enemv  Thus therr fighting power was neutrahzed when 1t was most
necessary to tahe advantage of the gap created by Ibralum Khan Gardi two
hours later Damajp Gaihawad, on the other hand, had succecded, for the ime
beng, i warding off the {lank attack on Ibrahim Khan's troops by Barkhundar
Khan and Anur Beg, by supporting the two Gardi corps left by Ibralum Khan
on his left side  In the centre, Shah Wali khan’s quick advance had obhged
Bhau to break the line of the marching square and advance to meet the Waz.r,
with what =esult we have already seen  Twelve noon to ane o’clock was the most
crucal perod of the battle  Had the Leaten horsemen under Vitthal Shivdeo,
Yashwantrao Pawar ald Damap Gakawad courageously rushed out and
marched past the chamed guns m front of them to support Ibrahim Khan, 1t *
s very Iihely they would have succeeded tn marching past the Ruheta hne
with the help of the Gardi troops, and outflanked them  But they do not
seem to have done anything of the hind  Perhaps there was a distance of ore
mile or so mteneming by now between the advanced corps of Ibrahim Khan
and the heavy artillery belund which ther troops stood, with the result that
no correct news of the condiuon at the front was available to them For the
ume bang they stood safe behind the chaned guns, Barkhurdar Khan and
Anur Beg finding 1t imposs ble to assaif them  Perhaps these Persian Mughals
did not dvance from ther flanking position, with a view to cut off the ad-
vancing Marathas of they tred to crente 1 Lreach on that side  Thus it so
happened that the Maratha troops reaped no tactical advantage from the an-
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whilation of thewr five Gards troops, nor could they succeed m re.nforcng
Ibralum Khan 1o his time of need and distress

The nght centre under Bhau also could not, or rather would not, reap
a tactical advantage, bemng encumbered with the women folh  There was a
distance of about a mile between Ibrahim Rhans vanguard troops at the left
of the \Maratha hne and the centre under Bhau It 5 not clear from the
scanty descriptions of the actual battle whether a line of communication was
mamntained from the one end of the hne to the other, whether Bhau knew the
condition of Ibralum Khans corps or the behaviour of Vitthal Shivdeo and
others Had he with s remaning victor ous troops galloped at full speed
for onc mile to the left and stood behind Ibrahum Khan’s hard pressed mus
keteers confronting the broken Ruhelas, 1t 15 certan that he would have suc
ceeded 1 creating a breach there, and run belind the Ruhela camp Had he
cared to save hus hie together® wath that of Vishwasrao and h.s nearest women
folk, he would have possibly taken such a line of action, and escaped along
the mver Jamuna past the Abdah camp  But that would have meant a breach
of promise he had entered into with Ibralum hhan  The previous maght he
had told on ocath to Ibralum Khan that he would under no circumstances
flee away from the battle field forsaking the Gardi nfantry under Ibralum
hhan, but would rather stand as 1f entrenched behind lim and tale the rsh
of being cut to peces rather than leave the field  Secondly, 1t would have
meant a break of the marching square formation, leaving the non combatants,
camp followers and the kazar people to the tender mercy of the Afghan
troop,  Looking to the result, however, 1t seems as if that would have been
a better alternative, because, after all, the camp was left to ke looted and
slaughtered by the Afghans at the end of the day By 1t the \Maratha defeat
wouald have been felt less, as 1t would have resulted m the survival of polin
cally and mibtarily the most unportant people i the army

The behaviour of the Maratha rear guard under the Shinde and Holkar
contngents 15 not known  When, actually, Malharrao Holkar and the cap
tans 1n the Shinde cavalry left the ficld 1s rot recorded But we take 1t that
tiey never came m contact with the enemy throughout the mamn perod of
the battle from g AM to 3 pv  Exception must, hoyever be made for the

» personal troops under Janahoy, Tukop and Mahadp Shinde  They ket
their eve on the movements of the centre under Bhau and after Vishwasraos
acaidental death ran to hus rescue It was an unfortunate necessity of the plan
that these veteran troops practcally did nothing i this final battle  They
merely neutralised the opposite camps under Shah Pasand Rhan, and Shuja
But many of them escaped the last slaughter by taking te ther heels just
ume to get therr way westwards

The mamn difference m the position of the two armies was created by
the necesatty of the Marathas  They bad, of they w.shed to move from Pam
pat, to come out m 2 body all together, leaving no base with reserves belund
Ahmad Siahs poation was the reverse  He stood on hus ground well en-
trenched  He was not out to carsy lus bag and baggage vath woiaenfolk past
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the enemy hne, as the Marathas had to do  His defensive position was now
as strong as that of the Marathas at Pampat Ahmad Shah tooh full ad
vantage of this situation  Only the fighting force was first sent to the front,
the rest domng all thewr duties in the uspal manner They could cook thewr
food and have therr meals before the Maratha onslaught could reach them
The Shahs personal troops had, as usual, been kept as a reserve  Ahmad
Shah seems to have taken the precaution to heep s mamn body of troops in
tact 1n all hus battles and not only at Pampat He would make the second
rate troops face the enemy first and wear them out Later on, at the cntical
juncture, he would rush in with his fresh, uneshausted troops and complete
the victory His methodology was thus quite different from the Indian practice
since the days of the Mahabharata battle In all the noted Indian battles m
history, the chuef general was always at the fore front, and at lus fall the bat-
tles ended 1n a rout The battles were fought for the general, and with his
fall no motive remawmed for the troops to fight ahy longer Ahmad Shah, m
fact, was the precursor of the European mode of warfare, wheran a general
seldom takes a personal part m the fight In a composite fight he would make
his allies face the brunt of the battle and expose them to severe casualties
He himself would come 1n last when the result hung in the balance, thus leaving
a preponderating force with him to take charge of the spoils and not leave an
upper hand to others m casc of a dispute later on  The origmnal Hindu prac-
tice of fighting with a gencral at the head of the army had been handed down
even to the Mushm rulers of India  They also followed the same mode The
Marathas revolutiorused the old system by therr guenlla mode mn which a
face to face battle was to be avorded  But Sadashivrao Bhau had now agan
brought the ongmnal vogue mto fashion with the help of the tramed infantry
and 1ts park of artillery Unfortunately for lum he had to practse this mode
under very adverse circumstances now

Thus the cntical hour of the battle, when the Marathas could pos-
sibly have given a different turn to 1t, passed away with the army standing ex-
hausted and bewildered by the very first cffort  Sir Jadunath thinks® that be-
cause ‘ Bhau had no squadron of cavalry m heavy armour and mounted on
powerful horses ready to chwge mn close order and cut its way hke a sold
wedge through the shaken Durram ranks,” he could not complete his mtial
success He also thinks that because the Maratha troops did not carry roast ,
meat and dry bread in their saddle bags and water in leather bottles to refresh
and remnvigorate themselves easily i the field on account of their caste susceptt
bilines with 1ts dread of its defiling touch, they could not recoup themselves
m time so s to follow their mitial success with further advantage Though these
causes are true so far as they go, we do not think that these decided the line
of action tahen by Bhau He knew that Ahmad Shah with his cntrenched
camp was belund the Wazir's line, and the possibibty of marching through
1t was very remote At the same time he was neither prepared to expose his
camp to Afghan butchery as long as he Iived, nor would he break the square
formation deuded upon the previous mght, and run past Ibrahim Khan’s -

SFalt 233, Scc the eppendix on food arrangemnents
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fantry through the gaps created by it and forsake him, gomng back on lus
promuse  Anyway, the posability of saving the main centre with the most
mmportant personages on the Maratha side, passed away by one o’clock when
the Wazir rallied hus troops and began the fight agan

Now the battle entered 1ts most desperate stage The fight was a close
combat with sword, spear, lance, dagger and hnife, both sides vehemently
charging cach other This went on for an hour or so, and then * by Ahmad
Sultan’s good fortune” an arrow struck Vishwasrao, kiling him outnght He
fell from his horse  The news of Vishwasrao’s death spread lke wild fire
throughout the Maratha camp m a very short tunc, and 1t had a very dis-
%strous effect on the morale of the fighters thenceforward  When Bhau heard
of 1t, he also was very much affected He ordered that the corpse should ke
placed on an clephant so as to heep 1t safe from bemng trodden upon, and then
ordered a last charge But by this tme the news was begmming to have 1ts
effect Timud men, 1t seems, lell back and began to leave the field, saving them-
selves as best as they could, and m a short time Bhaw’s flanks seem to have
completely deserted Kasluraj writes that, all of a sudden, the field became
clear, the Maratha army having vamshed cntrely, and none remamed n the
field except heaps of corpses here and there

Besides the news of Vishwasrao’s death, another cause which created
pamc mn the Maratha camp was the behaviour of 2,000 Afghans, employed
by the Marathas and working under Vitthal Shavdeo  The sentiment and aim
of the Marathas i this war under discussion 15 reidentally well illustrated
thereby  They were not fighting aganst the Mushms, not even the foreign
Afghan Mushms, but agawmst Ahmad Shah Abdalt who wished to interfere
in Indian politics and bring foreign pressure on the solution of Indian problems
This ewstence of the Afghan troo|s serving under the Marathas 1s not men.
toned by Kashiray at all  But 1t 1s found m both the Ka fiat and Bakkar of
Bhau iy Marath1 3 It 1s also testified by Bhau’s correspondence with Govind-
pant Bundele® It 1s not clear to which of the Afghan tribes these dissatisfied,
renegade troops belonged  They may even be Indian Ruhclas  Be that as
it may, these troops, employed without forethought, became a source of great
havoc at this cntical juncture To distingush them from the Afghans on
Abdal’s side, they had been given a badge of an ochre coloured headdress? after

» the Maratha fashion They were standing behund Vitthal Shivdeo’s troops to
the left hand side of Bhau ~ As soon as they heard of Vishwasrao’s fall, they
treacherously threw away thewr badges and began to loot the Maratha camp
adjoring them, circulating the news of the Maratha defeat with exaggerated
accounts  The non combatants, consisting of two lakhs of persons, naturally
thought that the Afghans had mow penetrated the Maratha Lnes, and they
tooh to ther heels Vitthal Shivdeo also began to fall back as a result, in-
stead of trying to check these Afghans m ther nefanous activities  Thus 1t
was that Kashiraj found the Maratha side suddenly deserted and the ficld
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cleared Now only a few hundred troops surrounding Bhau rema ned at the
front 1 the centre of the line

On the left hand side the Ruhelas now remnforced with fresh troogs,
began their attack s multancously with that of the Wazir at the centre In
the consequent battle Damap Gahawad, Antay Manabeshwar and Yashwant
rao Pawar fell back defeated unable to stand the heavy slaughter by the con
secutive rounds of match lock fire from the Ruhela side  They could not
male 1 umted stand m one place  Ibrabim khan went forth and muixed his
troops amongst the Ruhelas hewily fing his last salvoes but was hiese!l
wounded and carnied a prisoner by the Ruhelas  His son and brother n law
died m the effort  Pract cally the whole of Ius corps seems to have died on thé
tattle field fighting to the last  Yashwantrio Pawar also was cut to pieces
Damay Gaikawad recewved three wounds but retreated safely with his im
mediate cwvil assistants®  Antaj Manakeshwar glso with hs usual caut ous-
tiess retreated just i tme to save himself uncovenng the left side of the
Marathas The Ruheas now closed upon the left flank of Bhau’s personal
cavalry

On the left hand side of Bhau, Samsher Bahadar was standing He
behaved on that day as a worthy scion of the Peshwa famly and fought to
the last  To hisr ght were standing the Shinde, Tuhop, Mahad) and Janahojt
Therr opposttes on the Abdall side were Shuja ud daulah and Napb hhan
At the beginning of the battle at g A the distance between the Ruhela front
and the Shinde line was more than threc miles Napb was the coo'est braim
on the Abdah side never losing hs head and never acting impetuously On
this day he seems to have acted with perfect calculatton As the Maratha
plan of the battle was to march on to the nver side before the evenung and
not to fight a battle, naturally no one from the Shinde side advanced to at-
tack Shuja or Napb  Besides, there was a great distance intervemng between
tiem Najb used ths respite to act mn a s,stematic manner  He turned all
In troops into infantry, dismounting even his cavalry from their horses Then
with hs 15000 troops he <lowly advanced on foot, throwing up earth worhs 1n
front at each quarter of a mile That 15 to say, the sappers and others rased
a breast werh of sand and earth a few steps in front of the line one cubit high,
which afferded a sheltex to the stooping infantry and prepared trenches where
the Ruhela infantry advanced and crouched down Napb had a vast quantity
of rockets with him  He would fire a volley of 2,000 rockets all at once from
Ins advanced trenches  Ths had the effect of darhening the ground and the
sky with their smole and therr nowse creted a sort of terror very useful for
fr ghterung away any advanang force  Kashira) says that the troops of the
Shinde contiigent wanted to attack Napb, but they got no chance on account
of this fire  We think otherwise  Bhau had wisely kept the Shinde and Holhar
contingents with their beaten troops—beaten by Abdali himself in three or four
{ghts during the last two ycars—to the rear flanks of hus advancing square so
as not to demoralse other troops by thewr chicken hearted behayiour 1 an
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cmergency  In one sense they were 1 a position ty act better than others,
baving a fist-hand esperience of the Abdal tactics  This ume they were
acting accordingly, never breahing thar line and never acung impetuoushy
as m a Maratha charge It means they obeved the orders of the Commander
m Chuef and would not offer battle themselves unless attacked  Najpb could
gan only one and a half Z0s, 1¢, not more than two mules i four hours by
this method, according to Kashiray’s measure  B. one o'clock, he came within
the finng distance of the Shinde contingent and began hs attach on 1t Ths
had the effect, 1t ccems of pushing the front ranks of the Shinde hine to tts left
towards the centie and separating them from thar rear  The news of Vish
Jwasraos fall by thus tme had created terror i the Shinde contingent a'so
Janakop and Tukop, as the most mumate and loyal senvants of the Peshwa
pushed themselves to Bhau’s side to sce what had happened and rally the cen
tre.  Sabay and Mahadp tamed back towards Holhars contingent and thus
created a gap n the hine throvgh which Napb s Ruhelas presied forward  Shah
Pasand Khan, who was to the Icft hand side of Napb and had been ordered
to support the flank attach of the Ruhclas on that side, folloned clo e at the
heels of Najb so as not to allow the Marathas to run that way It 15 not
Anown when the Holkar and Shinde contingents, whch fled anay from the
field of batde, actually left the field Certainly 1t was not before the news of
Vishwasrao s fall became known, 1e, 2 Py But after that they seem to have
soon tahen to thewr heels,? and never once came into dircct contact with the
\fghans or the Ruhe’'as  We have no faith 1n the widely espressed behef that
Malharrao had an understanding with Napb who allowed him to escape
unscathed  He had, perhaps, selected his own pos tion 1n the rear, or Bhau
had wisely and knowingly placed hum there  Fortunately for hum, the opposite
s.de under Shah Pasand Khan would not leave ther onginal positon at the
iront astnide the Mugha! Grand Trunk Road near the village of Smwa  Had
Shah Pasand Khan left Ius place he would have allowed a clear pisage to
the Mumatha troops at the rear along the easest road  Shah Pasand Khan
could not breal. the battle array, and Malharrao would not swerve to the r ght
and break the marching square  But after 1 P \1, when Ahmad Shah ordered
smultancous flank attack on Bhau’s centre to ud the frontal attack of the
Waazr, Shah Pasand Khan naturally swenved obliquely to the right  As Napb
had also by this ume advanced systemaucally on the flank of Sh nde, there was
, 0o problem for Shah Pasand Khan to break the fighting hne and create a gap
for the Marathas to escape, though 1ts natural result was to frec the Maratha
nght rear from the watch of Shah Pasand Khan’s flank advance Malharrao’s
whole life philosophy was based not on honour and prestige but on profit and
ccape  The Marathi adage which says that “if the head remains whole, one
can have eighty five turbans to wear,” secems to have been old Malharrag’s
guding prinaple wh.ch he naturally followed at ths juncture Half the
Shinde contingent under Sabap Shinde, Khanap Jadhav and Janrac Wable,
whch had separated wself from Janakojy ard Tukojt, also jomned Holhar m
s fight  Unless they had a clear start of two hours, 1t 1s difficult to beheve
that they could have escaped unhurt to the estent they did  Malharrao was
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very old now and had scarcely strength to nde swiftly enough to save lus
Ife® It was only because of hus early start that he was not overtaken by the
pursuing Afghans after the final rout

In the meantime at the centre, Bhau tried to rally as many of his
troops as he could, and fought to the Jast Janakop and Tukoj jomed him
i this last effort  Najtb had succeeded 1n separating half the Shinde contn-
gent from the other and cloang upon its heels His position at 3 P M was
i the gap created by the escape of the Shinde contingent, and Shah Pasand
Khan was immediately at huis back This position meant that Bhau’s escape
was now closed The mam attach on Bhau came from the personal slaves
of Ahmad Shah He had divided his 6,000 slaves into three parties, and
placed each of them on the flanks of Bhau Bhau's front was now closed by
the Waarr and the rear by Shah Pasand Khan and Barkhurdar Khan On
the flanks, the 6,000 fresh troops began to fire incessantly and simultaneously
This, combined with the frontal fire of swivel gutis, made 1t impossible for the
centre to swerve to any side, and they were turned nto a hnot whuch twisted
sself this way and that at each attack until completely withered away by
death Nana Fadms reports that Bhau was fighting to the last, till fifty horse-
men remained by hus side  After that Nana Fadms was separated from Bhau and
went back towards Pampat  What happened to Bhau afterwards nobody ex-
actly knows Tukop Shinde, Sonaj Bhaphar and many other captawns of note
lost their lives 1n the last desperate fight Bhau would not take even a last
chance of escape though advised to do so by Tukop Shinde, and was thus
slaughtered by someone somewhere at last We take Kashiray's acceunt of
the finding of Bhau’s trunk first and his head afterwards as true, though we
do not believe m the story of Bhaw's last struggle as reported by a Durram
soldier and put down mn writing by Kashira), because 1t would not stand criti-
asm  Janakop was wounded and was made a pnsoner by Barkhurdar Khan

The battle seems to have ended finally by 4 », when Nana Fadns,
separated from Bhau, turned his face towards Pampat  Already many of the
cvilians had gathered there after carly separating themselves from the centre
Thus 1t was that Ramap Anant Dabholkar, Bapuj Ballal Phadke and Nana
Fadms met together These three had good horses and therefore they were
able to cut ther way back to Pampat When Nana Fadms reached Pampat
it was already 5 Py Taking the advice of expenenced Ramappant, all of
them left their horses and baggage and donned the garks of 1ll clad beggars *
As Ramapipant hnew the geography of those parts well, he led the party out,
gong wost  After 1t was dark they started their trek, but before they could
cover one Aos they were attached three or four tumes and searched by the
Afghans  Lach ume they could they cut off ten or twenty of the party till they
covered a great distance, some twelve or more mles to the south west. Upto
this pomnt the three had kept together  But agamn the Af, ghans came and wounded
Ramay and Bapup who thus fell beind ~ Weak Nana Fadms swerved mto
tall grass and was thus saved, lis frad figure probably creating compassion

)t 101, 3.516, dated 1131760
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amongst the assalants He proceeded sull farther when agan a party at-
tacked hum, drawing him out of the tall grass where he was luding Here
again some old soldier took pity on the boy and thus he was finally saved
Because 1t was the eighth day of the bright half of the lunar month, the moon
was shining overhead mn the everung ull she set after mudmght This crcum
stance, while 1t was useful to some 1n covening their flight, was also responsible
for the long pursmit by the Afghan troops over that plam and the heavy
slaughter of non combatants runmng on foot for thewr lves  But many more
were lilled by the surrounding villagers who had suffered ternbly dunng the
last three months by the constant tramp of soldiers The Karnal Gazetleer has
recorded that the wvillages of Phurlak (twelve mules to the north), Bala (fifteen
mifes to the north west), and Dahar (six mules to the south west of Pamipat)
had nugrated to other areas forsahing thewr sites  This will give an idea of
the devastation wrought i the surrounding area It 15 not recorded as to
when the elephant on {#hich Bhau’s wife, Parvauba, Nana Fadnws's mother
and wife were seated, got tself separated from the other troops From the
Maratha chromicles 1t appears that this elephant was not far behund Bhau’s
line of battle Once her clephant touched the elephant on which Vishwasrao’s
corpse had been placed covered under some cloth Then only she came to
know of Vishwasrao’s death and began to weep and wail  If this fact 15 truly
reported, 1t means that she was halfl a mile behind the fighting lne  The
chronicles report that one captain with 500 shepherds! had been specially ap
pointed for the protection of Parvatibm  The name of this captan 15 given as
Visapp Krishna Jogdand, a name which 1s not found mentioned in any onginal
document  He had been ordered to follow the army to Delhu if 1t success
fully cut its passage through the Afghan Iines, but if the battle turned nto
a defeat, as soon as Bhau’s fall was reported, he should cut off Panvatibai so
as to avoud her falling mto the hands of the Afghans But nesther this Visap
nor his shepherds secm to have done anything according to order  They ran
away at the first shock and tred to save their Iives! Only a personal servant,
Janu Bhintade, neser left her for a moment and tactfully brought her back
to Pampat out of the turmoil”” when only half an hour of the day remained
She got down from her elephant and followed Janu Bhintade for some tune
on foot  Fortunately they met one Virsingrao Baravhar with his good horse

He took her on his horse and fastemng her at fus back, carned her out of a
sea of Afghans with rocks of corpse heaps in the middle  Beng a skidful horse

N

II'Why the Maratht chronicles have reported the fact of 500 shepherds (Dhanagar

m Marathi) as specially aj pointed for the protection of Parvatibai 1s a Mystery Many of
the followers of Malharrao Holhar were by ca tc hike hum Dhanagars {shepherds) Was
it18 to suggest that \lalbarrao had 2 hand in the protection of Pamaubai? If so why 1s the
name of the captatn speeifically given as Visapn hrichna Jogdand? The mystery of this
rele ”* d sull more by the tale of Parsatibai as we found current
the region hiog Pampat. & Gaud Bral mun told us the same fact
of shepherds (Gujars) being epecially charged with the protection of Panatbai  We think
that Bhau who was prepared for all eventualties had done some such tung for extrrcaung

18 wife ont of the turmoil by some safe comparatively unfrequegted path only known
1o these local Gujars many of whom must have been certamly secving in the Maratha can p

uring all these months. It 15 not unlikely that because some of them acted as guides
tirough the juagle to the south west of Pantpat that Janu Bluntade and ather loyal Marathas
were able to cut their way out of the danger zoue.
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man, he carried her safely across When Ius horse was cxhausted by its douw’
weight he got her down, when another cavalryman, Pirapp Raoot, got her
his horse and thus carmed her twelve mles farther on When s horse |
came exhausted he also left her behind, but all along Janu Bhintade kept |
company, walking or nding along by her ssde  No Maratha would refuse he
place on his horse on the road, and thus she was tharty mules to the south
Delhs when she met Malharrao Holkar and Nana Purandare We have relat
this event 1n detail because 1t falsifies Malharrao Holkar’s plea as put do
i Holkar's Thail: ¥ Malharrao Holhar was neither charged by Bhau w
the specaial defence of Parvatibai nor did he himself of his own accord do a1
thing to bnng her out of the field Only casually and acadentally th
met to the south of Delhy, a arcumstance of wh ch Malharrao took full %
vantage 1 preparng his apology

The description of the actual battle 15 very scanty m Marath, tt
gwen n the chronicles bemg more or less personal and not useful for mlit:
study The only eye-witness who speaks of the last effort of Bhau 1s the tru:
ful Nana Fadms who was only mmcteen years old at the ttime Hiz au
biography 15 a document by atself throwing considerable hght on the whe
campaign It clearly sets forth his own prejud ces but none can say that
15 anywhere untruthful From his wnting it seems that Bhau was not t
aware of the possibility of defeat, and had, therefore, made provis.on for t
special protection of the women folh  As a last resort, 1t had been decided
kill them before they should fall into the hands of the Afghans From Na
Fadnis’s words, 1t looks as if Bhau had prepared lumsclf for death But tl
was personal  As a general he had taken care that none other should ha
any scent of his personal decision except Nana Fadnis and one or two otk
persons hike Nana Purandare He had made every provision that was humar
possible for the ensumg battle with minute care for all eventualities, but all 1
precautions came to nothing because the plan was not understood, and, if v
derstood, not followed by anyone with zest, except by Ibrahim Khan Gar
who was the author of it It 1s clear that the last fight was fought between t
Maratha cavalry and the Afghan infantry But the majonty of the Maratl
generals fad, 1t seems, no faith 1n brafum’s pian and its possible success Th
were expecting defeat rather than victory, and as such were more prepar
for immediate flight.than for a fight to the fimsh by stcling to therr pos
At the same time they hnew that preapitous flight at the very beginning w
quite impossible, the other troops bewng engaged at the front It 5 curio
to note that of all those who survived the battle, there 15 an overwhelmn
majonity of old men amongst the notables Malharrao Holkar, Vitth
Shivdeo, Satvopt Jadhav, Damay Gaikawad, Antajn Manaheshwar, Sabaj Shinc
Khanan Jadhav, Janrao Wable and Gangoba Chandrachud were all agc
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certan extent, though they were massacred on the way, hke Antap Manahesh-
war and Bap Han Supehar who were hlled™ by the Baluch Zamimdars near
Farukh nagar to the south west of Delln  Not all who ran away survived
rather the majonty died as a result of slaughter or by starvation and cold It
1s certamn that some two lakhs of people died during those two or three weeks,
but more died from hunger and cold than by wounds m the battle We do
not beheve that the Maratha camp had five lakhs of people as reported
Browne’s translation of Kashiraj, much less can 1t be ten lahhs as trans
lated by Sir Jadunath ¥

Another mmportant thing to note m this affair 15 the absence of any de
taled account of the campamgn or of the final battle from the pen of any of
these renegades  Malbarrao Holkar’s supposed confession 15 enly an example
of specious pleading specially wntten to order by some clever scnbe  Other
wise no one else even tnies to give the whole account Nana Purandare who
was very intinate with Bhay, and was supposed to belong to hus party
poliics, 15 omunously slent about the battle, though he had occasion to wnte
of the event  From the whole tenor of the vanous wnitings about the battle,
it 15 clear that the survjvors had come tq an understanding among themselves
to report it 1 a particular manner Their addiional excuse of domg so was
on account of the personal and political necessities of the case  The personal
necessity arose out of the respect for the feelings of Parvauibai, Bhau’s wife
who survived and returned i the company of the renegades, as well as anxiety
for the health of the Peshwa Though Nana Fadms, Nana Purandare, Mal
harrao Holkar and others seem to have been convinced very early of Bhau's
death by the letters they recewvd from Kashira), Anupgir Gosawi, Purushot
tam Hingne, Ganesh Vedanti and others, they were afraid to disclose the fact
for ats effects on Parvaubai and Nanasaheb The pohitical necessity was stil
greater ‘The Marathas tned as far as possible to muumise the disaster by
staring rumours about the safe runmg away of Bhau, Janakoj and others,
thus trying to keep an atmosphere of expectancy for the sudden emergence of
Bhau and Janahoj at any tme and from anywhere, as long as they could
By this method they did succeed 1 rallying the survivors and makmg a bold
stand from the base at Gwahor Its defimte political effect 1s scen 1 the re
turn of Ahmad Shah Abdal after waiting for two months at Delli, and still
mare by lus pohtical arrangement  He bestowed the Waziship of the Mughal

L Empire—be 1t noted—not on s ally Shuga ud daulsh but on the regiide
Ghaz ud din Khan, a protege of the Marathas He tried to concthate the
Peshwa by fing dol ges couched m an apologetic tone, and
also by opening negotiations for a poltical settlement ' In response the Peshwa
also tned to looh at the matter 1 a pohtical manner without revengeful fect
mgs  He also sent Mir Amvarulla Khan Tnmbakkar to Dellw with dresses of
honour for Abdali and his Wazir Shah Wali Khart V7 But by the ume Anvarulla
hhan had reached Kota, he got the news of Abdal’s sudden return 1o his own
e e
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country due to the rebellious atutude of his Durrami troops, and had, there-
fore, to come back with the clephant whuch was bang carned as a present to
Abdalr 8

Estivate oF 7ue Loss oF Husan Lives 1x Tire BatTiz

The last tracc of resistanee on the battle-field ceased 4t ¢ P on that
day, when two hours of day-light sull remained  Tlhus fact, together with the
fact of the day being the cighth of the bright moon on which the moon wasover-
head 1n the evening casting no shadow and setung after midmght, gave ample
tume and scope for the Afghans to pursue the fugitives and hill as many of
them as possible Tt 15 difficult 1o esumate the number of Maratha soldiers antl
non-combatants slaughtered, but the total was not less than one kb Qut of
the 6o,000 soldiers, possibly half the number died on the batle ficld fighung
face to face Some 10,000 more must have died 1n the pursuit  Of the re-
maimng 20,000, 10,000 definitely reached Guafior 1 safety after a fortmght.
The rest died on the way fighung with the villagers or on account of heavy
wounds, exhausuon, stanaton and discwise  Of the sunvors, too, half only
had run away with their horses, the rest had slowly trudged back on foot losing
thetr horses to the robbers on the way  Amongt the soldiers who lost thar Iives,
Bhau, Vishwasrao, Samsher Bahadur (who had extneated humsell out of the
final struggle aflter receiving heavy wounds and run bach upto Deeg n the
Jat's domunion to dic there), Yashvantrao Pawar, Janakop Shinde (who was
slaughtered m captvity), Ibrahum Khan Gardi with his brother-in law and
son, Santaju Wagh, Manap Paygude, Khanderao Nimbalkar, Sonay Bhaphar,
Tukop Shinde, Dadp Darchar and Narayan Bapuj Rethrehar were the most
notable, though practically all the soldiers who died on the batde-field were cx-
penenced men who had fought mn more than one baule )

In the camp were probably onc lakh and a half of non combatants  Of
these some 6,000 found their way to the non hostile camp of Shuja ud daulah
and got a shelter there  They were protected from the fury of the Afghans and
safely sent back to Jatwada after the return of Ahmad Shah to Delln Some
22,000 persons were captured as slaves by the Afghans the next day  Of these
a considerable number were women belonging either to the senvant or concu-
bine class wath perhaps a few hundred of marned women, who had accom-
panted theirr husbands for pilgnmage  These were sold by therr Afghan cap-,
tors to Indian soldiers  Of the rest, possibly some 50,000 were slaughtered
m cold blood by the Afghans on the day after the battle for rebigious ment
According to Kashira), every Durram soldier slaughtered a hundred or two
m this way, which 15 obviously a gross exaggeration, because 1f we take even
10,000 Durramss to have done this, it would bnng the total slaughter to
10,00,000' Many persons who had foolishly returned to Pamrpat n the even-
g of the battle and taken shelter 1n the walled town, were, the next day,
hunted out and put to the sword by the hostile townsmen themselves The
Bhau Bakhar reports a cunous permussion granted by Ahmad Shah to the sons

JBRun 6473
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of Mian Qutb Shah and Abdus Samad Khan who were beheaded by the
\arathas at Kunjpura with ignominy They sought permission to slaughter
captured men to avenge their fathers’ deaths Ahmad Shah gave them the
permut to go upto 20 hos and slaughter for four ghatihas only, but not more
Thus permitted, Qutb Shah's son slaughtered 4,000 fugitives near Sonepat
and Samad Khan's son llled 5000 near Bahadurgad to the west of Delln
None of those who were captured alive at Pampat on the next day were
slaughtered  Their property was looted but they were allowed to get them
selves freed by payng a ransom  Shuja ud daulah and hus Hindu officers,
hike Anupgir Gosaw1 and Kashira), paxd the ransom for many and sent them
back with a safe escort  Many of the fugttives posaibly lost their lives because
they would not part with what they possessed on their body Only those who
ke Nana Fadms threw away all property and assumed the dress of beggars
were able to return unmolestegl, unless they were caught m the cold massacres
related above

The loss on the Afghan side can be estimated at some 20,000, practically
all dying on the battle field  Three fourths of this number were possibly the
Indian Ruhelas, the rest being Afghans and other forexgn allies

Tue SporLs or THE BATTLE

If 1t 15 1mpossible to estimate the total number of men who died at
Pamupat, 1t 1s sull more impossible to esumate the spods which came wnto the
hands of the Afghans and the Ruhelas The defimite loss on the Maratha side
as stated by Nana Fadms'® was 50,000 horses, the number of all the elephants
and camels and hullocks 1s nowhere defimtely stated 300 elephants, 3,000
camels and about a lakh of bullocks would be, we believe, a fair eshmate  All
the artillery as well as the weapons possessed by the various soldiers and non-
combatants fell into the hands of the wictars and bnpands  The total number
of cannon, great and small, heavy and hight, should be some 300, 25,000 match
lochs and mushets of the French pattern wielded by the Gards troops of Ibralum
Khan must have fallen mto the hands of the Ruhelas and the Durranis  One
lakh of swords, shields and spears i the possession of both combatants and non

>combatants must have been looted by the victors A similar number of javehns,
axes daggers and hnives of many vaneties also must have been captured from
the camp by the victors A few thousand armours, worn by some of the noted
Marathas and the Gardis of Ibralum Khan also must have fallen mto the hands
of the vanous captors This 1s as far as the war matenal 15 concerned  Of
these, most of the horses and bullocks and elephants were mn a half starved con-
dition, unable to walk even a short distance These were sold by the Afghans
to the Indian soldiers at almost nominal prices Many of these must have
perished before reaching the homes of their buyers as no fodder was availabk
anywhere m the vicmty of Pampat and Dellu  Many of the bullocks mus
have been slaughtered for food by the victorious Mushms

—
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How much property fell into the hands of the captors 15 very difficult
to esimate ‘The personal kit of an average Maratha soldier was very meagre
It would be one big brass lota and a small vessel for drinking water, an iron
pan for baking bread and a brass plate on which to dine A few hundred
Ing vessels for storng water or cooking rice and vegetables i volume would
naturally be found i this big camp where occasionally even Brahmins must
have been fed on religious occasions, or when on visits to places of pilgnmage
on the way The clothmg and bedding of an average Maratha soldier and
camp follower could not have been worth much, except for some big sardars
and officials who were probably well clad, weanng costly apparel 'The tents,
big and small, screens and other matenal of an official nature, worth some lakhs,
also came 1ntdo the possession of the Afghans What the bazar accompanying
the Maratha army possessed on the last day, 1t 1 difficult to say But taling
mto consideration the famimne conditions subsisung 1n the Maratha camp, there
could not have been much of corn, gram and other articles of food and drink
The only item left worth noting was cash and jewellery A certain amount of
accumulated com should have been found mn the possession of the bazar merchants
and artisans who had recewved fabulous returns for their goods But most of
the army and camp followers, as well as the state treasury accompanymg the
army on the march, had possibly exhausted their treasure in buying things at
fabulous prices, and many had to sell their jewellery and trinkets in order to
subsst, thus leaving comparatively very httle in thexr pochets or on thewr per-
sons Possibly the accumulated sales money of the merchants had been bor-
rowed by the starving individuals 1n the camp and also perhaps by the state
If this surmise 15 true, then even the merchants’ money must have disappeared
from the camp 1n buying wvictuals and fodder or other necessties  Only the
unsold and unsalable articles must have remamed n the camp and fallen into
the hands of the Afghan soldiers Some 20,000 slaves, male and female, were
also appropniated by the victors

Taking mto consideration what has been said above, we do not think
the estimate of vanous writers about loot as correct “Every trooper brought
away ten or even twenty camels laden with money” 1s the description of
Kashiray, We think 1t a gross exaggeraton It true that the Marathas last
everything they possessed, but no Maratha soldier would have on his person or
n hus pochet precious metal worth more than a hundred rupces on an average
It 15 doubtful whether even this much had been left with lum after ten months
of march through a foreign country, when looting had been forbidden, salanes
and wages not paid for the most part, and all subsisted by selling what they
possessed  We hnow the altermath of war  Ahmad Shah Abdah found 1t 1m-
possible to pay the accumulated salares of his soldiers and hence they mutined
They were, so reports Nur ud din, completely dissatisfied with what they had
received as spoils, which they considered very meagre after two years of hard
campaigming  ‘The conquered terntories were bestowed on the Ruhelas  The
booty had also to be sold to them at nominal prices on account of the want of
cash with which to buy the necessares  The captured horses were worth only
ten or_twenty rupees cach!  As a result, the unruly Durram: troops were on the
pomt of plundenng the camp of Shuja ud daulah who decamped from Dell
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without even taking leave of the Afghan monarch! It will be seen from these
descriptions that this great victory had not brought much cash into the coffers
of the Afghans, and was thus a financial failure. While the Marathas had lost
their all in the immediate as well as distant sense, there was no commensurate
gain to the victors  Verily it was a Pyrrhie victory!

Foop ArraxcemENTs Dumine Tie Barrie

Sir Jadunath’s charge (Fall 2.337) that the Marathas did not carry
“roast meat and dry bread” in their saddle is due to his ignorance of the
Maratha manners. Roasted gram and rice were generally carried by the
Marathas when on travel, together with raw sugar (gur) to be eaten before
drinking water after a long journey. Flour for baking bread was carried on
the person to be used at halt. , The Marathas were vegetarians to a great ex-
tent, but they also knew the sustaining power of meat in preference to bread.
At least one reference mentioning its use is available in Raywabe to-59, dur-
ing the war between Janoji Bhonsle and Madhavrao Peshwa in 1769, Janoji
for one month was continually on the march every day with Madhavrao close
at his heels During a march of three or four days in succession, he could not
make 2 halt so as to bake bread. The Bhonsle army subsisted on mutton only
and thus gave the slip to the Peshwa. This clearly proves that occasionally,
when available, the Marathas made use of roast meat to subsist en.  Of course,
1t is. more than we can say whether the Marathas on the ficld of Panipat were
actually carrying ready-made food on their persons, but our surmise is that
they did.

MaraTiA Mope oF WARFARE

That the historic Marathas had perfected an individual mode of
cavalry movement is clear from its adoption by Col. Skinner in his later famous
“Skinner’s Horse.”  General G. C. Muxnny?® who accompanted Lord CoMBER-
MERE, the Commander-in-Chief 1n India in 1830, on his tour through northern
India, writes of 1t 1n the followmng manner:

N “The peculiar evolution of the ‘Skinner’s Harse” and which fs most stnking to a En
ropean eye 1s the Maretha charge. In tlus movement the whole corps advances n line,
two deep, at a canter or trot, which, like Jobn Gilpin's, becomes ‘s gallop toon’s and as
they approach their object, the files open out, and every man, uttening s wild, shnll scream,
comes thundering on with his sword waving above his head In spite of the apparent
disjonted wrregulanity of the charge, and the amazng tpeed of. their approach, at the word
‘halt’ every horse 15 hrought upon his haunches within ten paces of the reviewing General,
The Maratha charge 1s certamnly well calculated to strike terror into a foe already wavering,
but its real physical effect upon staunch troops mwust he (ar mfetror to the close combiacd
charge of our cavalry ™ (Page 165 )

The Marathas were known as superb spearmen and their mode can be
judged from the Shinner’s Horse tramned in the same tradition

20Muam's Pen and Pencd Sketches i India, 3rd ed. (1858).
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housings, the fringe of which reached nearly to the ground, were of velset embrordered 1o
gold and mher . The Mahratta elephants bave a style of gait and carmage peculiar to
themselves, and are as superior in appearance to ours, as the' Euglih thoroughbred racer
15 to the earth stopper’s hack. The Company’s elephints, probably from having been rode
too young, and oppressed with burthens, shuflle alodg wih short step , their necks bent,
and their heads hanging with the wmelancholy air of an Oxford street hackney coach horse
The Mabraita elephan! indes maje:neally along, los head elesated far above hus shoulder,
and Ius tu Ls standing out horizontally The chiels pnde themselves greatly on there am
mals, and take pleasure 1n teaching them a vanety of ks (Pages 213, 1)

Though these descriptions are dated seventy years after Pampat, they can as well serve
for the visualizanton of the Maratha army on that fatal feld.



CHAPTER VII
THE JUDGMENT
THE RESPONSIBILITY OF TIE PANIPAT DisasTer

THE \MAraTHA sunnors from the Pampat disaster scem to have com
bined 1n taking adsantage of the death of the commander in chief and asenb-
1ng the defeat to hus incorrect strategy, wrong tactics and, i general, to s con
cext, arrogance and blindness to the facts of the situation  Our narratn e should
have made 1t clear by now that most of these grounds of condemnation are
flumsy after thoughts  \s Bhau was not a free man in diplomauc talks, the
responsibility 1s shufted to the shoulders of the Peshwa  Sadashivrao Bhau's
strategy or planming was not incorrect, but its execution devolved upon per-
<ons who were not strong enough or wise enough*to carry 1t out Bhau cer-
tainly cnnot be pronounced a first rate general m lustory Three fourths of
tus mental mould was civil m composition, and only one fourth can be treated
as muilitary 1 form  Ahmad Shah Abdali, lus mval, bore a reverse proporuon
m hs mental make up  The sort of expertness 1n any matter which comes to
a man by single minded absorption 1n one kind of work only, 15 not possible
mn a man whose fe 15 dinided and shared by vanous interests Sadashnrao
w1, no doubt, trunced as any other Maratha sardar of the day for war, but
that docs not seem to be lus favounte occupaton  His muind was diplomauc
mn formation 1nd his expertness was to be scen 1 lis management of finance
and administranon  \hmad Shah had led the hfe of a slave under such a
military master as Nadie Shah from his childhood, and spent pracucally every
munute of his hfe amudst war  His expertness was bomn of this long, all ab-
corbing expenence  Such an expencnce and such penod of candidateship
scldom fall 1o the lot of an average man  Certainly none of the Marthas
could boast of such truming  The lustonc Marathas were war ke no doubt,
byt when compared to the Afghans, must be judged more as avil than military
Cril men can also become good soldiers if they are imbued with lugh 1deals
JF she couse for shueh 2 man Hights s after hus onn heant, be can put all Jus
faculues mto the affair and sce to it that it ends i succes  Unlortunately
such was not the state of the Maritha army at Panipat as a whole  Bhau and
othess siding with hum fought for the name of the Marathas, but there were
many others, perhaps the majonty, who thought otherwise.  Malharrao Holkar
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lieved in hus professions at all. This was the teal tragedy of the Panipat cam.’
paign. Actually, it was Matharrao who, in the company of Raghunathracy
had gone to the Panjab and stretched the Maratha sphere of influence-upto
Attock and even beyond. It was this expansion by driving Abdali’s forces our
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Tie Maratia sunnvors from the Pampat disaster seem to have com
bined 1n taking advantage of the death of the commander in-chief and ascnb-
ing the defeat to hus incorrect strategy, wrong tactics and, 1n general, to Jus con
cat, arrogance and blindness to the facts of the stuation  Our narmatine should
have made 1t clear by now that most of these grounds of condemnation are
flimsy after thoughts ~ As Bhau was not a free man 1 diplomatic talks, the
responsibility 15 shifted to the shoulders of the Peshwa  Sadashwrao Bhau's
artegy or planmng was not mncorrect, but 1ts execution devalved upon per-
<ons who were not strong enough or wise enough®to carry 1t out Bhau cer-
tanh cannot be pronounced a first-rate general in hustory  Three-fourths of
tus mental mould was civil i compesition, and only one-fourth can be treated
as multary 1n form  Ahmad Shah Abdal, his nval, bore a reverse proporuon
m hs mental mahe up  The sort of expertness i any matter which comes to
a man by single minded absorption in one hind of work only, 15 not possible
n a man whose Lfe 15 divided and shared by vanous mnterests Sadashivrao
was, no doubt, tramncd 1 any other Maratha sardar of the day for war, but
that does not scem to be hus favounte occupation  His nund was diplomatic
i formation and his expertness was to be seen in his management of finance
and admumstration  \hmad Shah had led the Ife of a slave under such a
malitary master as Nadir Shah from hus cluldhood, and spent pracucally every
mnute of his hfe amudst war  His expertness was born of this long, all ab-
orbing expencnce.  Such an expenence and such penod of candidateship
«ldom fall to the ot of an average man  Centanly none of the Marathas
could bowt of such truning  The histonc Marathas were war-hike no doubt,
byt when compared to the Afghans, must be judged morc as avil than military
Ciil men can also become good soldiers if they are imbued with high tdeals
If the cause for which a man fights 1s after huis own heart, he can put all lus
faculues into the affair and sce to it that 1t ends in success  Unfortunately
such was not the state of the Marutha army at Pampat as a whole Bhau and
others uiding with lum fought for the name of the Marathas, but there were
many others, perhaps the majonty, who thought otherwise, Malharrao Holkar
and others, who escaped by runming away from the batte field 1 good ume,
held a dufferent opimon.  They thought that they were not fighung for a
suprane cause bihe the defence of one’s motherland It was the life lony con-
siction of Malharrao and men of lis tvpe that the Marathas outude Maha-
rashira were fighung for profit and not for a cause. If they succeeded m the
attempt without seratchung ther shan, so much the better  But 3f they had to
fall back 10 face of ligher odds, there was no dugrace for the name of the
Marathas 10 case of a revene Sadashwrao Bhau's declared deal~India
for the Indiars, governed by the Indians themsclves—was scarcely undet-
swood by anyore beudas 3 few nur‘(lncx;ﬂ.c, and none 1 the coemy camp Lee
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heved in his profas:ons at all. This was the real tragedy ‘of the Panipat cam-
paign. Actually, it was Malharrao who, in the pany of Ragh hrao;
had gone to the Panjab and stretched the Maratha sphere of influence upto
Attock and even beyond. It was this expansion by driving Abdali’s forces out
of the Panjab that had caused Ahmad Shah Abdali to seek revenge. But Mal-
harrao had stretched the line only when Ahmad Shah, after first looting Delhi
and Mathura, had returned back to Afghanistan. Taking ddvantage of the
absence of the main forces of the enemy in India, Raghunatiirao and Malhar-
rao had proceeded to Lahore. Even in the Panipat campaign, Malharrao’s
idea was similar. He had advised Bhau to remain behind the Chambal in the.
Maratha dominions and wait till the departure of Abdali. Afterwards he would
have accompanied Sadashivrao Bhau even to the Panjab, had he so desired.
Matharrao and most of the Marathas thought this as the real guenlla mode
coming down from the days of Shivaji. Fighting open, face-to-face, pitched
battles on the result of which the fate of the Marathas wduld depend, was
against the fixed tenor of their minds, They would never run such risks, On
the other hand, it was the intention first of the Mughals and later on of the
Afghans under Abdali to bring the Marathas to a pitched battle so as to de~
cide the issue in a single fight. Aslong as the defence of their home-land and
the breaking up of the enemy’s power were the primary aims of the Marathasy
their old mode was all right; but now that the Marathas had spread over the
length and breadth of India and aspired to take the reins of Government of
the whole continent in their hands, the original mode was out of place and
time. Sadashivrao Bhau had understood this point, especially after coming
into contact with the French under Bussy in 1751, but Malharrao had not.
Malharrao followed his hfe’s conviction even after Panipat and succeeded
when not confronted by the new type of infantry. He received his coup-de-
grace finally at the hands of the English at Kora on grd May, 1765, and fled
back to Kalpi to save his life! Thus it will be seen that a conflict of ideals
and long cherished modes of warfare cut at the root of Panipat.

e e FErdvamant & Ca SWHTE dr i aftrerant an’ aratittaly
accepted criticism of the Pampat campaign,! puts the whole blame for the
falure on two persons in the main, Malharrao Holkar and Govindpant Bun-
dele. We have seen above how a fundamental conflict of ideals and modes
*was at the root of the whole difference. Just as Bhau’s mind was already
prejudiced against Govindpant long before his starting for the Panipat cam-
paign, similarly Bhau’s opinion about Malharrao from the beginning was any-
thing but favourable. Matharrao’s way in polities was to heep on speaking
terms with all and not to antagonise anyone completely.? He had kept a simi-
far attitude towards Najib Khan for the same reasons. Such an attitude was
possible for a secondary potentate like Malharrao, but impossible for men of
Bhau's position who had to take a decisive step one way or the other. In 1750-
51 the Peshwa had suspected Matharrao and even Jayapa Shinde of trying to
free themselves from the Peshwa’s service and accepting service under the

—_—
'Rax. 1 Introduction.
2 Purandare, 1287, 293
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Tie MararHa survnors from the Pamipat disaster seem to have com
bined 1n taking advantage of the death of the commander m chief and ascrib-
1ng the defeat to his icorrect strategy, wrong tactics and, 1 general, to his con
ceit, arrogance and blndness to the facts of the situation Qur narrative should
have made 1t clear by now that most of these grounds of condemnation are
flumsy after thoughts ~ As Bhau was not a free man n diplomatic talks, the
responsibality 1s shifted to the shoulders of the Peshwa  Sadashivrao Bhaus
strategy or planming was not incorrect, but 1its execution devolved upon per
ons who were not strong enough or wise enough®to carry 1t out Bhau cer-
tamnly cannot be pronounced a first rate general i hustory Three fourths of
his mental mould was civil n composition, and only one fourth can be treated
as muilitary in form  Ahmad Shah Abdal, his rval, bore a reverse proportion
in hs mental make up The sort of expertness i any matter which comes to
2 man by single minded absorption m one kind of work only, 15 not possible
m a man whose hfe 15 divided and shared by varous mterests Sadashivrao
w1s no doubt, tramed as nny other Maratha sardar of the day for war, but
that docs not seem to be his favourte occupation  His mund was diplomatic
m formation and his expertness was to be seen mn his management of finance
and adnumstraton Ahmad Shah had led the lfe of a slave under such a
mihtary master as Nadir Shah from his childhood, and spent practically every
minute of his fe anudst war  His eapertness was born of this long, all ab
corbing espenence  Such an experience and such period of candidateship
seldom fall to the lot of an average man Certawnly none of the Marathas
could boast of such trmming  The historic Marathas were war like no doubt,
but when compared to the Afghans, must be judged more as civil than mbtary
Ciil men can also become good soldiers if they are imbued with lugh ideals
If the cause for which a man fights 1s after lus own heart, he can put all hus
faculties into the affair and see to 1t that it ends 1n success  Unfortunately
such was not the state of the Maratha army at Pampat as a whole Bhau and
others siding with him fought for the name of the Marathas, but there were
many others, perhaps the majonity, who thought otherwise  Malharrao Holkar
and others, who escaped by runming away from the battle field 1n good tme,
held a different opmion  They thought that they were not fightung for a
supreme cause lihe the defence of ones motherland It was the hfe long con
viction of Malharrao and men of his type that the Marathas outside Maha
rashtra were fighung for profit and not for a cause If they succecded m the
attempt without scratching their shin, so much the better  But f they had to
fall back 1 face of lugher odds, there was no disgrace for the name of the
Marathas 1n case of a reverse  Sadashnrao Bhaw's declared ideal—India
for the Indians, governed by the Induans themselves—was scarcely under-
steod hy anyone besides a fow near fnends, and none 1n the cnemy camp Le-
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leved in his professions at all  Thus was the real tragedy ‘of the Pamupat cam-
paign  Actually, it was Malharrae who, in the company of Raghunathrao,
bad gone to the Panjab and stretched the Maratha sphere of mfluence upto
Attoch and even beyond It was this expansion by driving Abdaly’s forces out
of the Panjab that had caused Ahmad Shah Abdal to seeh resenge. But Mal
harrao had stretched the hine only when Ahmad Shah, after first looting Delht
and Mathura, had returned bach to Afghamstan Taling advantage of the
absence of the main forces of the enemy n India, Raghunathrao and Malhar-
rao had procecded to Lahore Even mn the Pampat campaign, Malharrao’s
idea was simidar  He had adwvised Bhau to remam behind the Chambal in the
Maratha domimons and wait tll the departure of Abdali  Afterwards he would
have accompamed Sadashivrao Bhau even to the Panjab, had he so desired
Malharrao and most of the Marathas thought this as the real guenlla mode
comng down from the days of Shnap Fighung open, face-to-face, pitched
battles on the result of which the fate of the Marathas would depend, was
against the fined tenor of thewr minds. They would never run such nsks. On
the other hand, 1t was the mntention first of the Mughals and later on of the
Afghans under Abdali to bning the Marathas to a pitched battle so as to de-
ade the ssue 1 a single fight.  As long as the defence of their home-land and
the brealing up of the enemy’s power were the pnmary aims of the Marathas;
their old mode was all nght, but now that the Marathas had spread over the
fength and breadth of India and aspired to take the remns of Government of
the whole continent 1n thewr hands, the omginal mede was out of place and
tume Sadashivrao Bhau had understood this pomt, especially after comng
into contact with the French under Bussy i 1751, but Malharrao had not.
Malharrao followed fus hie’s conviction even after Pampat and succeeded
when not confronted by the new type of nfantry He recewved his coup de-
grace finally at the hands of the English at Kora on 3rd May, 1765, and fled
bach to Kalpt to save his hfe! Thus 1t will be seen that a conflict of 1deals
and long chenshed modes of warfare cut at the root of Pamipat.

s s Vindvarmaat & Raywase or hy of rgreetad ami’ aemesealy:
accepted crticism of the Pampat campaign,! puts the whole blame for the
failure on two persons mn the mam, Malharrao Holkar and Govindpant Bun-
dele  We have seen above how a fundamental conflict of sdeals and modes
*was at the root of the whole difference  Just as Bhau’s mund was already
prejudiced agamnst Govindpant long before hus starting for the Pampat cam-
paign, ssimilarly Bhau's opimion about Malharrao from the beginming was any-
thing but favourable Malharrao's way mn politics was to heep on speaking
terms wath all and not to antagomuse anyone completely 2 He had hept a sum-
lar atutude towards Napb Khan for the same reasons  Such an attitude was
possible for a secondary potentate hke Malharrao, but impossible for men of
Bhaw’s position who had to take a decisive step one way or the other In 1750~
51 the Peshwa had suspected Matharrao and even Jayapa Shinde of trymg to
free themselves from the Peshwa’s service and accepting service under the
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Wazr Safdar Jang* Malharrao was head strong but he had also the knack
of neatly and wigorously carrying out a piece of work on which he had set
tis heart or on which a challenge was offered to um  In the dispute for suc
cesston at Jaipur he had taken a different atutude from the Peshwa and Ram
chandra Bawa, but ultimately he forced s will on the others and executed
the thing 1n his own manner Smmlarly, after Ghazi ud dins posomng m
1752 when the Peshwa went bach on hus promuse to s sardars, Malharrao and
Jayapa were suspected of beng in collusion with Tarabat and Vfahadoba
Purandare <o as to chechmate the Peshwas plans for the governance of the
\aratha Empire® Even that suspicion was ulumately found to be wrong
These examples will show the tenor of Malharraos previous Lfe, and can ac
count for the suspician which fell upon him durng the Pampat campaign, of
acting hand 1 glove with Najb, Shuja and Surajmal In popular mind, this
suspicion proved correet as Malharrao could esrape from the disaster un-
scathed with most of hus troops but we have no faith mn this judgment Sa-
dashivrao Bhau very well knew Malharrao’s ways mn politics, but had decided
to take a different line 1n this campaign on his own responsibihity  Not only
Malharrao but other sardars also were disatsfied with Bhau on account of hus
financial exactions To balance his budget after Raghunathrao’s deficit cam
paign of the Panjab, Bhau had put the burden of the Peshwa’s debts on the
shoulders of the various Saranjamdars and Jagirdars Malharrao had to pay
30 lakhs for this debt tax * but due to the debacle after Dattap Shinde s death,
Malharrao had not found it possible to pay 1t in time before the Pampat cam
paign Holhars Diwan Gangoba Chandrachud 1s found putting excuses® for
the non payment of this accepted debt taxn Bhau was naturally dissatisfied
with Malharrao and other sardars for thewr non payment of this tax which
had put a strain on his treasure purse  Malharrao was always a man of tight
purse, but there does not seem to be any ground for suspicion that there was any
bickenng between Bhau and his sardars on this pomnt duning the Pampat cam
paign  Those who think him acting 1n collusion with Surayjmal Jat should
note the fact of hus behaviour after the disaster Holhar's Ka:fijat,® ostensibly
written to represent Malharrao’s side, posinely tells us that he would not put
his fasth sn Suraymal and remam i his terntory to recoup himself  When one
Jat zanundar tned to stop lum mn his flight by catching hold of the reins of his
horse, Malharrao ashed his companion, Govindrao Bule, to cut off the Jat's,
hand, and drove away preapitately for fear of treachery  This, anecdote
represents Malharraos mind - He would not put faith even m his fhend, for
who could guarantee that the Jat Raja had not changed his mind as a result
of the disaster? Malharrao's whole manner was that of a very suspicious and
overcautious man tahing no nsks The anecdote 18 supported by the fact of
his flight through the Jats terntory south of Mathura without sojourming
it He took a road skirting on the Jat domimon, but not through 1it, and went
direct to Blund via Agra, crossing the Chambal and the Kuwan along the mver
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famuna to avoid the oft-trodden and direct road to Gwalior  After Pampat
he fought agamnst the rebels in Malwa and Bundelhhand  In November 1761,
he decisively defeated Madhosingh of Jaipur, getung a wound himself He
fought 1n the Rakshasabhuwan campaign and helped n defeating the Nizam m
1763 Returming to the north, he again jomned Jawahirmal Jat agamst—be
1t noted—Napb Al these inadents make 1t difficult to believe that Malhar-
rao was treacherous towards Bhau or the Peshwa A man’s character ought to
be judged as a whole and not by lus suspicious behaviour 1n one incident only

Govindpant Bundele has Leen made the chief scape goat for the Pamupat
dsaster  One third of RAJwADE’s renowned mtroduction to s first volume
of letters 1s devoted to an analysis of Govindpant’s behaviour and his down-
nght condemnation, making lum solely responsible for the nuscarrtage of Bhau's
plans RajwaDE’s charges aganst Govindpant are as follows Furstly, he was
not successful tn bringmg Shuja ud daulah to the Maratha side  Next, he had
not made proper arrangements for Bhaw’s transpart wito the Doab  Thirdly,
he had not sent the momies called for  Fourthly, he would not mvade Shuja’s
dommons and create a diversion 1n that direcion  And last, but not least, he
did not cut off Abdali’s supplies coming through the Doab, thus making Bhau’s
plan funle We have scen i the course of the campaign how none of these
charges can be substantiated Rajwapg, and following him other cntics also,
have wrongly assumed that Govindpant was a military captan  On page 1g,
Rajwape puts Govindpant 1n the bist of renowned generals of the ime! The
suffix Pant as opposed to Rao appended to the name of Govind 1s stself a proof
that the man was taken as a civihan and not a soldier  He was not a Saran-
jamdar or Jagrdar mamntaimng troops out of the income of his Jagir  He was
an ambitious mamlatdar who on account of a boastful temperament, aspwred
to be a captain  He had to call in vanous military captams hke Antap
Manakeshwar, Naro Shankar, Gangadhar Bajrao, Manap Payagude and
others for helpmg him i meeting the rebels i his distnicts  Occasionally he
had umself acted as a captamn, but that was aganst isigmficant opponents
and 1n the company of regular troops Even Bhau looked towards lum as a
mamlatdar first and a muhtary sardar afterwards In Rajy 1, Letter No 244,
Bhau specifically says, “You are not now only a Mahalhan  You have with
you as many troops as with a sardar” This means that Bhau was bolstering
up Govindpant and ashing lim to tahe upon humself work which was nor-
«mally not lus  His age (sixty five) and habits of hfe were aganst Bhau's ex-
pectation  This was not a question of ordimary times but of a fight to the
finsh  Only exceptionally good captans could have done what Bhau asked
Govindpant to do  The argument that as Bhau asked Govindpant repeatedly
to do certam things, it must have been 1 huis power to do 1t, 15 faulty The
fact 15, geographically, Govindpant was ving m a region to the rear of Abdal,
and as such he was the only man who could have done anything n the mat-
ter  Bhau could not detach a part of his army and <end it to Abdalt’s rear, as
Abdal was sitting across the path  Upte October, Sadashivrao had ordered
Govindpant not to come to the north” but to mvade the enemy domumons be-
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muss an unwanted officer or to replace him by a better one. If Govind-
pant did not prove serviceable enough during the Panipat campaign, the result
must be attnibuted to the defective system and not to the indwidual. But
supposing that Govindpant did not send the funds to Bhau cven though
he did possess them, hus non-comphance had little to do with the mulitary side
m the Panipat affar.  Ample funds in the hands of Bhau at Panipat would
not have brought him the necessary supplies which depended solely on the
military strength to fetch them.  Even Bhau, writing to his son after Govind-
pant’s death, is not found speaking anything against him. The Peshwa heard
the news of Govindpant’s death after his crossing the Narmada in January
1761, Wnting a letter™ of condolence to his son, the Peshwa culogised his
fathful services unto death, a befitting end to a long Ife of faithful serv-
ice. The Peshwa wanted to treat the sons of Govindpant as children in
his own family. This shows that the Peshwa had no information or
suspicion of Govindpant’s dereliction in the Panipat camgaign. Balkrishna
Dikshut, writing from Benares about Govindpant’s end, remarked,® “A great
man has passed away”” Thus it would scem that contemporary opinion did
not condemn Govindpant. It was only when sunvivors from Panipat, who
wished to absahe themselves from all blame, began to put the whole responsi-
bility on those who had died, that Govindpant came in for his share in the
condemnation along with Bhau and Balvantrao. The Bhau Bakhar puts the
whole affair in such a dramatic form as to lead to the inevitable disaster. It has
made Govindpant a friend of Najib Khan® from the beginning of the campaign,
where he is shown as an accessory of Malharrao in shielding Najib against
Daiaji Shinde's wrath!  Govindpant is the agent who made Dattajt accept
Nayb's treachcrous proposal of building a bridge over the Ganges, so as to de-
1y the affair ull the arrival of Abdali! Later on, Govindpant is represented
as h.\\ing.rcfmincd from attacking Najib's fanuly and treasure in his trans-
Ganges raid by aceepting five labhs as a bribe. Ultimately Govindpant is hilled,
according to the Bakkar, not by Atai Khan, but by Najib’s Ruhelas! Now
{rom \»h:\( we Lnow of Govindpant’s relations with the Shinde family from the
veny }xgmmng, it cannot be imagined that he would do anything of the kind,
especially agamnst the Shindes, There is pasitive proof in his letters to Ramaji
Anant, the Divwan of the Shindes, that Govindpant favoured Jayapa Shinde in
preference and perhaps as against Malharao Holkar® In Dattaji’s cam-
paign against Najib, Govindpant 1s throughout acting under his orders. He
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latdar  There 1s evidence of troubled times and consequent non realisation of
Government dues by lum from 1750 onwards  In 1755 1 similar condition
1s found repeated®  From the unpublished Dabholbar papers (Nos 159, 163,
164, 165, 166) 1t 15 clear that Sadashivrao Bhiu and even Raghunathrao who
was w the north at the time, were very suspicious of all the sardars and the
mamlatdars 1n the north®  Gangoba Chandrachud the Holhars Diwan
Ramap Anant Dabholhar the Shinde’s Diwan, and Govindpant were sup-
posed to be acung in collusion, and grabbing Government ducs by an under
standing amgong themselves  Bhau scems to have threatened Govindpant with
an imesugation 1nto fus resenue dealings even then  Govindpant had not sub-
mitted accounts for some five years  So he was peremptonly called to Poona
and Govindpant was very apprehiensive of the result He wrote to Ramappant
tus fear of losing the credit and the fruit of hus thirty years' service of the
vestgation aganst lum went wrong  He ashed Ramaj to help lum m his dif-
ficulies as both were suling n the same boat! His visit to Poona was de
Iayed for a year more on actount of local difficulues  After defeating Sayyad
Al Ashar Kubda sent by the Wazir Ghazi ud din to occupy the Mahals granted
to the Marathas at the beginmng of 1756, setthng the affairs in the north and
mahing arrangements for hus absence, he came to Poona at the end of the
year and remained there for some ten months  He seems to have satisfied the
Peshwa and lus exacung Diwan, Bhau  Bhau sent Lack with hum twe au
ditors, Janardan Apap Erande and Trimbah Knshna Kamtkar, to chech lus
accounts and, in general, to control Govindpant 1n fus revenue matters  They
hved i the north for three years till Pampat, and sulf they could not succeed
i doing what they had been appomted to do' Govindpant became entangled
1n ather pohitical matters and went with Dattap Shinde to the north  The au
ditors, becomung hopeless, were on the pomnt of returmng to Poona at the end
of 1759, but somchow they were prevailed upon to reman in the north on
Govindpant’s promuse to come and scttle the accounts to thar satsfaction
The correspondence between Govindpant and the auditors proves that Govind
pant was not cfficient m keeping hus accounts nor could he be treated as blame-
less or above suspicion  Why he was not dismused for his neghgence before
Panupat 15 again a moot point It mny be that while Bhau was charging hum
with embezzlement, the Peshwa was perhaps shielding um in the affar - Even
after the Panipat disaster, the Peshwa s not found condemming Govindpant
or calling his sons to account for ther father’s neghgence  Thus it appears
that there was somethung wrong n the system of adtmunistration devised by the
Peshwa  Every Government officer of some standing looked upon hiumself as
a small chief 1n those days  Sardars like Shinde, Holhar, and Pawar, thought
themselves more as partners 1n the empire than as servants of the Peshwa
What was allowed by the Peshwa to these higher men out of necessity, was
usurped by lesser men  Antajt Manakeshwar, Naro Shankar, Vitthal Shivdeo,
Gopalrao Barve, Govindpant Bundele, and the Hingre brothers tned to posc
as equals 1 some way with the fortunate sardars Their nvalry had vitiated
the whole atmosphere, and 1t was difficult for the Peshwa ether to dis
R T
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latdar. There 15 evidence of troubled tmes and consequent non-reabsation of
Government dues by him from 1750 onwards In 1755 a similar condition
1s found repeated * From the unpublished Dabholkar papers (Nos 159, 163,
164, 165, 166) 1t 15 clear that Sadashivrao Bhau and even Raghunathrao who
was 1 the north at the time, were very suspicious of all the sardars and the
mamlatdars m the north® Gangoba Chandrachud the Holhar’s Diwan,
Ramap Anant Dabholkar the Shinde’s Diwan, and Govindpant were sup-
posed to be acting 1 collusion, and grabbmg Government dues by an under-
standing among themselves Bhau seems to have threatened Govindpant with
an mvestigation mto his revenue deahngs even then  Govindpant had not sub
mtted accounts for some five years So he was peremptortly called to Poona
and Govindpant was very apprehensive of the result He wrote to Ramappant
his fear of losing the credit and the frt of his thurty years’ service if the m
vestigation agamst lum went wrong  He asked Ramap to help lum in his dif-
ficulties as both were sading i the same boat! His visit to Poona was de-
layed for a year more on account of local difficulties  After defeating Sayyad
Al Askar Kubda sent by the Wazir Ghazt ud din to occupy the Mahals granted
to the Marathas at the beganming of 1756, setthng the affawrs i the north and
making arrangements for his absence, he came to Poona at the end of the
year and remained there for some ten months He seems to have satsfied the
Peshwa and lus exacting Diwan, Bhau Bhau sent back with hum two au-
ditors, Janardan Apap Erande and Trnmbak Krshna Kamthar, to check his
accounts and, mn general, to control Govindpant 1n his revenue matters They
lived 1n the north for three years till Pampat, and still they could not succeed
m doing what they had been appomted to do! Govindpant became entangled
m other pohtical matters and went with Dattajt Shinde to the north  The au-
ditors, becommng hopeless, were on the pomnt of returmng to Poona at the end
of 1759, but somehow they were prevaled upon to remain m the north on
Govindpant’s promuse to come and scttle the accounts to ther satsfaction
The corrgspondence between Govindpant and the auditors proves that Govind-
pant was not efficient i keeping his accounts nor could he be treated as blame-
o ar adove supraar Wiy be var aa d RO MR Tt balare
Pamipat 1s agam a moot point It may be that while Bhau was charging him
with embezzlement, the Peshwa was perhaps shielding hum mn the affair  Even

after the Pampat disaster, the Peshwa s not found condemning Govindpant
or caling his sons to account for their father’s neghgence. Thus it appears
that there was something wrong in the system of admimstration devised by the
Peshwa  Every Government officer of some standing looked upon humself as

a small chiel in those days Sardars hike Shinde, Holbar, and Pawar, thought

themselves more as partners 1n the empire than as servants of the Peshwa

What was allowed by the Peshwa to these lugher men out of necessity, was

usurped by lesser men  Antajt Manakeshwar, Naro Shankar, Vitthal Shivdeo,

Gopalrao Barve, Govindpant Bundele, and the Hingne brothers trned to pose

as equals 1 some way with the fortunate sardars Thewr nvalry had vinated

the whole atmosphere, and it was difficult for the Peshwa ather to dis-
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yond the Ganges The ongmnal plan of Bhau when proceeding towards Kunj
pura 1 October was frustrated by Abdal’s daning m crossing the Jamuna at
us back  Thus fact changed the strategy i such a manner that Bhau had to
fall back on Govindpants support becausc he found it imposable to return to
Delhi 1n the face of Abdali  Herem Bhau was completcly non plussed
Abdah s daring could have been met only by a counter danng on the part of
the Marathas  Bhau’s onginal plan was to proceed farther north from Kunj
pura and replemsh huis army  He expected Abdak to follow him towards the
north m a parallel line across the Jamuna through the Doab, as his caleula
tion for the subsidence of the Jamuna waters made hum beheve  When he
heard on his way to hurukshetra that Abdali had begun crossing above Bagh
pat, he should have proceeded farther north and crossed over ito the Doab
by the Budhia Ghat as first intended  Instead, he seturned by the same path
and found to his dismay that 1t was impossible to pass by Abdah towards Dellu
or to defeat him by direct attack mn an open pitched battle  Because he re-
ceived this first chech, he had to fall back on FPampat and dig trenches there
so as to follow a different mode of warfare to swit Ibrahim Khan's Gardi
troops  Looking histoncally, 1t scems that in this Bhau took a wrong decision.
Once taken, the only strategy which remamned open was to make Abdah at
tack him 1n his strong, almost impregnable, entrenched position, but who was
1o make Abdah attach® No single vahnnt captain could have <ucceeded in the
move So Bhau expected hunger to do the work  If somebody 1n the rear could
cut off Abdalt’s supplies he would have to move and ather attack the Mara
thas as Bhau wanted him to do or retum to Afghamstan without offenng a
battle  Placed 1n such straits, Bhau was found urging Govindpant te do the
needful  Govindpant came mto the rear as ordered and tnied his luck  He
lost hus Life 1n the attempt, proving that the work was beyond his strength and
that Abdali was a far more consummate general than Bhau imagined him to be.
This discussion should prove that Govindpant cannot be charged with not obey
ing orders and doing his best ' We believe that any other captain would have met
the same fate and could not have succeeded 1 cutting off the supphes, as the
Ruhelas in that region were well orgamised and wigilant

The charge of not sending the sums called for stands on a different
level ‘There 15 no evidence available on the pomnt of Govindpant's ability to
pay As a Kamavisdar of thirty years' standing, the public as well as the
Peshwa probably took hum to be a nch man  Whether he had funds at his
dusposal when Bhau called for them 15 a moot pomt  We suspect that the ideas ®
about lis nches were 1ll founded Like all other mamlatdars of the tume, he
was also very cautious i money matters and would not easily part with money
But there 15 no external evidence, as in the case of Naro Shankar, for Govind
pant’s having spent money lavishly on any work or 1n any matter There are
no temples or ghats or forts built by lum, which would prove hus ever having
been an opulent man  On the other hand, complamts about non realisation
of Government dues m tus rented Mahals 15 a theme found repeated through
out the period under discussion  We do not suggest that Govindpant was above
board mn all his money dealings But the Peshwas esimates about lius vast
niches seem to be ill founded Nor do we think lim to be an efficient mam
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latdar There 15 evidence of troubled nmes and consequent non realisation of
Government dues by im from 1750 onwards In 1755 a sumlar condition
ss found repeated®  From the unpublished Dabholkar papers (Nos 159, 163,
164, 165, 166) 1t 1s clear that Sadashivrao Bhau and even Raghunathrao who
was 1 the north at the time, were very suspicious of all the sardars and the
mamlatdars 1 the north® Gangoba Chandrachud the Holkar’s Diwan,
Ramaj Anant Dabholhar the Shinde’s Diwan, and Govindpant were sup-
posed to be actng m collusion, and grabbing Government dues by an under-
standing among themselves Bhau scems to have threatened Govindpant with
an nvestigation nto s revenue dealings even then Govindpant had not sub
mtted accounts for some five years So he was peremptonly called to Poona
and Govindpant was very apprehensive of the result He wrote to Ramappant
tus fear of losing the credit and the frut of his thirty years’ service if the i~
vestigation agamst hun went wrang  He asked Ramapt to help him w hus dife
ficulties as hoth were sathng m the same boat' His visit to Poona was de-
layed for a year more on account of local difficuluies  After defeating Sayyad
Al Askar Kubda sent by the Wazir Ghaz: ud din to occupy the Mahals granted
to the Marathas at the beguning of 1756, setthng the affairs i the north and
making arrangements for s absence, he came to Poona at the end of the
year and remained there for some ten months He seems to have satisfied the
Peshwa and s eaacting Diwan, Bhau  Bhau sent bach with hun two au

ditors, Janardan Apap Erande and Tnmbak Knshna Kamtkar, to check his
accounts and, n general, to control Govindpant i his revenue matters  They
hived m the north for three years till Pampat, and stll they could not succeed
mn dong what they had been appomted to do! Govindpant became entangled
m other pohtical matters and went with Dattap Shinde to the north  The au-
ditors, becoming hopeless, were on the pomnt of returmng to Poona at the end
of 1759, but somehow they were prevailed upon to remam in the north on
Govindpant’s promuse to come and settle the accounts to therr satisfaction

The correspondence between Govindpant and the auditors proves that Govind

pant was ot efficient 1 keeping hs accounts nor could he be treated as blame-
less or above suspicion  Why he was not dismissed for huis neghgence before
Pampat 1s again a moot pomt It may be that while Bhau was charging him
with embezzlement, the Peshwa was perhaps shielding him 1n the affair  Even
after the Pampat disaster, the Peshwa 1s not found condemnming Govindpant
or calling his sons to account for thewr father’s neglhgence Thus 1t appears
that there was sometiing wrong 1n the system of admumstration devised by the
Peshwa Every Government officer of some standing loohed upon himself as
2 small chief 1n those days Sardars lhe Shinde, Holkar, and Pawar, thought
themselves more as partners m the empire than as servants of the Peshwa

What was allowed by the Peshwa to these higher men out of necessity, was
usurped by lesser men  Antan Manakeshwar, Naro Shankar, Vitthal Shivdeo,
Gopalrao Barve, Govindpant Bundcle, and the Hingre brothers tried to pose
as equals in some way with the fortunate sardars Their rvalry had vitiated
the whole atmosphere, and 1t was difficult for the Peshwa ather to dis
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miss an unwanted officer or to replace hum by a better one  If Govind
pant did not prove serviceable enough duning the Panipat campagn, the result
must be attnbuted to the defectve system and not to the mdwidual Bt
supposing that Gosindpant did not send the funds to Bhau cven though
he did possess them, his non complinnee had Il to do with the miitary side
m the Pampat affur  Ample funds i the hands of Bhau at Pampat would
not ke brought lim the necessary supplies which depended solely on the
muilitany strength to fetch them  Even Bhau, wnting to lus son after Govind
pants death 1s not found speaking anything agamst lum  The Peshwa heard
the news of Govdpant’s dewth after fus crosung the Namada i January
1761 Writing a lettet®™ of condolence to lus son, the Peshwa culogised hus
faithful services unto death 1 befitting end to a long lfe of faithful seny

s The Peshwa wanted to treat the wons of Govindpant as childsen
tus own family Tlis <hows that the Peshwa had no nformauon or
suspicion of Govindpant's derclicuion i the Pampat camgaign  Balknshna
Dikshit wnung from Benares about Govindpants end, remarhed,® ‘A great
man has passed any ° Thus 1t would scem that contemporary opunton did
not condemn Govindpant. It was only when sunnors from Panipat, who
wished to absolve themsehves from all blame, began to put the whole respons:
bility on those who had died that Govindpant came mn for his share 1n the
condemnation aleng with Bhau and Bahantrao  The Bhau Bakhar puts the
whole affair n such a dramatic form 1s to lead to the mevitable disaster It has
made Govindpant a friend of Napb Rhan? from the beginmng of the campaign,
where he 15 shown as an accessory of Malharrao i shielding Napb agamst
Dattap Shinde’s wrath!  Govindpant 1s the agent who made Dattap accept
Napb s treacherous propesal of building a brdge over the Ganges, so as to de

lay the affarr tll the armval of Abdalt! Later on, Gavindpant 1s represented
as having refrained from attaching Napbs fanuly and treasure in hus trans-
Ganges raid by accepting five lakhs as a bnbe  Ulumately Govindpant is hlled,
according to the Bakhar, not by At khan, but by Napbs Ruhclas! Now
from what we know of Govindpant s relations with the Shinde famuly from the
sery beginming, 1t cannot be imagined that he would do anything of the kind,
espectally aganst the Shindes  There 1s positse proof 1n his letters to Ramap
Anant, the Dinan of the Shindes, that Govindpant favoured Jayapa Shunde in
preference and perhaps as agamnst Malharrao Holhar®  In Dattaps cam

paign aganst Napb, Govindpant 1s throughout acung under his orders He
escorts the women n the Shinde family after Dattajis death It will be seen
from these antecedents that there was no hkehhood of his acting 1n collusion
with Napb as stated by the Bakkar and by Rajwabe  The Bakkar 1s thus
proved to be a prejudiced and partial document. It 1s worth noung that the
Bakhar does not condemn Holkar for the Pampat disaster, though earher he 15
shown as acting aganst the Shindes as well as the Peshwa. Begnrung with a
prejudiced mind aganst Govindpant, mainly on the presentation of the Bakhar,
RaywAvE was simply carned away m his thought when he alighted on a big
T % Bundelkhand Prakarana p 147
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sheaf of papers e 1" with Govi dp He thought that here was the key
to the understanding of the whole Pamipat disaster!  He so far forgot humself
as to change the dates of the onginal documents i fus hand publshed wm Ins
first volume {Nos 175, 181, 183, 184) Hc even went to the length of en-
tering mto a discussion of a posubihity of changed Eras' to smit ns antedating
of the said letters!  Even Gosindpant’s caste came w for cnuasm and was
tagged on to a letter of Naro Shankar, a Deshastha brahmun and not a Karhadal
When a cntic 15 obliged to fall back on the caste of a man for explanung an
affair, he has fallen very low indeed!  Govindpant as one of the most success-
ful Karhada brahmns of his time was naturally taken as a leader of Ins com-
mumty In Benares, a large number of Karhada brahmms, well versed in
brahmancal lore, were residing dunng these umes  They formed, 1t scems,
more than half of the Deccam brahmuns resident n that holy airy  Dunng the
Panipat campaign and cven before, a nvalry exsted Letween these Karhada
brahmins and the Clmpa\;ms headed by the Dikshut Patanhar famly, the mem-
bers of which acted as bankers, diplomats as well as the spintual gurus to the
Peshwas!  Sadashinrao wrote to Govindpant to scttle the duspute as best he
could ¥ [he tinguage used by these <pintual gurus agunst other cnstes was
offensive and derogatory to their status  Lven the Peshwa s once found using
a word® for the Karhadas { A\mbhasta) which makes them rank lower m the
scale.  As an mdnidual, the Peshwa Balaj Baprao, was a mild type of person,
paying attention manly to poliies and ignonng other squabbles  Sadashivro
Bhau, like lus father Clhumay Apa,' scems to be somewhat different, with caste
consctousness at the back of s mmd  Even the Peshwa Nanasaheb was
charged with being caste conscious by such an intumate famuly friend and «nv-
ant as Mahadoba Purindare,’® his Divan dunng the fisst half of lus rule
Govindpant always tned to be on good terms wath the Peshwa family from
the sery begmnmng as be was a personnl senvant under Bajirao He was prob-
ably introduced mnto the Peshwa family by Radhabai, wife of Balay Vishwa-
nath, who came from the Barvc family of Newre from which Govindpant also
hatled  Or 1t may be that he came to Bawdhan, near Way, in the company of
Kamappant Koiawar wiio afo fauta’ 1fom Rewre  Suc this previous momacy
with the Peshwa farmuly had by tus tume no value wn the cyes of Sadashirao
who was a strict task master The Peshwa was s0 overpowered with the sense
of indebtedness, that he had allowed a frec hand to Sadashivrio m all state mat-
ters, and Sadashivrao Bhau scems to have antagomised one and all by lus line
" of conduct Fhs opinion about Raghunathrao Dada and men of lus persuasion
seemed to have steadily detenorated for at least three years before he under-
took the Pampat campaign 6 Both mlhmry as well as cvil sides i the state
were disafl m G d 's 1n lus letter to Janardan
Apap that the Peshwa had then bcgun to search 1 small things, and that at
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effectual in the end. Individuals, however great and towering, do not make
a2 nation. It is the level of the whole populace that ultimately telks.

SapasHIVRAO'S PrrsoNaL FacTors

In the treatment of the Panipat campaign, Sadashivrao has been
shown as proud, capricious, self-willed, harsh and offensive in his dealings with
others. In this, both Kashiraj and the Marathi chronicles have combined in
the condemnation of Bhau, because both write after the event, keeping their
eye on the final disaster. But this scems incorrect. The personal letters of Bhau
in the Purandare Daftar} bear testimony to the quite different mould of his
aund  He seems to be a straightforward, shy and gwleless man in his cor-
respondence with his equals in the first half of his life before he became the
Dinan of the Peshwa in 1752. He is found referring every matter to Dhondo-
pant Purandare? who seems to be his guru in the beginning. Dhondopant
advised him on the points referred to for some time, but later on became weary
and stopped giving advice. .A man who can write in the way he has wntten
to Dhondopant cannot be taken as proud or self-willed. He fears social ob-
loquy® and is found currying favour with the Peshwa his cousin and his wife
Gopihabai, as well as Sakharam Bapu, Baburao Phadnis and Mahadoba
Purandare. These secretaries would not initiate Bhau into the state affairs for
fear of _being ousted from- their positions, as well as from their unwillingness to
interfere in the family squabbles of the Peshwa. Sakharam Bapu, the wisest
among them, clearly writes to Dhondopant that “Bhau is neither proud nor
easily led by anybody.! Whatever wrong he does, he does through ignorance.”
Of course Bhau naturally felt that he belonged to the Peshwa famuly and was
thus to some extent a master and not a servant hike the other ministers, though
the Peshwa seems to have treated Bhau at first as only one’of the secretaries
Only after Bhau had shown his capacity for administration and had plaved
a trich with the advice of Ramchandra Bawa, the Peshwa was brought to un-
derstand the real situation and consented to appoint him as the sole Diwan,
lest Bhau would go to Kothapur and become a rival Peshwa there. As a
Diwan, Bhau is found to be an expert in financial matters and strict in admin-
istration. He antagonised most of the sardars and mamlatdars by his strict-
ness, since they were loose and undisciplined in their dealings. Nevertheless
the vanous Kamavisdars trembled before Bhau and would not get his con-
fidence. This had a disastrous consequence in the Panipat campaign, One and
all had to obey his orders, but none did it willingly. Al would have liked to
run away from him at the first opportunity. A general must.inspire not only
awe and respect, but should also be loved by his followers, a thing which was
not possible, it seems, in the case of Bhau. Bajirao with all his weaknesses was
loved by his followers; Sadashivrao was not  This was the result not of his
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the Poana Court nobody’s reputation was safe, are true not only as far as
Govindpant humself was concerned, but are applicable to one and all  The
whole trouble had ansen from the precedent of the Peshwa’s own domngs A
state servant (albeit the first mimster) who had nscn by flouting the orders of
fis master could not hope to secure the willing obedience of lus servants  The
Peshwa had brohken the umty of the state by concentrating power n his own
hands by all kinds of machmations and subterfuge, by relegating his co-mmis-
ters mn the state to a corner Now the same game was tried upon lnm by hus
servants  What 15 clearly seen by studying all the material and taking a com

prehensive view of the whole affair is that, both miltary as well as civil serv

ants m the Maratha State thought themselves 1n spirit more as partners n the
state than as servants who could be dismssed at will  The trouble had been
growmg for a long time, but seemed to be coming to a ltead just at this awkward
time when the state was engaged m a life and death struggle with a first class
enemy  All the sis of commussion and omussion commutted by the Peshwa
knowingly or unknowingly before, now came to Visit lum hihe the ghost at the
table of Macheth Pampat thus proved to be the culmination of all previous
defects m the Maratha system, and was not the result of one man’s musbe-
haviour or default That Sadashivrao Bhau was already prejudiced against
Govindpant, we have seen  The Peshwa was conscious of this fact and so
had wntten to Govindpant, early in May 1760, to go to Sadashivrao Bhau per-
sonally and satisfy Jum about the accounts, so as to get mto his favour,’® but
it was too late  Govindpant was now acting on the defensive  Sadashivrao
Bhau might have tried to assure hum that there was no fear of dismissal m
store for um but his words had then eaactly the opposite effect on Govind-
pant’s mind ¥ Even after this Govindpant did not turn a trator  He trned
his best, but perhaps he could not put as much heart and energy into the af-
fair as he otherwise might have done

To sum up, RaJwane’s charge against Govindpant 1s proved as far as
s heeping of accounts goes, but not on any other count That the Peshwa
should have kept a man of Govindpant’s type i such an mnportant border
region as the Doab, was wrong and mjudicious A far better and younger
sardar was necessary at such a hey post A clerh grown into a mamlatdar and
exaggerated mto a sardar was not a fit man for the post But it seems that
no better men were available to the Peshwa, which means he had neither
tramed nor had engaged better men for the post, showing a defective system
of recruitment for filuing mn various posts To appoint men simply because they
are near at hand somehow, 1s not a proper mode for running an empwe Those
who think of the nise of obscure and 1ll educated men nto imperial diplomats,
governors and generals as an achievement of the Peshwas should bear this pomnt
mn mnd  The machmery devised by the Peshwa was not fit and sufficient for
carrymng on an empire, even the constitution and machinery of a trading com-
pany hke that of the Enghsh East India Company was found better adapted
to cope with the times and emergencies, but the Maratha system proved -
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cffectual m the end  Indwiduals, however great and towenng, do not make
a nation It 1s the level of the whole populace that ulumately tells

SADASHIVRAG S PERsoNaL FacTors

In the treatment of the Pampat campaign, Sadashivrac has been
shown as proud, capncious, self willed, harsh and offensive in huis dealings with
others In this, both Kashiray and the Marathi chromicles have combined 1n
the condemmnation of Bhau, because both write after the event keeping therr
eve on the final disaster  But this seems wcorrect  The personal letters of Bhau
m the Purandare Daftar' bear testimony to the quite different mould of hus
mmd He seems to be a straightforward, shy and gmleless man m his cor
respondence with his equalsan the first half of hus hife before he became the
Diwan of the Peshwa in 17,2 He is found refernng every matter to Dhondo-
pant Purandare’ who scems to be lus guru n the begmmng  Dhondopant
advised him on the pomts referred to for some tume, but later on became weary
and stopped giving adsice A man who can wnite 1n the way he has wntten
to Dhondopant cannot be taken as proud or self willed He fears social ob-
loquy® and s found currying favour with the Peshwa his cousin and his wife
Gopihabay, as well as Sakharam Bapu, Baburao Phadms and “‘ahadoba
Purandare  These sccretanies would not imnate Bhau nto the state affairs for
fear of being ousted from. their positions, as well as from thewr unwillingness to
wterfere n the family squabbles of the Peshwa  Sakharam Bapu, the wisest
among them, clearly wntes to Dhondopant that * Bhau 1s neither proud nor
easily led by anybody* Whatever wrong he does, he does through ignorance ”
Of course Bhau naturally felt that he belonged to the Peshwa famils and was
thus to <ome extent a master and not a servant hhke the other mimsters, though
the Peshwa seems to havc treated Bhau at first as only one of the secretaries
Only after Bhau had shown s capacity for admumstrauon and had plaved
a tnch with the advice of Ramchandra Bawa, the Peshwa was brought to un
derstand the real situation and consented to appownt him as the sole Diwan
fest Bhau would go to Kolhapur and become a rival Peshwa there As a
Diwan, Bhau s found to be an expert wn financral matters and stoct m admmn
straton  He antagonised most of the sardars and mamlatdars by his stnct
uness, since they were looseand undisciphned in their deahngs  Nevertheless
the vanous kamawisdars trembled before Bhau and would not get his con
fidence This had a disastrous consequence i the Pampat campaign  One and
all had to obey his orders, but none did 1t willingly ~ All would have liked ta
run away from him at the fist opportumty A general must.tnspire not only
awe and respect, but should also be loved by hus folloners a thing which was
not possible, 1t seems, 1 the case of Bhau  Bajrao with all lus weaknesses was
loved by s followers, Sadashivrao was not This was the result not of tis
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the Poona Court nobody’s reputation was safe, are true not only as far as
Govindpant humself was concerned, but are applicable to one and all  The
whole trouble had ansen from the precedent of the Peshwa’s own domgs A
state senant (albet the first mumister) who had nsen by flouting the orders of
hus master could not hope to secure the willing obedience of his servants  The
Peshwa had brohen the umty of the state by concentrating power in his own
hands by all kinds of machinations and subterfuge, by relegatng his co-mims-
ters 1n the state to a coer Now the same game was tried upon um by his
servants What 1s clearly seen by studying all the materal and taking a com
prehensive view of the whole affair 1s that, both mabitary as well as el sen

ants m the Maratha State thought themselves m spirit more as partoers m the
state than as servants who could be dismissed at wall  The trouble had been
growing for a long time, but scemed to be coming to a head just at this awhward
time when the state was engaged m a Iife and death struggle with a first class
encmy  All the sins of commission and ormmssion commutted by the Peshwa
knowingly or unhnowingly before, now came to Visit hum lihe the ghost at the
table of Macbeth Pamipat thus proved to be the culmmation of all previous
defects m the VMaratha system, and was not the result of one man’s misbe

haviour or default That Sadashivrao Bhau was already prejudiced against
Govindpant, we have seen The Peshwa was conscious of this fact and so
had wntten to Govindpant, early in May 1760, to go to Sadashivrao Bhau per-
sonally and satisfy him about the accounts, so as to get mto his favour,'s but
it was too late  Govindpant was now acting on the defensne  Sadashnrao
Bhau might have tned to assure hum that there was no fear of dismussal i
store for lum but is words had then exactly the opposite effect on Govind-
pant’s mund ** Even after this Govindpant did not turn a trattor He tned
hus best, but perhaps he could not put as much heart and energy nto the af-
fair as he otherwise rught have done

To sum up, RaJwabr's charge agamst Govindpant 1s proved as far as
Ius keeping of accounts goes, but not on any other count That the Peshwa
should have kept a man of Govindpant’s type m such an important border
region as the Doab, was wrong and injudicious A far better and younger
sardar was necessary at such a hey post A clerh grown mnto a mamlatdar and
exaggerated into a sardar was not a fit man for the post But 1t seems that
no better men were available to the Peshwa, which means he had neither
tramed nor had engaged better men for the post, showing a defective system
of recrutment for fillng 10 vanous posts  To appoint men simply because they
are near at hand somehow, 1s not a proper mode for runmng an empire Those
who think of the nise of obscure and 1ll educated men into imperal diplomats,
governors and generals as an achievement of the Peshwas should bear thus pomt
m mind  The machinery devised by the Peshwa was not fit and suffictent for
cartying on an empire, even the constitution and machinery of a trading com-
pany like that of the Enghsh East India Company was found better adapted
to cope with the times and emergencies, but the Maratha system proved -
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cffectual in the end Individuals, however great and towering, do not make
a nation It 15 the level of the whole populace that ulumately tells

SapasHIVRAD 8 PErsonaL Factors

In the treatment of the Pamipat campaign, Sadashivrao has been
shown as proud, capricious, self willed, harsh and offensive i hus dealings with
others  In this, both Kashiraj and the Marathn chronicles have combined n
the condemnation of Bhau, because both wnte after the event keeping thewr
eye on the final disaster  But this seems incorrect  The personal letters of Bhau
i the Purandare Dafiar! bear testimony to the quite different mould of his
mind  He seems to be a straightforward shy and guileless man m his cor
respondence with hus equals.an the first half of his hfe before he became the
Diwan of the Peshwa m 1752  He is found referring every matter to Dhondo-
pant Purandare? who seems tu be his guru m the begmmng  Dhondopant
advised hum on the points referred to for some time, but later on became weary
and stopped giving advice A man who can wrte in the way he has wrtten
to Dhondopant cannot be taken as proud or self willed He fears <ocial ob
loquy® and 1s found currymg favour with the Peshwa his cousm and his wife
Gopikabar as well as Sakharam Bapu, Baburao Phadmis and ‘fahadoba
Purandare These secretaries would not imtiate Bhau 1nto the state affairs for
fear of being ousted from. thewr positions as well as from their unwithngness to
nterfefe w the famuly squabbles of the Peshwa Sakharam Bapu, the wisest
among them, clearly writes to Dhondopant that Bhau s neither proud nor
castly led by anybody‘ Whatever wrong he does he does through ignorance
Of course Bhau naturally felt that he belonged to the Peshwa farmhy and was
thus to some extent a master and not a servant like the other ministers, though
the Peshwa seems to have treated Bhau at first as only one of the secretanes
Only after Bhau had shown his capacity for admunistration and had plased
a trich with the advice of Ramchandra Bawa the Peshwa was brought to un
derstand the real situation and consented to appowit him as the sole Diwan
lest Bhan would 5o to Kolhapur and become a mval Peshwa there As a
Diwan, Bhau 1s found to be an expert 1n financial matters and stnct m admin
wstration  He antagomised most of the sardars and mamlatdars by s stnet
ness, since they were loose. and undisciplined m their dealings  Nevertheless
the vanous hamawvisdars trembled before Bhau and would not get fus con
fidence This had a dsastrous consequence in the Pantpat campaign  One and
all had to cbey hus orders but none did 1t willingly  All would have hiked to
run away from him at the fist opportumity A general must.inspire not only
awe and respect, but should also be loved by his followers, a thing which ws
not possible, 1t seems, 1 the case of Bhau  Bajirao with all lus weaknesses was
loved by his followers, Sadashivrao was not This was the result not of s
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behaviour during the ten months of the Panipat campaign, but of the im-
pression he had created during the previous ten years. It was singularly un.
fortunate for the Marathas that such should have been the case at this most
critical juncture. The respect and awe with which Shivaji scems to have been
Iooked upon by his contemporarics was not felt in the case of Bajirao and Bhau,
Bhau was not strict in his sex-life, as was wrongly assumed by Sarpesat in his
Panipat Campaign® The Purandare Daftar, Part I, bears ample testimony®
to Bhau’s extra-marital sex life. Perhaps this fact had affected the contem-
porary opinion about Bhau in an adverse manncr to a certain extent. We do
not hnow whether Kashiraj's statement” that “onc of the Bhau’s wives escaped”
from Panipat on horseback was made under this misapprehension.

SADASIIVRAO BiAU AS A GENERAL

Sadashi Bhau has b the scape-goat of both the sides. He
is criticised not only by the opponents but also by his compatriots. The ma-
jority of the Marathas thought that the strategy he followed at Panipat was
wrong. The Marathas till then had never encamped behind the trenches and
arranged their fight on the basis of infantry tactics. The critics on the oppasite
side think that the whole Maratha system was loose, insubordination being in-
grained in the Maratha ranks; there was no proper gradation, no link between
the commander-in-chief and the common soldier. But if we compare Bhau
with another renowned general of his times in Europe, there docs not scem to
be any great difference in their ideas about the strategy and tactics of those
days. In the battle of Panipat, Abdali had definitely a supcriority in the Ruhela
infantry under such a consummate eaptain as Najib Khan. His infantry
it was that decided the day by its last tacties. Bhau's infantry under
Ibrahim Khan had been used decisively in the beginning of the battle. But
it was not followed with advantage by the cavalry at the back. Bhau's per-
sonal effort was mainly based on his deveted cavalry, in the use of which he
seems to have followed the wnnovation attributed to Fredric the Great.
“Fredric had learnt its value, against the mushet of those days, by experience;
and he believed that Seydlitz in the open, at the head of 70 squadrons, was
a thing which no infantry could resist.”! But unfortunately for Bhau he first
came across the Afghan cavalry under Shah Wali Khan and not against the
infantry under Najib Khan, due to his formation of the oblique order in the .«
march out of Panipat. Had the cavalry divisions hept behind the infantry
of Ibrahim Khan to support it and take advantage of its invincible attack acted
in a valiant and correct manner, there would have been no occasion for Bhau
to deliver his side-attack on the Afghan front. Damaji Gaikwad, Vitthal
Shivdeo and Yashwantrao Pawar had been placed behind Ibrahim- Khan to
do their duty. They inadvertantly rushed forward, before the full effect of
Ibrahim Khan's grand effort had reached its culmination and created a wide

3 Sanpesal, Maraths Reyasat, Panipat Prokarana, p. 253
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gap m the weak infantry under the trans Ganges Ruhelas  Thewr duty was
silently to wait for some two hours, though heeping themselves ready on horse-
back for any eventuality Had thus order been propesly carried out, Bhau and
the magmficent Hujrat cavalry which was behmnd them would have had no
oceasion to offer a front battle to the Durrams Wazir  They would themselves
have followed the rushing cavalry of these three sardars into the gap created
by the Gards fire  Bhaw’s generalship failed not because lus strategy was m
correct, but the tactics were not properly understood by his captans and they
seem to have acted as if it was only a cavalry battle  Bhau had tll then fol
lowed “the school which taught that actual fighting must not be resorted to
untd the use of brains has been exhausted, that the battle comes in when the
manzuyre has failed, the seizure of the strategic position s the first defence
of the armues, so that a force which 1s tactically inferior may be strategically
superior’ 2 Now when all these alternahves had been tned and failed, Bhaw
was following Frednc i his hew doctnine “to act on the pnnaple that noth.
g can destroy the enemy except a pitched batile, and the destruction of the
enemy, not the weakmng of the enemy, s the nght object of war,’ knowing
that * even a successful defence weakens the victor”  Unfortunately for Bhau
he was possibly the only person 1n the Maratha camp who had understood
th.s prnaple and the overwhelming majonty of Jus leutenants were tramed
w different tactics  They thought Bhau almoest 2 madman to follow this
method, ther heart was not 1n 1t and they deviated from the order of the bat-
tle at the first shock and followed their own mind in the later half of the day
Those who were loyal and devoted died with the Commander i Chief, while
the rest fled back from the field as soon as it was possible for them to quat the
field unnoniced by Bhau

Not Inpivmuars Bur TiE SysTEM RESPONSIBLE FOR THE
PanipaT DISASTER

Pinnar was 2 napaoal disaster A natonal disaster exhibits all the
weak pomts together with some of the good powts of a nation A national
war fought for the prestige of a nation 1s like an examnation for a student.
Though the exammation lasts for less than a week 1t 1s supposed to show the
preparation of a year The physical, the mtellectual and the moral capacities

* all have ther play n an exammation  Weakness on any of these sides 15
likely to prove fatal ‘There are good students who fail 1n the mck of ume or
are too weak to complete a paper There are clever students whose intellect
often fauls them at the proper time  There are nervous students who have shown
their capacity throughout the year but still are found leaving the exanunation
hall all of a sudden  War 1s a sumilar test for a state  All the weak points ex-
Tubited 1 the Pampat campaign had not cropped up all of a sudden, but were
wnherent 1n the Maratha system under the best of the Peshwas  These anherent
defects have been very convinangly pomted out by a deep student of Maratha
lustory, Vasudev Vamanshastn Knare mn hus wnvaluable introduction to the
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book Marathe va Ingray by N C KrLwawr, m 1918 The Marathas 1n the
18th century had nothing ongnal to contnbute for the benefit of the Indian
people They were umtators and not mventors They tried to mmutate the
foreign model in war, but néver made it thewr own in all its detals  The
Maratha Constitution was very loose Therr military system was o better
The pohcy of nurturing strength by consolidation had gwen place to wayward
wandenng on the basis of the line of least resistance  The result was as KHARE
has tellingly put it “In peace tunes the Maratha empire was everywhere, but
dunng times of turmonl 1t was nowhere” (Page 15 ) Sadashivrao Bhau and
the Peshwa were depending upon the sympathy and help of the varous states
which had paid them tnibutes, but not one amongst them actually helped the
Marathas dunng the cntical Pampat campaign, exemplifymg the truth of
Kuare’s indictment  The Marathas tried to umitate the European war-
machme by engaging Bussy’s pupils Ibrahim Khan and Muzaffar Khan, but
the danger to the Maratha State of this procedtirc has been clearly exhibited
m history Muzaffar Khan was all along a self-willed, arrogant and treacherous
person Once he left the Peshwa’s service and jomed the Nawab of Savnur
and was, after his defeat there, on the pomnt of jomming the Portuguese at Goa
or any one ¢lse who would engage him  In 1759 he tned to assassinate Sa

dashivrao Bhau for personal or political reasons and was beheaded for the at-
tempt  Ibralim Khan was personally loyal, faithful and expert, but all along
he remained unassmilated mn the Maratha mode of warfare The varous
Maratha officers never felt any comradeship with huh and treated lim as a
foreigner  Instead of co operating with him and supporting hum mn s df-
ficulties, they would sit on the fence and see his effort wasted, all this because
he was paid punctually mn cash after the European manner, because Bhau
treated him with special favour and tried to depend upon him to the heart-
burning of others! Because he was treated only as an adjunct te the Maratha
cavalry, lus system was never understood, much less made thewr own, by the
Maratha Shiledars The result was seen in the battle of Pamipat where his
superb effort was wasted because the other Maratha sardars never tned to de-
fend the square formation nor would they reap the harvest by taking the
proper advantage of his imtial effort  The Marathas did net try to assimlate
the foreign system then, nor have they done it subsequentdy Therr politscal
effort and mttative were then, just as they are even now, mdividual and not
collecive, The end to be secured was personal nse, prospenty and aggrandise

ment The lcader 1s the sole loser an the effort, his followers having no con

cern with 1t except temporary loss of employment The Europeans have
perfected their system in such a manner that their united effort does not depend
on individual caprice  Even amongst them mncompetent and selfish individuals
occasonally come to the top, but they have httle power to play mischief m
the perfected svstem  With us the reverse 1s the case  Occasonally good peo-
ple come to the top amongst us, but still they have no power to change the
system or rather the absence of system existing amongst us  Amongst us the
wdidual effort of the best of men 15 only temporanly and partially effectual
for some ime and ulumately wasted, the nation never dentving permanent bene-
fits therefrom  Viewed 1n this philosophical ight, 1t seems idle arther to boom
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up or condemn downnght an mduwdual, however great personally The final
tesult must be attnbuted to the static svstem and cannot be attnbuted to any
one actor m hustory.

Dearit oF NanasaHes PESHwa

The Peshwa’s death six months after the battle of Pampat on 25td

June, 1761, 15 treated as the list event of the Pampat campaign It 1s almost
thought as a consequence of 1t That the unespected disaster unhinged his
mind by that wemendous shoch, by the loss of all that was dear and valuable,
was natural enough, but 1t 15 utterly wrong to sav that his death was due to
it As a matter of fact there seems to have been some hereditary defect i the
Peshwa famuly which made wts members prone to sudden collapse of health
and wasung diseases The uneven hife of camp and war had something to do
with it Nor were they free from vices Peshwa Nanasaheb particularly seems
to have been inordmnately fond of the company of women He loved ease and
pleasure  Beautiful young guls! from northern India were always requisitioned
by lum This trait of his ife had become known throughout India and even
the distant Kashuraj, living far away i the north at the Lucknow Court, knew
of 1t and thought 1t necessary to mention 1t at the begmng of his account of
the battle of Pampat The Peshwa had started from Poona in November and
had made known his plan of proceeding to the north to set the matters nght
at the Dellu court 1n the company of Nizam Aly, the younger brother of the
Nizam Salabat Jang But lis march was delayed on account of the “wait and
see” tactics of the Nizam brothers Though 1t was a condition of the peace
treaty after the batile of Udgir mn the previous year, that the Nizam should
jom the Peshwa whenever there was any urgent need? and now defimtely such
a need arose due to the beleagurement of Bhau at Pampat, the Nizam brothers
would not move from their cantonments even after the cessation of ramns  The
need for taking Nizam Alt with hun to the north arose 1 a double sense
Fustly, his Gardi troaps with their fine parh of artdlery would have been in-
valuable 1n a fight agminst Abdah and the Ruhelas, next it was dangerous to
feep such a muschievous man behind, with power to do what he liked when
the Peshwa had moved north with all lus troops  But this was a political ex-
cuse The Peshwa was entangled in other domestc matters also  For some
' time, 1t seems, he was not heeping on good terms with his wife and had taken
1t into hus head to marry a second tume, though three sons from the first mar-
nage were avalable as hews  Match makers had been duspatched far and
wide from the one end of Maharashtra to the other He was prepared to marry
a gl from any of the three® sub-castes of Maharashtra Brahmins, Karhada,
Deshasthas or Chitpavans, to which last caste he himself belonged The
Peshwa’s diary shows expenditure mncurred mn this search for smtable gils
where half a dozen girls have been noted The Peshwa had become so seal,
rnitable and listless that hus memory was fating and he could not devate lum-
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self to any business with full attention, This was natural when we take into
account the decline in his health which is noted in many places. In 1755, he
was suffering from toothache® which is a sure sign of declining health, In 1758
Sadashivrao Bhau® notes that the Peshwa's health is not what it should be.
When at the end of 1759, Bhau started for the Udgir campaign, the Peshwa’s
health had already become a state problem. He was not in a position to fol-
low the campaign himself® with its daily marches. Bhau’s one anxiety through-
out the Panipat campaign was for the Peshwa’s health. He writes’ from
Delhi on 16th September, 1760, that all problems would be best solved when
the Peshwa’s health improved. We are at a loss to know why, when things
had come to such a pass, the Peshwa was thinking of marriage. It could not
have been for mere sex satisfaction, because he had any number of concubines
and dancing girls at his service. Three things are suggested as probable causes
for marriage. (1) The advice of the Hindu Vaidyas who prescribed young
girls as a cure for venereal diseases. A Sanskrit Verse states that a tender girl
below sixteen adds to the strength of the husband; a youthful one makes her
husband youthful hke herself,—an eclderly woman drains away the strength of
her partner; and. an old woman leads her partner on his way to death. (Bala
tu balada prokta tarum tarunajate, praudha saktthara prokta vrddha mrtyuva-
sam nayet.] It is not unhkely that some such advice might have been of-
fered to the Peshwa, though we do not know whether it falls under the category
of medicine or sexual science (Kamasastra). But we have already suggested
that this remedy could have been followed even by having extra-marital rela-
tions with girls, and so we reject this cause. (2) The second cause which is
more probable comes from astrological advice. It is thought that the stars of
certain girls so ordain that a person marrying them cannot possibly die, as it is
written that these girls have no widowhood ordained for them in their horo-
scopes.  Of course there is the possibility of the girl herself dying before her
husband so as to justify the stars., We presume that the inquiry for girls was
possibly based on this point. Though this cause seems more probable, even
this is not completely satisfactory, because had the inquiry been only based on
dorostopes, 1t woul' not fave deen rounn’ mecessary” (o Onig al’ ulese young
girls from distant places, and there was no particular necessity for seeing them
unless men who judge horoscopes from bodily features wished to view and ex-
amine them. We would have believed such to have been the case, but the
Peshwa is found in a somewhat playful meod in marrying, as he not only
marrics, but makes two of his bosom associates, Aba Purandare and Vireshwar
Dikshit Manohar,® marry, side by side. (3) The third cause is equally likely,
namely, his quarrel with his first wife, Gopikabai. For one reason or another,
they had not been on good terms for some time. The difference of opinion
had arisen on account of domestic causes as well as state policy. The episode at
Patdur, described in the Bhau Bakhar and Kaifisat before Sadashivrao’s ap-
pointment for the Panipat campaign, ilustrates one phase of this difference.
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Nana Phadnus, than whom nio veracious and correct wniter can be found, wrtes
definitely about this difference 1n s autobiography ® The untabihity of temper
and 1 general the loss of balance of mind, which 1 ascribed to the Peshwa
during his last illness, was not a sudden growth after Pampat, but was a
gradual development. Govindpant Bundele!® notes this change m the Peshwa's
temper even from the north It will be se¢n from this detailed discussion that
the death of the Peshna had little to do with the shock of Pampat  He would
not have survived 1t long, even of it had ended 1n a victory  We have thought
it necessary to enter into this detailed treatment of the problem as all histonans
have fallen into the trap by treating 1t as a result of Pampat

We agree with Sir Jadunath' m thinking that the Peshwa’s marnage at
Hiradpun had nothing to do with the wsue m the north, because we do not
think that the Peshwa was at tlus tune s a fit physical or mental condition to
fielp Bhau by proceeding post Baste to the north  ft was a nauonal misfortune
of the Marathas that the supreme head of the state should, 1n these cntical years
not be m a fit condition to drrect the affawrs of the state with a single minded
devotion to the cause of the nation A Shvay or Santap Ghorpade or Bap
rao would have possibly rcheved Bhau by marchung to Delln in the rear of
Abdali m about a month with all the spare troops Such an exploit was be
yond the capaaity of Balap Baprao (ahas Nanasaheb), to judge from hs
whole lWfe

HistoricaL OpiNions Asout THE BarrLe oF Paniear

That the disaster of Pampat ulumately led to the destruction of the
Maratha power, was understood by Raywape more than forty five years ago !
Even before hum, other histonans had also said the same thing  But while the
foreygners were conscious of this result the Marathas were not, winch onjy
means that they had no proper understanding of the situation and were thus
lving i a fool’s paradise  On the other hand, the Englhsh wnters after Plassey
seermied to be perfectly conscous of the thungs shaping m those tumes  Ther
knowledge and ther self-consciousness ulumately made them the masters
of India

A national disaster of the type of Pampat has naturally resulted 1n cast
g a shadow of gloom over the Maratha nation  But the defeat has been
treated differently by various students of history, who have given quite a dif
ferent turn to the whole discussion  Evans BELL wrote long ago that ‘even the
battle of Pampat was a tnumph and a glory for the Marathas  They fought
m the cause of ‘India for the Indians, while the great Muhammedan princes
of Dellu, of Oude and the Decean, stood as de, itnguing and tnmming  And
though the Marathas were defeated, the victorious Afghans retired and never
agan interfered mn the affaus of India” Prof Rawrmson wntes,? ‘A defeat 15
—
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noic can say that they were infenior to any in India of those days Withall
thar ternal quarrels, no other state in India could mustcr so many troops for
war under a umtary command No other nation was less bigoted or more
to'erant in rchgious and social matters, as 1S proved by the r behaviour towards
thar Mushm naghbours or thar rule over Mushm subjects. There 15 no in-
stance of thar having fabricated 1 document lhe Clive, none where they tned
to gaun a pownt by asasunation or mntumdation  They did not hure mercenanes
for slaughtenng ther opponent i an unguarded moment. They would not
murder persons by calhng them for an mterview  [hey would not Jll foragn
emusanes at their Court.  No other war Iihe nation 1s known to be mulder 1
their peace-time actions There are no wstances where the Marathas entered
mto the slaughter of cwlians after a victory, or dumng conquest to have
created terror. It 18 nowhere noted that they slaughtered disarmed pnisoners,
ke the Durrams after Pampat, or uselessly cut off the head of a fallen soldicr
as 1 the case of Dattap Shirde at Bumd  They did not apply torture to cx-
tract ludden wealth ke the Afghans at Delhuin 1757  In fact, one feels many
a ime that thair comparaine auldness thar humane behaviour, ther civil man-
ners, thar unwillingness to gan thetr ends by bach-door machinations or solve
thair problems, wnternal or external, by swift unscrupulous acons such as mur-
denng an opponent, or do ng awy with thar unwanted brethren hhe the
Mughals, has had the cffect of thar not succceding 1 listory  Be that
as 1t may, nonc can charge them as bang morally condemnab'e n companson
with many other military nations in the world  When a responsible historian of
India like Sir Jadunath SARRAR charges the Marathas with being “lesser breeds
beyond the law,”® onc docs niot hnow how to characterize such a statement and
what standard of conduct and morality he wants to apply He scems to belong
to that catcgory of hustomans-cumt moralists “who Justify Providence by the
event and hold nothung %o descrving as success  ‘To them there ean be no vic-
tory 1n a bad cause, precnption and duratien legiumate, and whatever cxists
1s nght ard reasonable, and God manifests His will by that wh ch He tolerates.
Men must confirm to the divine decrec by hving to shape the future after the
rattfied 1mage of the past v These wnters should learn to hnow that there
are many Marathas-—perhaps the majonty—who think 1t better to have lost
the Empire than to have followed a lne of conduct after the manner of 3
Clive or Napib or Abdals

Generat TioucTs o War

1t begn to thinh and take a retrospective view of human
affars, I;Enll;\::: i::;ly dE:d}cd on the moral basis of war, and 1t will prob-
ably remain so divided for all ume. Indian awvilisation, at lcast after the
Aryan impas tion, has not only sanctioned war but has conscerated a partcular
clavs for that work and gwen 1t the sccond ranh in society This 15 sharp
contrast with the naghbourng Clunese cvilisation which had relegated the
soldier to the last place mn society and only tolerated hum as an unavoidable

S Fall 11291
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under some circumstances as honourable as a victory, and never, m all thew
annals, did the Maratha armies cover themselves with, greater glory than when.
the flower of the clvalry of the Deccan penshed on the stricken field of Pain

pat, fighting agamst the enemics of their creed and country But, after all,
the general who wins 1 campaign 1s the one who makes the fewest mistakes

I he Bhausahieb did not commit 1 uthe of the blunders of both Wellington and
"apoleon mn the Waterloo campaign He lost not because he was a bad gen

cral, but because his opponent was 1 better one

We have shown above that these opmions are correct as far as they
go  But that is beside the pomt  The wisdom for the \Marathas lay m not
coming to gnps with such an awkward enemy as Ahmad Shah Abdah  Had
Pamipat resulted in a defeat of the Afghans 1t would not have meant the same
thing to them or to others  Nobodyv was going to invade barren Afghanistan
and trv to rule over it Instead of consohdatang and making sure of what
they had got, the Marathas had no busingls to march forward, lengthen their
hnes of commumeation and multiply their responsibihties  This wrong policy
had begun already with Bajirao s msasion of Delhu n 1736 Geographic fac-
tors were completely 1gnorcd, because they were completely musunderstood by
the Marathas  The Marathas boasted all along that the Deccan was as good
as theirs,” but had never once understood the implications underlying that state
ment Even in thar hey day before Panipat, others had coolly stolen a march
onthem The imphcation of the destruction of the Angres naval power seems
to have been understood by Alnvard: Khan® n Bengal just before his death,
but not by the Peshwa  The short sighted pohey pursued by the Peshwa even
after his expenence m the Vijayadurg affar resulted 1n hus directlv p'aying into
the hands of tis enemy and assured Chve’s success in Bengal A «mular thing
occurred at Mycore and made the hne clear for Hardar Al It should never
be forgotten that Surat and Janpra never came mto the hands of the Peshwa,
much less could he hnve hoped to touch the European atadels on hus coast,
Bombay and Goa While the Marathas were exhidarated by their march be-
yond the Indus, the English were alently entenng Surat by the back door of
the sea A big army of the Marathas was encamping outade Surat and their
nasy had also entered the Tapu estuary Diplomats were comwng and gomng
and taking sides 1 the avil struggle at Surat, but sull the Englsh could camn
on dependent correspondence with the Wazir Ghazt ud-din (a <o~called crea ,
tre of the \arathas) and get a Fiman from the Mugh1! Emperor (who
thought himself a protege of the Peshwa) appomting them the hecpers of the
Sum‘: fort and admurals of the Mughal flect  This neglected Surat episode
throws a flood of hght on Maratha pohnies dunng its most tnumphant davs.
Sadashnrao’s defects have been well ponted out by the Englsh envor John
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under some circumstances as honourable as a.victory, and never, m all thew
annals, did the Maratha armies cover themselves with, greater glory than when
the flower of the chwvalry of the Deccan perished on the stncken field of Paiu

pat, fighting agamst the enemies of their creed and country But, after all,
the general who wins a campaign 15 the one who makes the fewest mistakes

{he Bhausaheb did not commut a tithe of the blunders of both Wellington and
Napoleon 1 the Waterloo campaign  He lost not because he was a bad gen

cral, but because his oppanent was a better one’

We have shown above that these opinions are correct as far as they
g0 But that 1s beside the pont The wisdom for the Marathas lay i not
coming to grips with such an awkward enemy as Ahmad Shah Abdahh Had
Panspat resulted 1n a defeat of the Afghans, 1t would not have meant the same
thing to them or to others Nobody was gong to mvade barren Afghanistan
and try to rule over it Instead of consohdatng and making sure of what
they had got the Marathas had no busingfs to march forward, lengthen ther
imes of commumecation and multiply therr responsibihties  This wrong pohcy
had begun already with Bajirao’s mnvasion of Delhan 1736  Geographic fac-
tors were completely 1gnored, b they were completely misunderstood by
the Marathas The Marathas boasted all along that “the Deccan was as good
as theirs,” but had never once understood the imphcations underlying that state
ment  Even m therr hey day before Panipat, others had coolly stolen a march
on them 'The impheation of the destruction of the Angre’s naval power seems
to have been understood by Alivardi Kban® in Bengal just before his death,
but not by the Peshwa The short sighted policy pursued by the Peshwa even
after his experience mn the Vijayadurg affair resulted i his directly playing into
the hands of his enemy and assured Chve's success 1n Bengal A sumular thing
occurred at Mysore and made the hne clear for Haidar Al It should never
be forgotten that Surat and Janpra never came mto the hands of the Peshwa,
much less could he have hoped to touch the European citadels on his coast,
Bombay and Goa  While the Marathas were exhilarated by their march be-
vooud the Todus, the Engbsh were slently entenng Sucat by the back doas of
the sea A big army of the Marathas was encamping outside Surat and their
navy had also entered the Tapti estuary Diplomats were conung and going
and taking sides 1n the cvil struggle at Surat, but still the Englsh could carry
on ndependent correspondence with the Wazir Ghazi ud din (a so called crea
ture of the Marathas) and get 2 Firman from the Mughal Emperor (wh
thought himself a protege of the Peshwa) appomting them the hecpers of th
Surat fort and ndmurals of the Mughal fleet This neglected Surat episode
throws a flood of hight on Maratha politics duning its most triumphant days
Sadashivrao’s defects have been well pomted out by the Englsh envoy John
Spencer* four years before Panipat  He hnew him to be a man with great
capacity for business, but as hasty and avanaous, too  The impatience men
tioned by the Enghsh Valil was born of ignorance The ignorance was due
to the defective educational system or rather absence of a progressive system
marching with the imes and adequate for making 1ts votanes able to cope with

* Zi € iluw, Bengal wn 175657 (1905), Vol 11, pp 16, 65, 6
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any situation ansing around them  Balap Bajrao’s studies i Sansknt were
advanced to the extent of wnting verses 1n that Janguage, but there 1s no ev
dence to prove that the Peshwa had enough geographical information ta cape
with that of the contemporary Eunropeans Rajwape’s statement® that the
Peshwas posessed maps of the vanous provinces m India 1s not borne out by
any positive proof till after the First Maratha War  What hnowledge they pos
sessed was gamed from gossipy news or orally from visitors to their Court, but
it was not sufficient to make these aspinng conquerors of India visualise either
the shape of their country or correctly point to the directions of the various
parts of the continent, nor an understanding of its correct extent This had
a disastrous effect on the pohcy of the Marathas Therr avance made them
grab evervthing which their hands could reach, but the political repercussions
of that grabbing and the pressure 1t would exert on their military machine they
were unable to comprehend  The nont comprehension of pohtical and mihitarv
facts surrounding them 1s the thief defect which made the Peshwas act as wav

wardly as they did No other reason can explam their actions otherwise  The
contrast can be best understood by studving the English documents and pubh

cations of those ttmes Al thewr mulitary campaigns, naval fights pehitical ag

grandisements, are found fullv reported, discussed threadbare and lmnes of
policy deduced therefrom for future gmdance Not an 1ota of hnowledge once
gamned, not a point of vantage once secured, not an inch of ground once oc

cupted was wasted or Jost by them ‘The Marathas 1n their career had to go
through many a campaign, to enter mto diplomatic talks, to carry on political
controverstes and to devise vartous ways and means for securing their end, but
scarcely any of these things are found published for pubhc edification, for the
use of the vounger students i vanous walks of ife A nation which carned on
wars m all directions over a wide continent for more than a century, has not
produced a single treatise on warfare  That is the basic defect i the nation.
Its want could not be supphed by any other means When one finds such a
book published 1n Enghsh m the very year of the Pampat disaster with de

tarled mraps, plans of battles, Hustrations of the positons of lorts gwwg
visual demonstration of their military situation, naval manceuvres with drawings
of the anchored ships, together with thewr full political and diplomatc back-
ground, one 15 forced to exclaim that want of such tramning led to the Pampat
disaster (Vide R. O Cambnge’s War 1n India, etc, 1761)

Tur ConsTITuTionAL Basis oF THE Panipar Canpach

The Pampat campaign takes away the charge agamst the Marathas that
they were not the rulers of India, but only robbers in the damimons of other
rulers This one campaign bears evidence not only to the miltary orgamza
tion developed under the Peshwas, but also to the fact that they were waging
war not for aggrandisement but for the defence of a principle, India for the
Indians, governed by Indians The Peshwa had accepted the responsibihity of
defending the Mughal Empire from its internal and evtarnal faee thranah hre

5RaswaDg, op at, p. 99
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any situation arsing around them  Balap Baprao’s studies in Sansknt were
advanced to the extent of writing verses n that language, but there 1s no evt
dence to prove that the Peshwa had enough geographical information to cope
with that of the contemporary Europeans RaJwaDE s statement® that the
Peshwas possessed maps of the vanous provinces in India 15 not borne out by
my positine proof tll After the First Maratha War  What hnowledge they pos
sessed was gamed from gossipy news or orally from viutors to their Court, but
it was not sufficient to make these aspinng conquerors of India visualise either
the shape of thewr country or correctly pomnt to the directions of the vanous
parts of the continent, nor an understanding of its correct extent This had
a disastrous effect on the pohcy of the Marathas Ther avanice made them
grab everything which their hands could reach, but the political repercussions
of that grabbing and the pressure 1t would exert on their military machine they
were unable to comprehend The non comprehension of pohtical and mulitary
facts surrounding them 15 the thief defect which made the Peshwas act as way

wardly as they did  No other reason can explan their actions otherwise  The
contrast can be best understood by studying the Enghsh documents and pubh

cations of those times  All thewrr muihitary campaigns, naval fights poltieal ag

grandisements, are found fully reported, discussed threadbare and lmes of
policy deduced therefrom for future gmdance Not an 1ota of knowledge once
ganed, not a pomnt of vantage once secured, not an inch of ground once oc-
cupted was wasted or lost by them The Marathas in theiwr career had to go
through many a campaign, to enter mto diplomatic talks, to carry on political
controverstes and to devise vanous ways and means for securing their end, but
scarcely any of these things are found published for public edification, for the
use of the younger students in vanious walks of ife A nanon which carned on
wars 1n all directions over a wide continent for more than a century, has not
produced a single treatise on warfare  That 15 the basic defect i the nation
Its want could not be supplied by any other means  When one finds such a
book published 1n Englsh i the very year of the Pampat disaster with de-
faaled mans olans af hastles allusteatnns of the nosbans af fadts goanng o
visual demonstration of therr military situation, naval manauvres with drawings
of the anchored ships, together with therr full political and diplomatic back-
ground, one 15 forced to exclaim that want of such training led to the Pampat
dusaster (Vide R O Cambnge’s War i India etc, 17361)

Tue ConstrTuTionAL Basts oF TuE Panipat Cantparcs

The Pampat campaign takes awav the charge agamst the Marathas that
they were not the rulers of India, but only robbers in the dominions of other
rulers  This one campaign bears evidence not only to the mihitary orgamza-
uon developed under the Peshwas, but alse to the fact that they were waging
wir not for aggrandisement but for the defence of a prnaple, Indua for the
Indians, governed by Indians The Peshwa had accepted the responstbility of
defending the Mughal Empire from its internal and external focs through his
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agents m 1752 From that date they had waged war aganst practically all
the potentates in India, great and small  Jayapa Shinde had waged war unto
death agamst Bijesingh of Marwar as a Mughal Subahdar of Aymer and Mal
harrao Holkar had fought aganst Madhosingh of Jaipur and Suraymal Jat
as a Subahdar of Agra, in order to bnng these recalaitrant chiefs under the rule
of the Mughal Empire In the campaign against the Nizany in 1760, Bhau had
actually talked with im on the same basis  Bhau had recenved the Impenal Fir
man! from Alamgir IT through hus confidential secretary Kamyar Khan sent 1n
August 1759 three months before that Emperor s assas mation  Inat, the Emperor
had besought Bhaus help agamnst s unpnnapled and unscrupulous Wazr
Ghaz ud din whose behaviour had become unbearable to the Emperor The
Emperor had given a carte blanche to Bhau to take over the sole charge of the
Mughal Empire, with power to appoint his own Wazir and Mir Bakshi or
any other official  The Empcror wished Bhau to arrange matters m such a way
as to leave lim n the position of the Maratha €hhatrapati at Satara  Those
who are tichhsh about the constitutional procedure cannot cnticize the Marathas
with lugh handedness in their dealings with the vanous Indian chiefs 1if they bear
n mund ths important fact often overlooked by the listorans  There was no
need for the Marathas to take upon themselves the onerous burden of running
the Mughal Empire, had they wished only for sclf aggrandisement  As a
matter of fact, matters became difficult for the Marathas by the acceptance of
this burden, because they had to become encrmes of all and sundry by ths
procedure  But they wished to preserve the grand fabrnic of the Mughal Lm
pire 1n so far as it was posble  They had no wish to sweep away all trace of
old rule and begin their rule anew They did not wish to create anarchy
throughout the length and breadth of India  But they were counting agamnst
the ume None of the clucfs and potentates who had risen 1n India during
the 18th century, had a wish to lose what they had grabbed or usurped The
sclfishness and machinations of these rulers foiled the attempts of the Marathas
to run the empire on its Mughal basis It looks as 1f it would have been far
better for the Maratha state to have run its own course without gettng mnto
thig. antanglement. with, the Maghal, BEmpre Wik Mus s Wy the vy The
cntics of the Marathas cannot charge them with not hnowing the constitu
uonal ways or want of principles  They tried to follow the constitutional way,
they fought for a prinaple  They und 1 the responsibility devolving on
them by the acceptance of a treaty, winch they did not treat as a scrap of
paper, to be torn when a1t did not sut them  They would not sign away the
nghts of the Mughal Lmpire even when these had been usurped by such a
potentate as Ahmad Shah Abdali  Raghunathrao would not part with Kabul
and Kandahar? in 1758, Bhau would not accept the boundary of Sirhind in
1760  In thesc instances, the Marathas were fighung for regions and nghts
already lost by the Mughal Cmpire  Can any one say wath this history be
fore um that the Marathas had no idea of a state, that they did not know the
constitutional ways, that they had no respect for treaties or had no regard for
pnnaples® They certamly aspired to be the Regents of the Indian Empire and
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none can say that they were mferior to any n India of those days  With all
thar internal quarrels, no other state 1n India could muster so many troops for
war under a umtary command No other nation was less bigoted or more
tolerant 1n rehigious and sociaf matters, as 1s proved by the r behaviour towards
thewr Mushm neighbours or their rule over Muslim subjects  There is no m
stance of therr having fabricated a document like Clive, none wherce they tned
to gamn a point by assasination or inimdation  They did not lure mercenaries
for slaughtenng their opp m an unguarded moment They would not
murder persons by calling them for an interview  They would not kill foreign
emussaries at their Court.  No other war ike nation 15 known to be mulder in
therr peacc tme actions  There are no instances where the Marathas entered
wta the slaughter of cwvikans after a victory, or durng conquest to have
created terror It s nowhere noted that they slaughtered disarmed prisoners,
like the Durrams after Pamipat, or uselessly cut off the head of a fallen soldier
as n the case of Dattaj Shinde at Burads  They did not apply torture to ex
tract lndden wealth like the Afghans at Delhiin 1957 In fact, one fecls many
a time that their comparatnve mildness, their humane behaviour their il man
ners, thewrr unwillingness to gamn their ends by bach door machinations or solve
their prablems, internal or external, by swilt unscrupulous actions such as mur-
denng an opponent, or domg away with thar unwanted brethren ke the
Mughals, has had the cffect of thar not succeeding m history Be that
as 1t may, none can charge them as being morally condemnable in companson
with many other military nations'mn the world  When a responsible histonan of
India Bike Sir Jadunath Sarwar charges the Marathas with being ‘ lesser breeds
beyond the law,’ ® one docs not know hosw to characterize such a statement and
svhat standard of conduct and morality he wants to apply He scems to belong
to that category of historans-cum moralists “who justify Providence by the
event and hold nothing so deserving as suceess  ‘To them there can be no vie-
tory 1 a bad cause, prescnption and duration legimate, and whatever exsts
1s night arld reasonable, and God mamfests Fiis wall by that wh ch He tolerates
Men must confirm to the divine decree by living to shape the future after the
ratfied image of the past™* These wnters should learn to hnow that there
are many Marathas—perhaps the majority—who think 1t better to have lost
the Empire than to have followed a line of conduct after the manner of a
Clive or Napb or Abdal

3

Generat TrouenTs ox War

Mankind s.nce 1t began to think and take a retrospective view of human
affairs, hns been sharply divided on the moral basis of war, and 1t will prob-
ably remamn so divided for all tme Indian awvilsaton, at least after the
Aryan impos tion, has not only sanctioned war but has consecrated a part.cular
class for that work and gwven it the second rank m society This 1s 1 sharp
contrast with the neighbouring Chinese awvilisation which had relegated the
soldier to the last place m society and only tolerated hum as an unavoidable

S Falf 11291
* Lord Actio~, Lectures on Modern Huistory (1907) (Inougural Lecture) p 25,
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evil  Turks who conquered India and held thar sway over 1t for half a mil
lenmum were a moving nation i arms  In additon, the Islamic teachings
which they followed had charged them with waging an incessant war upon the
infidels ull they were converted to Islam  When the Marathas rose upon the
honzon of history they had perforce to take to the military profession for solving
the Indian nddle It was a necessity imposed on them by the Epoch and they
had no choice of refusing 1t How muld and moffensive the Marathas otherwise
are has been proved after the extinction of their sovereign power, for by the
end of the 1gth century they were relegated to the rank of non martial races 1n
India 1n the Indo British political phraseology It means that the Marathas
as a race tahe to arms only when they are insulted or forced to as the Chinese
monh Yuan Chwang remarhed long ago in his wmerary  Spilling of blood
never became a pastime with them as with the Afghans On the whole, the
battles {ought by the Marathas were the least bloody, the casualties on both
sides bewng as few as possible  Their so called guenlla mode of warfare was
nothung more than seehing to gan therr ends by maneuvring and strategy more
than by actual crossing of swords face to face Having acted throughout therr
career 1 this spit, they naturally felt intensely such a disaster as Pampat on
account of the heavy massacres following it When estimating the effects of
Pampat on the Marathas, this fact should not be lost sight of

The best of poltical thinkers have allowed war as a human necessity
1n solving uncompromising questions  Some go so far as to call it a moral neces
sity Taking the historic view, certainly the recorded history of mankind s
mostly a history of wars waged by the vanous races of mankind between and
amongst themselves as Sir John ForTescur says, but all weuld not agree with
him 1n thinking the military force of a nation as a mamifestation of its moral
force At the same time 1t 1 certam that in history the military force has stood
as the test of matenal civilisation if not of moral The best soldier has always
mamfested the highest human wvirtues personally, but collectively 1t 1s difficult
to characterise war as a school for virtues  If sometimes the best qualties of a
nation are called forth and mobilised by war, 1t 15 also true and much more
often true that the worst side of human nature 1s exhibited and given a licenée
as a resuft of war  Whether a state fapses mnto degencracy as a result of fong
peace 15 also a debatable point, because for counteracting such 2 possibihity some-
one clse has to suffer The cruelty and the futility of war for final settlement
of human world problems has become more and more mamfest with the
progress of modern cvibsation and comung together of mankind  Be that as 1t
may, speahing about Pamupat, 1t 1s very correct to say that the mferionty of
the Marathas, in the matenal sense, bucame very mamfest But on the moral
side their record 1s very clean Th:?)7 had not fought for the three primary
(and also pnmitive) aums of war as given by Hosnzs, viz (1) matenal gam,
(2) fear, or (3) glory It means they fought for a fourth cause unknown to
that political philosopher, viz principle, the sancuty of the contract they had
entered mto with the Dellu Emperor for the guarding of s Empire  On the
other hand Ahmad Shah Abdah dividually was also fighting for a cause
he thought nght, viz the cause of Islam in India  He tnumphed by hus supenor
power, wou glory, freed umself from the fear of the Marathas once fo all,
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but did not gain anything, materially speaking, thus proving the fuulity of
war in the material sense to any party, long before Sir Norman Ancer wrote
his Great Illusion. Incidentally it also proved the correctness of the Maratha
stand in the political sense. The Marathas lost the Panjab no doubt, but it was
gained not by Abdali a foreigner, but by the Sikhs in the long run. The
treacherous Najib-ud-daulah, the arch-villain of the piece, outwardly succeeded
in warding off the Marathas, but found himself thrown between two mull-
stones—the Sikhs from the north and the Jats from the south—never getting
a moment’s rest till his death a decade later, The hated Marathas again ruled

,in Dethi and uprooted Najib’s fanuly together with his buried bornes in the
grave at Najibabad,

The trans-Ganges Ruhelas under Hafiz who had joined Abdali as
Afghans, also esperienced the scourge of the Marathas after Najib’s death.
Shuja-ud-daulah who had been enticed away into joining the side of Abdali
by cajoling and threatening, rot only left the Afghan side just after Panipat,
but became the annihilator of the Ruhelas with the help of Warren Hastings,
thus historically proving that he had acted under “duress” the wrong party.
He himself had escaped falling under the suzerainty of the Marathas, only to
find himself obliged to fall a victim to the utterly forcign English. In fact,
the ultimate result of Panipat was to make the way smooth and clear for the
English, a result which could have been avoided only by 2 victory for the
Marathas, History thus vindicates the correctness of the Maratha stand and
exposes the basic hollowness of their crities. Further, it also proves the com-
plesity of the Afghan border problem, which has not been satisfactorily solved
by the British even after a rule of 150 years, The irony of history can have no
better illustration than Panipat.
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a superor official, but thought hum to be an ordinary munshi  Kashuray 1
self contradictory i lus account of Bhau's behaviour  On the one hand, he
condemns Bhau on his pride and obsunacy, on the other he depicts Bhau as
ready to submut to any conditions mediated through the agency of such persons
as Kashira) himself  Now to judge Bhau from hus own letters, onc thing is
certain about hum and that i that he was never proud, though his tone was
often harsh and his manner peremptory  Bhau should be the last person to
assume 1 cringing role before a2 man of Kashiraj’s posiion or to be over confi
dent about lum

There seems to be <ome discrepancy m the account of kashiraj, as ts
acknowledged by Sir Jad k SarnAr who has carcfully studied the origmal
manuscript.  He thinks 1t due to lapse of memory or loose narrative of events®
We cannot treat 1t so lightly  Kashiray tells us of Bbaw's wnting hus last chit
just before the battle of Pamipat, a thing which no thoughtful person will be
ready to believe A commafder in chief ntimating in his autograph the last
desperate movement of lus army, just before the commencement of the fatal
battle, 15 a thing which cannot be inscrted or allowed 1n ficuon or poetry, much
less can 1t be behieved 1n a primary source of history  Was Bhau such a fool
as to beheve and hope that hus last note would bear any good and mmmediate
results, after hus expenence in diplomacy for siv months?  Would he not rather
fear the fatal conseq of pre g hus movement to such a consummate
general as Ahmad Shah Abdali® It was a matter of astonshment to us when
we tned to study this pont deeply and found none of the previous wnters
even suspecting the full import of this, to us, a cock and bull story We call 1t
such because fortunately for the histonan there 15 the clear evidence of a cone
temporary letter directly falafymg Kashiraps narrative  Sir Jadunath i his
new translation of Kashirays narrative bas given the name of Bhaus valet who
took the last chit to Kashira) as Balakram, who s styled as Bhaus betel bearer,
and 15 taker as the most confidential servant of his master 7 Anybody with an
acquamtance with the Maratha names Anows that Balakram 15 not a common
Momuthe tame On ke vhet kaad, w /e oom, he Reanadant dathues peke
hshed by Rajwape 1n his sinth volume clearly gives the name of Bhau's valet
as Balaram, a common name amongst the Marathas®  Anupgir Gosawi writes
mn this post Panupat letter to Nana Purandare that the Peshwa s valet, Balaram
Vaghon Natk, and some others also had gone to Shuja ud daulah’s camp on
* some errand on the Sunday pnior to the battle of Panipat, fought on Wednesday,
14th January, 1761  This proves that the chit Kashiraj is talking of as have
ing been dramatically sent three hours prior to the battle had been actually
sent (1f at all) three days previous to 1t We suggest from this small but vita]
pomt that Kashiraj had not only forgotten the days and thewr proper order, but
was narrating the whole story with a dramatic touch, as the battle of Pampat
5 a good theme for such treatment.
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A CRITICAL AND COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF THE SOURCES
(PUBLISHED AND UNPUBLISHED)

1 Kashiray .

Persian account of the battle of Pampat and the events leading to 1t
(Oxford Unwersity Press, 1926)  Corrected by the translation of Sir Jadunath
SARKAR, published m Indian Historical Quarterly, 1934 and 1935

Kashira) Shivdev was a Deshastha Brahmmm (natwe of the Nizam’s
Dormmons) at the court of Shuja ud daulah of Qudh, who was present through
out the campaign 1n the camp of s master His narrative 1s tahen as the
best authority on the battle of Pampat He scems to have been working
the north for some twenty five years before Pamipat since the time of Safdar
Jang He had occasional corrcspondence with the Peshwas' for more than
twenty years His exact status at the court of Shuja-ud daulah 15 not quite
clear He s called a Vak  r a diplomat, but s scarcely sent anywhere as an
emussary with full powers Jn his account he 15 found assuming superior aws,
standing tightly on lus digmty  But there 15 no mention of hum 1n the whole
range of Marathi poltical correspondence,® an omission which seems to us
rather sigmficant His account was written nineteen years after the battle of
Pamipat, and from memory It appears to have been purposcly wntten for some
one mqusitive on the pownt, possibly a Brtish official at the Oudh Court In
1780 when this account was wntten, the Bntish power m India was already
combating with that of the Maratha power The glory of the Maratha power
was on the wane  Kashiray, though racially a Maratha, had culturally, by this
time, become by hus long sojourn 1 northern India, almost a U P Kayasth
with all that it means  When he wrote hus account he was almost seventy, an
age when the mental faculties are on the decline He seems to have been, at
first, a disappointed candidate for service under the Peshwa,? and later on moved
to the north m search of employment, which he secured on account of lus profi
ciency in the Persian language  That there was no particular love lost between
tum and the Maratha nation or their Empire 15 evident from the tone of his ac-
oyt Accarding, ta bim,, Sadas) o Bhan was dfautad 4 W
arrogance and pride* Throughout his narrative, he seems to have been con
vinced that fate had ordamed the nuscarnage of the Maratha enterpnse *
On the other hand, whenever he had occasion to wnte about Ahmad Shah
Abdab, he 15 found completely over awed by his superior prowess and his divine®
role of pumishung the Marathas for ther wicked pnde, for i the eyes of
Kashiray, pnde 15 sin This much for the mental make up of the man

. lihau’s munshi once wrote a letter to Kashuray at which Kashiray was

on of some defi y m the proper form of address due te
lus station It means that the Maratha Court did not x:hnmk Kashira to be
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a supertor offictal, but thought lum to be an ordinary munshi  Kashuray 1
self contradictory m hus account of Bhaw's behaviour  On the one hand, he
condemns Bhau on his pnde and cbstnacy, on the other he depicts Bhau as
ready to submut to any conditions mediated through the agency of such persons
as Kashira) himself  Now to judge Bhau from his own letters, one thing 15
certaun about nm and that 15 that he was never proud, though his tone was
often harsh and his manner peremptory  Bhau should be the last person to
assume a cringing role before a2 man of Kasluray’s posiion or to be over confi
dent about hum

There scems to be some discrepancy i the account of hashiraj, as 15
acknowledged by Sir Jadunath Sarrar who has carefully studied the ongnal
manuscnpt.  He thinks it due to lapse of memory or loose narrative of events®
We cannot treat 1t so ightly  Kashira) tells us of Bhau’s wnting his last chut
yust before the battle of Pampat, a thung which no thoughtful person will be
ready to behieve A commafider in chuief numaung in his autograph the last
desperate movement of lus army, just before the commencement of the fatal
battle, 15 a thing which cannot be inserted or allowed 1n fiction or poetry, much
fess can 1t be believed mn a pnmary source of history Was Bhau such a fool
as to beheve and hope that fus last note would bear any good and inmediate
results, after his expenence i diplomacy for six months®> Would he not rather
fear the fatal consequence of pi g his movement to such a consummate
general as Ahmad Shah Abdab® It was a matter of astonishment to us when
we tnied to study this pont deeply and found none of the previous wnters
even suspecting the full import of this, to us, a cock and bull story  We call 1t
such because fortunately for the histonan there 15 the clear evidence of a cont
temporary letter diwrectly falafying hashirajs narrative  Sir Jadunath i hus
new translation of hashirays narrative has given the name of Bhau’s valet who
took the last chut to Kashiray as Balakram, who 1s styled as Bhau’s betel bearer,
and 35 takeri as the most confidential servant of hus master 7 Anybody with an
acquamtance with the Maratha names knows that Balakram s not a common
Maraha ramne On e otber hand, » lever from the Rarandare Saechaves pob~
lished by Raywape 1n his sinth volume clearly gives the name of Bhau's valet
as Balaram, a common name amongst the Marathas®  Anupgir Gosaw1 writes
mn this post Panipat letter to Nana Purandare that the Peshwa’s valet, Balaram
Vaghop Naik, and some others also had gone to Shuja ud daulahs camp on

» some errand on the Sunday prior to the battle of Panipat, fought on Wednesday,
t14th January, 1961 This proves that the chit Kashira) 1s talling of as hav
g been dramatically sent three hours pror to the battle had heen actually
sent (if at all) three days previous to 1t We suggest from this small but vital
pomnt that Kashira) had not only forgotten the days and thewr proper order, but
was narratng the whole story with a dramatic touch, as the battle of Pampat
15 2 good theme for such treatment.
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Bhau Sahebanchy Bakhar en the other hand, gives qute the dpposité
story It tells us of Abdal’s Vakil comng to Bhau just before the battle and
asking hum to postpone the fight for the day n order to gwe a last chance for
peace talks  Bhau 1s reported to have unceremomously driven hun back, be-
ginmung the fight at once thereafter Sir Jadunath, though he considers the
Marathi Bakhars “as later gossipy fabrications no better than opwum-eaters’
tales,”'* has still to achnowledge that “there are some true traditons (as proved
by authentic records) and some statementswhich have every appearance of
being true though unsupported elsewhere” We do not know whether Sir
Jadunath would Jike to beheve m thus Bakkar story, which, we thunk, as most
mmprobable and wntten to swit the whole tenor of the author, who was out to
condemn Bhau and make a scapegoat of tum

Kashiraj was on the battle field that who'e day, no doubt, but that fact
cannot make any person sce the whole line of battle with hus own eyes, much
less can 1t gve lum a correct idea of the order pf the battle on the opposite
side  Kashurap, with all hus sagaaty, was a avil official and not a soldier who
could judge military matters correctly For the most part, he was standing
ready 1 his own camp throughout the day of the battle He himself confesses
that Shuja’s side was the least affected part i the hine of battle, because none
came to attack it The whole line of battle 15 taken by Sir Jadunath te cover
some seven miles  So it was physically tmposs ble for Kashuraj to sce anything
but a small part of the actual battle, and that, too, from a distance His value
as an eye-witness must, therefore, be discounted to a great extent, and hs
version of the battle must be taken as gathered after the event from the gen-
eral reports which came to his ears  This work of collecting news from various
sources and afterwards collating and correlating 1t into the form of a runmng
narrative could be dane by others also, and, therefore, we have no valid ground
to reject the version given mn the Marathy Bakhars and Ictters only because we
are unaware of the status of the narrators  We have shown 1n the detailed de-
scription of the battle the various pomnts wherem Kashira) s proved to te
wrong

2 DBhau Sahebanch: Bakhar (1922) and 3§ Shnmant Bhau Saheb Yanch:
Kaifiyat (1887}

These two are the most important primary sources about the battle of
Panipat in Marath1  Their authors are unknown but they were certainly much
nearer to the event than Kashira) when they wrote, as can be proved from the
language, the tone and the textual eriticism of their manuseripts  Certain pas-
sages m the natration of the events i the Kaxfijat are found bodily incorporated
an the Bakhar™ which 15 a bigger narrative of the event  From this we can say
that the Kaifijat, small and to the pont, was the earlier narrative of the two,
of which the Bakhar was an amphfied edinon with enlarged paraphrase, The
Kafiyat gives the lfe of Bhau from the pomt of hus start for the Udgir cam-
paign of 1759-60 and closes with the retreat from Panipat. The Bakhar, on
the other hand, narrates the Maratha activities 1n the north from 1753 on-

3 Bhau Bakhar (1922) p 145

13 Fall 2.367
MO Raifiyas 21 and Dakhar 141, K 22, B 144, K. 23, 0, 148
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wards It 15 ostensibly wntten to glonfy the achievements of the Shindes and
these have no direct connection with the battle of Pampat. The author 15
evidently a biased person and on that account tries to supply and explan the
genesis, the events and the activities behind the scenes of actual narration with
all the personal bickerings of the actors in their full gusto  The reports of
these bickenngs and therr zctual wording may or may not be true m thesr full
wmport, but it 15 clear that they throw a necessary light on the seamy side of
history We shall have to discount much of this report duc to the bas of
the author  Another thing which has to be borne m mund s the fact that
these reports must have necessanly come from the persons who ran away from
the field of baule and as such were dubbed as renegades by the people at
large  The odum of this obloquy and the gulty consaicnce of having faed
to be with thewr leaders mn the thick of the fight, made the reports from these
survivors naturally colourful and excusatory Most of these persons had
rect blame attached to they conduct and m sheer self-justification they gave
such a retrospective turn to their own and Bhaus conduct as to lead to the
disaster which would then appear inevitable  If we compare the tone of the
letters'? which some of these survivors sent previous to the Ebattle with those
they wrote after 1t, we can understand the dufference worhed out i the munds
of these wnters by the fatal disaster When the authors of the Kaifi;at and
the Bakhar wrote thewr accounts after a few years, the pyblic 1 Maharashtra
had gome to form some sort of plausible opimon about the great disaster, after
hearihg, explaung, accounung and guessing about the vanous reports hrought
from the distant field The boed esence of all these 1s found wntten 1 the
Bakhar  Sadashivrao Bhau was out to give a new turn to the ancient mode
of Maratha warfare which was taken to Le of the guenila type Bhau had
mtroduced the traned mfantry tacucs and tried to combine them with the
ongmal mode The good result of this mnovation had been reaped m the
Udgr campaign The Udgir victory had naturally mcreased the prestige of
Ibralum Khan Gardi and lus mode of warfare  Throughout the Pampat cam-
paign, Bhau had put his mamn confidence tn these mfantry corps and they
also gave a very good account of themselves The rdea of entrenchung at
Pampat was a result of these tacties It made the Marathas unassadable so
long as they remamed within their entrenchments  Bhau expected Abdalt to
attack them mn this strong posttion, as he was sure of victory in the event of
such an attack But Abdali had understood 1t equally well He himself never
once tried to attack, 1nd had stnctly forbidden any one from his camp to go
out with a view to atmckmg He played a game of wasting and hoped to get
a victory when the Maratha army would come out due to starvanon  That 1
why Bhau 1s found raging and almost raing agamnst Govindpant Bundele for
not attaching Abdah from behind and making huim compulsonly fall on the
Maratha entrenchments to his sure destruction  When, due to the falure of
Govindpant and due to starvation, Bhau himself had to come out, that comby

nation of artllery, infantry and cavalry tactics wiich 1t was necessary to keep

12Ra3 VoL 6 Cf Sanon Jadhavraos letters No 404 dated 1891760 and Tvo 409
dated 1031761 also ¢f Nama Purandares letters No 391 of 13111760 1 Purandare
Dajtar Pt 1, and No 118 Pr 1}
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with an army on the march with all ther camp followers, could not be
kept up and the disaster newitably followed +The Maratha army was
mainly composed of veteran h with a Iife long belief in the guenlla mode
of warfare It scems they neither understood nor had a mind to follow the cor-
rect orders of their commander based on the tactics advised by Ibrahim Khan
Gardi, and when the inevitable disaster followed, due to their misunderstand-
g and famnt heartedness n the fight, they laid the whole blame on the new
mode of “entrenched warfare” On this pomt the whole opinion 1n Maha-
rashtra scems to be unammous and 1t 1s reflected in these chromeles

Notwithstanding these prepossessions, however, the Bakhar correctly
reports Bha's plan of the battle which was unknown to hashiray Pandit on
the other side and which was not follovwed to the end Unaware of the plan
and the mim, Kashira reports the battle m an mexplicable way, while the
author of the Bakhar charges Bhau himself with breaking the plan decided on
the previous might and thus becoming the author of the disaster  All the his-
tonans up till now have been so much obsessed with the 1dea of the complete
rehiability of Kashurays report that they have never stopped to inquire how
the account i the Bakhars 1s to be explained and why 1t should be disbe
heved and set aside  The full import of the mntended plan i the Bakhar can-
not be understood unless one studies the detailed maps of the battle-field m their
complete environment, and tries to construe a connccted 1dea with the help of
every line reported in the Bakkar in combmation with it The authorgfof the
chromicles seem to be well acquainted with the topography of the battle field and
its surroundings, and they might have been personally present 1 the Maratha
camp themselves The chronicles correctly report the changes i Abdalr’s camp-
ing ground dunng the two months and a half, while the impression created by
Kashiray’s account fixes Abdal’s camp once for all, a very senous discrepancy
on the part of this eye witness**  When one begins to re read the Bakhars m
the hight of the ongnal letters, one 15 impressed by the substantiality of thew
account.

Tue Comson Ponrs IN KASHIRAJ'S TARRATIVE AND TIIE DAKHAR

Companson
That Kashiraj wrote his account after reading some other accounts 1s
proved by certain cunous dences m the arr of lus wniting and

that of Bhau Bakhar, which was defimitely a northern Indian production  The
short Kaifiyat was defimtely wntten earlier than the Bakkar But what scems
strange to the reader 15 that the correct consecutive narration of events is fol-
lowed by the wnter of the Kaifiyat, and an absence of the sense of time char-
actenses the writer of the gossipy Bakhar Thus the Bakhar gives Govindpant
Bundele’s death as the first event while 1t was actually the fourth dunng the
beleagurement  Sumilarly, the cutting off of Parashar Dadap'’s treasure carry-
g party was the last event which 1s subsequently dealt with by the Bakhar

1.3 Bhau Kasfiyat pp. 14, 21 .
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The first event of the Shinde Ruhela fight 15 gven next and Balvantrao Mehen-
dale’s event the last' Kashira) 15 found following the mncorrect order of the
Bakhar i his narrative, giving the events of Govindpant, Parashar Dadap,
Shinde and Balvantrao consecutively We cannot treat this ag a mere accrdent
m wnting  Either Kashiray had the Bakkaer mn his mind when wnting his nar-
ratwve, or both the Bakhar and Kashiray copred from a third unknown, com
mon source  This 1s further proved by Kashirajs attempt at gwing dates of
certam events which are proved to be utterly wrong by other direct evidence
The Ka fisat gives the correct dates wherever 1t has given these, while Kashiray
1s found to be wrong—even 1n lus date of the great battle, reckomng by the
Mushm calendar  Sie Jadunath treats these pounts as ‘ lapses of memory or
hurried wniting * But no serious student of textual critieisnt can be satisfied
with thus explanation  Kashiraj tries to foist authenticity on lus hearsay nar-
natnve by mntroducing dates mto it, thereby unpressing upon the reader the cor-
rectness thereof. We do ndt think he had kept a diary of the events Had
there been no venfying proofs for the cvents he narrates, he would have passed
on as the witer on Pampat, eye witness as he was for the events from begin
ning to end  Unfortunately for Kashiray, a few Maraths papers have survived
the ravages of time, exposing lum to the lult A man who treats the whole
episade as a sort of play of destiny, who charges Bhau with pnde, who though
a Maharashtra Brahmin himself, cannot properly know Bhaw’s relationship
to Balvantrao Mehendale, a man who could not understand the constitutional
thread behund the Maratha politics in the north, a man who treats Surajmal’s
episode without understanding the poliics behind it, who introduces rumours to
heighten the romantic cffect of lus narrative, a man who omuts important facts
which militate agamst the tenor of lus narrative {e g Bhau’s depasition of Shah
Jahan Sam and the proclamation of Shah Alam as Emperor), a man who
gves incorrect dates, a man who does not report Abdalis shifting of camps,
aman who 15 incorrect even m his narration of the actual battle n certan par-
ticulars, and finally a man who would not mention the unportant fact of
Abdal’s appomtment of the regicide Maratha protege Ghaziud din as the
Wazr with full powers before huis departure because 1t would mar the effect
of his whole narrative, shedding a powerful light as 1t does on the whole of the
Pamipat episode from beginming to end,—to call such a man’s narrative as the
most trustworthy authonty on the Pampat campaign and to say that “no other
author can be set agawst lum m pomnt of authentiety,” 1s something beyond
the range of historical research

The main pomnts on which the chromcles differ from Kashiray’s ac
count are the followmg

(1) Changes in the sites of Abdali’s camp
(2) Bhau’s plan of battle
(3) The directions of the rival armies on the battle ficld

. (1) The cause of the so-called Maratha nght wurg and the Durrany
left wing never coming to grps throughout the battle .



134 PANIPAT 1761

(5) The actual site of the battle

On all these pomts Kashiray 1s proved to be wrong and loose mn his
account by the evidence of ongmal letters Because Sir Jadunath and others
have placed therr faith in Kashiraj, they have been completely misled 1n their
account of the battle  Kashira)’s account should be rehed upon only 1n so far
as the Durram stde 1s concerned  The Maratha side cannot be understood un
less we rely upon the evidence of the Marathi chromcles and ongmal letters

45 Purandare Daftar Vols 1 and 3 (1929 and 1934)  These form
a valuable pnimary source not only for the events after the battle of Pampat,
but also for the events prior to 1t, because they throw a rare flood of light on
the mental make up and character of some of the chief characters mn the Pam
pat episode  What Sadashsvrao Bhau was really like cannot be understood
without lis early personal letters The characters of Nanasaheb Peshwa, Nana
Purandare, Sakharam Bapu and Raghoba Dada ‘are properly understood in
all therr setung by a study of these volumes of mtimate personal letters Sr
Jadunath has missed this point and so cannot properly appraise thewr part in
the great drama of hustory

G-7-8 Rajwave V K Marathyanchya Ithasachin Sadhane Vols 1,
gand 6 They are the basic sources contanmg ongmnal letters direct from the
scene of the battle as well as throughout the campaign and for events leading to
at from the very beginming  When Raywang published his first volume in 1898
after accidentally getting possession of a number of ongmal letters addressed
to Govindpant Bundele, 1t was the only, and thercfore, partial s de of the cam-
paign that was open to hum  He should have corrected 1t when lis own third
and sixth volumes were pubbshed later on But Rajwabe, after his own man-
ner, left the scathung cntiasm of Govindpant 1n the first volume untouched
throughout his hfe, though he hved twenty eight years thereafter Whatever
excuse he had mn s day for obstinately stiching to hus own view based on one
source only, we i 1946 have none  After the publication of the Peshwa
Daftar i 1ts forty five volumes a decade ago, a flood of hght has been thrown
on the Maratha activities 1n the north m all their beanings It 15 ¢'~r from
evidence adduced 1n these volumes that Govindpant was not the only
if culprit he was, who should be made the scapegoat for the whole disaster
Hov lhistorical perspective 1s blurred when only a part of the matenal 1s avail
able and historians try to draw a complete picture out of 1t, 1s best exemph
fied by Raywapr’s classical introduction to hus first volume on the Pampat
peniod  We shall have occasion to point out how far Rajwape had been car
red 1stray™ in hisattempt  Psychological proof for 1t 1s available m that volume
welf though none of lus deep students uptil now have either detected 1t or
bave shown the candour to pomnt 1t out openly

g 1o 11 Selections from The Peshwa Daftar Vols 2, 21, 27 These
directly deal with the north Indian actvities of the Marathas for a penod of
almost two decades previous to the battle of Pampat, though cross-references

MR 115 and Note, 10 183 18t 121 182 Date 325 M
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will be found wnterspersed m many other volumes also  For studying the char-
acters of the mamn actors 1 the Pampat drama’st 15 necessary to study most
of the other volumes for the pre Pampat period, and sometimes even the later
solumes The characters of the individuals are the one sure and constant guide
from which we can correctly judge thar activities mn a proper perspective A
man’s lfe 15 never compartmental, and 1t 15 unjust and unhistoneal to judge
events 1n the Ines of these mdividuals, from the bare data concerming particu
lar events and, therefore, from a partial angle \What 2 man will do under
gwven circumstances mainly depends on his past, which 1s reflected in hus char-
acter Hstor-ans are not the advocates of the hstorical characters but their
post mortem judges  Unfortunately, very few hstonans correctly und d
their proper role and prase or blame the histonical characters 1n detal  We
have tried to study cach aingle character separately, completely and m detail,
and then come to form certain notions about the proper manner of judging
their actions in thss study, a’procedure we think absolutely essential  To at-
tamn thss end, we had to utihze all the available matenal wn the var ous volumes
of ongnal letters concermng these mndividuals

12-13~14 Shindeshalks Itikasack n Sadhane Part I (1929), Part II
{1g30), and Part II (1537) These contain a few onginal letters from Pampat
uself  Others throw a flood of hight on the ner worhings of Shinde affaurs.
Speaially valuable 1s the correspondence of the diplomats connected with the
Shinde famuly which 1s collected for pubheation in the third volume Ramap
Anant Dabholkar who was the Diwan of the Shindes from 1750 to 1761, and
died after Pampat, was the chief dircctor of Shinde affars and lus corre-
spondence 15 the most valuable of all S Jadunath has overlooked these
volumes, and hs description of the battle 1s defient on that account.

1516 17-18  Four Incomplete Manuscript DBakhars about Pampat
were examined by us but they contain no authentic or new matenal  They are
gossipy m their contents and therr burthen 15 all the same  Maliha Zamam 15
given as the ch ef instigator 1 caling Ahmad Shah Abdali  Bhau and Bal-
vantrao Mehendale are depicted as proud and bad Holhar and Shinde were
against the war, but Bhau was adamant and bent on honour  Only three per
sons remamned fighting to the last, vz Bhau, Jankop and Tukop Shinde A
portion of these Bakhars, cspecially that contaming Malika Zamand's part n 1t
15 found incorporated i Bhausahebanchy Bakhar, the Bakhar published by
Parasms m his Aarathyanche Parakrama (Bundelhhand part) and simular
other attempts The theme was a favournite one with all Maratha clerks of the
Peshwa tmes and they copied the story from wherever they could

19 A few pages of Bhausahebatch: Ka fijat were supphed to us by
Mr K V Puranpare These pages contain a few verbal changes but no new
mformanon  We note thas fact here to show that even the Ka fijat, though it
was over shadowed by the more complete and the enlarged Bakhar, was stll
copied by a few in Maharashtra Rao Bahadur Sane was able to get only one
copy of this Ka fijat and had to rely on that one alone He conc’uded there-
from, that the Kaifi;at was a rare brochure  But thus docs not scem to have
been the case
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20 Raghunath Yedav’s Pampat Bakhar ~ Though ostensibly wrtten
by a court clerk and that by order of a member of the Peshwa’s famuly, this 1s
the most worthless of all the Pampat Bakkars

21 Aitthask Lekha Samgraha Vol 1 (18g7) by V 'V Kuare con
tawns a few letters on the Pamipat Campaign

22 23 Chandrachuda Daftar Vol 1 (1920), and Vol I (1934) also
contamn a few letters dealing with the northern India affamrs and bear evidence
to the Maratha advance and yule upto Attock on the Indus

24 25 Holkarackin Kaifiyat (published 1n the Kavyetihasa Samgraha
by K N SaNe (1886), and Holkarach Thati {Raj 1II, No 172 and
Itshasa Samgraha) These are both explanatory after thoughts, to justify Mal
harrao Holkar’s conduct in the Pamupat affair  That he ran away at the
previous behest of Bhau 1n order to escort Parvatipal, the wife of Bhau, 1s now
proved to be false, on the authonty of contemporary letters  How an umaginary
turn can be given to histonic events 1s proved by these attempts

26  Aitthasik Partren, Yadi Vagmre Lekha (2nd Ed 1g2g) This
contains the autobiography of Nana Phadmis which we take to be written some-
time soon after the event when the author was extremely gnieved and repentant
and almost on the pomnt of forsaking the world to lead the life of a recluse, and
not after thurty years as assumed by Sir Jadunath  There 15 nothing incorrect
n 1t when compared with the ongmal letters  Other letters in this volume are
also mmportant for the northern Indian affaus of the Marathas

27 Amhank Patravyavshara {1g30) This volume also contans
valuable correspondence, amongst them being an important letter by Nana
Phadmis from the Pampat camp Sir Jadunath has wrongly understood 1t, as
lus translation of a lme 1 it gives exactly the reverse meamng

« 28 Persian Akhbars (news letters) i manuscnipt form existing in the
archives of the Bharat Iuhasa Samahodhak Mandal contain valuable materal
not found elsewhere about the Panjab campaign of the Marathas, ending m
the far famed carrying of the Maratha banners beyond the Attock to Peshawar

29 Bhau's Ballad (published in BDCRI 43) m the Jathi dialect of
Hindustham copred for us after the dictation of a Mushm ballad singer of Siwa,
five miles to the south of Panipat, contans a more complete version of the
ballad than that published i the Sardesas Commemoration Volume by Dy
Kanunco and also one given n picces in the Maratht publication * Bhaunchya
Virabatha *  Qur copy which contains both prose and poetry, gives valuable
mnformation in deciding the field of battle, the environment and the actual pomt
on the nver Jamuna where Abdalt crossed

30 Liuor and Dowsow, History of India (1877), Vol VIII, cgn
tains selected translations of

(1) Tarkh i Alamgir-Sani, (E & D CH)
{u) Mancul ul Fatuh, by Md Jo'far Shamls (L & D CIII) *

~ .
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(ili) Nigar-nama-i-Hind, of.Saiyid Ghulam Ali (E. & D. CXLIII)
(iv) lbratnamak by Fagir-ud-din Md. of Allahabad {E. & D. CXIX)
(v) Tanhh-i-Ibrghim Khan (E. & D. CXXI).

Of these Ibratnamak and Tun'&h-x'-;llamgir—Sam arc used for Ghazi-ud-
din’s acts, especially the assassinations of the Emperor and others.  Tarikh--
Ibrahim Khan and Nigar-namak practically copy their accounts of the Panipat
battle from Kashiraj. But Shamlu was present on the battle-field as a servant
of Shah Pasand Khan who commanded the left wing of Abdali’s army. His
figures are inflated no doubt but certain casual references of his are helpful
in deciding a few controversial points, Though both Kashiraj and Shamlu
were eye-witnesses, present on the battlefield during the baulc, both could see
only a cormier of the battle, and that whick was least engaged, in the fisst half
of the day. But Shamlu anw much more of the Abdali side than Kashiraj
from the inside, just as Kashiraj naturally knew more of the Maratha side.
Shamlu’s remark that Ahmad Shak drove away the Shindes from the banks of
the river Attock and pursucd them as far as Burya and Sarangpur (p. 146) is
helpful in pointing out the farthest line of Maratha advance in the Panjab. It
had not stopped at the Chinab as Sir Jadunath says,’® but had reached the
Indus itself as can now be proved by other contemporary material. Shamlu
also gives the account of the precarious passage of Abdal’s army across the
Jamuna by the Budhia Ghat to Sarangpur, which is also so written in Marathi
papers, while later on it somehow has assumed the form of Saharanpur, which
it retains today. This is one of the instances where bad pronunciation and in-
correct writing has changed a purely Hindu name into a Muslim-looking one.
Shamlu’s account of the battle which ensued before crossing, corroborates the
account in Bhau Sahebanchi Bakhar. He also gives the behaviour of the Abdali
troops when they ¢ntered Delhi after defeating Dattaji Shinde. They looted
ity natwithstanding the fact that they had come to protect the city from the
Aacathas and swep the eamest inteeessinn of Aalkasi-Zamani scho was the
chief instigator of Ahmad Shak in calling him to India was not able to stop it.
Shamlir’s account of Ahmad Shah’s cantonment at Anupshahar is useful in
visualizing the difficulties in the Doab. His account of the patrol round the
Maratha camp and cutting off of Maratha parties bxinging cash from Delhi,

* corroborates the Marathi chronicles. But Shamlu is most usefpl in deciding
the beginning of the battle and falsﬂ')mg Kashiraj in his palpably untrue state-
ment that just before the battle in the early hours of the momning a Maratha
valet of Bhau came with the last chit. Shamlu states that Ahmad Shah, after
noticing “clouds of dust asccndcd upto heaven” ordered Shah Pasand Khan
to go forth and ascertain the cause thereof.  He rode through the plain between
Abdali’s camp and the Maratha camp by an unfrequented path and tock
“four hours to advance half a kos.” As Shamlu was accompanying Shah
Pasand Khan, there is no cause to, suspeet his statement as untrue though
written after thirty-five years, because no man would forget such an-cvent

13 Fall 2,36
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on such a day ¥ Shamlu’s account of Ahmad Shah’s arrangement of h.s army
also supples a clue i correctly visualizing the battle array, winch
seems to differ a lttle from Kashiraps account The Ilast important
pont made clear from Shamlu’s account is the fact of Ahmad Shab’s
apprehension n the first half of the day that “he would not be able to with
stand” the impetuous Maratha attack led by Bhau on the Abdal centre, and
his despatch of a person “to mount the ladies of his household on fleet steeds

and keep them ready for any eventualities That shows that Ahmad Shah was
not at all sure of certam victory as made out by later stonans and com
mentators  Inadentally 1t shows Ahmad Shal’s wisdom and precaution
agamnst any mishap  Shamlu openly says that “by Ahmad Sultan’s good for
tunc one Zambural ball struch Vishwasrao on the forehead and another hat
Bhau on the side,” meaning thereby that good fortune and accidents had not
a Lttle to do with the Maratha defeat Shamlu also corroborates the fact of
the Maratha army’s sudden desertion from the *battle field and the stampede
which followed Shah Pasand Khan recewved the news of this central struggle
through councrs (p 154), which again shows the distance separating the
varous divistons on the battle field  Shah Pasand Khan had not possibly
moved much from his onginal place in the battle array and charged Malharrao
and Janahop only after knowing the defeat of the centre  Shamlu only shows
that they fled, though Malharrao fled westwards and Janakoj eastwards  Sham-
1u’s account of the Maratha camp after the battle when 30,000 matchlockmen
were so struck with terror and consternation that they would not ft their hand
to stnke anybody who came armdst them for loot, 1s most illuminative of the
psychic effect of defeat We think that the Marathas had exhausted thew
ammunitton and hence were helpless to do anything  They were enly putung
on a bold face to conceal thewr deficiency  Shamlu also notes that a Maratha
chuel had been stationed 1n hindmost rank of their army and was later on seen
fleeing towards the south side with six or seven thousand horse, and would not
meet cven “three indivaduals,” but ran away pell-mell “at the mere finng of
the guns and took another dircetion,” shows that Bhau had not, as assumed
by Sir Jadunath, left lus camp unprotected in the last resort  He had prop-
erly arringed everythung, but everything went astray as luch would have 1t

Altogether we do not think of Shamlu as a worthless witness as Sir Jadunath
seems to think, and have fully utibsed his account for what 1t 15 worth  As
Shamlu was i the Iatter part of huis Ife ving 1n Indwa, he had ample oppor-
tunitics of convers ng with other survivors from the field and of refreshing hs
memory of the Pampat battde field That he had not lost interest in the af-
furs of the Marathas 1s c'ear from lus mention of Shah Alam's return to Delh:
m the company of the Marathas, and his anccdotes about Mahadap Shinde's
lameness and the sheletons of the Maratha horses at the caravanscrat of Sone

pat—mncidents which he only relates

31 Savyd Nuruddin Hasan Khan's Life of Mapb-ud-daulah, tragsla-
ton by Sir Tadunath Sarkar n the Isdamic Culture, 1933, presents one view
of the life of ths unscrupulous and musch.evous man 1 Indian history  Napb

JéELsor &1s2 .
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it was who gave a crooked turn to the whole trend of Indian politics 1 the
mddle of the 18th century He fooled all who came mto contact wath hum,
both friend and foe He rose as a servant of Ghaz ud-din, the Wazr, and
ulumately ruined him, by his treachery He made use of Malharrao Holkar
as a god father and did mortal harm to the Maratha pohties in the north  He
brought Shuja over to the side of Abdal and sent him empty handed back to
Oudh for fear of being looted by lis alhes Shuja did not think even of
tahing leave of Ahmad Shah Abdali before decamping! Napb had not done
any good to Ahmad Shah either, through whose help he became what he was
He made use of the Shah by the argument of race and relgion, and that way
completely rumned the Marathas But what permanent benefit accrued to
Islam from lus acts® He had musmnformed Ahmad Shah about the relatve
strength of the political parties i India as a result of which Ahmad Shah could
not reap any permanent advantage His troops could not get even therr salary
from fum and the forty lakhs of rupees a year which Napb pronused to him
from the Indian lands he had conquered were never pard  Not only that
pohucally at the end of the great battle Ahmad Shah had to bestow the Waar
ship of the Indian Empire on the hated regiade Ghaziud din, a creature of
the Marathas, and not on Shuja, hus ally mn the late war  All ths s well ex
emphfied by this Iife, wntten by an admurer though 1t 15

32 Bihan Lal Munshuy's Skort Life of Napb-ud daulah, translated
by Sir Jadunath Sarkaw, in the Islamic Culture, 1936  Though sketchy, 1t
stll adds a few more facts to hus hfe It supphes details 1n hus dealings with
Dattap Shinde, especially Napb’s ruse of instructing the Afghans of Kunjpura
to put on scarlet caps and move hke the Perstan Q gz {bashas m order to start
the rumour of the commng of Abdali to India This rumour makes 1t clear
why Sabaj Shinde, the Governor of thewPanjab, returned long before the ac
tual coming of Abdall and why Govindpant Bundele 1s found wnting, very
early, letters about the Shah’s comng It had the effect of demoralizing the
Maratha side It does not add anything to our knowledge of Pampat, however

33 Samw  Shaikh Ghulam Hasan’s (pen name Samuin) narrative,
translated by W IrviNe i [ndian Antiquary, 1907

This narrative gives a vivid picture of Ahmad Shah’s camp, army and
‘political behaviour, 1 hus Indian campaign of 1756 57  The wrer 15 poct-
cally minded He possesses the journalist’s facile pen supplymg vivid descrip-
tion He 1s gossipy too, introducing anecdotes and stories amudst lus narrative
In fact, he tries to reproduce from memory things reported to lum by others,
such as Imad ul mulk’s story He wrote lus prece 11 1782 at the behest of
Captain Jonathan Scott Ta judge from the praduction, this man’s memory
seems to be unusually strong, but 1t 1s 1dle to call it a diary as 13 done by Sir
Jadurath Sarkar (p 293, Fall, Vol 2) The picture of Ahmad Shah’s anmy
on the march, his camp discipline, etc seem exaggerated and are more 1n the
form of psychic vision than of sober descniption  His itroduction of poetry at
mtervals exemplifies is mind  Sir Jadunath has used Samumn's description of
Ahmad Shalt’s ant - PR S SR S D IR
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army We have no quarsel with the companson, we only wish that Sir Jadu
nath had also taken mto account the methodology of Abdal’s wron discipline
and his barbarous methods m his dealings with both frnends and foes, Hindus
no less than Mushms, for comparnson with the methods followed by “the lesser
breeds beyond the law,” (p 291, Fall, Vol, 2) by whch epithet he mtroduces
the Marathas into the comparison  Where the Marathas found 1t impossible
to recover even eighty lakhs proffered for thers services in gomng through a pohts
cal revolution for deposing one Emperor and his Wazir and seating othérs m
their places, after a sojourn of eight months i the Delhi region, Ahmad Shah
ganed crores from the aty of Delli alone 1n less than a month by threaterung,
bastonading of a Wazir and torture to his mother, and digging of (floors)
houses, two years later 'The Marathas suffered historically because they stood
on a different moral plane from thewr compettors

34 Ichalkaranp State History with its ongnal papers edited by V 'V
Ksare, 1913 A few letters giving news of the Pampat campaign and after
are found 1n this collection, which are useful for deciding the pomnt of the
Peshwa's responsibihty  Abdali was mtercepting the letters from Pamipat to
the Deccan and making use of the mformation for his own purpose  As the
Peshwa had not recewed any news from the north for more than a month, s
plans naturally went astray  Malharrao Holkar’s line of conduct 1s illustrated
m Govind Han Patwardhan’s letter (No 66)

35 The Earhest Persan Account of Pamipal, translated by Sir Jadu
nath SARKAR 1 the Sardesar Commemoration Volume, 1938

The account s for the most part accurate, and not maccurate as read
by the learned translator It correctly reports as far as 1t does and, what 15
more, supples a few facts not noted in other documents, viz Abdal’s crossing
between Bagpat and Kheora (wrongly deciphered as Khekra by Sir Jadunath,
which puts hum on the wrong track), Bhau’s posting of troops on the farther
side of the Jamuna to stop Abdal’s supplies (at Bhau Fort near Isapur?),
Chimap Pandit’s raid across the Jamuna, winter ramns, famme, Shah’s pre
canous position at noon, the pamic caused by Bhau's getting down from
clephant, slaughter and runming away of the Marathas, women captives *

'

36 Vad and others—Selections from the Peshwa Dianes—useful for
admunstrative details with correct dates and the itinerary

¢

37 Inhasa Sangraka A defunct Marath: magazine, Vols I VIII,
cdited by Parasmis (19og-1917), contan a few stray but pnmanly important
letters about the Panipat campaign, events leading to it and the aftermath
They are mterspersed under vanous headings and parts, iz Aitrhasika Tx-pzzrxz-
Charcha-Sphuta Lekha Goshtr, ctc Sir Jadunath has overlooked these letters

for the most part and hence lus treatment has turned defective 1 certan par-
uculy o T -
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38. Parasnis—Marathyanche ' Parakrama——~Bundelkhand Prakarana
(1895) contains casual information about Govindpant Bundele .and his sons,
also a worthless Panipat chronicle.

39. Bharate Itihasa Samshodhaka Mandal Quarterly Vols. I-XXIV,
as well as its Annuals and Conference Reports. These also contain valuable in-
formation and discussions on the various topics connected with Panipat, its per~
sanalities and palitics.

40. f!ingnz Daftar Vol. I (1945), is useful for judging the Delhi
politics during the pre-Panipat as well as post-Panipat period. Unfortunately
here, too, no direct evidence bearing on the campaign is fortheonting.
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